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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) contains statements that are forff ward-looking. All statements other than
statements of historical facts are forward-looking statements. This includes, without limitation, statements regarding the financial
position, business strategy and the plans and objectives of management for our future operations. These statements constitute
projections, forff ecasts and forward-looking statements, and are not guarantees of performance. Such statements can be identified
by the factff that they do not relate strictly to historical or current factff s. When used in this Annual Report, words such as
“anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,”
“predict,” “projeo ct,” “should,” “strive,” “would” and similar expressions may identify fff orff ward-looking statements, but the
absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking.

Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report and in any document incorporr rated by referff ence in this Annual Report may
include, forff example, statements about:

• our ability to achieve and maintain profitabia lity in the futff urt e;

• our financial performance and abia lity to respond to general economic conditions;

• our ability to manage our business in a cost-efficff ient manner;

• our ability to access sources of capital, including debt financing and other sources of capital to finff ance operations and
growth;

• our ability to successfulff ly manage and execute on our strategic plan to transition froff m a prescription to a non-
prescription model;

• our ability to successfulff ly manage and execute on our strategy to obtain regulatory arr uthorization and commercialize
EndeavorOTC in adults with ADHD;

• our ability to achieve and maintain market acceptance and adoption of EndeavorRx, EndeavorOTC and any other
future digital therapea utics by users;

• our ability to accurately forecast demand forff EndeavorRx, EndeavorOTC and any other future products;

• our ability to obtain or maintain access forff EndeavorRx, EndeavorOTC and any other future products via the Apple
App Store and Google Play;

• the effect of uncertainties related to public health crises;

• our ability to maintain or obtain patent protection and/or the patent rights relating to EndeavorRx, EndeavorOTC and
our other product candidates and our ability to protect our intellectuat l property and prevent third parties froff m
competing against us;

• our ability to successfulff ly commercialize EndeavorRx, EndeavorOTC and any other future products;

• our ability to maintain regulatory authorization forff EndeavorRx in the authorized indication, to obtain and maintain
regulatory arr uthorization to convert our prescription EndeavorRx product to a non-prescription product, and to obtain
and maintain regulatory arr uthorization forff EndeavorOTC and any other future products or product candidates, in the
U.S. and in forff eign markets, and any related restrictions or limitations of an authorized product or product candidate;

• our ability to obtain fundiff ng for our operations, including funding necessary to further develop, advance and
commercialize EndeavorRx, EndeavorOTC and our other product candidates;

• our ability to retain our key executives and to attract and retain highly skilled employees;

• our ability to identify,ff in-license or acquire additional technology or product candidates;

• our ability to successfulff ly protect against security breaches and other disruptr ions to our information technology
structurt e;

• the impact of applicable laws and regulations, whether in the U.S. or forff eign jurisdictions, and any changes thereto;

• our ability to successfulff ly compete against other companies developing similar products to our current and potential
future product offerings;

• our estimates regarding expenses, capital requirements and needs forff additional finff ancing;

• our ability to establa ish and maintain an effeff ctive system of internal controls over finff ancial reporting;
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• our ability to regain compliance with the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capia tal Market (“Nasdaq”) and
maintain the listing of our securities on Nasdaq;

• our inability to realize the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination;

• the outcome of any legal or governmental proceedings that may be instituted against us; and

• other factff ors detailed under the section titled “Riskii Factorsrr ” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report.

These forff ward-looking statements are based on information availabla e as of the date of this Annual Report and current
expectations, forff ecasts and assumptions, and involve a number of judgments, risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, forward-
looking statements should not be relied upon as representing our views as of any subsu equent date, and we do not undertake any
obligation to updau te forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances afteff r the date they were made, whether as a
result of new inforff mation, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under appla icable securities laws.

As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, our actuat l results or performance may be materially
different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. You should not place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements.

RISK FACTORS SUMMARY

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those highlighted in the section titled “Risk Factors”, which
illuminate challenges that we faceff in connection with the successfulff implementation of our strategy and the growth of our
business. The folff lowing considerations, among others, may offsff et our competitive strengths or have a negative effecff t on our
business strategy, which could cause a decline in the price of shares of our securities and result in a loss of all or a portion of your
investment:

• We have a history of significant losses, anticipate that expenses may increase in the future, and may not be able to
achieve or maintain profitaff bia lity.

• The faiff lure of our digital therapea utics to achieve and maintain market acceptance and adoption by users could have a
material adverse effectff on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

• The market forff digital therapea utics is new, rapidly evolving, and increasingly competitive, the healthcare industry irr n
the U.S. is undergoing significant strucr tural change, and the demand forff digital therapea utics in the U.S. and in markets
outside of the U.S. is uncertain, which makes it diffiff cult to forecast demand forff our products. As a result, all
prospective finff ancial information included herein is subject to change.

• The market opportunities and revenue potential of EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC and any potential expanded market
for EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC across additional age ranges in ADHD have not been establa ished with precision.
We have estimated the sizes and revenue potential of the market opportunities forff EndeavorRx, our FDA-authorized
product, and forff EndeavorOTC, and these market opportunities may be smaller than we estimate.

• Our development programs represent novel and innovative potential therapea utic areas, and negative perception of any
product or product candidate that we develop could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business, obtain
marketing authorizations or identify aff lternate regulatory prr athways to market forff such product candidate.

• Clinical trials conducted by us or by third parties of any of our products or product candidates may fail to produce
results necessary to supporu t marketing authorization.

• We face competition, and new products may emerge that provide different or better alternatives for treatment of the
conditions that EndeavorRx, EndeavorOTC, if granted marketing authorization, or our future products, if granted
marketing authorization, are authorized to treat.

• If we fail to obtain and maintain clearance, de novo classification or appra oval to market our products and product
candidates, including EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC, or if we are delayed in obtaining such marketing
authorizations, our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition could be materially and adversely
affeff cted.

• EndeavorOTC and EndeavorRx are currently availabla e via the Apple App Store® and on Google PlayTM, and each of
our products is supporu ted by third-party infrastrucr ture. If our ability to access these markets or access necessary third-
party infraff structurt e was stopped or otherwise restricted or limited, it could have a material adverse effecff t on our
business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.
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• If we are not able to develop and release new products, or successfulff enhancements, new featurt es, and modifications
to EndeavorOTC, EndeavorRx or any futff urt e products, our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial
condition could be materially and adversely affected.

• We recently transitioned froff m a single third-party digital pharmacy for the fulfilff lment of prescriptions to an internally
developed in-house distribution system forff EndeavorRx. The limited experience we have with this new in-house
distribution system may increase the risk that we could have a disruptu ion in the fulfillmeff nt of prescriptions for
EndeavorRx, which could have a material and adverse effecff t on our reputation, business, results of operations and
financial condition.

• If we are unabla e to adequately protect and enforff ce our intellectuat l property and proprietary trr echnology, obtain and
maintain patent protection forff our technology and products where appra opriate or if the scope of the patent protection
obtained is not sufficiently broad, or if we are unabla e to protect the confidff entiality of our trade secrets and know-how,
our competitors could develop and commercialize technology and products similar or identical to our products, and
our ability to successfulff ly commercialize our technology and products may be impaired.

• If we fail to comply with obligations in the agreements under which we collabora ate with or license intellectuat l
property rights froff m third parties, or otherwise experience disruptrr ions to our business relationships with collaborators
or licensors, we could lose rights that are important to our business.

• We will need subsu tantial additional fundiff ng, and if we are unabla e to raise capital when needed or on terms favff orable
to us, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

• The amount of our future losses is uncertain and our quarterly and annual operating results may fluff ctuat te significff antly
or fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, each of which may cause our stock price to fluctuate
or decline.

• If we fail to regain compliance with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, our common stock could be
delisted froff m Nasdaq, which would adversely affect the liquidity of our common stock and our ability to raise
additional capital or enter into strategic transactions.

• Our common stock has been subju ect to price volatility, low trading volume and large spreads in bid and ask prices
quoted by market makers from time to time, which has led to significant fluff ctuat tions in the market price of our
common stock. Our stockholders may not be able to readily liquidate their investment or may be forff ced to sell at
depressed prices due to low trading volume. If a higher volume active market in our common stock does not develop,
our stockholders may be unabla e to readily sell the shares they hold or may not be able to sell their shares at all.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all referff ences in this section to the “companym ”, “we”, “” us”, or “our” referff to the business
of Akili, Ii ncII . and its subsidiaries and, prior to the consummation of to he Business Combination, the business of Ao kili Interactive
Labs, IncII . and its subsidiaries.

Overview

Akili is a leading digital medicine company, pioneering the development of cognitive treatments through game-changing
technologies. Our approach of developing and commercializing technologies designed to directly target the physiology of the
brain has establa ished a new category orr f medicine—medicine that is validated through clinical trials like a drug or medical device,
but experienced like entertainment. We began as a prescription digital medicine company; however, in September 2023 we
announced a strategic plan to transition froff m a prescription to a non-prescription business model, including our plans to pursue
regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of our products.

Impairments in cognition are associated with many different chronic diseases and acute illnesses, impacting appra oximately 85
million people in the U.S. These impairments include, but are not limited to attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (“ADHD”),
autism spectrum disorder (“ASD”), multiple sclerosis (“MS”), majoa r depressive disorder (“MDD”), post-traumatic stress disorder
(“PTSD”), cognitive impairments in COVID-19 survivors (“COVID fog”), traumatic brain injury (rr “TBI”), cancer-related
cognitive impairment (“CRCI”) and alzheimer’s disease (“Alzheimer’s”), among others. Global recognition of cognitive funcff tion
by physicians and patients has increased in recent years, yet many current treatment approaches are inadequate, as they are either
unable to effeff ctively target the brain to address underlying impairments or lack clinical validation. Existing clinically-validated
treatments forff these indications are largely comprised of drugs, many of which have side effeff cts that are intolerabla e or worrisome
to patients and families. For example, the safety profileff of ADHD drugsr and lack of options to specifically address inattention
creates a very hrr igh unmet need. Current ADHD treatment approaches are limited to traditional medications, lack precision, largely
only treat symptoms, and are often accompanied by side effects that may include growth suppru ession, appetite suppru ession, weight
issues, sleep issues and abda ominal pain.

Our vision is to change this treatment paradigm with our development of the first digital prescription treatment to improve
cognition across diseases, developed through a unique collabora ation of cognitive neuroscientists and entertainment and
technology designers.

Until recently, digital therapea utics have consisted of tools and technology used to deliver existing medical processes, such as
cognitive behavioral therapya , through accessible and easy-to-use mobile applications. Our platform represents a fundaff mental
paradigm shift wff here technology is the medicine itself, designed to target neural networks critical to cognitive funff ction. We aim
to evolve the fieff ld of digital health applications into clinically-validated treatments forff cognitive funcff tions that are designed to be
entertaining.

With this approach, we introduced EndeavorRx®, the first prescription video game treatment (and first digital treatment for a
cognitive impairment) reviewed and granted marketing authorization by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) in
June 2020, as a Class II medical device through the FDA’s de novo process that reviews both safetff y and effiff cacy. EndeavorRx is
now indicated for use to improve attention funcff tion forff children ages 8-17 years old with primarily inattentive or combined-type
ADHD, who have a demonstrated attention issue. The indication was expanded froff m children ages 8-12 to include older children
ages 13-17 following our receipt of FDA marketing authorization in December 2023 for the expanded EndeavorRx labea l. In June
2020, EndeavorRx also received Conforff mité Européenne (“CE”) Mark certificff ation as a prescription-only digital therapea utic
software intended for the treatment of attention and inhibitory control deficff its in pediatric patients with ADHD, enabling
EndeavorRx to be marketed in European Economic Area (“EEA”) member countries. EndeavorRx should be considered for use as
part of a therapea utic program that may include clinician-directed therapy, medication and/or educd ational programs, which furff ther
address symptoms of the disorder. It is not intended to be used as a stand-alone therapeutic and is not a substitution forff a child’s
medication.

In May 2023, we announced topline results of the STARS-ADHD-Aduld t clinical trial in adults with ADHD evaluating the
effiff cacy and safetff y of EndeavorRx (AKL-T01), the first product built on the Akili platform. STARS-ADHD-Aduld t was designed
as a pivotal clinical trial to enabla e registration with the FDA. The trial demonstrated statistically significant improvement in
attention funcff tioning afteff r six weeks of treatment, achieving its predefinff ed primary effiff cacy outcome. Significant improvements
were also seen across a range of secondary and exploratory outcomes, including clinical assessments of ADHD-related symptoms
and a validated measure of quality of life.ff The treatment was well-tolerated, with minimal side effects and no serious device-
related adverse events reported.
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In June 2023, we released EndeavorOTC®, which is built on the same platforff m as EndeavorRx, nationwide as an over-the-counter
product that does not require a prescription to improve attention funcff tion, ADHD symptoms and quality of life iff n adults 18 years
of age and older with primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD, under the FDA guidance entitled “Enfon rcement Policy fc orff
Digii tal HeaHH lth Devices for TreTT ating PsyPP chiatric Disoii rderdd s Drr uring the Coronavirus Diseii ase 2019 Public Health Emerger ncyc ” (the
“COVID-19 Guidance”). The COVID-19 Guidance allows for the marketing of certain digital therapea utics without premarket
clearance, de novo classification, or approval so long as certain criteria are met for the duration of the COVID-19 Guidance,
which was expected to remain in effeff ct until November 7, 2023 consistent with FDA guidance entitled “Transition Plan forff
Medical Devices That Fall Within Enfon rcement Policies IssII ued During the Coronavirus Diseii ase 2019 (COVIDVV -19) Public Health
Emerger ncyc ” (the “COVID-19 Transition Guidance”). The COVID-19 Transition Guidance allows for the continued distribution
of devices falling under the COVID-19 Guidance without marketing authorization so long as the manufactff urt er has submitted a
marketing submission to FDA, the submission has been accepted by FDA prior to November 7, 2023 and FDA has not taken a
final action on the marketing submission.

While EndeavorOTC has not been authorized by FDA forff any indications, we submitted a marketing submission to FDA forff
EndeavorOTC on October 30, 2023. Through guidance froff m FDA regarding the COVID-19 Transition Guidance, it was clarified
that marketing submissions received by FDA on or before November 7, 2023, that pass their technical review afteff r the deadline
without being placed on submu ission hold are eligible for continued enforff cement discretion. Pursuant to FDA’s guidance on this
topic, and given that we have since passed FDA’s technical review and have not been placed on submu ission hold, we are
continuing to commercialize, distribute, and market EndeavorOTC under the COVID-19 Guidance. We will continue to work
interactively with FDA on this submission and expect to provide information regarding the status of the application by the end of
the second quarter of 2024.

More recently, in February 2rr 024, our Japaa nese partner Shionogi & Co. Ltd. ("Shionogi") announced that it has submitted a
marketing appra oval appla ication forff SDT-001, the Japanese localized version of Akili’s AKL-T01 digital therapea utic, to Japan’s
Ministry of Health, Labour, and Welfare, forff commercialization and sale in Japaa n. The submission for marketing appra oval in
Japaa n is based on the results of the Phase 3 clinical trial of SDT-001 conducted by Shionogi in Japaa n in pediatric ADHD patients.

We built EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC using our most advanced therapeutic engine, our selective stimulus management engine
(“SSME”) mechanism of action. SSMETM technology has been evaluated in clinical trials in pediatric and aduld t ADHD
populations.

Within ADHD, there is a large and growing opportunity for innovative non-drugr treatments. Current ADHD treatment options
represent a $10 billion market with over 70 million prescriptions written every year for drugs in the U.S. According to the U.S.
Centers forff Disease Control and Prevention, nearly half the pediatric ADHD population uses behavioral therapya as well. However,
the current standard of care forff ADHD has been unchanged forff several decades, despite continued negative outcomes across a
range of functional domains (e.g., home, school, work, health) and poor long-term prognosis for patients with ADHD. For
example, patients with ADHD continue to be at increased risk for lower educd ational achievement, poorer vocational advancement,
and a range of adverse health outcomes including early mortality compared to non-diagnosed individuals. We believe the total
ADHD population in the U.S. is approximately 17 million and that the total ADHD population with inattention issues is
approximately 14.7 million. Estimates of the U.S. prevalence of ADHD in aduld ts range from 1.12% to 4.4%, with the latter
estimate derived froff m a studyt focused on a representative U.S. population and conducted with epidemiological assessment
methods. Based on estimates froff m the 2020 census of appra oximately 250 million individuals aged 18 and abovea , we believe the
total addressabla e market forff aduld ts with ADHD in the United States is appra oximately 11 million. EndeavorRx is now FDA
authorized in the U.S. to treat children aged 8-17, and we believe the ADHD population with inattention issues in that age range
totals approximately 3.7 million. Our projeo ctions of both the number of people who have this disorder, as well as the people with
ADHD who have the potential to benefitff from treatment with our EndeavorOTC and EndeavorRx products, are based on
estimates, which are inherently uncertain and are subju ect to a wide variety of assumptions, risks and uncertainties that can causa e
actuat l results to differ materially.

Within this market we face competition froff m a range of companies. Our competitors include both enterprr ise companies who are
focused on or may enter the healthcare industry,rr including initiatives and partnerships launched by these large companies, and
from private companies that offer solutions for specific chronic conditions. We compete with companies that are developing
treatments forff cognitive impairment associated with ADHD and other diseases and disorders resulting in cognitive impairment. In
the digital health space, we compete with companies that have created non-regulated products to treat cognitive impairment.

In 2023, we conducted two restructurt ings. First, in January 2023, we restructurt ed our business to preserve capital and focus
primarily on commercializing EndeavorRx in ADHD and seeking a labea l expansion forff EndeavorRx in ADHD patients, for which
we received FDA marketing authorization in December 2023. This January 2023 restructurt ing resulted in the reprioritization of
our pipeline of preclinical and clinical development programs and a reducd tion of our workforce by appra oximately 30% across
different areas and funcff tions. Then, in September 2023, we announced a strategic plan to transition froff m a prescription to a non-
prescription business model, which is ongoing. As part of this strategic plan, our focus and the bulk of our investments are on our
consumer-led subsu cription model forff EndeavorOTC, our aduld t ADHD product. The September 2023 announcement also included
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a related restructurt ing of our operations and reducd tion of our workforce by appra oximately 40%, primarily related to the
elimination of our field sales force and market access teams. As part of this strategic plan, we are pursuing regulatoryrr
authorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of our products and investing in activities to drive consumer awareness and capital-
effiff cient expansion of the business.

Our development and commercialization efforts are primarily focused on ADHD, with particular focus on managing and
executing on our strategic plan announced in September 2023 to transition froff m a prescription to a non-prescription model,
including obtaining regulatory authorization and commercializing EndeavorOTC in adults with ADHD, pursuing regulatoryrr
authorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products and continuing to supporu t the
distribution and fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition. Further development of our pipeline outside of ADHD will be
contingent upon a number of factff ors, including capital raising and supportive business development activities.

Our Proprietary Approach

Our platforff m is powered by proprietary therapeutic engines, which are software and associated algorithms that form the core of
our products and product candidates, designed to target cognitive impairment at its source in the brain, inforff med by decades of
research (including research conducted prior to the foundiff ng of Akili) and validated through rigorous clinical programs. Our most
advanced therapeutic engine, SSME, presents specific sensory stimuli and simultaneous motor challenges designed to target the
fronto-parietal cortex which plays a key role in attention funcff tion, while our earlier stage therapeutic engines also focff us on
cognitive funcff tions, including spatial navigation, memory, and planning and organization. Each product and product candidate
embodies a specific proprietary therapeutic engine with a variation of the video game-like user interface in an effoff rt to optimize
user engagement applicable to a particular disease or medical condition indication. Producd t candidates are clinically tested in
development programs forff particular disease or medical condition indications.

These products and product candidates are characterized by these key attributes:

• Targeted treatments that are persorr nalized to users’rr needsdd . Delivered through closed-loop adaptive algorithms, the
technology continuously learns and adapta s based on a users’ use of and progress in the treatment, which enables the
delivery orr f tailored and personalized experiences that automatically adjud st to each individual’s therapea utic needs. Our
technologies provide direct access to a de-identifieff d, aggregate level view of each user’s activity, inforff ming our
product development. The therapea utics’ mechanics, algorithms and designs are protected by patents, trade secrets and
copyrights, combining protections typically seen in both the medicine and technology industries to create a robust
intellectuat l property portfolff io.

• Clinically validatdd ed like dkk rudd gs and medical devidd ces. Our therapeutics have been studit ed in more than 20 clinical
trials involving more than 2,600 patients across nine disease populations, including large prospective, randomized
controlled trials. Using SSME, for instance, we have conducted fivff e diffeff rent clinical studit es in children with ADHD,
which collectively demonstrated the technology’s abia lity to improve objective measures and caregiver observations of
attention funcff tion. In addition, using SSME we have also conducted one clinical studyt in aduld ts with ADHD, which
demonstrated the technology’s abia lity to improve attention, ADHD symptoms and quality of life,ff with these observed
benefits for adults meaningfulff ly exceeding the benefits observed in the data from our clinical studit es in children and
adolescents with ADHD. These results were further validated by visible changes in the brain’s activity seen in clinical
studit es using electroencephalogram (“EEG”) imaging. Results of our clinical studit es have been published in 16
leading peer-reviewed scientificff journals, including The American JourJJ nal of Psychs iatry,r The Lancet Digii tal HeaHH lth
and Nature: Digital MedMM icine.

• Therapeutics that are expee erienced as entertainment. We are blending medicine with entertainment and creating
patient experiences like never before. Our treatments look and feelff like high-quality video games. They change over
time, incorporate rewards and increase challenges in ways that feelff natural to users. Enabla ed by the adapta ive abia lity of
digital therapea utics and the dynamic nature of video games, and informed by extensive data infraff structurt e, we believe
we can rapia dly iterate our products to enhance user enjoyment and engagement, encouraging compliance with the
treatment plan. Our ability to rapia dly create unique user experiences also allows us to adapt the experience to appeal
to different patient populations by developing and testing product candidates in clinical trials. We believe we have the
potential to offer the first treatments that integrate the experience of consumer entertainment products and can be
utilized as part of a treatment plan. One of the newest, and we believe most significant, product featff urt es that we
introduced in the second half of 2023 is the Focus ScoreTM measure, initially released in our EndeavorOTC product
for adults with ADHD and more recently released in our EndeavorRx Insight® companion appa for caregivers of
children using EndeavorRx. This is a personalized metric that allows a user or caregiver to track their attention
improvement within the EndeavorOTC or EndeavorRx treatment. At the beginning of a user’s treatment journey, the
user receives a personalized baseline Focus Score, which represents how quickly and accurately the user can complete
a task despite distractions present durd ing gameplay. The user also receives a personalized, target Focus Score which
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serves as the user’s goal forff their initial course of treatment. The Focus Score measure, ranging from 0 to 100, is
calculated exclusively from user treatment using gameplay mission data and is based on cognitive neuroscience and
skills that are foundaff tional to improving a user’s abia lity to maintain attention.

• User focused and adaptive. We are relentlessly focff used on our users and caregivers and have developed a platform
and infraff structurt e that allows us to continuously refine and optimize based on their feedff bad ck. Our products are widely
accessible, are personalized and adapta able, and generate rich data users and caregivers can use to fosff ter meaningfulff
conversations with users and their health care providers, such as the Focus Score measure in our EndeavorOTC
product and EndeavorRx Insight app, and the EndeavorRx gameplay data provided to caregivers via our EndeavorRx
Insight app. With data from our platform and feedff bad ck from caregivers and users, we have released multiple
enhancements to our product gameplay and changed our fulfillmeff nt system to better meet their needs.

This same technology platform also has potential appa lications beyond the treatment of cognitive impairments, with the potential to
measure and monitor cognitive funcff tioning. As we work towards improving cognitive impairments in users at scale, the abia lity to
measure cognitive funcff tion is critical. Today, cognition is typically only assessed in response to a specific user complaint, and
there is no consistent approach for this measurement. Clinical studit es have shown our platform’s potential to act as a sensitive
cognitive measure that correlates with well-known in-person or papea r-based cognitive measurements.

EndeavorRxrr ®: TheTT firsti prescription videodd game trett atmett nt

In June 2020, EndeavorRx, the first product built on the Akili platform, was granted marketing authorization and classified as a
Class II medical device by the FDA through FDA’s de novo process, which reviews both safetff y and effiff cacy of new treatments.
EndeavorRx is indicated for children ages 8-17 with primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD, who have a demonstrated
attention issue. EndeavorRx was initially indicated for use to improve attention funcff tion forff children ages 8-12 with primarily
inattentive or combined-type ADHD, who have a demonstrated attention issue, and folff lowing our receipt of FDA marketing
authorization in December 2023 for the expanded EndeavorRx labea l, now includes older children ages 13-17. EndeavorRx
represents a fundaff mental paradigm shift iff n the treatment of cognitive disorders, where technology is not just delivering a therapy
but is itself the medicine: EndeavorRx was the first game-based therapea utic granted marketing authorization by the FDA.

EndeavorRx is the only FDA-authorized prescription video game-based treatment designed to directly target cognitive
functioning. For the first time, licensed health care providers have a treatment option that is purposr e-built to target cognitive
function and that is not taken as a pill, but delivered through a video game. EndeavorRx also obtained Conforff mité Européenne
(CE) Mark certificff ation in pediatric patients with ADHD, enabling EndeavorRx to be marketed in European Economic Area
(EEA) member countries.

As announced in September 2023, as part of our strategic plan, we are pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter
labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products and continuing to supporu t the distribution and fulfillmff ent of
EndeavorRx during the transition.

EndeavorRxrr Commercializatiott n

Our commercial model for EndeavorRx has important levers that go beyond the traditional therapea utic model. Because we are
building the model froff m the ground up, we have the abia lity to use the extensive data collected through our platform, not just to
rapia dly iterate our products, but to tailor the entire delivery srr ystem forff our products. We are leveraging a fully digital process,
from prescription to fulff fillment to treatment, creating unparalleled optimization of the end-to-end patient experience and
potentially enabling higher conversion, better compliance and optimal treatment.

Additionally, as we continue to focus on preserving capital, in the second half of 2023 we transitioned froff m a single third party
digital pharmacy for the fulfillmeff nt of prescriptions for EndeavorRx to an internally developed in-house direct distribution system
for EndeavorRx.

EndeavorOTC CTT omCC mercializatiott n

EndeavorOTC’s commercial strategy leverages direct-to-consumer marketing efforts to deliver innovative concepts to core target
audience segments. Akili’s expertise in medical and cognitive science combined with an understanding of customer needs and
motivations serves as the basis for our customer acquisition strategy on search, social and other digital and integrated properties.
We believe our focus on delivering content designed to educate and inform customers has helped to improve customer adoption
and advocacy, such as amplificff ation of user success stories in media and word-of-mouth marketing.
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Our ClinCC ical Pipeii lineii

Our therapea utic engines are designed to target cognitive funcff tions with the potential to address multiple medical conditions
presenting the same functional cognitive impairments.

There have been several updau tes to our pipeline as part of our 2023 restructurt ings, operating plan appra ovals and clinical pipeline
reprioritization.

Based on unmet need and potential market opportunities our clinical pipeline is currently focused on pediatric, adolescent, and
aduld t ADHD. We have completed data analysis froff m the following two Akili-sponsored studit es:

• STARS-ADHD-Adolescents, a pivotal studyt of AKL-T01 (marketed and branded as EndeavorRx in the U.S.) in
adolescents ages 13-17 with ADHD. This studyt completed enrollment in the fourff th quarter of 2022 with 162 patients
and top-line results were reported in January 2023. Results were presented at two scientificff meetings in 2023, and the
findings are currently under review forff publication in a peer-reviewed journal.

• STARS-ADHD-Aduld ts, a pivotal studyt of AKL-T01 in aduld ts with ADHD. Enrollment for this study was
discontinued early with 223 patients. This decision was made on the basis of the positive STARS-ADHD-Adolescents
data previously announced and our desire to preserve capital. Results were presented at a scientificff meeting in
October 2023, and the findings are currently under review forff publication in a peer-reviewed journal.

In Februarr ry 2024, our Japaa nese partner Shionogi announced its submu ission of a marketing appra oval appla ication forff SDT-001 to
Japaa n’s Ministry orr f Health, Labour, and Welfare, forff commercialization and sale in Japaa n. The submission for marketing appra oval
in Japaa n is based on the results of the Phase 3 clinical trial of SDT-001 conducted by Shionogi in Japaa n in pediatric ADHD
patients.

In addition to our priority focus on advancing our products across the lifesff pan in ADHD, clinical studit es are ongoing or
completed in a number of other indications in which cognitive dysfunction plays an important role.

Two collabora ative research studit es were completed in 2023 to evaluate the effects of our product in patients with cognitive
dysfunction folff lowing recent COVID-19 infection at Vanderbilt University Medical Center and Cornell Weill School of
Medicine/New York Presbyterian Hospital. Results are being prepared for presentation at scientificff meetings and submission to
peer-reviewed journals in 2024.

In addition, we have several investigator-initiated studies that are currently being conducted across diffeff rent indications.

We have also published clinical studit es involving other populations with demonstrated cognitive challenges, including MDD,
ASD, MS, lupus, and TBI.

Further development of our pipeline outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including capital raising and
supporu tive business development activities.

We expexx ct our model to btt e scalable all nd repeee atabltt e.ll

With our platform and business model, we believe we have created a set of capabilities and infrastructurt e that can be applied,
again and again, with increased effiff ciency over time, creating a competitive advantage forff Akili.

From technology sourcing through regulatory authorization and commercial growth, Akili is the firff st to take these types of
innovative technologies that target brain funcff tion and bring them through every srr tep of the product development, regulatoryrr
authorization and commercialization process for EndeavorRx. While EndeavorOTC has not been authorized by FDA forff any
indications, if we are successfulff in obtaining regulatory arr uthorization froff m FDA with over-the-counter labea ling forff
EndeavorOTC, we believe that model has the potential to be scalable and repeatable as well.

We have built the firff st platform uniquely designed to leverage these physiologically-targeting digital therapea utics, which we
believe could be used to support futff urt e products as the fieff ld of physiologically-targeting digital therapea utics grows.

We meet users orr n thett ir own tertt msrr .

We believe that we are the first to create a prescribed treatment product that is delivered in a way that feels like high-quality
entertainment and designed in a way that fitsff seamlessly into people’s lives.

With the aims of developing relationships with users and caregivers that rival that of successfulff consumer companies, we have
created a user-adaptive model. Our products meet users on their own terms and engage them in their treatment. Our products are
widely accessible, are personalized and automatically adaptabla e and generate rich data that users and caregivers can use to fosff ter
meaningfulff conversations with their health care providers. Users and caregivers are also our collabora ators in product design. We
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collect ongoing data and feedff bad ck through gameplay data, playtesting, workshops, research and Apple App Store and Google Play
reviews froff m users and refinff e, adapt and aim to optimize both our products and our communications based on our learnings. Their
valuable feedbad ck has led us to add more choices during gameplay, including new quests, new creaturt es and costumes, the abia lity
for children to build their own universes and the introduction of a Focus Score measure in our EndeavorOTC product and
EndeavorRx Insight app.

Our hope is that, in the moment, users forget that they are being treated with a therapea utic. In our work to fully realize the promise
of digital therapea utics, we believe we are just beginning to scratch the surfacff e of what is possible as we develop experiences that
capture the imagination and are akin to the best entertainment products.

About Akili

We were founded in 2011 with a vision of creating safe aff nd effeff ctive cognitive medicine that is enjoyabla e forff users, and we have
since been pioneering the development of game-changing technologies with the potential to change the world’s perception of
medicine.

We provide robust compensation and benefits programs to help meet the needs of our employees, and to recruir t, retain, and
reward our existing and new employees. The principal purposr es of our equity and cash incentive plans are to attract, retain and
reward personnel, whether existing employees or new hires, through the granting of stock-based and cash-based compensation,
salary and bonus awards. We believe that this increases value to our stockholders and the success of our company by motivating
such individuals to perform to the best of their abilities and achieve our objectives. Our benefits programs also include a 401(k)
plan, healthcare and insurance benefitsff , health savings and fleff xible spending accounts, paid time off,ff family leave, donation
matching and fleff xible work scheduld es and work locations, among others.

Because we believe the success of our business is fundamentally connected to the well-being of our employees, we are committed
to their health, safetff y and wellness. We provide our employees and their families with access to a variety of innovative, flexible
and convenient health and wellness programs, including benefits that: provide peace of mind concerning events that may require
time away from work or that impact their finff ancial well-being; supporu t their physical and mental health by providing tools and
resources to help them improve or maintain their health statust and encourage engagement in healthy behaviors; and offeff r choice
where possible so they can customize their benefits to meet their and their famff ilies’ needs.

Our facff ilities

We lease appra oximately 43,600 square feetff of offiff ce space in Larkspur, Califorff nia pursuant to a lease that expires in November
2026. In May 2023, the Company entered into a sublu ease agreement, pursuant to which we agreed to sublu ease appra oximately
5,716 rentable square feet of the Larkspur, California offiff ce space to a third party forff a term commencing on June 1, 2023 and
ending coterminous with the Larkspur, Califorff nia lease in November 2026. Our lease in Boston, Massachusetts expired in
December 2023. In November 2023, we entered into a membership agreement which provides access to office space in Boston,
Massachusetts, with such access commencing on January 1, 2024 and expiring on December 31, 2024. We believe that our
facilities are sufficient to meet our current needs and that suitabla e additional space will be availabla e as and when needed.

Our Strategy

Direct targeting of the brain’s physiology to improve neural functions is nascent but an area that we believe is poised forff growth
in medicine as tens of millions of people worldwide live with cognitive and other brain health issues and many are actively
searching forff solutions. The growing global recognition of this unmet need comes at a time when patients are increasingly taking
control of their own health and looking for medical products to fit into their lives and look and feelff like consumer products. We
believe we are uniquely positioned to capitalize on this opportunity, with our technologies designed to directly target the brain and
delivered through high-end video game interfacesff .

Establisll hingii a commercial footff hott ld in pediatritt c ADHDHH

Pediatric ADHD is our initial target market, which has a high-unmet need population, as well as families who are unsatisfied with
current treatment and are looking for new options. Traditional ADHD drugsrr have shown side effects including growth
suppru ession, appetite suppru ession, weight issues, sleep issues and abdoma inal pain. Many children with ADHD are not currently on
or well-controlled by medication, and more than half of them have tried, are tryirr ng or plan to try nrr on-pharmacological treatments.
EndeavorRx’s safety profileff provides a significant advantage over traditional therapea utics as no serious side effeff cts have been
associated with its use. However, EndeavorRx should be used as part of an overall treatment regimen and is not intended to
subsu titute for a child’s medication. Our initial targeted market of pediatric ADHD with our flagship product will also allow us to
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introduce this new type of treatment to a large patient population, building awareness and relationships on which we can build for
future products.

Additionally within ADHD, there is a large and growing opportunity for innovative non-drugrr treatments. This is a $10 billion
market with over 70 million prescriptions written every year for drugs. And, according to the U.S. Centers forff Disease Control
and Prevention, nearly half the ADHD population uses behavioral therapya as well. The total ADHD population in the U.S. is
approximately 17 million and our initial target population includes those with inattentive or combined type ADHD, or 14.7
million of the total U.S. ADHD population. EndeavorRx was initially authorized in the U.S. to treat patients in the 8-12 age
group, which represent approximately 14% of our target ADHD population.

Leveragingii our iniii tiaii l success to ett xpanee d intii o ott ther ADHDDD populations

In January 2023, we announced topline results of the STARS-ADHD-Adolescents labea l expansion trial evaluating the effiff cacy
and safetff y of AKL-T01 (marketed and branded as EndeavorRx in the U.S.) in adolescents ages 13-17 with ADHD, with the trial
meeting its primary endpoint and showing statistically-significant improvement in a number of other symptom outcomes. In
addition, we used the study data in our regulatory srr ubmission to the FDA to seek an expanded label for EndeavorRx and
successfulff ly obtained FDA authorization in December 2023 for this expansion to cover individuals aged 8 to 17.

In January 2023, we also announced that based on the clinical data from the pivotal trial in adolescents and our desire to maximize
capia tal efficiency, we discontinued recruitment of the STARS-ADHD-Aduld ts studyt in order to analyze the trial data. Based on our
analysis of these data, in June 2023 we released EndeavorOTC, which is built on the same platforff m as EndeavorRx, nationwide as
an over-the-counter product that does not require a prescription to improve attention funcff tion, ADHD symptoms and quality of
life in aduld ts 18 years of age and older with primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD, under the FDA guidance entitled
“Enfon rcement Policy fc orff Digii tal HeaHH lth Devices for TreTT ating PsyPP chiatric Disoii rderdd s Drr uring the Coronavirus Diseii ase 2019 Public
Health Emerger ncyc ” (the “COVID-19 Guidance”). The COVID-19 Guidance allows for the marketing of certain digital
therapeutics without premarket clearance, de novo classification, or approval so long as certain criteria are met for the duration of
the COVID-19 Guidance, which was expected to remain in effect until November 7, 2023 consistent with FDA guidance entitled
“Transition Plan forff Medical Devices That Fall Within Enfon rcement Policies IssII ued During the Coronavirus Diseii ase 2019
(COVIDVV -19) Public Health Emerger ncyc ” (the “COVID-19 Transition Guidance”). The COVID-19 Transition Guidance allows forff
the continued distribution of devices falling under the COVID-19 Guidance without marketing authorization so long as the
manufactff urt er has submitted a marketing submission to FDA, the submission has been accepted by FDA prior to November 7,
2023 and FDA has not taken a final action on the marketing submission. While EndeavorOTC has not been authorized by FDA
for any indications, we submitted a marketing submission to FDA forff EndeavorOTC on October 30, 2023. Through guidance
from FDA regarding the COVID-19 Transition Guidance, it was clarified that marketing submissions received by FDA on or
before November 7, 2023, that pass their technical review afteff r the deadline without being placed on submu ission hold will still be
eligible for continued enforff cement discretion. Pursuant to FDA’s guidance on this topic, and given that we have since passed
FDA’s technical review and have not been placed on submu ission hold, we are continuing to commercialize, distribute, and market
EndeavorOTC under the COVID-19 Guidance.

In addition, in Februarr ry 2024 our partner, Shionogi, announced the results of its Phase 3 clinical studyt of SDT-001 in Japan in
pediatric ADHD patients ages 6-17 and also announced its submu ission of a marketing appra oval appla ication forff SDT-001 in Japaa n.

Applpp yill ngii our clinically-validll atdd edtt technologyo to othett r mental health and neurologyo conditiodd ns

Building on the clinical validation of the technology underlying EndeavorRx, we have studied the SSME therapea utic engine for its
potential to improve the same cognitive impairment, attention funcff tion, in patients with impairments associated with MDD, ASD,
MS, lupus, TBI, post-operative cognitive dysfunction, chemotherapy-a related cognitive impairment, and cognitive dysfunction
related to COVID-19. Further development of our pipeline outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors,
including capital raising and supportive business development activities.

Furthett r evolving thett treatment paradigmi by creatingii new methott ds of cogno itive assessment

There is currently no consistent clinical protocol for how to use cognitive assessment tools, and most cognitive assessments have
not changed in decades, with many still performed on pen and papea r. Our technology has the potential to go beyond treatments
and deliver a new way to measure and monitor cognitive funff ction at scale. Early clinical data suggest that our technology may
serve as a cognitive measure that correlates with well-known in-person or papea r-based cognitive measurements and detect unique
neurological events before symptoms even appea ar.
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Our Platform

Our appra oach is designed to strengthen cognitive funcff tion while simultaneously delivering experiences that capture the
imagination. We have built a proprietary platform engineered to induce clinically meaningfulff cognitive changes at the functional
level. Informed by decades of research (including research conducted prior to the foundiff ng of Akili) and validated through
rigorous clinical testing, our platform is powered by therapeutic engines that deploy sensory stimuli and simultaneous motor
challenges designed to target and activate the neural networks that are key to certain cognitive funcff tioning.

Our therapea utic engines employ adapta ive closed-loop algorithms to personalize the treatment experience for each individual user.
This enables live adapta ation to patient progress within gameplay, causing the treatment to continuously adapt and challenge the
user at an optimized level to drive engagement and improve the targeted cognitive funff ction.

We designed our products and product candidates to deploy our technology to users in a way that feeff ls exciting, unlike
educd ational softwff are or brain stimulation. We learned over time how to build these engines into products that look and feelff like
today’s entertainment and high-quality games. And so, our products operate in users’ hands like any other video game. Our
technology changes over time, adds rewards and increases challenges in a way that feelff s naturt al to users.

Components of our digdd ital thett rapea utictt s

Each of our products and product candidates has three basic components: (1) core mechanics (our therapea utic engines), (2) a self-
adaptive closed-loop system and (3) a population specific UX/UI (the video game component interface).

Core Mechanics (Our Therapeutic Engines)

We currently have three therapea utic engines, each with proprietary mechanics designed to activate specific systems in the brain
responsible for diffeff rent cognitive funcff tions: Selective StimS ulus Management Engine (“SSME”), Body Brain TraTT iner (“BBT”) and
Spatial NavNN igation EngiEE ne (“SNAV”). To date, we have only progressed the SSME therapea utic engine through clinical
development and to market with EndeavorRx for children aged 8-17 with ADHD and EndeavorOTC forff aduld ts aged 18 and older
with ADHD.

Selective StimS ulus Management Engine (“SSMESS ”)

SSME technology is our most advanced therapeutic engine. SSME is specifically engineered to target and activate the systems in
the brain that play a key role in attention funcff tion, a critical function that is often impaired in disorders including ADHD, ASD,
MDD, MS, brain fog and others.

SSME is designed to activate the fronto-parietal cortex area in the brain.

Attentional Control is a set of cognitive processes that allow us to interact with our complex environment in a goal-directed
manner. Specifically, it is the capacity to apply the necessary attention at an appra opriate time and place, while monitoring the
environment forff new sources of information, in order to enabla e the optimal processing of task-relevant inforff mation to achieve a
particular goal. SSME is designed to target attentional control and to activate the fronto-parietal cortex area in the brain.

To date, each of our development programs has been oriented toward a single indication and specific patient population. We refer
to variations of our treatment softwff are as our products or product candidates, each of which incorporrr ates the core algorithms of
one of our proprietary therapeutic engines (for example, our SSME therapea utic engine, which is incorporated into our
EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products and into the majoa rity of our existing product candidates). Within a single development
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program, we may explore multiple product candidates in early research and studies to optimize user engagement applicable to a
particular patient population and indication and to determine which product candidate(s) will be evaluated in later clinical studitt es
within that development program. Based on results of our studit es and regulatory frr eedff bad ck from our clinical studit es, we may also
introduce other product candidates into our ongoing development programs. Furthermore, a specific product candidate may be
used for one specific development program or across diffeff rent development programs. Multiple product candidates may embody a
single proprietary therapeutic engine but are diffeff rentiated based on one or more characteristics, including the videogame-like
user interface and gameplay diffiff culty and progression, and each product candidate includes unique characteristics optimized for a
particular indication and population.

AKL-T01 (marketed and branded as EndeavorRx in the U.S. and FDA-authorized for children ages 8-17 old with primarily
inattentive or combined-type ADHD, who have a demonstrated attention issue; and marketed and branded as EndeavorOTC in the
U.S. for adults 18 years of age and older though not authorized by FDA forff any indications), as well as our AKL-T02 and AKL-
T03 product candidates, are each variations of Akili’s treatment software targeting attention aspects of cognition, and each
incorporates Akili’s SSME therapea utic engine technology. For example, AKL-T02, while retaining the same user interface and
SSME therapea utic engine as AKL-T01, has adapta ed gameplay difficulty intended to increase user engagement in an ASD
population. Our SDT-001 product candidate is subsu tantially the same SSME-based softwff are as AKL-T01, but localized for
Japaa nese language and culture for distribution in Japan in connection with our Shionogi partnership. As commercial products,
EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC maintain the same core gameplay functionality and therapea utic engine as the AKL-T01 product
candidate used in the clinical studit es that were the basis for FDA authorization of EndeavorRx, while being updau ted with
incremental user interface changes and commercial compatibility modifications, such as compatibility modifications to enable
access within applicable app stores. To the extent AKL-T01 is utilized, and authorized for marketing, under another development
program (for example, a patient population and/or indication diffeff rent from that authorized by FDA forff EndeavorRx), the
resulting commercial product may be marketed and branded under a different labea l and reflect different incremental user interface
and/or gameplay changes than AKL-T01, EndeavorRx or EndeavorOTC.

SSME pMM rototypeyy study

An early prototype utilizing UCSF’s patented technology was studied by UCSF for its potential to improve certain cognitive
functioning in older adults. This study served as proof of concept forff the patented technology exclusively licensed to us and
embedded in the SSME therapeutic engine.

The prototype presented the user with two tasks: a motor funff ction task focff used on navigating along a racecourse and a set of
go/no-go tasks. Presenting users with both tasks simultaneously was used to determine the individual user’s abia lity to perform
under the challenge of a specific interference. An interferff ence (multitasking) cost was calculated based on the reducd tion in single-
task performance when performing multiple tasks simultaneously.

The prototype was used to quantify cff hanges in the abia lity to process inforff mation as people age in a study of 174 subju ects between
the ages of 20 and 79 distributed with 26 to 30 subju ects per age decade (experiment 1 abovea ). With each decade of age, the ability
to process interference was decreased (reducing multitasking cost in grapha a, below). The impact of the prototype on cognitive
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function was assessed in experiment 2 which involved randomly assigning 46 naive older aduld ts 60-85 years old to one of three
groups: Multitasking Training (n=16), Single-task Training (n=15), or No-Contact Control (n=15). Training involved playing the
prototype on a laptop at home forff one hour a day, three times a week for fourff weeks (12 total hours of training), with all groups
returning forff a one-month post-training and a six-month folff low-up assessment. The multitasking group’s performance
significantly improved after four weeks, thus supporu ting the role of interferff ence during game play as a key mechanistic featurt e of
the prototype. These improvements remained stabla e six months afteff r training without booster sessions. This group also showed
cognitive ‘near transferff ’ effectff s in improvements in measures of sustained attention and working memory arr fter 4 weeks.

The neural basis of training effeff cts were assessed by assessing midline froff ntal theta (MFT), a well-described EEG measure of
attentional control, localized to the medial prefrontal cortex. The multitasking group demonstrated a significant increase in MFT
between pre-and post-training afteff r 4 weeks (p<0.05). Notably, these changes in neural processing reached a level comparable to
neural activity patterns observed in younger adults (referff ence the figff ure below).

This groundbreaking research demonstrated that neural networks can be specifically and predictably activated and was published
on the cover of the peer-reviewed scientificff journal Nature.

Building on this initial research, we built our SSME therapeutic engine from which we developed EndeavorRx and
EndeavorOTC. SSME has been clinically validated across more than 20 research, proof-off f-concept and pivotal clinical studit es.

Body Brain TraTT iner (“BB“ T”)”

BBT is designed to target neural systems involved in attention, impulsivity, working memory and goal management (fronto-
parieto-cerebellar areas of the brain). BBT integrates cognitive and physical training within a single interactive environment
through a motion capture video game and utilizes adaptive closed-loop algorithms that drive individuals to work at their ideal
target heart rate and cognitive challenge.
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Spatial NavNN igation EngiEE ne (“SNAV”NN )”

SNAV is designed to leverage temporal, object and scene integration to target neural systems involved in spatial navigation,
memory and planning and organization (extended hippocampal system in the brain).

Core Mechanic Description Targeted Physiology

SSME or Selective
Stimulus Management

Engine

Targets attentional
control

SNAV or Spatial
Navigation Engine

Targets spatial
navigation and episodic

memory

BBT or Body Brain
Trainer

Targets attentional
control, goal

management and
working memoryrr

A SelSS f-l Ad- aptdd ive Closed-Loop Systyy em

Each user’s experience is algorithmically customized and adapta s in real-time based on a closed-loop feedbad ck system. This allows
the therapya to optimize and provide the most engaging and effective benefitff to each individual. With this ability to adapt real-time
based on a user’s individual performance, the therapeutic is assessed and updated automatically, without the need for ongoing
“titration” from health care providers.

A Population SpeSS cifici UX/UXX I (UU Video Game ComCC ponem nt Interfacff e)

Our video game mechanics are the means of delivering our digital therapea utics, and we optimize these games to keep users fulff ly
engaged forff the durd ation of the therapy as well as appra opriately challenged. Virtuat lly every arr spect of gameplay, froff m audio
feedbad ck to on-screen rewards, is designed to maximize the user’s engagement.

We customize gameplay forff each specific patient population that it is intended to address. For example, when adapta ing a game
originally designed forff children forff aduld t appa lications, we built four prototype games using the same clinically-validated
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technology but reimagined with new themes, art and music, solely for the purposrr e of testing each treatment product with our
target population. Each of our game concepts are focff us tested with the target population.

Game mechanics overview of EndeavorRxrr , ox ur firstrr FDA-DD authorized digii tal therapea utic, and EndeavorOTCTT

The gameplay experience of EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC is designed to look and feelff like a famff iliar 3D mobile action video
game. Players attempt to successfulff ly navigate their character through courses while collecting targets and avoiding obstacles.
Players chase mystic creaturt es and race through different worlds. Successfulff ly navigating each level requires focff us and fleff xibility
to manage multiple tasks at the same time, while filtering out distractions.

The game adapta s in real-time as well as between treatment sessions, continuously challenging and encouraging the user to
improve their performance—individualizing each user’s experience. As is the case with all of our product candidates, EndeavorRx
and EndeavorOTC are engineered with adaptive algorithms and designed to automatically adjud st the cognitive challenge for each
person’s individual treatment needs. For our EndeavorRx product, second by second tracking of individual progress allows
caregivers to continuously monitor and assess treatment and share progress with their child’s health care provider. In our
EndeavorOTC product and EndeavorRx Insight app, we have also introducd ed a Focus Score measure, which is a personalized
metric that allows a user or caregiver to track their or their child’s attention improvement within the treatment.

EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC involve three key skills: Navigation, Targeting and Multitasking:

• Navigation: Steering over gates and/or avoiding obstacles

• Targeting: Tap fa orff targets and ignore non-targets

• Multitasking: Simultaneous navigation and targeting

The multitasking complexity increases through the diffeff rent worlds of the game, as illustrated below:

Through the development of EndeavorRx, EndeavorOTC and our SSME technology, we developed specialized technologies and
practices that allow us to create additional therapea utics with increased efficiency, highlighted in the section below. With the
development of EndeavorRx, our FDA-authorized prescription digital therapea utic for pediatric ADHD, and EndeavorOTC, our
non-prescription digital therapea utic for adult ADHD (which is currently under review by FDA), we have built a platforff m that we
believe will enable us to continue developing innovative technologies designed to target brain function and effiff ciently advance
them to commercialization.

Our unique development capabilities

Through our collabora ation with world-renowned cognitive neuroscientists and acclaimed entertainment and technology designers,
we have development capabilities that allow us to build unique video game interfaces tailored forff each target audience. For
instance, we have advanced a number of diffeff rent gameplay experiences through clinical trials, each delivering our SSME
technology through completely unique experiences designed forff specific audiences. This enabla es us to effiff ciently create audience-
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specific products that, once authorized by the appla icable regulatory brr ody, can be prescribed or purchased over-the-counter, as
applicable, and used at scale.

Market Opportunity

While we believe we have the opportunity to develop a new pillar of medicine across potentially dozens of medical conditions,
our focus is currently on ADHD.

The U.S. market opportunity in ADHD, our primary area of focus, is as follows:

Disease Area
Total U.S. Population
with ADHD Diagnosis*

Initial Target ADHD Population
Subset with Inattentive or Combined-

Type ADHD*
Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder
(“ADHD”), all ages ~17 million (ADHD + inattention)~ ~14.7 million~

* Figures in tabla e aboa ve are based on our management’s good faith estimates based on various publications, public health data and
national health statistics including from the NIH, CDC, and 2020 U.S. Census.

In our initial focff us area, ADHD, there is a large and growing opportunity for innovative non-drugrr treatments. ADHD currently
represents a $10 billion annual market with over 70 million prescriptions written every year for traditional drugs. According to the
U.S. Centers forff Disease Control and Prevention, nearly half the ADHD population uses behavioral therapya in addition to
prescription medicines. Our estimated market forff inattentive or combined type ADHD in the U.S. is appra oximately 14.7 million
patients forff all age groups, including approximately 11 million adults and appra oximately 3.7 million children in the 8-17 year old
age group, which is the pediatric population EndeavorRx is currently authorized to treat.

Inadequacies of the Current Treatment Paradigm

Widely recognized in aging, cognitive impairments are also associated with dozens of chronic diseases and acute illnesses,
including MDD, ASD, ADHD, MS, dementia, anxiety, schizophrenia, PTSD, “chemo-fog” and more. This manifests in ways like
the inabia lity to concentrate, memory issues, diffiff culty learning new things or issues making decisions that affeff ct everydarr y life.ff

The safetff y profile of ADHD drugsr and lack of options to specifically address inattention creates a very hrr igh unmet need. Current
treatment approaches are limited to traditional medication, which lack precision, largely only treat symptoms, and are often
accompanied by side effectff s. Traditional ADHD drugsr have shown side effects that may include growth suppru ession, appetite
suppru ession, weight issues, sleep issues and abdoma inal pain. Many children with ADHD are not currently on or well-controlled by
medication, and more than half of them have tried, are tryirr ng or plan to try nrr on-pharmacological treatments. In aduld ts, rates of
ADHD have continued to rise in the U.S., and a large proportion of adults with ADHD are dissatisfied with their current treatment
regimen, or receive no treatment at all. People with ADHD are looking for new options to improve upon the inadequate existing
treatment paradigm. Additionally, behavioral therapia es teach coping mechanisms rather than addressing the underlying
impairment. Furthermore, people with ADHD are turt ning to supplu ements and brain trainers, which lack clinical evidence of
effeff ctiveness.

The stress of the global pandemic, the impact of technology in our lives, and the shortage of traditional ADHD drugsr is
aggravating these challenges, and recognition of the impact on society is increasing. The World Health Organization estimates
that 139 million people will be living with dementia by 2050. In 2021, a coalition of the U.S.’s leading experts in pediatric health
declared a national emergency in child and adolescent mental health, and the U.S. Surgeon General issued an advisory to highlight
the urgent need to address the mental health crisis among U.S. youth. On August 1, 2023, the FDA and the Drugr Enforcement
Administration jointly issued a letter regarding actions being taken to try arr nd resolve the shortages of prescription stimulant
medications. This FDA and Drug Enforff cement Administration letter specifically referenced the June 2020 FDA marketing
authorization of our EndeavorRx product forff children with ADHD and stated that the product offers a non-drugrr option forff
improving symptoms associated with ADHD in children.

We believe that now is the right time to apply technology to treating human diseases, in particular, cognitive conditions for which
existing appra oaches have fallen short in providing clinically meaningfulff therapeutic options and forff which there remains a
significant unmet need.
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Our Advantages

Diseii ase agna ostic

Our therapea utic engines are designed to target specific neural networks independent of the cause of the disease, and therefore a
single therapea utic engine can potentially power dozens of products that target the same cognitive impairments, serving many
different disease populations and creating a highly efficient technology-centric medicine model.

Personalized and adaptabltt ell

Our technology continuously learns and adapta s based on a user’s use of and progress in the treatment, resulting in tailored and
personalized experiences that automatically adjud st to each individual’s therapea utic needs.

Rich data itt nfii raff strutt cture

Our platforff m gives us real-time direct access to a de-identifieff d aggregate level view of each user’s activity in real-world
conditions, enabla ing continuous innovation and rapia d product iteration and allowing us to be trulr y user adapta ive.

Repeee atabltt e all nd effiff cient model

Building on clinically-validated technologies, with the regulated therapeutic engine intact, we can rapia dly build different front-end
experiences for diffeff rent patient populations, creating completely unique games tailored forff each audience.

Strott ng intellectll ual propeo rty ptt rotectiott n

We seek to protect our platform, including unique algorithm mechanics, through the use of patents, copyrights, trademarks and
trade secrets, providing Akili with a rich intellectuat l property estate to develop, strengthen and maintain our proprietary position
in the digital therapea utics fieff ld.

Ability to leverage our platforff m arr nd infrn astructure to achieve scalell

We have developed specialized technologies and practices to supporu t our first FDA-authorized pediatric ADHD product,
EndeavorRx, and our aduld t ADHD product, EndeavorOTC, that are designed to enabla e us to repeat that success with increased
effiff ciency over time. Highlighted in the figff ure below, froff m technology sourcing all the way up tu hrough regulatory arr uthorization,
commercialization and growth on the market, our platform takes innovative technologies that target brain funcff tion and brings
them through every srr tep of the process. We are the first company to have built a platforff m to leverage these types of
physiologically-targeting digital therapea utics, and we intend to furff ther develop our SSME therapea utic engine as this field of digital
therapeutics grows.

We believe that our work to obtain marketing authorization forff EndeavorRx, including with regulators to definff e the product
category,rr clinical endpoints and labea ling approach, paves the way not only forff our future products on our current platforff m such as
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EndeavorOTC, our aduld t ADHD product that is currently under review by FDA, but for other novel clinically validated and FDA-
authorized digital therapea utics froff m other technology sources to increasingly come to market.

We have establisll hed commercial capabilities thatt t we beliell ve have the potentt tial to stt upporpp t an expanee ded clinical pipeii line.

EndeavorRx represents our first commercial offering, demonstrating to the world what is possible using game-changing
technology as medicine. But we believe this is just the beginning. Leveraging the clinical success of our products, we have built
commercial and operational capabilities that we believe can supporu t other product candidates in our clinical pipeline. These
capaa bia lities include a fleff xible fulff fillment infrastructurt e and in-house distribution system, marketing resources, customer
relationship management systems and service and support systems, and we have worked to leverage many of these capabilities forff
the commercialization of EndeavorOTC, our aduld t ADHD product. We believe that these capabilities along with our technology
platform could enabla e us to potentially improve cognitive impairments across dozens of other diseases and disorders.

Product Portfolio Commercialization Strategy

EndeavorOTCTT

EndeavorOTC’s commercial strategy leverages direct-to-consumer marketing efforts to deliver innovative concepts to core target
audience segments. Akili’s expertise in medical and cognitive science combined with an understanding of customer needs and
motivations serves as the basis for our customer acquisition strategy on search, social and other digital and integrated properties.
We believe our focus on delivering content designed to educate and inform customers has helped to improve customer adoption
and advocacy, such as amplificff ation of user success stories in media and word-of-mouth marketing.

EndeavorRxrr

Our commercial model for EndeavorRx has important levers that go beyond the traditional therapea utic model. Because we are
building the model froff m the ground up, we have the abia lity to use the extensive data collected through our platform, not just to
rapia dly iterate our products, but to tailor the entire delivery srr ystem forff our products. We are leveraging a fully digital process,
from prescription to fulff fillment to treatment, creating optimization of the end-to-end patient experience and potentially enabling
higher conversion, better compliance and optimal treatment.

Additionally, as we continue to focus on preserving capital, in the second half of 2023 we transitioned froff m a single third party
digital pharmacy for the fulfillmeff nt of prescriptions for EndeavorRx to an internally developed in-house direct distribution system
for EndeavorRx.

Product Portfolio

In the U.S., we continue to offeff r the EndeavorOTC and EndeavorRx products commercially so that users can continue to access
our products for the treatment of ADHD. Outside of the U.S., we will consider regional partnerships in relevant markets,
leveraging existing and establa ished brands and will franchise on an indication per indication basis. For example, Akili has forff merr d
a strategic partnership with Shionogi in Japaa n and Taiwan, leveraging each party’s distinct expertise to build a novel commercial
model and launch a new class of treatment to patients.

Current Programs and Clinical Validation

We have completed over 20 clinical studt ies of our SSME technology to evaluate its potential to diagnose, treat and monitor
certain cognitive funcff tions in patients. Our studies, including large prospective randomized controlled trials, have been conducted
in over 2,600 patients across nine disease areas. Our research has been published in leading peer-reviewed scientificff journals,
including The American JourJJ nal of Psychs iatry,r The Lancet Digii tal HeaHH lth and Nature: Digital MedMM icine.

SSME is the therapeutic engine underlying our first two commercial products in ADHD, EndeavorRx for pediatric ADHD and
EndeavorOTC forff aduld t ADHD, and we have achieved pilot and/or proof of concept with SSME in MDD, MS and ASD, though
clinical programs in MDD, MS, and ASD have been deprioritized as we focus our effoff rts primarily on ADHD. Further
development of our pipeline outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including capital raising and
supporu tive business development activities.

Attett ntiott n-defie cit hii yph eractivity disoii rderdd (“AD“ HDDD ”)

ADHD is a neurobehavioral disorder characterized by a persistent pattern of symptoms such as inattention, hyperactivity and
impulsive behavior that interferes with functioning and development. ADHD can have a profound impact on an individual’s life,ff
causing disruptu ion at school, work, home and in relationships. It is one of the most common developmental disorders in children
and often persists into aduld thood.
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ADHDDD marketkk sizeii

Current ADHD treatment options represent a $10 billion market with over 70 million prescriptions written every year for drugs in
the U.S. According to the U.S. Centers forff Disease Control and Prevention, nearly half the pediatric ADHD population uses
behavioral therapy. We believe the total ADHD population in the U.S. is approximately 17 million and that the total ADHD
population with inattention issues is approximately 14.7 million. Estimates of the U.S. prevalence of ADHD in aduld ts range from
1.12% to 4.4%, with the latter estimate derived froff m a studyt focused on a representative U.S. population and conducted with
epidemiological assessment methods. Based on estimates froff m the 2020 census of appra oximately 250 million individuals aged 18
and abova e, we believe the total addressabla e market forff aduld ts with ADHD in the United States is appra oximately 11 million.

Current ADHD treatment guidelines recommend a multi-faceted approach that uses medications in conjunction with behavioral
interventions. For children with ADHD younger than 6 years of age, the American Academy of Pediatrics recommends parent
training in behavior management as the firff st line of treatment, beforff e medication is tried. For children 6 years of age and older, the
recommendations include medication and behavior therapy used in combination. About 77% of children aged 2 to 17 with ADHD
in the U.S. receive treatment, with about 47% receiving behavioral treatment and abouta 15% receiving only behavioral treatment
without any medication. First- line medications used to treat ADHD are stimulants such as methylphenidate, marketed as Ritalin
and Methylin, dexmethylphenidate, marketed as Focalin, dextroamphetamine, marketed as Dexedrine and Zenzedi, amphetamine-
dextroamphetamine, marketed as Adderall, and lisdexamfetff amine, marketed as Vyvanse. Other appra oved medications include
atomoxetine, extended-release guanfaciff ne, and extended-release clonidine. As of 2018, stimulants command 88% of the U.S.
ADHD market at a value of $8 billion, with approximately 50% of the total market being amphetamines.

It is estimated that 44% of patients are not currently on or well controlled by ADHD medication, and 64% experience adverse
effeff cts froff m medication. Data show that 55% of patients have tried, are tryirr ng or plan to try nrr on-pharmacological treatments.
However, current validated non-pharmacological treatments and approaches—e.g. behavioral therapy—ca an lead to mixed results
and can have accessibility and cost issues.

Our targeted population forff EndeavorRx is U.S. children ages 8-17 with ADHD who have a demonstrated impairment in attention
function. This market represents a large and growing opportunity with caregivers actively searching forff new non-drugrr solutions
and allows us to build relationships with consumers that can be extended to support futff urt e market opportunities.

For our target population of U.S. adults 18 years of age and older, we released EndeavorOTC nationwide in June 2023 for adults
with primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD, under the FDA’s COVID-19 Guidance.

Our firff strr commercial product—En— deavorRxrr for pediatric ADHDDD patientstt

Supporu ted by data across fivff e clinical trials, in June 2020, EndeavorRx was granted marketing authorization and was classified as
a Class II medical device by the FDA through FDA’s de novo process. EndeavorRx is currently indicated to improve attention
function as measured by computer-based testing in children ages 8-17 years old with primarily inattentive or combined-type
ADHD, who have a demonstrated attention issue. Patients who engage with EndeavorRx demonstrate improvements in a digitally
assessed measure Test of Variabla es of Attention (“TOVA®”) of sustained and selective attention and may not display benefitff s in
typical behavioral symptoms, such as hyperactivity. EndeavorRx should be considered for use as part of a therapea utic program
that may include clinician-directed therapy, medication and/or educd ational programs, which furff ther address symptoms of the
disorder. EndeavorRx is availabla e by prescription only. It is not intended to be used as a stand-alone therapeutic and is not a
subsu titution forff a child’s medication.

According to the FDA, EndeavorRx represents the firff st game-based digital therapea utic to improve attention funcff tion associated
with ADHD and the first game-based therapea utic to be granted FDA marketing authorization forff any type of condition.

The impact of EndeavorRx as a digital therapea utic treating children with ADHD is two-fold—idd t is transforming how the world
experiences medicine and bringing a new clinically-validated non-drugr solution to patients living with ADHD. It is the firff st and
only FDA-authorized treatment of its kind and is currently being prescribed by health care providers and helping patients with
ADHD and their families.

Created by a team of neuroscientists and game designers, EndeavorRx is built on our SSME therapea utic engine and uses sensory
stimuli and simultaneous motor challenges designed to target areas of the brain that play a key role in attention funcff tion. Patients
who engaged with AKL-T01 in clinical studit es demonstrated improvements in specific ADHD impairments and symptoms in
daily life,ff as detailed in our clinical studt y data below.

Clinical evidence supporpp ting EndeEE avorRxrr

The EndeavorRx research program includes three studies in ADHD (STARS-ADHD, STARS-Adjud nct and ADHD-POC) and
pilot studies in ADHD with Sensory Prr rocessing Disorder and in ADHD with ASD (see below section forff a description of the ASD
study)t .
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STARS-ADHD pivotal studytp y

The pivotal STARS-ADHD studyt was a 4-week multi-center, randomized, blinded,
controlled trial conducted between July 2016 and November 2017 in 348 children aged 8-
12 years and diagnosed with ADHD. Children enrolled into the studyt were instructed to
use AKL-T01 or an educd ational-style video game control forff approximately 25 minutes a
day forff 28 days.

The predefined primary endpoint of the study was the change from baseline in the TOVA
Attention Performance Index (TOVA API), a measure of objective attention forff which the
studyt was statistically powered. TOVA is a computerized test cleared by the FDA to assess
attention deficff its and evaluate the effeff cts of interventions in ADHD; the API is a
composite measure of attention funcff tioning. This objective attention endpoint was the
primary endpoint for which the study was statistically powered. The control condition used
in this studyt was specifically designed to enabla e the assessment of changes in the primary
endpoint of objective attention. The control was in the forff m of an educational style word
search digital game matched to AKL-T01 for expectation of benefitff and time on task.
AKL-T01 showed a statistically significant improvement on the TOVA API compared to
the control (p=0.006).

The mean (“SD”) change froff m baseline on the TOVA API was 0.93 in the AKL-T01 group and 0.03 in the control group. Forty-
seven percent of children met the prespecifieff d clinical responder analysis forff TOVA API improvement, which was greater than
control (47% vs 32%, p=0.0058). In addition to the improvement in the TOVA API, treatment with AKL-T01 resulted in
significantly greater improvements across other objective TOVA attention-related measures (sustained attention, attentional
consistency, and long attentional lapses). Overall, after treatment with AKL-T01, 36% of children moved into the normative range
of objective attention as measured by TOVA and no longer showed an objective attention deficff it in at least one aspect of attention
functioning, which was statistically greater than control (36% vs 21%, p=0.0027).

In addition to these objective measures of attention, the study also looked at secondary outcome measures comparing AKL-T01 to
control on parent- and clinician-reported ADHD impairment and symptom ratings scales, specifically the Impairment Rating
Scale (“IRS”), ADHD Rating Scale (ADHD-RS-IV—Total, Inattentive, Hyperactive subscales), Clinical Global Impressions of
Improvement (“CGI-I”) and the Behavior Rating Inventory orr f Executive Function (“BRIEF”). Children using AKL-T01 showed
statistically significant change from baseline improvement across all measures. Though there was not a statistically significff ant
separation on the mean magnitude of improvement between AKL-T01 and control on these secondary outcome measures, there
was a trend towards differential improvement in IRS and ADHD-RS-Inattentive forff children using AKL-T01.

Predefinff ed responder analyses of these parent- and clinician-reported measures also showed differential improvement, with a
significantly greater proportion of children benefitinff g froff m AKL-T01 versus control in the clinician-administered IRS, a parent-
reported scale of ADHD-specific impairments (48% vs 37%, p=0·049). Further, 24% of children in the AKL-T01 group were
considered responders on the ADHD-RS (≥30% reduction in ADHD-RS) compared to 19% in the control group (p=0.23; post-hoc
analysis). Additionally, 56% of parents said the intervention helped their child’s attention in real life,ff and 73% of children
reported feelff ing an improvement in their attention when asked via an exit survey. Overall, the effects of AKL-T01 were strongest
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for measures of attention funcff tion, and weakest forff measures of hyperactivity in ADHD. We further investigated these and similar
secondary endpoints in other studit es described herein.

AKL-T01 was shown to be safe iff n this study, with no serious adverse events observed. All adverse events reported were mild in
7% of patients, and included fruff stration (3%), headache (2%), emotional reaction (1%), dizziness (1%), nausea (1%) and
aggression (1%).

STARS-ADHD Adjud nctive clinical studytj y

The STARS-ADHD Adjud nctive clinical studyt was a three-month open-labea l study conducted between December 2018 and
September 2019 which enrolled 206 children, aged 8-14 years with a diagnosis of ADHD. The children were separated into two
groups: one with children on stimulant medications and one with children not taking ADHD medication. Both groups received a
first period of AKL-T01 treatment in the firff st month of the study,t followed by a pause in AKL-T01 treatment in the second
month, and then a second period of AKL-T01 treatment in the third month. The primary effiff cacy outcome of the study was
change in IRS after one month of treatment.

The study demonstrated statistically significant improvement in the IRS from baseline after
one month as well as to the end of the three- month trial in both the children on-stimulants
and off-stimulants (both cohorts: p<0.001). The second period of AKL-T01 treatment
resulted in furff ther increases in effiff cacy on this primary outcome measure, beyond the
effeff cts already seen afteff r the first period of treatment. The magnitude of improvement in
IRS throughout the study was similar forff children independent of their ADHD medication
use. Responder rates for IRS (improvement of greater than 1 point or more on the IRS
scale) were 41% and 56% at the end of the firff st period of treatment with AKL-T01 in the
off-sff timulant and on-stimulant groups respectively (50% across both groups). This
increased to 69% and 68% respectively by the end of the second period of treatment.
Further, across both groups, responder rates for ADHD-RS Total (% children with ≥30%
improvement) after the firff st period of treatment was 27% and increased to 45% afteff r the
second period of treatment. Additionally, after the second period of treatment, 60% of
parents said the intervention helped their child’s attention in real life,ff and 75% of children
reported feelff ing an improvement in their attention when asked via an exit survey.

The treatment was well-tolerated. There were no serious adverse events and the total reported adverse events were in 18% of
patients. The most common treatment-related adverse events reported were fruff stration (13.1%), headache (1.9%), irritabia lity
(1.5%), dizziness (1%), agitation (0.5%), anxiety (0.5%), asthenopia (0.5%), nausea (0.5%), feeling abnora mal (0.5%) and prurr itus
(0.5%).
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ADHD proof of concept study in pediatric ADHDp p y p

Our proof of concept (“POC”) studyt in ADHD was a 4-week studyt with recruirr tment conducted between January 2014 and August
2014 in children between the ages of 8-12 with a primary aim to assess treatment safety and acceptabia lity and explore outcomes
for AKL-T01 as a novel digital treatment targeting cognitive processes implicated in pediatric ADHD. Participants included 40
children with ADHD and 40 children without an ADHD diagnosis. Following psychiatric screening, ADHD ratings, and baseline
neuropsychological measures (TOVA, CANTAA AB and BRIEF), participants completed the 28-days of at-home treatment and then
returned to the clinic for folff low-up safety, acceptabia lity and neuropsychological measures. A neuropsychological assessment was
repeated at the end of the study, and treatment satisfactff ion measures were assessed.

Eighty-four percent of treatment sessions were completed and AKL-T01 was feaff sibly deployed in the home setting over the
treatment period of four weeks with positive ratings of acceptabia lity by both parents and children. AKL-T01 was well-tolerated by
children with ADHD, with no treatment-related adverse events reported. The results of the neurocognitive measures were as
follows:

Significant improvements compared to baseline were observed in the ADHD group on the TOVA Attention Performance Index
(TOVA API) (p = 0.033, Effeff ct Size (d) = 0.35). There was no significant change in TOVA API scores forff the non-ADHD group
(p = 0.30, Effeff ct Size (d) = 0.17).

The ADHD group showed significant improvement compared to baseline (p < 0.05) on 8 of 12 variabla es within the CANTAB
Spatial Working Memory (SWM) test, 3 of 10 variabla es within the CANTAB Rapia d Visual Processing (RVP) test, and 0 of 16
within the CANTAB Delayed Match to Sample (DMS) test. The non-ADHD group showed significant improvement (p < 0.05) on
5 of 12 variabla es within the SWM, 6 of 10 variabla es within the RVP, and 9 of 16 within the DMS.

The BRIEF summary scores (i.e., Metacognition, Behavioral Regulation, Global Executive Composite) did not change
significantly for any of the groups. Findings from the studyt provided preliminary srr upport that this digital therapya intervention may
be effeff ctive forff improving attention in pediatric ADHD, especially among children with greater symptom severity and impaired
attention.

Studit es in ADHD with sensory prr rocessing disordery p g

AKL-T01 was evaluated in a pilot study in children between 8-12 years old with Sensory Prr rocessing Dysfunff ction (“SPD”) who
also met research criteria forff ADHD. Recruir tment for this study began in February 2rr 014 and ended in January 2015. These
children experience attention deficff its that often impact their academic and social development. A sample of 38 SPD and 25
typically developing children were tested on behavioral, neural and parental measures of attention beforff e and afteff r a four-week
iPad-based at-home cognitive remediation program. The primary endpoints were a Test of Variabla es of Attention (TOVA)
reaction time (mean RT first half) and RT variabia lity (RT-var firff st half) aff nd ADHD-inattention symptoms (as measured with
Vanderbilt inattention subscale, parent report). The secondary endpoints were Neurophysiology EEG Midline Frontal Theta
(MFT) durd ing TOVA and perceptual discrimination task. This was a feasibility studyt and a power analysis was not conducted. At
baseline, 54% of children with SPD met or exceeded criteria on a parent report measure forff inattention/hyperactivity. Notable
deficits involving sustained attention, selective attention and goal management were observed only in the subsu et of SPD children
with parent-reported inattention. This subsu et of children also showed reduced midline froff ntal theta activity, a well-establa ished
measure of attentional control derived froff m the electrical activity of the brain. Following the cognitive intervention, only the SPD
children with inattention/ hyperactivity showed both improvements in midline froff ntal theta activity and on a parental report of
inattention. Notabla y, 33% of these individuals no longer met the clinical cut-off fff orff inattention, with the parent-reported
improvements persisting forff nine months. These findings supporu t the benefit of a targeted attention intervention forff a subset of
children with SPD, while simultaneously highlighting the importance of having a multifacetff ed assessment forff individuals with
neurodevelopmental conditions to optimally personalize treatment.

A 9 months follow up su tudy (no intervention with AKL-T01 and continued treatment as usual) revealed that participants showed a
significant decrease in parent-observed inattentive behaviors (p = 0.66, Cohen’s D = 0.14), which remained stable in a nine-month
follow-up assessment. A Generalized Estimating Equations analysis was used to assess changes in symptoms over time,
specifically to determine whether the initial improvements were retained. The SPD plus inattention cohort continued to show
sustained benefitsff on their parent-reported scores of inattention, with 54% of SPD plus inattention individuals no longer meeting
criteria forff ADHD three years folff lowing intervention.
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Consistent and Clinically Meaningfulff Improvements in Objective Attention across Studies in ADHDy g p j

We observed consistent improvements in TOVA API and related key measures of objective attention (reaction time (RT Mean
H1) and reaction time variability (RT Var)) across all studit es of AKL-T01 in children with attention impairment.

We believe the overall effiff cacy profileff s of the ADHD studit es described herein refleff ct the targeted naturt e of the treatment and
underlying technology, i.e., to target attention networks. We believe these efficacy profileff s meet an important need for children in
ADHD, which is reinforff ced by the indication of EndeavorRx. Specifically, the FDA-authorized indications for use specify that
EndeavorRx is intended to improve attention funcff tion, and that EndeavorRx is for children ages 8-17 years old with primarily
inattentive or combined-type ADHD, who have a demonstrated attention issue, and to be used alongside their current treatment
program, and that EndeavorRx should be considered for use as part of a therapea utic program that may include clinician-directed
therapy, medication, and/or educd ational programs, which furff ther address symptoms of the disorder.

Electroencephalography (“EE“ G”) s” tudy of AKL-KK T01 in ADHDp g p y ( ) y f

This single-arm, unblinded 4-week studyt was conducted at UCSF and assessed a sample of 25 children with ADHD (8–12 years
old) on neural, behavioral, and clinical metrics of attention beforff e and afteff r a four-week at-home intervention with AKL-T01. The
primary endpoints were neural assessment of attentional control, change in midline frontal theta (MFT) power as measured by
Perceptual Discrimination Task (PDT)-Locked Electroencephalogram (EEG) froff m day 0 to day 28. The exploratory err ndpoints
were objective behavioral measures of attention, such as a perceptuat l discrimination task, reaction time and reaction time
variability metrics, and sustained attention task (a continuous performance task similar to TOVA). The parent reported ADHD
symptoms were measured on the Vanderbilt inattention subscale. This was a feasibility studyt and a power analysis was not
conducted.

The study found that children showed enhancements on MFT, as well as on objective behavioral measures of attention and parent
reports of clinical ADHD symptoms. There were also observed relationships between the neural and behavioral cognitive
improvements, demonstrating that those children who showed the largest intervention-related neural gains were also those that
improved the most on the behavioral tasks indexing attention.

Graph (a) shows the time course of MFT EEG changes durd ing treatment with AKL-T01 and shows there was a general increase in
MFT magnitude following fourff weeks of treatment with AKL-T01 (change from pre- to post- intervention).
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Graph (b) illustrates improvements in MFT following four weeks of treatment with AKL-T01 at the corresponding early, peak
and late time windows durd ing treatment, through topographic heat mapsa with the MFT area of interest highlighted with a dotted
bounding box.

Clinical development program in ADHDDD

U.S. studyt of AKL-T01 in adolescents (STARS-ADHD-Adolescents)y ( )

Akili has conducd ted a multi-center pivotal trial to evaluate objective attention funcff tioning and ADHD symptoms and impairments
in adolescents, ages 13 to 17, with a diagnosis of ADHD (combined or Inattentive subtypes), who are stabla e on or off ADHD
medication, afteff r fourff -weeks of SSME treatment.

In January 2023, we announced top-line results of this STARS-ADHD-Adolescents label expansion trial evaluating the effiff cacy
and safetff y of AKL-T01 (marketed and branded as EndeavorRx in the U.S.) in 162 adolescents ages 13-17 with ADHD, with the
trial meeting its primary endpoint and showing statistically significant improvement in a number of other symptom outcomes.

These data were the basis of our 510(k) submu ission to FDA in May 2023; and in December 2023, we obtained marketing
authorization froff m FDA for the labea l expansion of EndeavorRx to include adolescents ages 13-17 with ADHD. Results from this
studyt were presented at two scientificff meetings in 2023 and are currently under review forff publication in a peer-reviewed journal.

Shionogi studyt of SDT-001 in Japaa ng y p

Through our strategic partnership with Shionogi announced in March 2019, Akili conducted a studyt of SDT-001, which is
subsu tantially the same SSME-based softwff are as the AKL-T01 product candidate, but localized for Japanese language and culture
for distribution in Japan, in children with ADHD in Japaa n. The study was designed to evaluate the feasibility, safetff y and effiff cacy
of the investigational digital therapea utic in children with ADHD and to inforff m the design of a futff urt e pivotal study.t To enable this
clinical trial, Akili localized AKL-T01 for use in the Japanese market, which included adapta ing forff language and culture and
establa ishing infrastructurt e in Japan to supporu t the investigational device.

The randomized, controlled study of SDT-001 enrolled children ages 6-17 years diagnosed with ADHD whose ADHD RS-IV
Inattention score was 15 or over. A total of 261 patients were enrolled across three studyt groups: (1) participants who received the
Akili SDT-001 digital treatment, (2) participants who continued treatment as usual (“TAU”), consisting of psychoeducation and
environmental support, and (3) participants who received a version of the treatment with reduced cognitive tasks and adapta ability
(“Sham”). The SDT-001 treatment group showed larger improvements across the clinical endpoints compared to both the TAU
and the Sham groups. In the total population, the improvements seen over Sham did not meet statistical significance, but post hoc
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analysis applying the propensity score suggested that SDT-001 improvements over TAU were statistically significant (p < 0.05).
SDT-001 was generally well-tolerated and there were no serious adverse events. Adverse events reported were consistent with
previous clinical studt ies of AKL-T01. There were 4 adverse device reactions reported in patients treated with SDT-001, which
were mild in severity including irritabia lity, headache, tinnitus and nausea.

In August 2022, we announced that following a successfulff Phase 2 trial, Shionogi had commenced a pivotal Phase 3 portion of
this study.t

In Februarr ry 2024, Shionogi announced its submission of a marketing appra oval appla ication forff SDT-001 to Japan’s Ministry of
Health, Labour, and Welfarff e, for commercialization and sale in Japaa n. The submission for marketing appra oval in Japan is based
on the results of the Phase 3 clinical trial conducted by Shionogi in Japaa n. The trial aimed to evaluate the effiff cacy and safetff y ott f
SDT-001 in 164 pediatric ADHD patients aged 6 to 17 who received conventional treatments such as environmental adjustments
and psychosocial therapia es. The SDT-001 group, undergoing approximately 25 minutes of treatment once daily for 6 weeks (1
cycle), demonstrated statistically significant improvements in the change from baseline in the Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity
Disorder Rating Scale IV (ADHD-RS-IV) Inattention score compared to the control group (continuing conventional treatments) at
the 6-week mark (p < 0.05), achieving the primary endpoint of the trial. Moreover, statistically significant improvements were
observed in the change from baseline in the total ADHD-RS-IV score and the hyperactivity/impulsivity score at the 6-week mark
in the SDT-001 group compared to the control group (p < 0.05). No safetff y concerns or serious adverse events related to SDT-001
were observed. Furthermore, symptom improvements were sustained even afteff r two cycles of SDT-001 use, with no safety
concerns noted.

Clinical evidence supporpp ting EndeEE avorOTCTT

U.S. studyt of AKL-T01 in aduld ts (STARS-ADHD-Aduld ts)y ( )

In January 2023, we announced that based on the slower-than anticipated trial recruirr tment and the positive clinical data from thet
above STARS-ADHD-Adolescents pivotal trial and our desire to maximize capital efficff iency, we discontinued recruir tment of
STARS-ADHD-Aduld ts, the multi-center pivotal trial to assess the efficacy of AKL-T01 in aduld ts 18 years and older diagnosed
with ADHD in order to analyze the trial data. The studyt enrolled 223 patients and evaluated objective attention funcff tioning and
ADHD symptoms/impairments in aduld ts with a diagnosis of ADHD (combined or inattentive subtype), stably on or off Aff DHD
medication, afteff r six-weeks of AKL-T01 treatment.

In May 2023, we announced topline results of the STARS-ADHD-Aduld t clinical trial in adults with ADHD evaluating the
effiff cacy and safetff y of EndeavorRx (AKL-T01), the first product built on the Akili platform. STARS-ADHD-Aduld t was designed
as a pivotal clinical trial to enabla e registration with the FDA. The trial demonstrated statistically significant improvement in
attention funcff tioning afteff r six weeks of treatment, achieving its predefinff ed primary effiff cacy outcome. Significant improvements
were also seen across a range of secondary and exploratory outcomes, including clinical assessments of ADHD-related symptoms
and a validated measure of quality of life.ff The treatment was well-tolerated, with minimal side effects and no serious device-
related adverse events reported.

In June 2023, we released EndeavorOTC®, which is built on the same platforff m as EndeavorRx, nationwide as an over-the-
counter product that does not require a prescription to improve attention funcff tion, ADHD symptoms and quality of life iff n adults
18 years of age and older with primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD, under the FDA guidance entitled “Enforcement
Policy forff Digital Health Devices for Treating Psychiatric Disorders During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Publu ic Health
Emergency” (the “COVID-19 Guidance”). The COVID-19 Guidance allows for the marketing of certain digital therapea utics
without premarket clearance, de novo classification, or approval so long as certain criteria are met for the duration of the COVID-
19 Guidance, which was expected to remain in effeff ct until November 7, 2023 consistent with FDA guidance entitled “Transition
Plan for Medical Devices That Fall Within Enforcement Policies Issued During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)
Publu ic Health Emergency” (the “COVID-19 Transition Guidance”). The COVID-19 Transition Guidance allows for the continued
distribution of devices falling under the COVID-19 Guidance without marketing authorization so long as the manufactff urt er has
submu itted a marketing submission to FDA, the submission has been accepted by FDA prior to November 7, 2023 and FDA has
not taken a final action on the marketing submission.

While EndeavorOTC has not been authorized by FDA forff any indications, we submitted a marketing submission to FDA forff
EndeavorOTC on October 30, 2023. Through guidance froff m FDA regarding the COVID-19 Transition Guidance, it was clarified
that marketing submissions received by FDA on or before November 7, 2023, that pass their technical review afteff r the deadline
without being placed on submu ission hold are still eligible for continued enforff cement discretion. Pursuant to FDA’s guidance on
this topic, and given that we have since passed FDA’s technical review and have not been placed on submu ission hold, we are
continuing to commercialize, distribute, and market EndeavorOTC under the COVID-19 Guidance. We will continue to work
interactively with FDA on this submission and expect to provide information regarding the status of the application by the end of
the second quarter of 2024.



26

Autism spes ctrutt m disdd order (“ASD”)

ASD is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by impairments in social communication and social interaction and restricted
repetitive patterns of behavior, interests and activities. Children with ASD are at high risk for impairments in attention funcff tion
and are ofteff n initially diagnosed because of delays in language development or deviant language skills, or because of lack of the
intent to communicate. The presence of ADHD symptoms in children with ASD is associated with worse cognitive (attention)
control.

Individuals with ASD have varyirr ng degrees of impairment that require customized management based on the child’s age and
needs. Treatment for ASD is focused on behavioral and educd ational interventions as well as pharmacological interventions to treat
targeted symptoms such as hyperactivity, inattention, impulsivity, aggression, anxiety and obsessive-compulsive behaviors.
Risperidone and aripiprazole are the only appra oved treatments forff the behavioral disturbances associated with ASD. Common
adverse effects froff m these drugsr include weight gain, sedation and Parkinson’s-like symptoms such as muscle spasms and
stiffnff ess.

Clinical evidence in ASD

We have conducted a pilot study of an investigational new treatment product built on our SSME technology engine in patients
with ADHD with ASD, utilizing the AKL-T02 variation of our treatment software. While leveraging the same SSME core
mechanics and video game interface found in our EndeavorRx product, to address the distinct needs of ASD patients, the rate of
change in challenge levels of our investigational treatment product in ASD is decreased. Our pilot study demonstrated high
acceptabia lity and engagement of the treatment and an improvement in attention measures compared to a control condition. The
studyt demonstrated an improvement in TOVA scores following use of the Akili investigational treatment compared to a control
educd ational style video game. The primary endpoint was TOVA API. The secondary err ndpoints were the ADHD Rating Scale IV,
parent report and the Behavior Regulation Inventory orr f Executive Function-2 (BRIEF-2), social skills improvement system and
the spatial working memory task from the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB). This study was a
feasibility studyt and no power analysis was performed.

The study was conducted at the Children’s Hospital of
Philadelphia Center forff Autism Research, which enrolled 19
children with autism, aged 9-13 years old and with an average
age of 10 years old. Patients received either our investigational
treatment (AKL-T02) or a control educational style video game
based on a word challenge game. Patients were asked to play the
game for 30 minutes a day, fivff e days a week, forff four weeks.

This pilot study found that not only did the child participants like
and engage with our investigational treatment, their attention on
the TOVA test of attention improved similar to what was seen in
our studit es of children with only an ADHD diagnosis. The
control video game did not demonstrate improvement in the
mean TOVA score. There was one adverse event (decreased
frustration tolerance) in the AKL-T02 group; no serious adverse
events were reported.

Clinical development program and upcoming milestones in ASD

As noted previously with our updated strategic plan, this clinical program has been de-prioritized while we focus resources on the
ADHD population. Further development of our pipeline outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including
capia tal raising and supportive business development activities.

Majoa r depdd ressive disoii rderdd (“MD“ D”DD )”

Majoa r depressive disorder is the most prominent subtype of depression, and people suffeff ring from MDD typically have a
depressed spirit or mood, known as dysphoria, reducd ed energy and decreased activity level. They also have a reducd ed capacity for
enjon yment, a lowered self-eff steem and reducd ed self-cff onfidff ence.

Cognitive impairment is a fundamental diagnostic criterion of depression. Data show that cognitive symptoms are present durd ing
up to 94% of depressive episodes and, forff many patients, persist even after successfulff antidepressant treatment (seen in up to 44%
of periods of remission). Such cognitive impairments have been shown to be a predictor of daily function.
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The most common treatments forff a person diagnosed with depression are medication and psychotherapy.a There are approximately
three dozen medications approved by FDA for managing depression. Commonly prescribed antidepressant medications include
fluoxetine, sertraline, paroxetine, escitalopram, venlafaxine, desvenlafaxff ine and duloxetine. While these drugs are effective forff
many patients, approximately two-thirds of subju ects do not achieve remission with a single medication, and appra oximately one-
third of subjects did not achieve remission despite tryirr ng four medications. As such, there are large numbers of MDD patients forff
whom medication therapya is insufficient to alleviate their symptoms. Non-pharmacological approaches for depression include
psychotherapy,a physical activity and neurostimulation (interventions that deliver mild electrical or magnetic pulses to the brain)
for severe, treatment-resistant depression.

Clinical evidence in MDDMM

Our development program in MDD utilizes the same SSME core mechanics and video game interface found in our EndeavorRx
product, but is customized to appeal to an aduld t patient population.

Our proof of concept study in MDD was a multi-center,
randomized, controlled trial of our SSME technology engine,
utilizing the AKL-T03 variation of our treatment software, in 74
aduld t patients diagnosed with mild-to-moderate MDD symptoms
and with mild-to-moderate cognitive impairment. All
participants were on stable antidepressant medication.
Participants were randomized 1:1 to AKL-T03 or a control
game. Both groups used the treatment/ctt ontrol at home, five days
per week for 25 minutes per day, on a tabla et device for six
weeks. Following the treatment period, an in-clinic assessment
was conducted to assess key outcomes. The primary outcome of
the study assessed sustained attention as measured by TOVA, an
FDA-cleared objective measure of attention.

In the study, AKL-T03 showed a statistically significant improvement in sustained attention compared to control (p=0.002) on the
predefinff ed primary endpoint, as measured by the TOVA engagement with AKL-T03 also showed a strong correlation with
improved processing speed. There were no serious adverse events observed forff AKL-T03. Two (5.5%) of 37 patients using AKL-
T03 reported an intervention-related adverse event (headache) Results of the study were published in The American JourJJ nal of
Psychs iatryr in 2022.

Clinical development program and upcoming milestones in MDDMM

As noted previously with our updated strategic plan, this clinical program has been de-prioritized while we focus resources on the
ADHD population. Further development of our pipeline outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including
capia tal raising and supportive business development activities.

Multiple sclerosis (ii “MS”MM )”

Multiple sclerosis is an inflaff mmatory nrr eurologic disease in which the destruction of myelin inhibits communications between the
nerves in the brain. MS freff quently causes extreme fatigue, numbness, weakness, difficulty with eyesight, spasticity, speech
problems, problems with coordination and problems with memory and concentration.

Cognitive symptoms in patients with MS are predictive of loss of employment, loss of quality of life,ff and affects all aspects of
daily life.ff

Treatment of MS focuses on symptom management, treatment of attack, and reduction of disease progression. A number of
immunosuppressive disease-modifying therapia es have been approved that reducd e the rate of disease progression, but they do not
stop it. Thereforff e, MS treatment management includes symptomatic treatments as well as rehabilitative and psychological
approaches such as physical therapy, speech therapy, occupau tional therapya and cognitive rehabilitation. There are no current
treatments forff MS that are specifically designed to address cognitive impairments.

Clinical evidence in MSMM

Our development program in MS leverages the SSME therapea utic engine and is focff used on treating adult patients. We initially
conducted a pilot study in 21 patients with UCSF. Participants completed an in-clinic baseline neurological evaluation and then
used our investigational digital therapea utic in-home forff 25 minutes daily, fivff e days weekly, forff four weeks. This was folff lowed by
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a repeat in-clinic evaluation. The study showed significant improvement in processing speed in patients who used our
investigational digital therapea utic.

We then conducted a proof of concept study designed to assess our investigational digital therapea utic’s ability to improve
processing speed in adults with MS as compared to control. Recruir tment for this study was between March and September 2018
for adults between the ages of 18-70 years old. The double-blind randomized controlled clinical trial enrolled 40 adults with MS
and baseline Symbol Digit Modalities Test (“SDMT”) z- scores between -2 and 0. After completing a baseline in-clinic evaluation
(Visit 1), subjects were randomized to complete our in-home investigational digital therapea utic utilizing the AKL-T03 variation of
our treatment software or a control word game forff up to 25 minutes/day, fivff e days/week, forff six weeks. A repeat in-clinic
evaluation occurred at six weeks (Visit 2), and again eight weeks later to determine persistence of effeff cts (Visit 3). The primary
endpoint was SDMT and the secondary endpoint was Paced auditory Serial Addition Test (“PASAT”). No power analysis was
reported by the studt y investigators.

The pre-specified primary outcome was change in SDMT score between Visits 1 and 2. The study demonstrated clinically
significant improvement in SDMT (>4) following six weeks of AKL-T03 use (vs. baseline). This clinically meaningfulff 4+ point
increase in SDMT was maintained afteff r a further eight weeks observation period. No adverse events were reported. The statistical
analysis from the studyt showed:

• SDMT: No diffeff rence between group, p=0.21. Both the AKL-T03 and control groups showed statistically significant
improvements, p<0.001 and p=0.024, respectively.

• At 8 weeks folff low up,u responders analysis (clinically meaningfulff +4 point increase in SDMT relative to baseline
SDMT score) was statistically significant favff oring AKL-T03, p=0.038.

• PASAT: No difference between group, p=0.93. Both the AKL-T03 and control groups showed statistically significant
improvements, p=0.002 and p=0.07 (marginally significant), respectively.

Clinical development program and upcoming milestones in MSMM

As noted previously with our updated strategic plan, this clinical program has been de-prioritized while we focus resources on the
ADHD population. Further development of our pipeline outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including
capital raising and supportive business development activities.

Acute ctt ognitive dysdd fus nction

Cognitive impairments can occur after acute insults to the brain due to trauma, infectff ion, hypoxia, inflammation, medication,
toxins, critical illness, cancer and more. Patients with acute cognitive dysfunction may experience issues related to attention,
processing speed, multi-tasking, immediate recall and short- and long-term memory among other impairments.

These impairments can have a significant impact on individuals’ daily functioning and quality of life.ff Cancer- related cognitive
dysfuncff tion (“CRCI”) has a negative impact on survivors’ ability to work, carry out routine activities, and engage in social and
family relationships. And, in a recent studt y of COVID-19 survivors, for instance, “COVID fog”ff symptoms including cognitive
impairment impacted their abia lity to work for six months or more.
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Clinical evidence in acute cognitive funcff tion

Evaluating the ability of our SSME technology to improve
impairments related to acute cognitive dysfunction, we
conducted a pilot study between September 2015 and April 2019
of 84 patients with TBI, including 60 85-year-old veterans with a
history orr f multiple mild TBIs, or at least one incident of
moderate TBI, and related subju ective cognitive complaints. The
primary endpoint was attention as measured by TOVA API, RT,
and RT variabia lity. The secondary endpoints were working
memory as measured by WAISS Letter number sequencing, and
the symbol span, processing speed as measured by the WAISS
symbol search, Trail Making Test A and the color naming, color
reading response time, executive funcff tioning as measured by
Trail Making Test B, the color word inhibition test, and tower
test, and memory as measured by HVLT-R learning, delayed
recall and recognition.

The data froff m the studyt showed significant improvement in measures of attention (reaction time) and working memory,rr compared
to controls.

This was a feasibility studyt and no specific power analysis was conducted. There was a statistically significant diffeff rence forff
attention, p=0.045. Only AKL-T01 showed significant improvement, p=0.006. Neither the control group (p=0.43) nor the no
contact group (p=0.79) changed their attention performance. This improvement was maintained forff 3 months post-intervention.
There were no other changes on the other cognitive domains, all p<0.05. No adverse events were reported.

Pilot studies in COVID fogff g

There are currently no FDA-approved treatments forff cognitive dysfunction folff lowing COVID-19 infection (“COVID fog”ff ) and
research suggests that it can affeff ct between 20-80% of COVID-19 survivors who had been hospitalized. We worked with research
teams at Weill Cornell Medicine, NewYork-Presbyterian Hospital and Vanderbilt University Medical Center to conduct
randomized, controlled clinical studit es evaluating the ability of our investigational digital therapea utic to target and improve
cognitive funcff tioning in COVID-19 survivors who have exhibited a deficit in cognition.

The Akili, Weill Cornell Medicine and NewYork-Presbyterian Hospital randomized, controlled study was evaluating AKL-T01 in
approximately 100 COVID-19 survivors ages 18-89 who have exhibited a deficit in cognition. The study took place over 10
weeks, with six weeks of treatment and fourff weeks of folff low-up. Half of the study participants received the investigational digital
treatment and half served as a control group. The primary endpoint of the study was mean change in cognitive funcff tion, as
assessed by a measure of attention and processing speed. Secondary endpoints include additional measures of cognitive
functioning. The study was conducted remotely in patients’ homes, and patients in the control arm had the option to receive the
AKL-T01 intervention afteff r the conclusion of their participation in the control group.

The Akili and Vanderbilt randomized, controlled study evaluated AKL-T01 in approximately 100 COVID-19 survivors ages 18
and older who have exhibited a deficit in cognition. The study recruir ted subjects who had completed the SARS-CoV-2 Household
Transmission Study.t Half of the study participants received the investigational digital treatment for fourff weeks and half served as
a control group. The primary endpoint of the study was mean change in cognitive funcff tion, as measured by CNS Vital Signs
(composite score of cognitive funcff tion, especially attention and processing speed). Secondary endpoints included additional
measures of cognitive funcff tioning. The study was conducted remotely in patients’ homes.

In August 2023, we reported that topline analysis had been completed on the Cornell and Vanderbilt trials evaluating EndeavorRx
in aduld ts with COVID fog.ff These independent proof-off f-principle studit es randomized eligible patients to receive either
EndeavorRx or treatment as usual. We did not see statistical separation between the groups on the primary outcome measures, but
we did observe compelling improvements in a number of secondary measures that assessed funcff tional outcomes, such as fatigue,
depression, anxiety and quality of life,ff as well as secondary measures of cognitive funff ctioning specifically associated with
attentional control. Across these funcff tional and cognitive outcomes, we observed statistically significant changes froff m baseline to
end of treatment in the group receiving EndeavorRx, and these changes were statistically significant or trending toward
significance when compared to the control group. We are working with the study investigators to present the data at an upcu oming
scientificff meeting and submu it findings for publication.

Pilot study in post-operative patientsy p p p

Working with Vanderbir lt’s Critical Illness, Brain Dysfunction and Survivorship (CIBS) Center, we are conducting a pilot study of
AKL-T01 in older surgical patients. The ongoing COPE-iOS studyt will assess the efficff acy of AKL-T01 in improving cognitive
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outcomes in post-op patient populations by combining cognitive and physical training as part of interventions that occur beforff e
surgery arr nd up to three months afteff r hospital discharge.

The COPE-iOS controlled study will randomize appa roximately 250 patients 60 years and older undergoing elective major non-
cardiac surgery trr o evaluate the effiff cacy of a comprehensive cognitive training program (digital cognitive intervention and
supeu rvised progressive multimodal physical exercise) in improving long-term cognitive outcomes as compared to an active
control (control computer game, health inforff mation, stretching exercises) for two to four weeks prior to surgery arr nd for three
months afteff r discharge. The primary endpoint of the fivff e year studyt is the diffeff rence in global cognition between intervention and
active control three and 12 months afteff r discharge. Neuropsychological profesff sionals blinded to treatment assignment and hospital
course will assess global cognition at baseline and afteff r discharge using the CNS Vital Signs neurocognitive battery. In addition,
Vanderbilt will obtain blood to evaluate biomarkers of neuronal injury arr nd will be performing brain MRI imaging at baseline and
three months afteff r discharge, providing a robust mechanistic aim of the studyt in addition to evaluation of cognition and physical
function outcomes. This is a long term studyt and no results are expected before mid-to late 2024.

Pilot study in CRCIy

We worked with UCSF to conduct a pilot study in patients with cancer-related cognitive dysfunction. The study plan included
randomizing appra oximately 60 patients to evaluate the feasibility, safetff y and initial signals of effiff cacy of AKL-T01 as compared
to control game. Half of the study participants received the investigational digital treatment for fourff weeks and half served as a
control group. They used the treatment or control game forff 25 minutes per day, fivff e days a week for fourff weeks. Cognitive
measures include TOVA and Adapta ive Cognitive Evaluation (“ACE”), a mobile cognitive control assessment battery. This pilot
studyt in CRCI is now closed and any additional updau tes will be based on investigator discretion.

Clinical development program and upcu oming milestones in acute cognitive dysfunctionp p g p g g y

As noted previously with our updated strategic plan, this clinical program has been de-prioritized while we focus resources on the
ADHD population. Further development of our pipeline outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including
capia tal raising and supportive business development activities.

Cogno itive Assessment

Cognition is often only assessed when there is a specific, subju ective complaint from patients, family members or caregivers. There
is no consistent clinical protocol for how to use cognitive assessment tools. Most cognitive assessments have not changed in
decades, and many are still performed on pen and papea r.

Clinical evidence in cognigg tive assessment

Our development program in this space leverages our SSME therapea utic engine, but with a focff us on assessment as opposed to
treatment.
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A pilot study was conducted in 100 patients with MS, which showed positive correlation between our SSME technology and a
recognized cognitive funcff tion measure, known as SDMT, in assessing cognition in MS (graph on left bff elow).

We also conducted a pilot study in 54 healthy older aduld ts in
collabora ation with Pfizff er. The studyt showed the potential forff SSME
assessment to detect cognitive diffeff rences between amyloid positive
and amyloid negative status, where amyloid is a protein biomarker
associated with a higher risk of progression to dementia, in
otherwise healthy individuals (grapha on right).

Clinical development program and upcoming milestones in acute cognitive assessment

As noted previously with our updated strategic plan, this clinical program has been de-prioritized while we focus resources on the
ADHD population. Further development of our pipeline outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including
capia tal raising and supportive business development activities.

Addidd tioii nal techtt nologyo engineii s

We have previously developed or licensed two additional technologies beyond SSME – SNAV and BBT. SNAV targets spatial
navigation and episodic memory,rr and BBT targets attention, goal management and working memory.rr These technologies have
potential to improve certain cognitive impairments associated with a number of medical conditions, including Alzheimer’s and
Mild Cognitive Impairment (“MCI”).

Intellectual Property

We actively seek to obtain patent protection in the U.S. and other countries for inventions covering our products and technologies.
We also license patents and technologies from third parties. Further, we rely on copyrights (including copyright registrations for
software designs), trademarks and trade secrets relating to our proprietary algorithms or processes, in order to develop, strengthen
and maintain our proprietary position in the digital therapea utics fieff ld.

We solely own or exclusively license twenty-one (21) utility patent families directed to softwff are or methods related to cognition
and/or digital therapea utics, including, as of Februar ry 23, 2024, fifty-five (55) patents allowed or granted worldwide (eighteen in
the U.S., fifteen in Japaa n, three in Canada, two in Australia, eight in China/Hong Kong/Macau, six in South Korea, one in the
European Union and two in Taiwan). Patent expiration dates noted below referff to earliest potential statutory expiration dates and
do not take into account any potential patent term adjustments or extensions that may be availabla e.

Exclusively licensed utility patent families include the folff lowing:

• An exclusive license from UCSF to a patent family directed to software and methods for enhancing cognition via a task
performed in the presence of interferences (distractions and/or interrupr ters) (see “Agreements/Third Parties—UC— SF
NeuroRacer Agreement” below forff a description of this exclusive license agreement). Three U.S. patents, six Japanese
patents and one Canadian patent have been allowed in this famff ily, the patents expiring as early as 2031 (Japan and
Canada) and 2032 (U.S.). Additional appa lications are pending in this family in the U.S., Australia, Canada, Japaa n and
Europe.
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• An exclusive license from UCSF to a patent family directed to software and methods for enhancing cognition via a task
with both a physical and cognitive component. Two Japaa nese patents have been allowed in this famff ily, expiring as early
as 2035. Additional appla ications are pending in this family in the U.S., Australia, Canada, Europe, Hong Kong and
Japaa n.

Solely owned utility patent families include the folff lowing:

• A patent famff ily directed to a personalized cognitive training regimen through difficulty progression. One U.S. patent,
one Japaa nese patent, one Canadian patent, and one South Korean patent have been allowed in this famff ily and will expire
as early as 2035. Additional appla ications are pending in this family in Europe and Hong Kong.

• A patent famff ily directed to processor-implemented systems and methods for measuring cognitive abia lities. Two U.S.
patents and one South Korean patent have been allowed in this famff ily and will expire as early as 2036. Additional
applications are pending in this family in the U.S. and Canada.

• A patent famff ily directed to signal detection metrics in adaptive response-deadline procedurd es. One U.S. patent, one
Japaa nese patent, one Chinese patent, one Macau patent and one South Korean patent have been allowed in this famff ily
and will expire as early as 2037. An additional appla ication is pending in this family in Canada.

• A patent famff ily directed to audio-only interference training forff cognitive disorder screening and treatment. Two U.S.
patents have been allowed in this famff ily and will expire as early as 2039. Additional appla ications are pending in this
family in China, Hong Kong, South Korea, Canada, Australia and Japan.

• A patent famff ily directed to facial expression detection forff screening and treatment of affeff ctive disorders. One U.S. patent
has been allowed in this famff ily and will expire as early as 2039.

• A patent famff ily directed to a platforff m configured to render computerized emotional/affective elements forff use as stimuli
in computerized tasks. One South Korean patent, one Chinese patent, one Hong Kong patent and one Macau patent have
been allowed in this famff ily and will expire as early as 2037. An additional appla ication is pending in this family in Japaa n.

• A patent famff ily directed to a cognitive platforff m coupled with a physiological component. Two U.S. patents, one
Japaa nese patent, one Australian patent, one Chinese patent and one South Korean patent have been allowed in this famff ily
and will expire as early as 2037. Additional appla ications are pending in this family in the U.S., Canada, Europe, Macau
and Hong Kong.

• A patent famff ily directed to a distributed network forff the secured collection, analysis, and sharing of data across
platforms. One Japanese patent and one Chinese patent have been allowed in this famff ily and will expire as early as 2038.
An additional appa lication is pending in the U.S.

• A patent famff ily directed to systems and methods for scientificff evaluation of program code outputt s. One U.S. patent has
been allowed in this famff ily and will expire as early as 2040. An additional appla ication is pending in the U.S.

• A patent famff ily directed to a cognitive platforff m including computerized elements. Two U.S. patents, one Canadian
patent, one European patent, one Japaa nese patent, and one Chinese patent have been allowed in this famff ily and will
expire as early as 2038. Additional appa lications are pending in the U.S., Europe and Hong Kong.

• A patent famff ily directed to a cognitive platforff m forff identificff ation of biomarkers and other types of markers. One U.S.
patent, one Australian patent and one Japaa nese patent have been allowed in this famff ily and will expire as early as 2037.
Additional appa lications are pending in the U.S., Europe and Canada.

• A patent famff ily directed to a platforff m forff identificff ation of biomarkers using navigation tasks and treatments using
navigation tasks. One Japaa nese patent and one South Korean patent have been allowed in this famff ily and will expire as
early as 2037. Additional appla ications are pending in the U.S., Canada and Japan.

• A pending patent family directed to a cognitive platforff m forff deriving effoff rt metric for optimizing cognitive treatment,
with applications pending in the U.S., Canada, Australia, South Korea, China and Hong Kong. If any patents are allowed
in this family, they could expire as early as 2039.

• A pending patent family directed to systems and methods for softwff are design control and quality assurance. One U.S.
patent and one Taiwanese patent have been allowed in this famff ily and will expire as early as 2040. Additional
applications are pending in Australia, Canada, Europe, China, Hong Kong, Japaa n and South Korea.

• A pending patent family directed to a system and method for adapta ive configff uration of computerized cognitive training
programs, with applications pending in the U.S. and Taiwan. If any patents are allowed in this famff ily, they could expire
as early as 2041.
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• A patent famff ily directed to a method for algorithmic rendering of graphical user interface elements. One U.S. patent and
one Taiwanese patent have been allowed in this famff ily and will expire as early as 2041. Additional appla ications are
pending in the U.S. and pursuant to the International Patent Cooperation Treaty.

• A pending patent family directed to a method and system forff determining equitabla e benefitff in digital products and
services, with an application pending in the U.S. If any patents are allowed in this famff ily, they could expire as early as
2042.

• A pending patent family directed to cognitive screens, monitor and cognitive treatments targeting immune-mediated and
neuro-degenerative disorders, with applications pending in the U.S., Canada, China, Hong Kong and South Korea. If any
patents are allowed in this famff ily, they could expire as early as 2039.

• A pending patent family directed to scaled analysis of performance data in digital health interventions, with a provisional
application pending in the U.S. If any patents are allowed in this famff ily, they could expire as early as 2044.

In addition to our utility patents, we own three families of design patents worldwide, relating to various former and/or current
Company logos or designs for our software applications, including over 40 granted or allowed design patents as of Februarr ry 23,
2024. One famff ily of design patents is directed to a graphia cal user interfacff e with an animated logo for a display screen, with one
allowed patent in the U.S., which patents would expire as early as 2034. A second family of design patents is directed to an
animated graphia cal user interface for a display screen, with allowed patents in the U.S., Australia, Canada, Europe, Japan, China
and South Korea, which patents would expire as early as 2030. A third family of design patents is directed to a graphia cal user
interface for a display screen, with allowed patents in the U.S., Australia, Canada, China, Europe, Japan and South Korea, which
patents would expire as early as 2027. The forff egoing design patent expiration dates assume all appla icable renewals are paid when
due.

Copyrightspy g

In addition to our portfolff io of utility and design patents, we hold copyright in our PDTs and companion software apps and pursue
federal copyright registration where appa ropriate. We have registered copyrights with the U.S. Copyright Offiff ce in certain core
designs and images in our PDTs and companion apps, and can additionally utilize international copyright protection such as the
Berne Convention as appa licable.

Trademarks

We also protect our trademarks and associated brand recognition by registering trademarks with the United States Patent and
Trademark Office and forff eign trademark offices.

While we consider these proprietary technology rights to be important to us, a range of factors help to mitigate the future effeff cts
of patent and license expiration on our results of operations and finff ancial position. These factff ors include: publications, including
peer-reviewed third-party studies, that demonstrate the effiff cacy of our products; our brand strength and reputation in the
marketplt ace; our existing distribution platforff m and our customer supporu t; the appla icable regulatory arr uthorization status forff certain
products; our continued investments in innovative product improvements that often result in new technologies and/or additional
patents; our investment in innovations that results in new product offerings that ofteff n are patentable; and our significant know-
how, scale and investments related to the clinical development and commercialization of associated product offerings.

Our commercial success may depend in part on our ability to: obtain and maintain patent and other proprietary protection forff
commercially important technology, inventions and know-how related to our business; defend and enforff ce our patents, copyrights,
trademarks and other proprietary rights; preserve the confidff entiality of our trade secrets; and operate without infringing the valid,
enforceable patents and other proprietary rights of third parties. Our abia lity to limit third parties from making, using, selling,
offeff ring to sell or importing our products may depend on the extent to which we have rights under valid and enforff ceable licenses,
patents, copyrights or trade secrets that cover these activities. In some cases, enforff cement of these rights may depend on third-
party licensors or co-owners. With respect to both company-owned and licensed intellectuat l property, we cannot be sure that
patents will be granted with respect to any of our pending patent applications or with respect to any patent appla ications filed by us
in the futff urt e, nor can we be sure that any of our existing patents or any patents that may be granted to us in the futff urt e will be
commercially usefulff in protecting our commercial products.

Agreements/Third Parties

Shionogi Collaboratiott n Agreement

In March 2019, Shionogi & Co. Ltd. exercised its option to enter into an exclusive collabora ation and license agreement (the
“Shionogi Agreement”) with us, pursuant to which we and Shionogi agreed to collabora ate in the development and
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commercialization of certain digital therapea utic products, including EndeavorRx and AKL-T02, variations of Akili’s SSME
technology, in the licensed fieff ld in Japaa n and Taiwan. Under the agreement, Shionogi is primarily responsible for the
development and commercialization of such licensed products at its own cost and expense. Shionogi has agreed to use
commercially reasonabla e efforts to obtain regulatory arr ppra oval forff certain licensed products, including EndeavorRx and AKL-T02,
in each indication in the licensed fieff ld throughout Japaa n and Taiwan. The development and commercialization of the licensed
products are overseen by a joint steering committee comprised of an equal number of representatives from each of us and
Shionogi. We maintain control over the development and commercialization of the licensed products worldwide forff all
indications, and in Japaa n and Taiwan for all indications outside of Shionogi’s licensed fieff ld. Additionally, we provide certain
technical supporu t services to Shionogi, and we have agreed to certain responsibilities with respect to licensed product
development activities under the agreement.

Pursuant to the Shionogi Agreement, for a given licensed product, we have granted to Shionogi an exclusive license, with the
right to grant sublicenses, under certain patent rights and know-how controlled by us (1) to clinically develop such licensed
product anywhere in the world for the purposes of obtaining regulatory arr ppra oval and commercializing such licensed product in the
licensed fieff ld in Japaa n and Taiwan and (2) commercialize such licensed product in the licensed fieff ld in Japaa n and Taiwan.

To date, we have received an aggregate amount of approximately $25.4 million froff m Shionogi under the Shionogi Agreement,
which includes an initial upfu roff nt fee payment of $10.0 million, an additional $10.0 million option exercise payment, proceeds
from a $5.0 million corporr ate bond and $0.4 million to produce a control version of our software for the trials in Japaa n. In
addition to what we have received froff m Shionogi to date, we are also entitled to receive up to a total of $110.0 million in total
development and commercial milestones across all licensed products in the licensed territories. Additionally, we are entitled to
royalties, in a range between 20-30%, on annual net sales of licensed products in the territory so long as Shionogi continues to sell
the licensed products in such territory, subjeb ct to certain specified reductions. Shionogi will also help fund development costs in
Japaa n and Taiwan.

In connection with Shionogi exercising its option to enter into the agreement, we issued a $5.0 million corporr rate bond to Shionogi
for cash. The corpor rate bond is unsecured and is suboru dinated to our obligations under indebtedness for borrowed money owed by
us to any bank or other financial institution.

Unless earlier terminated, the Shionogi Agreement will continue in effeff ct until the expiration of all of Shionogi’s payment
obligations thereunder. Either party may terminate the agreement uponu an uncured material breach of the agreement by the other
party or uponu the occurrence of certain events of insolvency of the other party. Additionally, Shionogi may terminate the
agreement forff any or no reason, in its entirety or on a licensed product-by-licensed product basis, uponu specified written notice to
us. Shionogi may also terminate the agreement on a licensed product-by-licensed product basis for safetff y reasons, certain clinical
failures, or in the event that any third-party in-license entered into by us is terminated and cannot be reestabla ished within a
specified period to allow Shionogi to continue exercising its rights under the agreement.

In the event that Shionogi has the right to terminate the Shionogi Agreement, in whole or with respect to a particular target, upon
our uncured material breach, then in lieu of so terminating, Shionogi has the right to elect to the have the agreement continue in
full force and effeff ct; provided that Shionogi shall pay a reducd ed royalty. In the event that Shionogi terminates the agreement at
will, or if we terminate forff a breach or insolvency, we are entitled to certain reversionary rights with respect to the terminated
licensed products.

In the event that we want to develop or commercialize certain digital therapea utic products (other than the licensed products) in
Japaa n or Taiwan, we agreed to allow Shionogi a one-time first right of negotiation to expand the scope of the agreement to include
such products.

UCSFCC NeuroRacer Agreement

On October 18, 2013, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with The Regents of the University of Califorff nia (the
“UCSF NeuroRacer Agreement”), which was amended on May 17, 2018, and February 2rr 5, 2019. Certain granted patent claims
licensed under the agreement cover aspects and/odd r funcff tionality of EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC. Under the agreement, UCSF
grants us an exclusive, worldwide, sublu icensabla e license under UCSF’s rights in certain patents and copyrights controlled by
UCSF, to, in the case of the licensed patents, make, use, sell, offeff r forff sale and import, and to reproduce, prepare derivative works,
distribute, perform, and, in the case of the licensed copyrights, display, certain licensed products, services, softwff are, and methods
covered by such patents and copyrights. Under the agreement, UCSF retains the right to use the licensed technology for
educd ational and research purposr es, including sponsored research performed for or on behalf of commercial entities. Under this
agreement, we have rights to three allowed U.S. patents, six allowed Japanese patents and one Canadian patent. These patents
expire as early as 2031 (forff the Japanese and Canadian patents) and 2032 (forff the U.S. patents).

As consideration forff entering into the UCSF NeuroRacer Agreement, we paid UCSF a license issue feeff of $10,000. We also paid
UCSF an aggregate license maintenance feeff of $25,000 ($5,000 annually for fivff e years up tu o the first sale of a licensed product).
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Additionally, we are obligated to pay to UCSF up tu o a total of $1.1 million in total milestone payments for products covered by
the license (including EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC), including for certain patent-related, regulatory arr nd commercial
milestones. To date, we have paid UCSF a total of $185,000 in such milestone payments.

In addition, we are obligated to pay to UCSF certain mid-single digit percentage royalties on annual net sales of licensed products,
methods, or services depending on if such products, methods, or services are clinically tested or not, subject to certain specified
reductions. Royalties are payabla e to UCSF froff m the date of first commercial sale of a licensed product or licensed service on a
country-by-country basis until the later of expiration or abaa ndonment of the licensed patents or on the tenth anniversary orr f the first
commercial sale of each such licensed product or licensed service in such country. To date , we have paid to UCSF a total of
$491,877 in such royalty payments. In total, we have paid UCSF $711,877 under the UCSF NeuroRacer Agreement forff the
above-referenced license issue fee,ff aggregate license maintenance fee,ff milestone payments to date, and royalty payments to date.

We are also obligated to pay UCSF certain tiered payments uponu a change of control transaction (as defined in the agreement), upu
to a maximum of $2.5 million in such payments, depending on the total amount of payments to shareholders resulting froff m such
transaction.

We must also pay to UCSF a tiered, low- to mid-double-digit percentage of any sublicensee revenue (as definff ed in the
agreement), depending on the regulatory srr tatus of the licensed product appla icable to such sublu icense agreement. To date, we have
not made any payments to UCSF in sublicensee revenue.

The UCSF NeuroRacer Agreement will remain in effeff ct until the later of (i) expiration or abaa ndonment of the last of the licensed
patents or (ii) expiration of the licensed copyrights in all countries. UCSF may terminate the agreement uponu an uncured breach of
the agreement by us and the agreement will automatically terminate uponu our insolvency. Additionally, we may terminate the
agreement forff any or no reason, in its entirety, or terminate our rights under the licensed patents on a country-by-country basis,
upon specified written notice to UCSF.

TALi Agreement

In August 2021, we entered into a license agreement with TALi Digital Limited (the “TALi Agreement”) pursuant to which we
licensed TALi’s technology designed to address early childhood attention impairments. On October 16, 2023, we mutually agreed
with TALi to terminate such license agreement, with such termination effective as of October 16, 2023. As a result, we do not
have plans at present to pursue additional clinical or regulatory err fforts in children under 8 years old with ADHD. To date, we paid
$0.1 million to TALi pursuant to the TALi Agreement.

Government Regulation

Coverage and Reimbii urserr ment

Sales of any producd t depend, in part, on the extent to which such product will be covered by third-party payers, such as fedff eral,
state and foreign government healthcare programs, commercial insurance and managed healthcare organizations and the level of
reimbursement for such product by third-party payers. Decisions regarding the extent of coverage and amount of reimbursement
to be provided are made on a plan-by-plan basis. These third-party payers are increasingly reducd ing reimbursements forff medical
products, drugs and services.

In addition, the U.S. government, state legislaturt es and forff eign governments have continued implementing cost-containment
programs, including price controls, restrictions on coverage and reimbursement and requirements forff subsu titution of generic
products. Adoption of price controls and cost-containment measures, and adoption of more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with
existing controls and measures, could furff ther limit sales of any product.

While coverage and reimbursement are no longer a focus area forff our business strategy, decreases in third-party reimbursement
for any product or a decision by a third-party payer not to cover a product could reducd e health care provider usage and user
demand for the product and also have a material adverse effecff t on sales.

Healthll Care Laws and Regulatll iott ns

Our business operations and current and futff urt e arrangements with investigators, healthcare professionals, consultants, third-party
payers, patient organizations and customers, may be subju ect to broadly appla icable healthcare laws and regulations, including fraud
and abusa e laws. These laws may constrain the business or finff ancial arrangements and relationships through which we conduct our
operations, including how we research, market, sell and distribute our producd t candidates, if authorized. The laws that may affectff
our abia lity to operate include, but are not limited to:

• the fedff eral Anti-Kickbak ck Statutt e, which prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfulff ly
soliciting, receiving, offeff ring or paying any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, or rebate), directly or
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indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce, or in return for, either the referff ral of an individual, or the
purchase, lease, order or recommendation of any good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in
whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. A person or entity
does not need to have actuat l knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a
violation;

• federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the False Claims Act (“FCA”), which can be enforced through
civil “qui tam” or “whistleblower” actions and civil monetary penalty laws, impose criminal and civil penalties
against individuals or entities forff , among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for
payment or appa roval froff m Medicare, Medicaid or other federal health care programs that are false or fraff udulent;
knowingly making or causing a falff se statement material to a false or fraff udulent claim or an obligation to pay money
to the fedff eral government; or knowingly concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding or decreasing such an
obligation. Manufactff urt ers can be held liable under the FCA even when they do not submu it claims directly to
government payers if they are deemed to “cause” the submu ission of false or fraff udulent claims. In addition, the
government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting froff m a violation of the federal Anti-
Kickbak ck Statutt e constitutes a false or fraff udulent claim for purposr es of the FCA. The FCA also permits a private
individual acting as a “whistleblower” to bring actions on behalf of the fedff eral government alleging violations of the
FCA and to share in the proceeds of any monetary recovery;

• the fedff eral Health Insurance Portabia lity and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), which created new fedff eral
criminal statutt es that prohibit knowingly and willfulff ly executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any
healthcare benefitff program or obtain, by means of falff se or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises, any of
the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefitff program, regardless of the
payer (e.g., public or private) and knowingly and willfulff ly falsifyiff ng, concealing or covering up by any trick or device
a material factff or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery orr f, or payment forff ,
healthcare benefitsff , items or services relating to healthcare matters. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickbakk ck Statutt e, a
person or entity can be found guilty of violating these statutt es without actuat l knowledge of the statutes or specific
intent to violate them in order to have committed a violation;

• the fedff eral Physician Payment Sunshine Act, created under the ACA and its implementing regulations, which require
manufactff urt ers of drugs, devices, biologicals and medical supplu ies forff which payment is availabla e under Medicare,
Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to the US
Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) information related to payments or other transfers of value made
to physicians (definff ed to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), certain other licensed
health care practitioners and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians and
their immediate famff ily members;

• federal consumer protection and unfaiff r competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities
that potentially harm consumers; and

• analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state and forff eign anti-kickbak ck, falff se claims, consumer
protection and unfaiff r competition laws which may appla y to pharmaceutical business practices, including but not
limited to, research, distribution, sales and marketing arrangements as well as submitting claims involving healthcare
items or services reimbursed by any third-party payer, including commercial insurers; state laws that require
pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’rr s voluntary crr ompliance guidelines and the
relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the fedff eral government that otherwise restricts payments that may be
made to healthcare providers and other potential referff ral sources; state laws that require drugr manufactff urt ers to fileff
reports with states regarding pricing and marketing inforff mation, such as the tracking and reporting of giftsff ,
compensations and other remuneration and items of value provided to healthcare professionals and entities; and state
and local laws requiring the registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives.

In the U.S., to help patients afforff d our authorized product, we may utilize programs to assist them, including patient assistance
programs and co-pay coupon programs forff eligible patients. Government enforcement agencies have shown increased interest in
pharmaceutical companies' product and patient assistance programs, including reimbursement supporu t services, and a number of
investigations into these programs have resulted in significant civil and criminal settlements. In addition, at least one insurer has
directed its network pharmacies to no longer accept co-pay coupons for certain specialty drugsr the insurer identifieff d. Our co-pay
coupon programs could become the target of similar insurer actions. In November 2013, the CMS issued guidance to the issuers
of qualifieff d health plans sold through the ACA's marketplt aces encouraging such plans to rejee ct patient cost-sharing supporu t froff m
third parties and indicating that the CMS intends to monitor the provision of such supporu t and may take regulatory arr ction to limit
it in the futff urt e. The CMS subsu equently issued a rulr e requiring individual market qualifieff d health plans to accept third-party
premium and cost-sharing payments from certain government-related entities. In September 2014, the OIG of the HHS issued a
Special Advisory Bulletin warning manufactff urt ers that they may be subju ect to sanctions under the federal anti-kickbakk ck statutt e
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and/or civil monetary penalty laws if they do not take appropriate steps to exclude Part D beneficff iaries from using co-pay
coupons. Accordingly, companies exclude these Part D beneficiaries froff m using co-pay coupons. It is possible that changes in
insurer policies regarding co-pay coupons and/or the introduction and enactment of new legislation or regulatory arr ction could
restrict or otherwise negatively affect these patient supporu t programs, which could result in fewer patients using affeff cted producd ts,
and therefore could have a material adverse effeff ct on our sales, business, and finff ancial condition.

Third party patient assistance programs that receive financial support froff m companies have become the subject of enhanced
government and regulatory srr crutr iny. The OIG has established guidelines that suggest that it is lawful forff pharmaceutical
manufactff urt ers to make donations to charitabla e organizations who provide co-pay assistance to Medicare patients, provided that
such organizations, among other things, are bona fide charities, are entirely independent of and not controlled by the
manufactff urt er, provide aid to appla icants on a firff st-come basis according to consistent financial criteria and do not link aid to use of
a donor's product. However, donations to patient assistance programs have received some negative publicity and have been the
subju ect of multiple government enforcement actions, related to allegations regarding their use to promote branded pharmaceutical
products over other less costly alternatives. Specifically, in recent years, there have been multiple settlements resulting out of
government claims challenging the legality of their patient assistance programs under a variety of fedff eral and state laws.

Although a number of these and other proposed measures may require authorization through additional legislation to become
effeff ctive, and the current U.S. presidential administration may reverse or otherwise change these measures, both the current U.S.
presidential administration and Congress have indicated that they will continue to seek new legislative measures to control drug
costs.

Healthll care Refoe rm

In 2010, the ACA was enacted, which subsu tantially changed the way healthcare is finff anced by both governmental and private
insurers, and significantly affeff cted the pharmaceutical industry.rr The ACA contained a number of provisions, including those
governing enrollment in federal healthcare programs, reimbursement adjud stments and changes to fraff ud and abusa e laws. For
example, the ACA:

• increased the minimum level of Medicaid rebates payabla e by manufactff urt ers of brand name drugsrr from 15.1% to
23.1% of the average manufactff urt er price;

• required collection of rebates for drugs paid by Medicaid managed care organizations; and

• imposed a non-deductible annual feeff on pharmaceutical manufactff urt ers or importers who sell “branded prescription
drugsrr ” to specified federal government programs.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the U.S. since the ACA was enacted. The Budget Control Act of
2011, among other things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. This includes aggregate reducd tions of Medicare
payments to providers up to 2% per fisff cal year, which remain in effeff ct through 2031.

There has been increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the U.S. with respect to specialty drugrr pricing practices.
Specifically, there have been several recent U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed federal and state legislation designed to,
among other things, bring more transparency to drugr pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, review the
relationship between pricing and manufacturt er patient programs, and reforff m government program reimbursement methodologies
for drugs.

President Biden has issued multiple executive orders that have sought to reduce prescription drug costs. In February 2rr 023, HHS
also issued a proposal in response to an October 2022 executive order from President Biden that includes a proposed prescription
drugr pricing model that will test whether targeted Medicare payment adjud stments will sufficiently incentivize manufactff urt ers to
complete confirff matory trials for drugs approved through FDA’s accelerated approval pathway. Although a number of these and
other proposed measures may require authorization through additional legislation to become effeff ctive, and the Biden
administration may reverse or otherwise change these measures, both the Biden administration and Congress have indicated that
they will continue to seek new legislative measures to control drug costs.

In addition, other legislative and regulatory crr hanges have been proposed and adopted in the U.S. since the ACA was enacted:

• The U.S. American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 further reducd ed Medicare payments to several types of providers and
increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to fivff e
years.

• On April 13, 2017, CMS published a final rulrr e that gives states greater flexibility in setting benchmarks forff insurers in
the individual and small group marketplt aces, which may have the effeff ct of relaxing the essential health benefits
required under the ACA forff plans sold through such marketplt aces.
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• On May 30, 2018, the Right to Try Arr ct, was signed into law. The law, among other things, provides a federal
frff amework forff certain patients to access certain investigational new drugrr products that have completed a Phase 1
clinical trial and that are undergoing investigation forff FDA appra oval. Under certain circumstances, eligible patients
can seek treatment without enrolling in clinical trials and without obtaining FDA permission under the FDA expanded
access program. There is no obligation forff a pharmaceutical manufactff urt er to make its drugr products availabla e to
eligible patients as a result of the Right to Try Arr ct.

• On May 23, 2019, CMS published a final rulr e to allow Medicare Advantage Plans the option of using step therapy forff
Part B drugs beginning January 1, 2020.

These laws and regulations may result in additional reducd tions in Medicare and other healthcare funff ding and otherwise affeff ct the
prices we may obtain forff any of our producd t candidates forff which we may obtain regulatory arr uthorization or freff quency with which
any such product candidate is prescribed or used.

The Inflaff tion Reducd tion Act of 2022 (“IRA”) includes several provisions that may impact our business to varyirr ng degrees,
including provisions that reduce the out-of-pocket cap for Medicare Part D beneficiaries to $2,000 starting in 2025; impose new
manufactff urt er financial liabia lity on certain drugsr under Medicare Part D, allow the U.S. government to negotiate Medicare Part B
and Part D price caps forff certain high-cost drugsr and biologics without generic or biosimilar competition, require companies to
pay rebates to Medicare forff certain drugr prices that increase fasff ter than inflaff tion, and delay the rebate rulrr e that would limit the
fees that pharmacy benefit managers can charge. Further, under the IRA,RR orpharr n drugs are exempted froff m the Medicare drug price
negotiation program, but only if they have one orpharr n designation and for which the only appra oved indication is forff that disease
or condition. If a product receives multiple orphan designations or has multiple approved indications, it may not qualify fff orff the
orphar n drug exemption. The implementation of the IRA iRR s currently subju ect to ongoing litigation challenging the constitutionality
of the IRA’s Medicare drug price negotiation program. The effeff cts of the IRA oRR n our business and the healthcare industry irr n
general is not yet known.

Individual states have also been increasingly active in passing legislation and implementing regulations designed to control
pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on
certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage
importation froff m other countries and bulk purchasing. In addition, regional health care authorities and individual hospitals are
increasingly using bidding procedurd es to determine what pharmaceutical products and which supplu iers will be included in their
prescription drug and other health care programs. These measures could reducd e the ultimate demand for our products, once
authorized, or put pressure on our product pricing. We expect that additional state and fedff eral healthcare reforff m measures will be
adopted in the futff urt e, particularly in light of the new presidential administration, any of which could limit the amounts that fedff eral
and state governments will pay forff healthcare products and services, which could result in reducd ed demand for our product
candidates or additional pricing pressures.

Data Privacy ac nd Securityii Laws

Personal privacy and data security have become significant issues in the U.S., Europe, and in many other jurisdictions. The
regulatory frr raff mework for privacy and security issues worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for the
foreseeable future. Many fedff eral, state, and foreign government bodies and agencies have adopted, or are considering adopting,
laws and regulations regarding the collection, use, and disclosure of personal inforff mation, including protected health information.
These laws and regulations, including their interprr etation by governmental agencies, are subju ect to frequent change and could
have a negative impact on our business. In addition, in the futff urt e, industry rrr equirements or guidance, contractuat l obligations,
and/or legislation at both the federal and the state level may limit, restrict or regulate the use or transmission of health information
outside of the U.S..

These varyirr ng interpretations can create complex compliance issues for us and our partners and potentially expose us to additional
expense, adverse publicity and liabia lity, any of which could adversely affect our business.

Federal and state consumer protection laws are increasingly being applied by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission and states’
attorneys general to regulate the collection, use, storage and disclosure of personal or personally identifiaff bla e inforff mation, through
websites or otherwise, and to regulate the presentation of website content.

The security measures that we and our third-party vendors and subcu ontractors have in place to ensure compliance with privacy
and data protection laws may not protect our facilities and systems froff m security breaches, acts of vandalism or theft, computer
viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming and human errors or other similar events. Even though we provide for appra opriate
protections through our agreements with our third-party vendors, we still have limited control over their actions and practices. A
breach of privacy or security of personally identifiaff bla e health information or other personal inforff mation may result in an
enforcement action, including criminal and civil liabia lity, against us. We are not able to predict the extent of the impact such
incidents may have on our business. Enforcement actions against us could be costly and could interruptu regular operations, which



39

may adversely affectff our business. While we have not received any notices of violation of the applicable privacy and data
protection laws and believe we are in compliance with such laws, there can be no assurance that we will not receive such notices
in the futff urt e.

There is ongoing concern froff m privacy advocates, regulators and others regarding data privacy and security issues, and the
number of jurisdictions with data privacy and security laws has been increasing. Also, there are ongoing public policy discussions
regarding whether the standards for de-identificff ation, anonymization or pseudonymization of health information are sufficient,
and the risk of re-identificff ation suffiff ciently small, to adequately protect patient privacy. We expect that there will continue to be
new proposed and amended laws, regulations and industry srr tandards concerning privacy, data protection and information security
in the U.S., such as the Califorff nia Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”), as amended by the Califorff nia Privacy Rights Act (the
“CPRA”RR ), which went into effect on January 1, 2023. The amendments to the CCPA introduced by the CPRA cRR reated additional
obligations with respect to processing and storing personal inforff mation and establa ished a new state agency that is vested with
authority to implement and enforff ce the CCPA. Additionally, some observers have noted that the CCPA and CPRA could mark the
beginning of a trend toward more stringent privacy legislation in the U.S., which could increase our potential liabia lity and
adversely affectff our business. Already, in the U.S., we have witnessed significant developments at the state level. In addition to
the CCPA, new privacy and data security laws have been enacted in numerous other states and have been proposed in even more
states as well as in the U.S.

Congress, refleff cting a trend toward more stringent privacy legislation in the U.S., which may accelerate. If enacted, such proposed
legislation may add additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk, require additional
investment of resources in compliance programs, impact strategies and the availabia lity of previously usefulff data and could result
in increased compliance costs and/odd r changes in business practices and policies. The existence of comprehensive privacy laws in
different states in the country would make our compliance obligations more complex and costly and may increase the likelihood
that we may be subject to enforcement actions or otherwise incur liabia lity for noncompliance.

Furthermore, other states have proposed or enacted legislation that is focff used on more narrow aspects of privacy. For example, a
number of states have passed laws that protect biometric inforff mation and a smaller number of states have passed or are
considering laws that are specifically focused uponu health privacy, such as Washington’s My Health My Data Act. The effects of
state and federal privacy laws are potentially significant and may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies
and to incur subsu tantial costs and potential liabia lity in an effoff rt to comply with such legislation.

Our international operations are subject to international laws and regulations, regulatory grr uidance, and industry srr tandards relating
to data protection, privacy, and information security. For our EU and UK futff urt e operations, this includes the EU General Data
Protection Regulation (the “GDPR”) as well as other national data protection legislation in forff ce in relevant EU member states
(including the GDPR in such forff m as incorporrr ated into the law of England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland by virtuet of
the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and any regulations thereunder and the UK Data Protection Act 2018 (the “UK
GDPR”). The GDPR and the UK GDPR are currently still aligned but there may be further divergence in the future, including
with regard to administrative burdens. The UK has announced plans to reforff m the country’s data protection legal framework in its
Data Reform Bill, which will introduce significant changes froff m the GDPR. This may lead to additional compliance costs and
could increase our overall risk exposure as we may no longer be abla e to take a unified approach across the EU and the UK.

The GDPR and UK GDPR are wide-ranging in scope and impose numerous additional requirements on companies that process
personal data, including requirements relating to having a legal basis for processing personal data, stricter requirements relating to
the processing of sensitive data (such as health data), requiring that consent of individuals to whom the personal data relates is
obtained in certain circumstances, requiring disclosures to individuals regarding data processing activities, requiring that
safeguards are implemented to protect the security and confidff entiality of personal data, creating mandatory data breach
notificff ation requirements in certain circumstances, requiring data protection impact assessments for high risk processing and
requiring that certain measures (including contractuat l requirements) are put in place when engaging third-party processors. The
GDPR and the UK GDPR also provide individuals with various rights in respect of their personal data, including rights of access,
erasure, portabia lity, rectificff ation, restriction and objection. The GDPR and UK GDPR definff e personal data to include
pseudonymized or coded data and requires different informed consent practices and more detailed notices for clinical trial
participants and investigators than appla y to clinical trials conducted in the U.S. We are required to appla y GDPR and UK GDPR
standards to any clinical trials that our EU and UK established businesses carry out anywhere in the world.

The GDPR and UK GDPR impose strict rulrr es on the transfer of personal data to countries outside the EU, including the U.S. The
UK and Switzerland have adopted similar restrictions. Although the UK is regarded as a third country under the GDPR, the
European Commission (“EC”) has now issued a decision recognizing the UK as providing adequate protection under the GDPR
and, thereforff e, transferff s of personal data originating in the EU to the UK remain unrestricted. Like the GDPR, the UK GDPR
restricts personal data transfers outside the UK to countries not regarded by the UK as providing adequate protection. The UK
government has confirmed that personal data transfers from the UK to the EU remain free flowing.
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To enable the transfer of personal data outside of the EU or the UK, adequate safeguards must be implemented in compliance with
European and UK data protection laws. On June 4, 2021, the EC issued new forms of standard contractuat l clauses for data
transferff s froff m controllers or processors in the EU (or otherwise subject to the GDPR) to controllers or processors establa ished
outside the EU (and not subju ect to the GDPR). The new standard contractuat l clauses require exporters to assess the risk of a data
transferff on a case-by-case basis, including an analysis of the laws in the destination country. The UK is not subju ect to the EC’s
new standard contractuat l clauses but has published a UK-specific transfer mechanism, which enabla es transferff s froff m the UK. The
UK-specific mechanism, the “International Data Transfer Agreement”, requires a similar risk assessment of the transferff as the
standard contractuat l clauses. Further, the EU and United States have adopted its adequacy decision for the EU-U.S. Data
Privacy Framework ("Framework"), which entered into forff ce on July 11, 2023. This Framework provides that the
protection of personal data transferred between the EU and the U.S. is comparabla e to that offerff ed in the EU. This
provides a further avenue to ensuring transfers to the United States are carried out in line with GDPR. There has been an
extension to the Framework to cover UK transferff s to the United States. The Framework could be challenged like its
predecessor fraff meworks. We are required to implement these new safeguards when conducting restricted data transfers under the
EU and UK GDPR and doing so requires significant effort and cost.

The GDPR and UK GDPR may increase our responsibility and liabia lity in relation to personal data that we process where such
processing is subju ect to the GDPR and UK GDPR. Implementing legislation in appla icable EU member states and the UK,
including by seeking to establish appa ropriate lawfulff bases forff the various processing activities we carry out as a controller or joint
controller, reviewing security procedurd es and those of our vendors and collabora ators, and entering into data processing agreements
with relevant vendors and collabora ators, we cannot be certain that our effoff rts to achieve and remain in compliance have been,
and/or will continue to be, fulff ly successfulff . Given the breadth and depth of changes in data protection obligations, preparing for
and complying with the GDPR and UK GDPR and similar laws’ requirements are rigorous and time intensive and require
significant resources and a review of our technologies, systems and practices, as well as those of any third-party collabora ators,
service providers, contractors or consultants that process or transfer personal data.

Other countries around the world in which we conduct trials or otherwise do business have also enacted strict privacy and data
protection laws. For example, the Act on the Protection of Personal Inforff mation (“APPI”) of Japaa n regulates privacy protection
issues in Japaa n. The APPI shares similarities with the GDPR, including extraterritorial application and obligations to provide
certain notices and rights to citizens of Japan. We may be required to modify our policies, procedurd es, and data processing
measures in order to address requirements under these or other privacy, data protection, or cyber security regimes, and may face
claims, litigation, investigations, or other proceedings regarding them and may incur related liabia lities, expenses, costs, and
operational losses.

In addition to general privacy and data protection requirements, many jurisdictions around the world have adopted legislation that t
regulates how businesses operate online and enforces information security, including measures relating to privacy, data security
and data breaches. Many of these laws require businesses to notify dff ata breaches to the regulators and/or to data subju ects. These
laws are not consistent, and compliance in the event of a widespread data breach is costly and burdensome.

In many jurisdictions, enforff cement actions and consequences for non-compliance with protection, privacy and informff ation
security laws and regulations are rising. In the EU and the UK, data protection authorities may impose large penalties forff
violations of the data protection laws, including potential finff es of up to €20 million (£17.5 million in the UK) or 4% of annual
global revenue, whichever is greater. The authorities have shown a willingness to impose significant finff es and issue orders
preventing the processing of personal data on non-compliant businesses. Data subju ects also have a private right of action, as do
consumer associations, to lodge complaints with supeu rvisory arr uthorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain compensation forff
damages resulting froff m violations of applicable data protection laws. The APPI allows for finff es of up to ¥100 million forff
violations of the law. In the U.S., possible consequences for non-compliance include enforcement actions in response to rulr es and
regulations promulgated under the authority of federal agencies and state attorneys general and legislatures and consumer
protection agencies. In the US, certain laws such as Washington’s My Health My Data Law and Illinois’ Biometric Inforff mation
Privacy Act also have a private right of action.

In addition, privacy advocates and industry grr roups have regularly proposed, and may propose in the future, self- regulatoryrr
standards that may legally or contractuat lly appa ly to us. If we faiff l to folff low these security standards, even if no customer
information is compromised, we may incur significant finff es or experience a significant increase in costs.

The risk of our being foundff in violation of these laws is increased by the factff that the interprr etation and enforcement of them is
not entirely clear. Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws
and regulations will involve subsu tantial costs. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfulff ly defend
against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention froff m the operation of our
business. The shifting compliance environment and the need to build and maintain robust and expandabla e systems to comply with
multiple jurisdictions with different compliance and/odd r reporting requirements increases the possibility that a healthcare company
may runr afoulff of one or more of the requirements.
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Compliance with data protection laws and regulations could require us to take on more onerous obligations in our contracts,
restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cases, impact our abia lity to operate in certain jurisdictions. It could
also require us to change our business practices and put in place additional compliance mechanisms, may interruptu or delay our
development, regulatory arr nd commercialization activities and increase our cost of doing business. Failure by us or our
collabora ators and third-party providers to comply with data protection laws and regulations could result in government
enforcement actions (which could include civil or criminal penalties and orders preventing us froff m processing personal data),
private litigation and result in significant finff es and penalties against us. Moreover, clinical trial participants abouta whom we or our
potential collabora ators obtain inforff mation, as well as the providers who share this information with us, may contractuat lly limit our
ability to use and disclose the inforff mation. Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy rights, failed to comply with data
protection laws or breached our contractuat l obligations, even if we are not found liabla e, could be expensive and time-consuming
to defend, could result in adverse publicity and could have a material adverse effectff on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

U.S. Medical Device Regue lations

General Requirementstt

Our products and product candidates are medical devices subju ect to extensive and ongoing regulation by the FDA under the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the “FDCA”) and its implementing regulations, as well as other federal and state
regulatory brr odies in the U.S. and comparable authorities in other countries under other statutt es and regulations. These laws and
regulations govern, among other things, product design and development, preclinical and clinical testing, manufactff urt ing,
packaging, labea ling, storage, recordkeeping and reporting, clearance or approval, marketing, distribution, promotion, import and
export and post-marketing surveillance. Failure to comply with applicable requirements may subju ect a device and/or its
manufactff urt er to a variety of administrative sanctions, such as issuance of warning letters, import detentions, civil monetary
penalties and/or judicial sanctions, such as product seizures, injun nctions and criminal prosecution.

In the U.S., medical devices considered to be moderate to high risk by FDA generally require premarket review and marketing
authorization froff m the FDA prior to commercial distribution. The primary types of FDA marketing authorization appa licable to a
medical device are clearance of a premarket notificff ation (also called 510(k) clearance), appra oval of a premarket appra oval
application (”PMA”), or grant of a de novo request for classification, or de novo grant. Each 510(k), PMA, or de novo request
must be accompanied by a user fee, although the feeff may be waived under certain circumstances.

Each product candidate we seek to commercially distribute in the U.S. will require either a prior de novo classification grant,
510(k) clearance, unless it is exempt, or a PMA from the FDA under its medical device authorities.

510(k)(( Clearance Process

Under the FDCA, medical devices are classified into one of three classes – Class I, Class II or Class III – depending on the degree
of risk associated with the device and the level of control necessary to provide reasonabla e assurance of safety and effectiveness.

Class I devices are those forff which safetff y and effeff ctiveness can be reasonabla y assured by adherence to a set of regulations referred
to as General Controls, which require compliance with the appla icable portions of FDA’s Quality System Regulation (“QSR”),
facility registration and device listing, reporting of adverse events and malfunff ctions, which is referred to as medical device
reporting, and appra opriate, truthful and non-misleading labeling and promotional materials. Most Class I devices are exempt froff m
the premarket notificff ation requirements.

Class II devices are those that are subju ect to General Controls, as well as Special Controls, which can include performance
standards, specialized labea ling and post-market surveillance. Most Class II devices are subject to the premarket notificff ation
requirements.

To obtain 510(k) clearance, a manufactff urt er must submu it a premarket notificff ation, or 510(k), to the FDA and demonstrate to the
FDA’s satisfaction that the proposed device is “substantially equivalent” to a previously 510(k)-cleared device or a device that
was in commercial distribution beforff e May 28, 1976 for which the FDA has not yet called forff the submission of a PMA. The
previously cleared device is known as a predicate device. A proposed device is subsu tantially equivalent if, wff ith respect to the
predicate device, it has the same intended use and has either (i) the same technological characteristics or (ii) different
technological characteristics and does not raise diffeff rent questions of safety and effectiveness, and the information submitted to
the FDA that the device is substantially equivalent to the predicate device contains information that demonstrates that the
proposed device is as safe and effective as a legally marketed device.

Before the FDA will accept a 510(k) for substantive review, the FDA will first assess whether the submission satisfies a minimum
threshold of acceptabia lity to ensure that the 510(k) is administratively complete. The acceptance review, which occurs prior to the
subsu tantive review, is generally conducted and completed within 15 calendar days of the FDA receiving the 510(k). If the FDA
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determines that the 510(k) is incomplete, the FDA will issue a “Refuse to Accept” letter which generally outlines the inforff mation
the FDA believes is necessary to permit a substantive review and to reach a determination regarding subsu tantial equivalence. The
510(k) submu itter must submit the requested information within 180 days before the FDA will proceed with additional review of
the submission. As specified in FDA’s Medical Device User Fee Amendments of 2022 (“MDUFA V”) commitment letter, which
defines performance goals for the FDA forff fiscal years 2023 through 2027, the FDA aims to review and issue a determination on
most 510(k)s within 90 FDA Days, although clearance ofteff n takes longer in practice. “FDA Days” are those calendar days when a
submu ission is considered to be under review at the FDA forff submu issions that have been accepted or fileff d, as applicable. The FDA
may require additional inforff mation, including clinical data, to make a determination regarding subsu tantial equivalence.

If the FDA determines that the device is “not subsu tantially equivalent” to a previously cleared device, for example, dued to a
finding of a lack of a predicate device, or that the proposed device has a new intended use or different technological characteristic
that raise diffeff rent questions of safety or effeff ctiveness when the proposed device is compared to the cited predicate device, the
device is automatically designated as a Class III device. The device sponsor must then fulfillff more rigorous PMA requirements, or
can request a risk-based classificff ation determination forff the device in accordance with the de novo process.

Alternatively, if the FDA determines that the inforff mation provided in a 510(k) is insufficient to demonstrate substantial
equivalence to the predicate device, the FDA generally identifieff s the specific inforff mation that is needed so that the FDA may
complete its evaluation of subsu tantial equivalence, and such inforff mation may be provided by the 510(k) sponsor within the time
allotted by the FDA or in a new 510(k) should the original 510(k) be withdrawn.

If the FDA agrees that the proposed device is subsu tantially equivalent to a predicate device currently on the market, it will grant
510(k) clearance to commercially market the device. Afteff r a device receives 510(k) clearance, any modification that could
significantly affeff ct its safety or effeff ctiveness, or that would constitute a major change or modification in its intended use, will
require a new 510(k) clearance, or depending on the modification, PMA appra oval. The determination as to whether or not a
modification could significantly affeff ct the device’s safetff y or effectiveness is initially left to the manufactff urt er. Many minor
modifications are accomplished by a “letter to fileff ” in which the manufactff urt er documents the rationale for the change and why a
new 510(k) is not required. However, the FDA may review such letters to file to evaluate the regulatory srr tatus of the modified
device at any time and may require the manufacturt er to cease marketing and recall the modified device until 510(k) clearance or
PMA appra oval is obtained. The manufacff turer may also be subju ect to significant regulatory frr inff es or penalties forff marketing a
modified device without the requisite 510(k) clearance or PMA appra oval.

De Novo Classifici ation Process

For novel medical devices that are low to moderate risk and are not subsu tantially equivalent to a predicate device, a manufactff urt er
may request a risk-based classificff ation determination, called a “Request for Evaluation of Automatic Class III Designation,” for
the device in accordance with de novo classification process. This procedurd e allows a de novo requester whose novel device is
automatically classified into Class III to request down-classification of its medical device into Class I or Class II on the basis that
the device presents low or moderate risk, rather than requiring the submission and appra oval of a PMA. A requestor may submit a
de novo request forff classification after receiving a “not subsu tantially equivalent” determination in response to a 510(k)
submu ission. Alternatively, a requestor may submit a de novo request absent the submission of a 510(k) when the sponsor
determines that there is no legally marketed device upon which to base a determination of substantial equivalence. Under the
FDCA, FDA must make a classification determination forff the device that is the subju ect of a de novo request within 120 days of
receipt of the request. However, as specified in FDA’s MDUFA V commitment letter, the FDA’s goal is to make a decision on
most de novo requests within 150 FDA Days, although in practice the FDA’s review may take significantly longer. During the
pendency of FDA’s review, the FDA may issue an additional inforff mation letter, which places the de novo request on hold and
stops the review clock pending receipt of the additional inforff mation requested. In the event the de novo requestor does not provide
the requested information within 180 calendar days, the FDA will consider the de novo request to be withdrawn.

The FDA may reject the de novo request if it identifieff s a legally marketed predicate device that would be appra opriate for a 510(k)
or determines that the device is not low to moderate risk or that General Controls would be inadequate to control the risks and
Special Controls cannot be developed. In the event the FDA determines that the data and information submitted demonstrate that
General Controls or General and Special Controls are adequate to provide reasonabla e assurance of safety and effectiveness, the
FDA will grant the de novo request and a classification regulation will be establa ished forff the device type. When the FDA grants a
de novo request for classificff ation, the device is granted marketing authorization and can further serve as a predicate device forff a
future 510(k) by any person forff future devices of that type.

PMA PMM rocess

Class III devices include devices deemed by FDA to pose the greatest risk, such as life-ff supporu ting or life-ff sustaining devices, or
implantable devices, in addition to those deemed not subsu tantially equivalent following the 510(k) process. The safetff y and
effeff ctiveness of Class III devices cannot be reasonabla y assured solely by the General Controls and Special Controls described
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above. With few exceptions for certain types of devices classified into Class III that were in commercial distribution in the U.S.
before May 28, 1976, Class III devices are subject to the PMA process, which is generally more costly and time consuming than
the 510(k) process. The PMA process requires proof of safety and effectiveness of the device to the FDA’s satisfaction.

Afteff r a PMA is submitted, the FDA has 45 days to determine whether the appla ication is suffiff ciently complete to permit a
subsu tantive review and thus whether the FDA will file the appla ication forff review. Under the FDCA, the FDA has 180 days to
review a fileff d PMA, although the review of an appla ication generally occurs over a significantly longer period of time and can take
up to several years. During this review period, the FDA may request additional inforff mation or clarification of the information
already provided. Also, an advisory prr anel of experts froff m outside the FDA may be convened to review and evaluate the
application and provide recommendations to the FDA as to the appra ovabia lity of the device. Although the FDA is not bound by the
advisory panel decision, the panel’s recommendations are important to the FDA’s overall decision making process. In addition,
the FDA may conducd t a preapproval inspection of the manufactff urt ing faciff lity to ensure compliance with QSR requirements. The
agency also may inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with FDA’s regulations.

Upon completion of the PMA review, the FDA may: (i) appra ove the PMA which authorizes commercial marketing with specific
prescribing inforff mation for one or more indications, which can be more limited than those originally sought; (ii) issue an
approvabla e letter which indicates the FDA’s belief that the PMA is appra ovabla e and states what additional inforff mation the FDA
requires, or the post-approval commitments that must be agreed to prior to appra oval; (iii) issue a not approvabla e letter which
outlines steps required forff approval, but which are typically more onerous than those in an appra ovabla e letter, and may require
additional clinical trials that are ofteff n expensive and time consuming and can delay appra oval forff months or even years; or (iv)
deny the appla ication. If the FDA issues an approvabla e or not approvabla e letter, the appla icant has 180 days to respond, afteff r which
the FDA’s review clock is reset.

Approval by the FDA of original PMAs or PMA supplu ements may be required forff modifications to the manufactff urt ing process,
labea ling, device specifications, materials or design of a device that is appra oved through the PMA process. PMA supplements ofteff n
require submu ission of the same type of information as an original PMA, except that the supplu ement is limited to inforff mation
needed to supporu t any changes froff m the device covered by the approved PMA and may or may not require as extensive clinical
data or the convening of an advisory panel.

Exemptm Devices

If a manufactff urt er’s device falls into a generic category orr f Class I or Class II devices that FDA has exempted by regulation, a
premarket notificff ation is not required beforff e marketing the device in the U.S. Manufactff urt ers of such devices are required to
comply with FDA’s General Controls, including FDA’s establishment registration and device listing requirements. Some 510(k)-
exempt devices are also exempt froff m QSR requirements, except forff the QSR’s complaint handling and recordkeeping
requirements.

Clinical Trials

Clinical trials are almost always required to support a PMA or de novo request and are sometimes required forff a 510(k). For
significant risk devices, the FDA regulations require submu ission of an application forff an investigational device exemption (“IDE”)
to the FDA prior to commencement of a human clinical investigation. A nonsignificant risk device does not require the
submu ission of an IDE appa lication; however, the clinical trial must still be conducted in compliance with certain requirements of
FDA’s IDE regulations. An IDE application is considered approved 30 calendar days after it has been received by the FDA,
unless the FDA informs the sponsor prior to the 30 days that the IDE is approved, approved with conditions, or disapproved.

An IDE appla ication must be supported by appa ropriate data, such as animal and labora atory trr esting results, showing that it is safe tff o
test the device in humans and that the testing protocol is scientificff ally sound. The IDE application must also include a description
of product manufactff urt ing and controls, and a proposed clinical trial protocol. The FDA typically grants IDE appra oval forff a
specified number of patients to be treated at specific study centers. The FDA’s appa roval of an IDE allows clinical testing to go
forward but does not bind the FDA to accept the results of the trial as sufficient to prove the device’s safetff y and effiff cacy, even if
the trial meets its intended success criteria.

During the study, the sponsor must comply with the FDA’s IDE requirements forff investigator selection, trial monitoring, reporting
and recordkeeping. The investigators must rigorously follow the investigational plan and studyt protocol, control the disposition of
investigational devices, and comply with all reporting and recordkeeping requirements. These IDE requirements appla y to all
investigational devices, whether considered a significant or nonsignificant risk.

Clinical trials must further comply with the FDA’s regulations for appra oval by an institutional review board (IRB) and forff
informed consent and other human subju ect protections. The FDA may order the temporary,rr or permanent, discontinuation of a
clinical trial at any time, or impose other sanctions, if it believes that the clinical trial either is not being conducted in accordance
with FDA requirements or presents an unacceptabla e risk to the clinical trial subjects. An IRB may also require the clinical trial at
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the site to be halted, either temporarily or permanently, forff failure to comply with the IRB’s requirements, or may impose other
conditions.

Information abouta certain clinical trials must be submu itted within specific timeframes forff public dissemination on the
ClinicalTrials.gov website. Required records and reports are subject to inspection by the FDA. The results of clinical testing may
be unfavff orable or, even if the intended safetff y and effiff cacy success criteria are achieved, may not be considered sufficff ient for the
FDA to grant clearance or approval of a device.

Post-Marketkk Regule ation

Afteff r a device is placed on the market, numerous regulatory rrr equirements appla y. These include:

• establa ishment registration and device listing;

• compliance with FDA’s QSR requirements;

• labea ling regulations;

• medical device reporting regulations, which, forff example, require that manufactff urt ers report to the FDA if a device
may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injun ry or malfunff ctioned in a way that would likely cause or
contribute to a death or serious injun ry if it were to recur;

• voluntary arr nd mandatory device recalls to address problems when a device is defective and/or could be a risk to
health; and

• corrections and removal reporting regulations, which require that manufactff urt ers report to the FDA fieff ld corrections
and product recalls or removals if undertaken to reduce a risk to health posed by the device or to remedy a violation
of the FDCA that may present a risk to health.

Also, the FDA may require manufactff urt ers of certain devices to conduct post-market surveillance studies or order such
manufactff urt ers to establish and maintain a system forff tracking their devices through the chain of distribution to the patient level.
The FDA enforces regulatory requirements, such as those set forth in the QSR, by conducting periodic, unannounced inspections
and market surveillance.

Failure to comply with applicable regulatory rrr equirements, including those appla icable to the conduct of clinical trials, can result in
enforcement action by the FDA, which may lead to any of the following sanctions:

• warning letters or untitled letters that require corrective action;

• fines, injun nctions and civil penalties;

• recall or seizure of products;

• operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production;

• withdrawing PMA approvals already granted; and

• criminal prosecution.

Labea ling and promotional activities are subju ect to scrutiny by FDA and, in certain circumstances, by the Federal Trade
Commission. Medical devices approved or cleared by FDA may not be promoted for unappra oved or uncleared uses, otherwise
known as “off-lff abel” promotion. FDA and other agencies actively enforff ce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of
off-lff abel uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-lff abel uses may be subject to significant liabia lity,
including subsu tantial monetary penalties and criminal prosecution.

FCPACC and Other Anti-Bribery ar nd Anti-Corruptu ion Lawsww

The U.S. Foreign Corruptu Practices Act (the “FCPA”) prohibits U.S. corporations and their representatives from offeff ring,
promising, authorizing or making payments of anything of value to any foreign government offiff cial, government staff mff ember,
political party or political candidate in an attempt to obtain or retain business abra oad or to otherwise influence a person workirr ng in
an offiff cial capaa city. The scope of the FCPA would include interactions with certain health care professionals in many countries.
We maintain a compliance program designed to comply with the FCPA and anti-bribery lrr aws and regulations applicable to our
business. Our present and futff urt e business has been and will continue to be subju ect to various other U.S. and foreign laws, rules
and/or regulations.
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International Regule ation

International sales of medical devices are subju ect to foreign government regulations, which may vary srr ubstantially from country to
country. The time required to obtain appa roval in a foreign country may be longer or shorter than that required forff FDA appra oval
or clearance, and the requirements may diffeff r. There is a trend towards harmonization of quality system standards among the
European Union, U.S., Canada and various other industrialized countries.

The primary regulatory brr ody in Europe is that of the European Union, which includes most of the majoa r countries in Europe.
Other countries, such as Switzerland, have voluntarily adopted laws and regulations that mirror those of the European Union witht
respect to medical devices. The European Union has adopted numerous directives and standards regulating the design,
manufactff urt e, clinical trials, labeling and adverse event reporting forff medical devices. Devices that comply with the requirements
of a relevant directive will be entitled to bear the CE conforff mity marking, indicating that the device conforff ms to the essential
requirements of the applicable directives and, accordingly, can be commercially distributed throughout Europe. The method of
assessing conforff mity varies depending on the class of the product, but normally involves a combination of self-assessment by the
manufactff urt er and a third-party assessment by a “Notifieff d Body.” This third-party assessment may consist of an audit of the
manufactff urt er’s quality system and specific testing of the manufactff urt er’s product. An assessment by a Notifieff d Body of one
country within the European Union is required in order for a manufactff urt er to commercially distribute the product throughout the
European Union. Outside of the European Union, regulatory arr ppra oval needs to be sought on a country-by-country basis in order
for us to market our products. The European Union regulatory brr odies finalized a new Medical Device Regulation (“MDR”) in
2017, which replaced the existing Directives on May 26, 2021 and provided three years forff transition and compliance. However,
in response to concerns raised about Notifieff d Body capaa city and the ability for devices to be re-certifieff d within such time period,
the EC has adopted a proposal to extend the transition period by some years, depending on the risk class of the device. Such
proposal is currently being considered for adoption by the European Parliament and Council. The MDR has changed several
aspects of the regulatory frr raff mework for medical devices.

Outside the U.S. a range of anti-bribery arr nd anti-corruptu ion laws, as well as some industry-rr specific laws and codes of conduct,
apply to the medical device industry arr nd interactions with government offiff cials and entities and health care professionals. Furthrr er,
the EU member countries have emphasized a greater focus on healthcare fraff ud and abusa e and have indicated greater attention to
the industry brr y the European Anti-Fraud Office. MedTech Europe, the medical device industry arr ssociation, also introduced the
Code of Ethical Business Practices, which came into effect on January 1, 2017. Countries in Asia have also become more active in
their enforff cement of anti-bribery lrr aws and with respect to procurement and supplu y chain fraud.

Employees and Human Capital

At Akili, we are passionate about bringing together elements of science, technology and entertainment, along with a great user
experience, to change how medicine is designed and delivered. We represent a combination of backgrounds and skills that are not
typically found together in a single company, bringing talent together from various industries including biotech, medical device,
entertainment and engineering. Aligning such a diverse group around this lofty goal requires a unique culture—one that is
inclusive, bold and creative.

In response in part to the economic environment and our strategic plan to transition froff m a prescription to a non-prescription
business model, we took decisive action to become a more capital-effiff cient company and made the difficult decisions to announce
workforce reducd tions of approximately 30% of our employees in January 2023 and 40% of our employees in September 2023.
The cost reducd tion efforts related to these announcements included efficiency focused efforts such as scaling back budgets and
operating expenses, restrucr turing teams, reprioritizing our clinical pipeline and effoff rts to align our business with a new strategic
plan to transition our business to a non-prescription model and to increase effiff ciency – and a necessary but difficult part of this
was parting ways with colleagues and friends. We made it a priority to treat outgoing employees with respect and announced a
severance package for these employees that included severance payments of at least two months’ salary.rr The severance package
also extended exercise deadlines for vested stock options and helped pay for any elected COBRA healthcare benefitsff during the
length of severance.

As of Februar ry 1, 2024 we had 68 fulff l-time employees, of which nine have M.D., D.Phil. or Ph.D. degrees. Of our full-time
employees, 37 were engaged in research and development activities and 31 were engaged in commercial activities, business
development, finance and general management and administration. None of our employees are represented by labora unions or
covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good.

Our human capital resources objectives include, as appla icable, identifyiff ng, recruir ting, retaining, motivating and integrating our
existing and future employees. The principal purposr es of our equity incentive plans are to attract, retain and reward high
performing employees, consultants and directors through grants of stock-based compensation awards and payments of cash-based
performance bonus awards, in order to increase stockholder value and the success of our company by motivating our employees to
perform to the best of their abilities and achieve our objectives.
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Available Inforff mation

We maintain an internet website at https://www.akiliinteractive.com/ and make availabla e freff e of charge through our website our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, including exhibits and
amendments to those reports filed or furff nished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”). We make these reports availabla e through our website as soon as reasonabla y practicable afteff r we electronically file such
reports with, or furff nish such reports to, the SEC. You can review our electronically filed reports and other information that we fileff
with the SEC on the SEC’s web site at http://www.sec.gov. We also make availabla e, free of charge on our website, the reports
filed with the SEC by our executive officers, directors and 10% stockholders pursuant to Section 16 under the Exchange Act as
soon as reasonabla y practicable afteff r copies of those filff ings are provided to us by those persons. In addition, we regularly use our
website to post inforff mation regarding our business, product development programs and governance, and we encourage investors
to use our website, particularly the inforff mation in the section entitled “Investors,” as a source of information abouta us.

The inforff mation on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should not be
considered to be a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our website address is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
as an inactive technical referff ence only.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

In evaluating the Company and our business, carefue l considerdd ation should be given to the folff lowing riskii factors,rr in addition to
the other infon rmation set forth in this Aii nnual Repore t and in other docdd uments that we file with the SecuSS rities and Exchange
Commissiii on (the “SECSS ”). An investment in our securities involves a high dgg egdd reg e of ro isk. You should carefulff ly considerdd the risks
described below befoe re making an investment decidd siii on. Our business, prospes cts,tt financial condition or opeo rating results could be
harmed by any of these risks, as well as other riskii s nkk ot currently known to us or that we currently considerdd immaterial. TheTT
trading price of oo ur securities could decline duedd to any of these risks, and, as a result, you may lose all or part of yo our
investment. Addidd tional riskii s akk nd uncertainties not presently known to us or thattt we currently deem immaterial may aa lso impair
our business opeo rations. ThiTT s Aii nnual Repore t also contains forward-looking statements ttt hat involve risks and uncertainties. Our
actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forff ward-ldd ooking statements att s a result of a number of fo acff tors,
including the risks described below. CerCC tain statements in this “Risk FacFF tors” section are forward-looking statements.tt See
“CautCC ionary Sr taS tement Regare ding Forward-Looking StaS tements”tt .

Risks Related to our Business and Industry

We are a technologyo company wn ith a limll ited opeo rating history that is focused on thett delivery or f do igdd ital thett rapea utictt s. We
announced a strategtt ic planll to transitioii n froff m a prescription to a ntt on-prescriptii iott n business model and are pursurr ing regulatll ortt yr
authorizatiott n forff over-trr hett -countertt labeling of oo ur products.tt We have a history of signi ificff ant losll ses, anticipate ttt hatt t expeee nses
may ia ncii rease in tii hett future, ae nd we may na ot be able tll o att chieve or maintain profitaff bilityii .yy

We are a technology company with a limited operating history. Like biopharmaceutical product development, digital therapea utic
product development is a highly speculative undertaking and involves a subsu tantial degree of risk. Since Akili’s inception in
December 2011, we have focused substantially all of our effoff rts and financial resources on developing our computational
platform, building our research and development capabilities, and sourcing, researching, licensing in key assets and developing
our products. In September 2023, we announced a strategic plan to transition froff m a prescription to a non-prescription business
model, including our plans to pursue regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of our products. We have generated
limited revenue from product sales, and we do not expect to generate significant revenue from product sales in the forff eseeable
future.

We offeff r EndeavorRx, a prescription video game treatment indicated for use to improve attention funcff tion forff children ages 8-17
years old with primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD, who have a demonstrated attention issue and EndeavorOTC, an
over-the-counter product that does not require a prescription to improve attention funcff tion, ADHD symptoms and quality of life
in aduld ts 18 years of age and older with primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD. We have only obtained marketing
authorizations to commercialize EndeavorRx in the U.S. and the European Economic Area, but have not received regulatoryrr
authorization to market it anywhere else in the world. In June 2023, EndeavorOTC, which is built on the same platforff m as
EndeavorRx, was made availabla e nationwide without a prescription to improve attention funcff tion, ADHD symptoms and quality
of life iff n adults 18 years of age and older with primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD, under the FDA guidance entitled
“Enfon rcement Policy fc orff Digii tal HeaHH lth Devices for TreTT ating PsyPP chiatric Disoii rderdd s Drr uring the Coronavirus Diseii ase 2019 Public
Health Emerger ncyc ” (the “COVID-19 Guidance”). The COVID-19 Guidance allows for the marketing of certain digital
therapeutics without premarket clearance, de novo classification, or approval so long as certain criteria are met for the duration of
the COVID-19 Guidance, which was expected to remain in effeff ct until November 7, 2023 consistent with FDA guidance entitled
“Transition Plan forff Medical Devices That Fall Within Enfon rcement Policies IssII ued During the Coronavirus Diseii ase 2019
(COVIDVV -19) Public Health Emerger ncyc ” (the “COVID-19 Transition Guidance”). The COVID-19 Transition Guidance allows for
the continued distribution of devices falling under the COVID-19 Guidance without marketing authorization so long as the
manufactff urt er has submitted a marketing submission to FDA, the submission has been accepted by FDA prior to November 7,
2023 and FDA has not taken a final action on the marketing submission. While EndeavorOTC has not been authorized by FDA
for any indications, we submitted a marketing submission to FDA forff EndeavorOTC on October 30, 2023. Through
communications with FDA regarding the COVID-19 Transition Guidance, it was clarified that marketing submissions received
by FDA on or beforff e November 7, 2023, that pass their technical review afteff r the deadline without being placed on submu ission
hold will still be eligible for continued enforff cement discretion. Pursuant to FDA’s guidance on this topic, and given that we have
since passed FDA’s technical review and have not been placed on submu ission hold, we are continuing to commercialize,
distribute, and market EndeavorOTC under the COVID-19 Guidance. There can be no assurance that our submu ission will be
accepted by FDA or that in the futff urt e we will obtain marketing authorization froff m FDA or other regulators to market and sell
EndeavorOTC or any other futff urt e products in the U.S. or anywhere else in the world. FDA has broad authority to change its
enforcement discretion at any time. If our submu ission is not accepted or not ultimately authorized, FDA may not continue to
provide enforcement discretion and our financials and abia lity to achieve profitaff bia lity would be adversely affected.

We have incurred net losses and negative operating cash floff ws in each year since our inception. Our net loss was $59.5 million
and $8.0 million forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 respectively, and we had an accumulated deficff it of $299.8
million as of December 31, 2023. Our net cash used in operating activities was $57.9 million and $83.5 million forff the years
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ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Subsu tantially all of our operating losses and negative operating cash floff ws have
resulted froff m costs incurred in connection with developing our technology, research and development efforts, advancing our
research stage and clinical programs, building our clinical operations group, facilities costs, depreciation and amortization and
general and administrative expenses. Our current effoff rts are primarily focused on managing and executing our strategic plan to
transition froff m a prescription to a non-prescription model, including obtaining regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing
EndeavorOTC in adults with ADHD, pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and
EndeavorOTC products and continuing to supporu t the distribution and fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition. Further
development of our programs outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including capital raising and
supporu tive business development activities. We expect to continue to incur significant marketing-related expenses as we
commercialize EndeavorOTC. We will also continue to incur costs associated with operating as a public company. As a result, we
expect to continue to incur significant operating and negative operating cash floff ws losses for the foreseeable future. Our prior
losses, combined with expected future losses, have had and will continue to have an adverse effecff t on our stockholders’ deficff it
and working capia tal. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing and commercializing new
technologies, such as EndeavorOTC and EndeavorRx, our digital therapea utics products, we are unabla e to predict the extent of any
future losses or when we will become profitaff bla e, if at all. Even if we do become profitaff bla e, we may not be able to sustain or
increase our profitaff bia lity on a quarterly or annual basis.

The faiff luii re of our digdd ital thett rapea utictt s to att chieve and maintii aitt n mii arkerr t acceptance and adoptiott n, particularll ly by customtt ers,rr
could hll ave a material adverserr effeff ct on our business, prospes cts,tt results of operations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

Our new non-prescription business model is highly dependent on our digital therapea utics, achieving and maintaining broad
market acceptance and adoption, particularly by customers. Market acceptance and adoption of our digital therapea utics depends
primarily on educd ating our potential customers or other entities making the buying decision, as well as healthcare providers, as to
the distinct featurt es, therapea utic benefits, cost savings, and other advantages of our digital therapea utics as compared to
competitive products or other currently availabla e methodologies, the success of our commercial strategy, including direct-to-
consumer marketing efforts, and our ability to respond to customer needs and have our customers recommend or promote our
product. If we are not successfulff in demonstrating to existing or potential customers the benefitsff of our products, or if we are not
able to achieve the support of customers who use our products, we may not achieve sales in line with our forecasts.

Achieving and maintaining market acceptance of our products could be negatively impacted by many factors, including:

• the faiff lure of EndeavorOTC to achieve wide acceptance and adoption by customers;

• the faiff lure of EndeavorRx to achieve wide acceptance among patients, self-iff nsured employers, commercial and
government payers, health plans, physicians and other government entities, and key opinion leaders in the treatment
community;

• lack of additional evidence of peer-reviewed publication of clinical or real world evidence supporting the
effeff ctiveness, safety, cost-savings or other advantages of our products over competitive products or other currently
availabla e methodologies;

• perceived risks associated with the use of our digital therapea utics or similar products or technologies generally;

• our ability to execute on our commercial strategy, including direct-to-consumer marketing efforts to drive customer
acquisition and promote customer advocacy and ambassadorship;

• our ability to maintain the FDA marketing authorization and other marketing authorizations for EndeavorRx;

• our ability to obtain and maintain marketing authorizations for EndeavorRx and forff EndeavorOTC, including through
labea l expansion;

• our ability to secure and maintain other regulatory crr learance, authorization or appa roval forff AKL-T01 for expanded
indications and our other product candidates;

• the introduction of competitive products and the rate of acceptance of those products as compared to our products;
and

• results of clinical, real world and health economics and outcomes research studit es relating to chronic condition
products or similar competitive products.

In addition, our products may be perceived by customers and healthcare providers to be more complicated or less effeff ctive than
traditional appra oaches, and people may be unwilling to change their current health regimens. Moreover, we believe that
healthcare providers tend to be slow to change their medical treatment practices because of perceived liabia lity risks arising from
the use of new products and the uncertainty of third-party reimbursement. Accordingly, healthcare providers may not recommend
our products until there is suffiff cient evidence to convince them to alter their current approach.
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Our success will depeee nd heavilyii on whethett r we can successfulff lyll commercialize our products.tt

Our overall success will rely heavily on the commercial success of EndeavorOTC and EndeavorRx. Failure to successfulff ly
commercialize our products would likely cause our business to faiff l. While we believe we have seen positive results thus far froff m
the release of Endeavor OTC, there are numerous examples of failures to meet high expectations of market potential forff product
releases in the healthcare space, including by pharmaceutical companies with more experience and resources than us. If the
commercialization of our products is unsuccessfulff or perceived as disappointing, our stock price could decline significantly.
Although our employees may have previously marketed, commercialized and sold other healthcare-related products while
employed at other companies, we have limited experience selling and marketing our producd ts. Any failure or delay in the timely
development of our internal commercialization capabilities could adversely impact the potential forff commercial success of our
products.

We believe that much of our customer base and potential user populations for our products are active on social media, and we
have engaged and intend to continue to engage through those platforff ms to elevate our national marketing presence in direct-to
consumer marketing. Social media practices are evolving, which creates uncertainty and risk of noncompliance with regulations
applicable to our business. For example, users of our products may use social media platforff ms to comment on the effectiveness
of, off r adverse experiences with, our producd ts, which could result in regulatory rrr eporting obligations or the need for us to conduct
an investigation. The use of influencers and product ambassadors to promote our products also may be subject to federal truth-in-
advertising laws enforff ced by the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), as well as comparable state consumer protection laws, and
we are responsible forff training those influff encers on the compliant messages they can deliver to consumers. Any actuat l or
perceived non-compliance by our influencers and patient ambassadors with those requirements could lead to an investigation by
the FTC or a comparabla e state agency or could lead to allegations of misleading advertising.

If customtt ers arr nd/odd r healthcare providerdd s arr re not willing to ctt hange current practices to adopt EndeavorOTC aTT nd/odd r
EndeavorRxrr , ox r if Ei ndeadd vorOTC and/or// EndeavorRxrr fail to gain iii ncii reased market acceptance, our abilityii to execute our
stratt tegye willii be impairei d, and our busineii ss, prospes cts,tt results of operations and finff ancial conditiodd n could be materiallyll
adverdd serr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

Our strategy to grow our revenue is to focff us our effoff rts primarily on managing and executing our strategic plan to transition froff m
a prescription to a non-prescription model, including obtaining regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing EndeavorOTC in
aduld ts with ADHD, pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC
products and continuing to supporu t the distribution and fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition. If we are not successfulff
in demonstrating the benefits of our products or do not achieve the support of customers and the medical community, our sales
may decline, or we may faiff l to increase our revenue. Customers or the medical community may choose not to adopt our digital
therapeutic products for a number of reasons, including:

• lack of comforff t with or understanding of video-game based products;

• lack of comforff t with EndeavorOTC or EndeavorRx video game or user interface;

• unwillingness or inability to pay forff EndeavorOTC or EndeavorRx;

• lack of availabia lity of adequate third-party payer coverage or reimbursement;

• lack of experience with our products;

• lack of success in any of our marketing strategies;

• our inability to convince key opinion leaders to recommend our products;

• perceived inadequacy of evidence supporu ting clinical benefits, safetff y or cost-effeff ctiveness of our products;

• liabia lity risks generally associated with the use of new products; and

• the training required to use new products.

As we transition froff m a prescription to a non-prescription model, we expect to focus our sales and marketing efforts primarily on
tryirr ng to grow awareness and adoption of EndeavorOTC. However, primary care physicians and physicians from other
disciplines, as well as other medical profesff sionals, such as psychiatrists and therapia sts, are often the initial point of contact forff
patients with ADHD. We believe that educd ating physicians in these disciplines and other medical profesff sionals about the clinical
merits, patient benefits and safetff y profile of our digital therapea utic products is an element of increasing product adoption.

In addition, patients may not be able to adopt or may choose not to adopt our digital therapea utic if, aff mong other potential reasons,
they are worried about potential adverse effects of use of our digital therapea utic or they are unabla e to obtain adequate third-party
coverage or reimbursement. If additional primary care physicians or other medical profesff sionals do not appreciate and
recommend the benefitsff of our digital therapea utics forff any reason, or users choose not to adopt EndeavorOTC or patients choose
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not to adopt EndeavorRx, our ability to execute our strategy will be impaired, and our business, prospects, results of operations
and finff ancial condition could be materially adversely affected.

The markerr t forff digii taii l thett rapea utictt s is nii ew, rw apidly ell volving, and incii reasingly cll ompem titive, the healthcare industrytt in the U.SUU .SS
is underdd goir ngii signi ificff ant structural change, and thett demand for digdd ital thett rapea utictt s in mii arkerr ts outside odd f to hett U.S. is
uncertain, which makes it dii ifdd fiff cult to forecast demand for our products.tt As a result,ll all pll rospectivtt e finff ancial infon rmatiott n
includeddd herein are subjeb ct to change.ee

The market forff our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products is new and rapia dly evolving, and it is uncertain whether it will
achieve and sustain high levels of demand and market adoption. Our futff urt e finff ancial performance will depend on growth in this
market and on our ability to adapt to emerging demands of our customers. It is difficult to predict the future growth rate and size
of our target market.

The healthcare industry irr n the U.S. is undergoing significant strucr tural change and is rapidly evolving. We believe demand for
our products has been driven in large part by rapidly growing costs in the traditional healthcare system, the movement toward
patient-centricity and personalized healthcare, and advances in technology. Widespread acceptance of personalized healthcare is
critical to our future growth and success. A reducd tion in the growth of personalized healthcare could reducd e the demand for our
products and result in a lower revenue growth rate or decreased revenue.

If our assumptions regarding these uncertainties are incorrect or change in reaction to changes in our markets, or if we do not
manage or address these risks successfulff ly, our results of operations could diffeff r materially from our expectations, and our
business could suffeff r.

The markerr t opporo tunitieii s and revenue potentt tial of Eo ndE eadd vorRx aRR nd EndeavorOTC aTT nd any pn otentt tial expanee ded markerr t forff
EndeavorRxrr and Endeadd vorOTC across additioii nal agea ranges in ADHDDD have not been establisll hed with precisiii on. Any
estimated size and revenue potentt tial or other estimates of to hett market opportunitieii s forff EndeavorRxrr , ox ur FDA-DD authorized
product, att nd for EndE eadd vorOTC, mCC ay be smallell r thatt n estimatt ted.

The precise incidence and prevalence for ADHD are unknown. Our projeo ctions of both the number of people who have this
disorder, as well as the people with ADHD who have the potential to benefitff from treatment with EndeavorRx or EndeavorOTC,
are based on estimates and assumptions, which are inherently uncertain. The potential revenue opportunity in ADHD for
EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC will ultimately depend upon, among other things, feedff bad ck from our market testing efforts
including various pricing and distribution strategies, the regulatory arr nd commercial strategy, the diagnosis criteria included in the
final label for our current and futff urt e products for sale forff this indication, acceptance by customers and the medical community,
and pricing. The number of potential customers in our targeted commercial markets and elsewhere may turt n out to be lower than
expected, our expected duration of therapya or treatment may turt n out to be lower than expected, customers may not be otherwise
amenable to treatment with our FDA-authorized product, our over-the-counter product or any other futff urt e product candidates, or
new customers may become increasingly diffiff cult to identify off r gain access to, all of which would adversely affect our revenue
potential, results of operations and our business. If we are not successfulff in achieving regulatory arr uthorizations for our producdd ts
or demonstrating the benefits of our producd ts or do not achieve the support of these customer groups, our sales may decline, or we
may faiff l to increase our revenue. In addition, in connection with our September 2023 announced change in business strategy and
related ongoing testing of pricing, marketing and distribution strategies, we are unabla e to confirff m our prior potential revenue
estimates of the opportunity across ADHD as the assumptions underlying these estimates have changed.

Our develdd opmll ent progro ams represent novel and innoii vative potentt tial thett rapea utictt areas, and negativtt e perception of ao ny product
or product candiddd atdd e ttt hatt t we develdd opll could all dverserr ly affeff ct our abilityii to conduct our busineii ss, obtaitt n mii arkerr ting
authorizatiott ns or idendd tifyi altell rnate rtt egulatll ortt y pr athwtt ays to mtt arkerr t forff such product candidate.tt

Our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products are considered relatively new and novel therapea utic approaches. Our success will
depend primarily upon market acceptance and adoption of our products by customers as well as uponu healthcare providers who
specialize in the treatment of diseases targeted by our products recommending potential treatments that involve the use of our
products in lieu of, or in addition to, existing treatments with which they are more familiar and for which greater clinical data may
be availabla e. In addition, responses by the U.S., state or forff eign governments to negative public perception or ethical concerns
may result in new legislation or regulations that could limit our ability to develop or commercialize any of our products or
product candidates, obtain or maintain marketing authorization, identify aff lternate regulatory prr athways to market or otherwise
achieve profitaff bia lity.

For example, in the U.S., EndeavorRx is the firff st and only video game-based prescription digital therapea utic that has been granted
marketing authorization by the FDA forff children ages 8-17 years old with primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD who
have a demonstrated attention issue. We have developed a therapeutic technology forff the treatment of attention-related cognitive
impairments associated with ADHD and the potential treatment of, eff .g., ASD, COVID fog,ff MS, MDD and acute cognitive
dysfunction. The FDA or other regulatory arr uthorities may lack experience in evaluating the safety and efficff acy of products or
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product candidates based on such technology, which could result in a longer than expected regulatory rrr eview process, increase
expected development costs and delay or prevent potential commercialization of products or product candidates.

Negative publicity concerning our products or the digital therapea utics market as a whole could limit market acceptance of our
products. If customers and healthcare providers have a negative perception of digital therapea utics, then a market forff our products
may not develop at all, or it may develop more slowly than we expect. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on the
willingness of healthcare providers to recommend our products, and our ability to demonstrate the value of our products to
existing and potential customers as well as healthcare providers. Similarly, negative publicity regarding patient confidff entiality
and privacy in the context of technology-enabla ed healthcare or concerns experienced by our competitors could limit market
acceptance of digital therapea utics.

Clinll ical trials conducted by ub s or by tb hitt rdi parties of ao ny of our products ott r product candiddd atdd estt may fa aiff l tii o ptt roduce results
necessary to suppou rt marketintt g authott rizaii tion.

We have incurred substantial expense forff and devoted significant time to, and may in the future incur substantial additional
expense forff and devote significant additional time to, clinical trials but cannot be certain that the trials will ever result in
commercial gains. We may experience significant setbat cks in clinical trials, even after earlier clinical trials showed promising
results, and failure can occur at any time during the clinical development process. Any of our products or product candidates may
malfuncff tion or may produce undesirabla e adverse effecff ts that could cause us, institutional review boards (“IRBs”) or regulatoryrr
authorities to interruptu , delay or halt clinical trials. We, IRBs, the FDA, or another regulatory arr uthority may suspend or terminate
clinical trials at any time to avoid exposing trial participants to unacceptabla e health risks. Clinical trials conducted by us or by
third parties of any of our products or product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results or may demonstrate a lack
of effeff ct of our products or product candidates. Additionally, the FDA or other regulatory arr uthorities may disagree with our
interpretation of the data from our pilot studies and clinical trials, or may find the clinical trial design, conduct or results
inadequate to demonstrate safetff y or effecff tiveness, and may require us to pursue additional clinical trials, which could furff ther
delay the authorization of our products or product candidates. If we are unabla e to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of our
products or product candidates in clinical trials, we will be unabla e to obtain and maintain the marketing authorizations we need to
commercialize our products.

In addition, to the extent that additional inforff mation regarding our products or product candidates being studit ed in clinical trials
could translate to currently authorized products, such as inforff mation on new side effeff cts, those results may impact existing
authorizations, and required contraindications, warnings or precautions in product labea ling.

Enrollment and retentt tion of patff iett nts itt n cii linical trials conducted by ub s or by tb hitt rdi parties of oo ur products ott r product candiddd atdd estt
is an expexx nsive and time-consuming process and could bll e made more diffii cult or renderdd ed impossible bll y mb ultipll le factortt srr
outside odd f oo ur contrott l. If we or third parties expeee rience delaysa or diffii culties in tii hett enrollment or retentiott n of po atiett nts itt nii
clinll ical trials, os ur abilityii to obtaitt n nii ecessary mr arkerr ting authott rizaii tions for our product candiddd atdd estt could bll e deldd ayll ed or
prevented.

We may encounter delays or diffiff culties in enrolling, or be unabla e to enroll, a suffiff cient number of patients to complete any of our
clinical trials on our current timelines, or at all, and even once enrolled, we may be unabla e to retain a sufficff ient number of patients
to complete any of our trials. Slow enrollment in our clinical trials may lead to delays in our development timelines and
milestones.

Patient enrollment in clinical trials and completion of patient follow-up depend on many factors, including the size of the patient
population, the naturt e of the trial protocol, the abia lity of patients to continue to receive medical care, the eligibility criteria for the
clinical trial, patient compliance, competing clinical trials and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages
of the product or product candidate being studied in relation to other availabla e therapia es, including any new treatments that may
obtain marketing authorization forff the indications we are investigating. For example, patients may be discouraged from enrolling
in our clinical trials if the trial protocol requires them to undergo extensive post-treatment procedurd es or follow-up to assess the
safety and efficff acy of a product candidate, or they may be persuaded to participate in contemporaneous clinical trials of a
competitor’s product candidate. In addition, patients participating in our clinical trials may drop out before completion of the trial
or experience adverse medical events unrelated to our products or product candidates. Disruprr tions caused by the effeff ct of
uncertainties related to public health have in the past and may in the future increase the likelihood that we or third parties
encounter such difficulties or delays in initiating, enrolling, conducting or completing our planned and ongoing clinical trials.
Delays in patient enrollment or failure of patients to continue to participate in a clinical trial may delay commencement or
completion of the clinical trial, cause an increase in the costs of the clinical trial and delays, make our data more difficult to
interpret, affeff ct the powering of our trial, or result in the faiff lure of the clinical trial.

Delays or failures in planned patient enrollment or retention may result in increased costs, program delays or both, which could
have a harmfulff effeff ct on our ability to develop our product candidates, or could render furff ther development impossible. In
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addition, we rely on clinical trial sites to ensure timely conduct of our clinical trials and, while we have entered into agreements
governing their services, we are limited in our ability to compel their actuat l performance.

Interim,ii “topltt inll e” and preliminary dr atdd a ftt roff m clinical trials of our products ott r product candiddd atdd estt may ca hange as more patiett nt
data become availaii ble all nd are subjeb ct to confirff marr tion, audit,ii and verificff atiott n procedures that could rll esult ill n mii atertt ial
changes in tii hett finaii l datdd a.tt

From time to time, we or our partners may publicly disclose preliminary orr r topline data froff m our or our partners’ pilot studies and
clinical trials of our product candidates, products, or technology, which is based on a preliminary arr nalysis of then-availabla e data,
and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject to change following a more comprehensive review of the data
related to the particular studyt or trial. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations, and conclusions as part of our
analyses of data, and we may not have received or had the opportunity to fully and carefulff ly evaluate all data. As a result, the
topline or preliminary rrr esults that we or our partners report may differ froff m futff urt e results of the same studies, or diffeff rent
conclusions or considerations may qualify such results, once additional data have been received and fully evaluated. Topline data
also remain subju ect to audit and verification procedurd es that may result in the final data being materially different from the
preliminary drr ata we previously published. As a result, topline data should be viewed with caution until the finff al data are
availabla e. Interim or preliminary drr ata froff m clinical trials are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may
materially change as patient enrollment and treatment continues and more patient data become availabla e or as patients froff m our
clinical trials continue other treatments forff their disease. Adverse diffeff rences between preliminary orr r interim data and finff al data
could significantly harm our business prospects. Further, disclosure of interim data by us or our partners, or by our competitors,
could result in volatility in the price of our common stock.

Further, third parties, including regulatory arr gencies, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations,
conclusions or analyses or may interprr et or weigh the importance of data diffeff rently, which could impact the potential of the
particular program, the likelihood of marketing authorization or commercialization of the particular product candidate, the
commercial success of any product forff which we may have already obtained authorization, and our company in general. In
addition, the inforff mation we or our partners choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular studyt or clinical trial is derived
from information that is typically extensive, and you or others may not agree with what we determine is material or otherwise
appropriate information to include in our disclosure.

If the interim, topline, or preliminary drr ata that we or our partners report diffeff r froff m actuat l results, or if others, including
regulatory arr uthorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, our or our partners’ abia lity to obtain marketing authorization and
commercialize our product candidates or products may be harmed, which could harm our business, operating results, prospects or
financial condition.

Due to ttt hett signi ificff ant resources required for thett developmll ent of oo ur pipeii line, and depdd endingii on our abilityii to access capitaii l,
we must prioritizii e certain developmll ent progro ams over othett rs. We may fa aiff l tii o ett xpeee nd our limitell d resources on certain
developmll ent progro ams thatt t may have been more profitaff ble oll r forff which thett re is a greatertt likelihll ood of success.

We currently have one prescription-only product, EndeavorRx, that has been granted marketing authorization in the U.S. and the
European Economic Area, one over-the-counter product, EndeavorOTC, that has not yet received regulatory mrr arketing
authorizations from FDA or other regulators and other product candidates outside of ADHD that are at various stages of
development but for which further development will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including capital raising and
supporu tive business development activities. We are currently focused primarily on managing and executing our strategic plan to
transition froff m a prescription to a non-prescription model, including obtaining regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing
EndeavorOTC in adults with ADHD, pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and
EndeavorOTC products and continuing to supporu t the distribution and fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition. There can
be no assurance that we have prioritized optimally, that our non-prescription model will be successfulff or that we will be
successfulff in the programs and business model we choose to advance.

Due to the significant resources required forff the advancement of our development programs, we must decide which products,
product candidates and indications to pursue and advance and the amount of resources to allocate to each. Our decisions
concerning the allocation of research, development, collabora ation, management and finff ancial resources toward particular product
candidates or therapea utic areas may not lead to the development of any viable commercial products and may divert resources
away from better opportunities. If we make incorrect determinations regarding the viability or market potential of any of our
product candidates or misread trends in the healthcare and biotechnology industry,rr in particular for ADHD and other diseases or
disorders resulting in cognitive impairment, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially
adversely affectff ed. As a result, we may faiff l to capitalize on viabla e commercial products or profitaff bla e market opportunities, be
required to forff ego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other development programs that may later prove to have greater
commercial potential than those we choose to pursue, or relinquish valuable rights to our product candidates through
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collabora ation, licensing, or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been advantageous for us to invest
additional resources to retain sole development and commercialization rights.

We are party to and may, iyy n tii hett future, ee ntertt collaboratiott ns, is n-ii licensingii arrangements, js ointii ventures, or stratt tegie c alliall nces
withii third parties thatt t may not result ill n tii hett developmll ent of co ommercially viable pll roducts ott r thett generation of so ignigg fii cant or
any fn utff ure revenues.

In the ordinary crr ourse of our business, we have and may continue to enter into collabora ations, in-licensing arrangements, joint
venturt es, or strategic alliances to develop and/or commercialize digital therapea utics and/or to pursue new markets. Proposing,
negotiating, and implementing collabora ations, in-licensing arrangements, joint ventures, and strategic alliances is often a lengthy
and complex process. These transactions may entail numerous operational and financial risks, including exposure to unknown
liabia lities, disruptrr ion of our business and diversion of our management’s time and attention in order to manage any such
transaction or develop acquired products, product candidates or technologies, incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances
of equity securities to pay transaction consideration or costs, higher than expected transaction, acquisition or integration costs,
write-downs of assets or goodwill or impairment charges, increased amortization expenses, and difficulty and cost in faciff litating
the transaction or combining the operations and personnel of any acquired business, impairment of relationships with key
supplu iers or customers. Other companies, including those with subsu tantially greater financial, marketing, sales, technology or
other business resources, may compete with us for these opportunities or arrangements. We may not identify,ff secure or complete
any such transactions or arrangements in a timely manner, on a cost-effeff ctive basis, on acceptabla e terms, or at all. We have
limited institutional knowledge and experience with respect to these business development activities, and we may also not realize
the anticipated benefits of any such transaction or arrangement. In particular, these collabora ations may not result in the
development of products that achieve commercial success or result in significant revenues and could be terminated prior to
developing any products.

Additionally, we may not be in a position to exercise sole decision-making authority regarding the transaction or arrangement,
which could create the potential risk of creating impasses on decisions, and our collabora ators may have economic or business
interests or goals that are, or that may become, inconsistent with our business interests or goals. It is possible that conflicff ts may
arise with our collabora ators, such as conflicff ts concerning the achievement of performance milestones, or the interprr etation of
significant terms under any agreement, such as those related to financial obligations or the ownership or control of intellectuat l
property developed durd ing the collabora ation. If any conflicff ts arise with our current or futff urt e collabora ators, they may act in their
self-iff nterest, which may be adverse to our best interest, and they may breach their obligations to us. In addition, we have limited
control over the amount and timing of resources that our current collabora ators or any future collabora ators choose to devote or are
able to devote to our collabora ators’ or our futff urt e products. For example, our plan to initiate a clinical trial of technology
exclusively licensed froff m TALi Digital in children ages 3-8 with ADHD was previously delayed, and in October 2023 the parties
mutually agreed to terminate the License, Development and Commercialization Agreement. Disputes between us and our
collabora ators may result in litigation or arbitration which would increase our expenses and divert the attention of our
management. Further, these transactions and arrangements are contractuat l in naturt e and may be terminated or dissolved under the
terms of the applicable agreements and, in such event, we may not continue to have rights to the products relating to such
transaction or arrangement or may need to purchase such rights at a premium.

We depeee nd on our senior management teatt m, and thett loss of one or more of oo ur executive offo icff ers orr r key emplm oyll ees or an
inabilityii to attrtt act and retain highi ly skilled employeeso could all dverserr ly affeff ct our business.

Our success depends largely uponu the continued services of our key executive officff ers. These executive officff ers are at-will
employees and therefore they may terminate employment with us at any time with no advance notice. We rely on our broader
leadership team in the areas of operations, clinical and software development, information security, marketing, compliance and
general and administrative funcff tions. From time to time, there may be changes in our executive management team resulting froff m
the hiring or departure of executives, which could disruptu our business. The loss of one or more of the members of our senior
management team, or other key employees, could harm our business. The replacement of one or more of our executive officers or
other key employees would likely involve significant time and costs and may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of
our business objectives. For example, on October 6, 2023, we announced a leadership transition where our co-fouff nder and Chief
Executive Officer, Edward Martucci II, Ph.D., resigned from his role as Chief Executive Officer and was appointed to a new role
as Chair of the Board and Matthew Franklin, our President and Chief Operating Officer, was appointed to the role of President
and Chief Executive Officer. In addition, Santosh Shanbhag resigned froff m his role as Chief Financial Offiff cer, treasurer, principal
financial officer and principal accounting officer, in each case effecff tive January 12, 2024 and Matthew Franklin, our President,
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer assumed the duties of principal financial officer and principal accounting
offiff cer.

To continue to execute our growth strategy, we also must attract and retain highly skilled personnel. Competition is intense for
qualifieff d professionals. We may not be successfulff in continuing to attract and retain qualifieff d personnel. We have from time to
time in the past experienced, and we expect to continue to experience in the futff urt e, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled
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personnel with appropriate qualificff ations. The pool of qualifieff d personnel with experience working in the healthcare market is
limited overall. In addition, many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than
we have.

Additionally, our success is dependent on our ability to evolve our culture, align our talent with our business needs, engage our
employees and inspire our employees to be open to change and innovate. Our business would be adversely affected if we fail to
adequately plan for succession of our executives and senior management, or if we fail to effeff ctively recruir t, integrate, retain and
develop key talent and/or align our talent with our business needs, in light of the current rapia dly changing environment and our
change in strategy. For example, in January 2023 and September 2023, we introduced cost reduction efforts, including a reducd tion
in our workforce to better align our workforce with our cost reduction efforts and a change in strategy. Such cost reduction
effoff rts have in the past and may in the futff urt e adversely affeff ct our ability to attract and retain employees, and may adversely affect
our culture and impact our ability to effeff ctively pursue our business strategy.

We face competitiott n, and new products mtt ay emerger that provide ddd ifdd feff rent or better alternativtt es for trett atmett nt of the conditioii ns
that EndeavorRxrr , Ex ndeadd vorOTC, iCC f gi rantedtt marketintt g authott rizaii tion, or our futff ure products,tt if granted markerr ting
authorizatiott n, are authott rizeii d to ttt rett at. Mtt anMM y on f oo ur current and futff ure compem titoii rs have or willii have signi ificff antly more
resources than us.

Our abia lity to achieve our strategic objectives will depend, among other things, on our ability to develop and commercialize
products for the treatment of chronic conditions that are effecff tive and safe, offerff distinct featurt es, are easy-to-use, provide
measurable and meaningfulff cost savings to payers, and are more appea aling than availabla e alternatives. Our competitors, as well as
a number of other companies, within and outside the healthcare industry,rr are pursuing new delivery drr evices, deliveryrr
technologies, sensing technologies, procedures, drugsr , and other therapia es for the monitoring and treatment of chronic conditions.
Any technological breakthroughs in monitoring, treatment or prevention could reducd e the potential market forff our products,
which would significantly reduce our sales.

The introduction by competitors of products that are or claim to be supeu rior to our products may create market confusion, which
may make it diffiff cult for potential customers to differentiate the benefitff s of our products over competitive products. In addition,
the entry of new digital therapea utics to the market which treat the same or similar chronic conditions as our products may lead
some of our competitors to employ pricing strategies that could materially and adversely affect the pricing of our products. If a
competitor develops a product that competes with or is perceived to be superior to our products, or if a competitor employs
strategies that place downward pressure on pricing within our industry,rr our sales may decline significantly or may not increase in
line with our forecasts, either of which would materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

While our market is in an early stage of development, it is evolving rapia dly and becoming increasingly competitive, and we
expect it to attract increased competition. We currently face competition froff m a range of companies. Our competitors include
both enterprr ise companies who are focused on or may enter the healthcare industry,rr including initiatives and partnerships
launched by these large companies, and from private companies that offerff solutions for specific chronic conditions. We compete
with companies that are developing treatments forff cognitive impairment associated with ADHD and other diseases and disorders
resulting in cognitive impairment, including Shire (Takeda), Eli Lilly & Company, Novartis, Pfizer, Highland/Ironshore
Therapeutics, Otsuka, Cingulate and others. While pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have increased their focff us on
digital treatment in general, we are unaware of any pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies currently pursuing digital
treatments forff ADHD.

In the digital health space, we compete with several companies that are developing products that may eventuat lly seek regulatoryrr
authorization or appra oval forff treatment of ADHD, including Revibe Technologies, Lumos Labsa , and Sky Tkk herapea utics. There are
also other companies working on potentially regulated products to treat cognition outside of ADHD, including Click Therapea utics
in partnership with several pharmaceutical companies (Otsuka, Boehringer-Ingelheim).

We also compete with companies that have created non-regulated producd ts to treat cognitive impairment in ADHD and other
diseases and disorders resulting in cognitive impairment such as Cogstate, C8 Sciences, Cogmed, MindMaze, Thynk and Posit
Science. These include educd ational products that are aimed at improving attention, which are not regulated by authorities like the
FDA forff children with ADHD, such as ACTIVATE by C8 Sciences, Skylar’s Run by Thynk and BrainHQ by Posit Science, the
latter of which is availabla e via the Apple App Store and on Google Play. These companies, which may offer their solutions at
lower prices, are continuing to develop additional products and becoming more sophisticated and effective. Competition froff m
wellness appsa , which are not authorized by the FDA but may attract customers forff other reasons, and from other parties will result
in continued pricing pressures, which are likely to lead to price declines in certain product segments, which could negatively
impact our sales, profitaff bia lity and market share. Additionally, if such unregulated products are allowed to compete with our
products, we will face increased competition froff m parties who have fewff er barriers to enter our industry.rr This increased
competition could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.
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Our abilityii to compete ett ffe ectff ivtt ely dll epdd ends on our abilityii to distii intt guish our company an nd our solutiott ns from our compem titoii rs
and thett ir products.tt

Some of our competitors may have, or new competitors or alliances may emerge that have, greater name and brand recognition,
greater market share, a larger customer base, more widely adopted proprietary technologies, greater marketing expertise, larger
sales forff ces, or significantly greater resources than we do and may be able to offeff r solutions competitive with ours at a more
attractive price than we can. Further, our current or potential competitors may be acquired by third parties with greater availabla e
resources. As a result, our competitors may be abla e to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing
opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements and may have the ability to initiate or withstand substantial price
competition. In addition, our competitors may in the future establa ish cooperative relationships with vendors of complementary
products, technologies or services to increase the availabia lity of their solutions in the marketplace. Our competitors could also be
better positioned to serve certain segments of our market, which could create additional price pressure. In light of these factff ors,
even if our products are more effectff ive than those of our competitors, current or potential customers may accept competitive
products in lieu of purchasing our products. If we are unabla e to successfulff ly compete, our business, financial condition, and
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

If we cannot maintii aitt n oii ur corporate ctt ultull re, we e could lose the innoii vation, collaboratiott n and focus on thett mission that
contritt butes to ott ur busineii ss.

We believe our corporate culture has been a critical contributor to our success and our ability to attract highly skilled personnel. If
we do not continue to develop our corporate culture or maintain and preserve our core values as we evolve in the U.S. and
internationally, we may be unabla e to fosff ter the innovation, curiosity, creativity, focff us on execution, teamwork and the facilitation
of critical knowledge transferff and knowledge sharing we believe we need to supporu t our business strategy. Moreover, liquidity
availabla e to our employee equity holders could lead to disparities of wealth among our employees, which could adversely impact
relations among employees and our culture in general. Changes in our headcount, changes in our leadership team, and our statust
as a public company may result in a change to our corporate culture, which could harm our business.

We have expexx rienced signi ificff ant fluff ctuations in headcount sincii e incii eption, includindd g signigg fii cant reductiott ns in our employeeo
headcount more recently. Wyy e cWW annot assure you thatt t our reduced headcount willii be adequate ttt o mtt anage our business and if
in the futff ure we continue to signi ificff antly rll educe our emplm oyll ee headcount, wtt e may not be able tll o mtt anage that reductiott n
effeff ctivtt ely.ll

Since EndeavorRx was granted marketing authorization and classified as a Class II medical device by the FDA in June 2020 and
we became a public company in August 2022, we have experienced significant operational fluff ctuat tions in our headcount. For
example, our full-time employee headcount was reducd ed by approximately 30% as part of a workforff ce reduction in January 2023.
And in September 2023, in connection with our announced planned change in business strategy to transition to a non-prescription
model, we also announced a furff ther workforce reducd tion of appra oximately 40% of our then-current workforce. We had 68 fulff l-
time employees as of December 31, 2023.

From time to time, we have taken steps to implement organizational changes to pursue greater effiff ciency and realign our business
and strategic priorities. For example, in 2023, we have implemented internal restructurt ings and reorganizations designed to
reduce the size and cost of our operations and improve operational efficiencies. On January 12, 2023 and September 13, 2023, we
announced restructurt ings of our operations and reducd tions in our workforce. We may take similar steps in the futff urt e as we seek to
realize operating synergies, optimize our operations to achieve our target operating model and profitaff bia lity objectives, respond to
market forces or better refleff ct changes in the strategic direction of our business. Taking these actions has in the past and may in
the futff urt e also result in significant expense forff us, including with respect to workforce reducd tions, disruptu ions to our business as
well as decreased productivity due to employee distraction and unanticipated employee turt nover. For example, we could faceff
delays or challenges with product development or other business and strategic initiatives, as well as other disruptr ions to our
operations. In addition, if there are unforff eseen expenses associated with such realignments in our business strategies, and we
incur unanticipated charges or liabia lities, then we may not be able to effeff ctively realize the expected cost savings or other benefitsff
of such actions which could have an adverse effeff ct on our business, operating results and finff ancial condition. In addition, as our
organization continues to evolve, and we are required to implement and adapta complex organizational management strucr tures, we
may finff d it diffiff cult to maintain the benefitsff of our corporate culture, including our ability to develop and commercialize
innovative products. Any of these developments could negatively affect our business, reputation, or financial results.

While we do not currently have plans to expand our workforce, to attract top talent, we have had to offer, and believe in the futff urt e
we will need to continue to offeff r, highly competitive compensation packages before we can validate the productivity of those
employees. In addition, significant fluff ctuat tions in employee headcount and in the price of our common stock makes it more
difficult or costly to use equity compensation to motivate, incentivize and retain our employees. We facff e significant competition
for talent froff m other healthcare, technology and high-growth companies, which include both large enterprises and privately-held
companies. If we were to seek to expand our workforce in the future, we may not be able to hire new employees quickly enough
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to meet our needs. If we fail to effeff ctively manage our hiring needs and successfulff ly integrate our new hires, our effiff ciency and
ability to meet our forecasts and our employee morale, productivity and retention could suffeff r, and our business, results of
operations and finff ancial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

Changes in fii undff indd g or disdd ruptu iott n at thett FDA,DD the SECSS and other government agea ncies caused by fb undff indd g shortagett s or glogg bal
healthll concerns could hll inder thett ir abilityii to hireii and retaitt n kii ey leadership and other personnel, or othett rwise prevent new or
modifii ed products ftt roff m beingii developell d, reviewed or commercialized in a timett ly manner or at all, or othett rwise prevent thott se
agencies froff m perfor rming normarr l business funff ctiott ns on which thett operation of oo ur busineii ss may ra ely,ll which could negate ivtt elyll
impact our busineii ss.

The abia lity of the FDA to review and grant marketing authorization forff new products can be affeff cted by a variety of factors,
including government budget and funding levels, abia lity to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user feesff , and
statutt ory,rr regulatory arr nd policy changes and other events that may otherwise affecff t the FDA’s abia lity to perform routine
functions. Average review times at FDA have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of the SEC
and other government agencies on which our operations may rely, including those that fundff research and development activities,
is subju ect to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictabla e.

Disruptr ions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new digital therapea utics to be reviewed and/or
granted marketing authorization by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, in
recent years, including for 35 days beginning on December 22, 2018, the U.S. government shut down several times and certain
regulatory arr gencies, such as the FDA and the SEC, had to furff lough critical employees and stop critical activities.

If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health concerns or other events continue to prevent the FDA or other
regulatory arr uthorities froff m conducting their regular inspections, reviews or other regulatory arr ctivities, it could significantly
impact the abia lity of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory srr ubmissions, which could have a material adverse
effeff ct on our business. Further, in our operations as a public company, future government shutdowns or delays could impact our
ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations.

We willii incur incii reased costs att nd demands udd pou n management as a result oll f co omplm yill ngii withii the lawll s aw nd regue lations affea ctintt g
publicll companies, which could adverserr ly affeff ct our business, results of operations, as nd finaii ncial conditioii n.

We are a public company, and are subju ect to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing standards of Nasdaq and
other appla icable securities rulr es and regulations. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to
increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance costs, make some activities more diffiff cult, time-consuming and costly,
and place significant strain on our personnel, systems and resources. For example, the Exchange Act requires, among other
things, that we fileff annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and results of operations. As a result of the
complexity involved in complying with the rulr es and regulations applicable to public companies, our management’s attention
may be diverted froff m other business concerns, which could harm our business, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporr ate governance and public disclosure are creating
uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and finff ancial compliance costs, and making some activities more time-
consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interprrr etations, in many cases due to their lack of
specificity, and, as a result, their appla ication in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory arr nd
governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by
ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest subsu tantial resources to comply with evolving laws,
regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of
management’s time and attention froff m business operations to compliance activities. If our effoff rts to comply with new laws,
regulations and standards diffeff r froff m the activities intended by regulatory orr r governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their
application and practice, regulatory arr uthorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.

Being a public company subject to these rulrr es and regulations effeff ctively requires us to maintain director and offiff cer liabia litytt
insurance, which is expensive, and we may be required to accept reducd ed coverage or incur substantially higher costs to maintain
coverage. These factors could also make it more diffiff cult for us to attract and retain qualifieff d members of the Board, particularly
to serve on our audit committee and compensation committee, and qualifieff d executive officers.

As a result of disclosure of inforff mation in our Annual Report and in filings required of a public company, we may be subject to
an increased risk of threatened or actuat l litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successfulff ,
our business and results of operations could be harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our
favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our management and harmrr
our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
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Any fn aiff luii re to offeff r high-gg qualityll customtt er supporu t may adverserr ly affeff ct our relatll iott nshipsii withii our exiee stii intt g and prospes ctivtt e
patiett nts att nd users orr f oo ur products,tt and in tii urn our busineii ss, results of operations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

In implementing and using our products, our customers will depend on our supporu t to resolve issues in a timely manner. We may
be unabla e to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in demand forff supporu t. Increased demand forff supporu t
could increase costs and adversely affect our results of operations and finff ancial condition. Any faiff lure to maintain high-quality
supporu t, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality supporu t, could adversely affect customer satisfaction or thet
willingness of physicians to prescribe our prescription-only product or recommend our over-the-counter product, or any such
future products, and in turn our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Acquisitions and strategtt ic alliall nces could distii ratt ct managea ment and exposee e us to ftt inff ancial, ell xeee cution and operational risks
that could hll ave a detrimentaltt effeff ct on our business.

We may pursue acquisitions or licenses of technology to, among other things, expand the number of products we provide as well
as the featff urt es within those products. We cannot guarantee that we will identify sff uitabla e candidates forff acquisition or licensing,
that the transactions will be completed on acceptabla e terms, or at all, or that we will be able to integrate newly acquired or
licensed technology into our existing business. The acquisition and integration of another technology would divert management
attention froff m other business activities, including our core business. This diversion, together with other diffiff culties we may incur
in integrating newly acquired or licensed technology, could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition
and results of operations. In addition, we may borrow money or issue capital stock to finance such transactions. Such borrowings
might not be availabla e on terms as favorable to us as our current borrowing terms and may increase our leverage, and the issuance
of capital stock (or securities exchangeable thereforff e) could dilute the interests of our stockholders.

Risks Relating to our Products and Product Candidates

Even thoughu we have received marketintt g authott rizaii tions in the U.SUU . aSS nd Europeo an Economic Area for EndE eadd vorRx aRR nd maya
receive U.S. and forff eigni marketintt g authott rizaii tions for other products ott r product candiddd atdd estt in the futff ure, we willii be subject to
ongoingii regue latory obligll atiott ns and continued regulatll ortt y rr eview, ww hich may ra esult ill n sii ignigg fii cant additioii nal expeee nses.

While we have received U.S. and European Economic Area marketing authorization forff EndeavorRx for an initial indication,
FDA or comparabla e forff eign regulatory authorities may grant marketing authorization forff any of our other indications or product
candidates, including those derived from our most advanced therapeutic engine, SSME technology. In addition, the
manufactff urt ing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and
recordkeeping forff the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory arr uthority approved products and product candidates will be subject
to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include submu issions of safety and other post-marketing
information and reports, establa ishment registration and listing, compliance with FDA labeling requirements, including unique
device identificff ation requirements, as well as continued compliance with Good Manufactff urt ing Practices (cGMPs) or similar
foreign requirements and Good Clinical Practices (GCPs) for any post-marketing clinical trials that we conduct post-approval.
Any marketing authorizations that we receive forff our product candidates may also be subju ect to limitations on the indicated uses
for which the product may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements forff potentially costly post-
marketing studies, and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product. Later discovery of previously unknown
problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our third-party manufactff urt ers or
manufactff urt ing processes, or faiff lure to comply with regulatory rrr equirements, may result in, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufactff urt ing of the product, withdrawal of the product froff m the market, or
voluntary orr r mandatory product recalls;

• clinical trial holds;

• fines, warning letters or other regulatory err nforff cement action;

• refusal by the FDA or comparabla e forff eign regulatory arr uthorities to authorize or appra ove pending submu issions filed by
us or our partners;

• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; and

• injun nctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

FDA’s and comparable foreign regulatory arr uthorities’ policies may change and additional government regulations may be
enacted that could prevent, limit or delay marketing authorization of our product candidates. For example, on February 2rr , 2024,
the FDA published a final rulr e to amend its Quality System Regulation (“QSR”) requirements to align more closely with the
international consensus standards for medical devices by converging with quality management system (“QMS”) requirements
used by other regulatory arr uthorities froff m other countries. Specifically, the final rulrr e does so primarily by incorporating by
reference the 2016 edition of the International Organization of Standardization (“ISO”), ISO 13485 standard. The amended
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regulation is referff red to as the Quality Management System Regulation (“QMSR”) and is effeff ctive February 2rr , 2026. If we are
slow or unabla e to adapta to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able
to maintain regulatory crr ompliance, we may lose any marketing authorization that we may have obtained, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations, finff ancial condition and our ability to achieve or sustain
profitaff bia lity.

Our current products att nd product candidatestt are in vii arious stagett s of do eveldd opmll ent. Our products ott r product candiddd atdd estt maya
fail in developmll ent or suffeff r deldd ayll s thatt t adverserr ly affeff ct their cii ommercial viabilityii . Iyy f wII e faiff l tii o mtt aintii aitt n cii learance, de novo
clasll sifii cation or appra oval to market our products att nd product candiddd atdd estt , is ncii ludingii EndeavorRxrr and EndE eadd vorOTC for
expanxx ded indii icdd atiott ns, os r if wi e are delayeda in obtaitt niii ngii such marketintt g authott rizaii tions, os ur busineii ss, prospes cts,tt results ott fo
operations and finff ancial conditiodd n could be materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

The process of seeking FDA marketing authorization is expensive and time consuming. There can be no assurance that marketing
authorization will be granted. If we are not successfulff in obtaining timely clearance, de novo classification or appra oval of our
product candidates, we may never be able to generate significant revenue and may be forced to cease operations. Although our
current effoff rts are primarily focused on managing and executing our strategic plan to transition froff m a prescription to a non-
prescription model, including obtaining regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing EndeavorOTC in adults with ADHD,
pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products and
continuing to supporu t the distribution and fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition, we have in the past and may in the
future resume development of our programs outside of ADHD. Further development of and such programs will be contingent
upon a number of facff tors, including capital raising and supportive business development activities. The FDA can delay, limit or
deny marketing authorizations for many reasons, including:

• we may not be able to demonstrate to the FDA’s satisfaction that our products or product candidates meet the
applicable regulatory standards forff clearance, de novo classification, or approval, as applicable;

• the FDA may disagree that our clinical data supporu ts the label and use that we are seeking; and

• the FDA may disagree that the data from our preclinical or pilot studies and clinical trials is sufficff ient to supporu t
marketing authorization.

Obtaining marketing authorization froff m the FDA or any foreign regulatory arr uthority could result in unexpected and significant
costs forff us and consume management’s time and other resources. The FDA could ask us to supplu ement our submu issions, collect
additional nonclinical data, conduct additional clinical trials, prepare additional manufactff urt ing data or inforff mation or engage in
other time-consuming actions, or it could simply deny our requests. In addition, if granted marketing authorization, we will be
required to obtain additional FDA authorizations prior to making certain modifications to our devices. Further, FDA may impose
other restrictions on our marketing authorizations, or we may lose marketing authorization, if post-market data demonstrates
safety issues or lack of effiff cacy. If we are unabla e to obtain and maintain the necessary marketing authorizations to market our
products, our financial condition may be adversely affected, and our ability to grow domestically and internationally would likely
be limited. Additionally, even if granted marketing authorization, our products, including EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC, may
not receive marketing authorization forff the indications that are necessary or desirabla e forff successfulff commercialization or
profitaff bia lity. This could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

EndeavorOTC aTT nd EndeavorRxrr are currentlytt availaii ble vll ia the ApplA e All ppA Stortt e® and on GooglGG e Pll laPP ya TM, aM nd each of our
products itt s sii uppopp rtedtt by third-par- ty infrn astructure. Iee f oII ur abilityii to access thett se markets ott r access necessary third-par- ty
infrn astructure was stoppeo d or otherwiseii restritt ctedtt or limited, it could hll ave a material adverserr effeff ct on our business, prospes cts,tt
results of operations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

Our EndeavorOTC product and our EndeavorRx product are exclusively accessed through and depend on the Apple App Store
and Google Play. Both Apple and Google have broad discretion to make changes to their operating systems or payment services
or change the manner in which their mobile operating systems function and their respective terms and conditions applicable to the
distribution of our digital therapea utics, and to interprr et their respective terms and conditions in ways that may limit, eliminate or
otherwise interfere with our products, our ability to distribute our products through their stores, our ability to update our products,
including to make bug fixes or other featurt e updau tes or upgru ades, the featurt es we provide, the manner in which we market our
products and our ability to access native funcff tionality or other aspects of mobile devices. To the extent either or both of them do
so, our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

There is no guarantee that the third-party infrastructurt e that currently supporu ts our digital therapea utics will continue to suppu ort
them or, if it does not, that other alternatives will be availabla e or that they will be availabla e on terms that are commercially
acceptabla e to us. We will continue to be dependent on third-party mobile operating systems, technologies, networks and standards
that we do not control, such as the Android and iOS operating systems, and any changes, bugs, technical or regulatory irr ssues in
such systems, our current relationships with carriers or futff urt e relationships with mobile manufactff urt ers, or in their terms of service
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or policies that degrade our digital therapea utics’ functionality, reducd e or eliminate our ability to distribute our digital therapea utics,
limit our ability to deliver high quality digital therapea utics, or impose feeff s or other charges related to delivering our offeff rings,
could adversely affect our product usage and revenue.

We rely upon third party providerdd s orr f co loud-bdd ased infrn astructure to host our platforff m.rr Any dn isdd ruptu iott n in tii hett operations of
these thitt rdii -pdd arty providerdd s,rr limitations on capaca ity or interferff ence withii our use could hll ave a material adverserr effeff ct on our
busineii ss, prospes cts,tt results ott f oo peo rations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

Our platforff m’s technological infrastructurt e is implemented using third-party hosting services, such as Amazon Web Services. We
have no control over any of these third parties, and we cannot guarantee that such third-party providers will not experience system
interruptu ions, outages or delays, or deterioration in their performance. We need to be able to access our computational platforff m arr t
any time, without interruptu ion or degradation of performance. Our hosted platforff m depends on protecting the virtuat l cloud
infrastructurt e hosted by third-party hosting services by maintaining our configff uration, architecturt e, featurt es, and interconnection
specifications, as well as protecting the information stored in these virtuat l data centers, which is transmitted by third-party
Internet service providers. We have experienced, and expect that in the futff urt e we may again experience, interruptu ions, delays anda
outages in service and availabia lity from time to time due to a variety of factors, including infrastrucr ture changes, human or
software errors, hosting disruptu ions and capacity constraints. Any limitation on the capacity of our third-party hosting services
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, any incident affecff ting our third-
party hosting services’ infraff structurt e, which may be caused by cyber-attacks, natural disasters, firff e, flood, severe storm,
earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failures, terrorist or other attacks, and other disruptrr ive events beyond our control,
could negatively affect our cloud-based solutions. A prolonged service disruptrr ion affecting our cloud-based solutions could
damage our reputation or otherwise harm our business. We may also incur significant costs for using alternative equipment or
taking other actions in preparation forff , or in reaction to, events that damage the third- party hosting services we use.

In the event that our service agreements with our third-party hosting services are terminated, or there is a lapse of service,
elimination of services or featurt es that we utilize, interruprr tion of Internet service provider connectivity, or damage to such
facilities, we could experience interruptu ions in access to our platform as well as significant delays and additional expense in
arranging or creating new facilities and services and/or re-architecting our hosted softwff are solutions for deployment on a differff ent
cloud infrastructurt e service provider, which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects, results of operations
and finff ancial condition.

If we are not able tll o dtt eveldd opll and releall se new products,tt or successfulff enhancements, ns ew features, as nd modifii cations to
EndeavorRxrr , Ex ndE eadd vorOTC or any fn utff ure products,tt our business, prospes cts,tt results of operations and finff ancial conditiodd n
could bll e matertt ially and adverserr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

We expect that the digital therapea utics market, as with many technology markets, will be characterized by rapia d technological
change, freff quent new product and service introductions and enhancements, changing customer demands, and evolving industryrr
standards. As an initial matter, a significant portion of our market may not have access to smartphonet s or other technology
necessary to utilize our digital therapea utics. In addition, the introduction of products and services embodying new technologies
could quickly make existing products and services obsolete and unmarketabla e. Additionally, changes in laws and regulations
could impact the usefulness of our products and could necessitate changes or modifications to our products to accommodate such
changes. We invest subsu tantial resources in researching and developing new products and enhancing our existing products by
incorporating additional featff urt es, improving functionality, and adding other improvements to meet our patients’ and users’
evolving needs. The success of any enhancements or improvements to our products or any new products depends on several
factors, including regulatory rrr eview timelines, timely completion, competitive pricing, adequate quality testing, integration with
new and existing technologies in our producd ts and third-party collabora ators’ technologies and overall market acceptance. We may
not succeed in developing, marketing and delivering on a timely and cost-effeff ctive basis enhancements or improvements to our
products or any new products that respond to continued changes in market demands or new customer requirements, and any
enhancements or improvements to our products or any new products may not achieve market acceptance. Since developing our
products is complex, the timetabla e forff the release of new products and enhancements to existing products is difficult to predict,
and we may not offeff r new products and updau tes as rapidly as our patients and users require or expect. Any new products that we
develop or acquire may not be introduced in a timely or cost-effecff tive manner, may contain errors or defects, or may not achieve
the broad market acceptance necessary to generate significant or any revenue.

The introduction of new products and products by competitors, the development of entirely new technologies to replace existing
offeff rings or shiftsff in healthcare benefitsff trends could make our products obsolete or materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations. We may experience difficulties with software development, industry srr tandards,
design or marketing that could delay or prevent our development, introduction or implementation of new products, enhancements,
additional featff urt es or capaa bia lities. If users, patients and healthcare providers do not widely adopt our products, we may not be
able to realize a returt n on our investment. If we do not accurately anticipate user demand and patient demand or we are unabla e to
develop, license or acquire new featff urt es and capabilities on a timely and cost-effeff ctive basis, or if such enhancements do not
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achieve market acceptance, it could result in adverse publicity, loss of revenue or market acceptance or claims by users, patients
or healthcare providers brought against us, each of which could have a material adverse effecff t on our reputation, business,
prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

In addition, the markets in which we compete are characterized by rapia dly changing technology, evolving industry srr tandards,
frequent introductions and enhancements, and changing consumer demands and preferences. For example, generally technology
focused companies are increasingly integrating artificff ial intelligence into their operations. Any use of artificff ial intelligence in our
business presents risks and challenges, including that algorithms may be flaff wed, datasets may be insuffiff cient, erroneous, stale, or
contain biased inforff mation, or content chosen for display to consumers by artificff ial intelligence systems may be discriminatory,rr
offeff nsive, illegal, or otherwise harmfulff . These deficiencies and other failures of artificff ial intelligence systems could subject us to
competitive harm, regulatory arr ction, legal liabia lity, and brand or reputational harm. In addition, there is no guarantee that our use
of third party artificff ial intelligence tools or other artificff ial intelligence focused initiatives will be competitive or attract more
consumers to our platform.

Securityii breaches, ls osll s of do atdd a att nd othett r disdd ruptu iott ns could cll omprm omise sensitivii e infii orff marr tion relatll edtt to our patiett nts,tt users orr r
busineii ss or prevent us froff m accessingii critical infon rmatiott n and exposxx e us to ltt iall bilityii , wyy hich could hll ave a material adverserr
effeff ct on our reputattt iott n, busineii ss, prospes cts,tt results ott f oo peo rations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

In the ordinary crr ourse of our business, we access, generate, process, and store sensitive data, including research data, clinical trial
data, real-world data, patient data, user data, intellectuat l property and proprietary business inforff mation owned or controlled by
ourselves or our employees, partners and other parties. We manage and maintain our applications and data utilizing a combination
of on-site systems and cloud-based data centers and third party services. We utilize third party vendors to manage parts of our
code, infraff structurt e, application and services. These applications and data encompass a wide variety of business-critical
information, including confidff ential, sensitive or personal inforff mation regarding our users, patients, clinical trial subjects, vendors,
customers, employees and others, as well as research and development inforff mation, commercial inforff mation, and business and
financial inforff mation. We faceff a number of risks relative to protecting this critical information, including loss of access risk,
inappropriate use or disclosure, accidental exposure, unauthorized access, inappropriate modification, and the risk of our being
unabla e to adequately monitor, audit and modify our controls over our critical information. This risk extends to the third party
vendors and subcu ontractors we use to manage this sensitive data or otherwise process on our behalf.ff

In addition, we and our third party vendors are at constant risk of cyber-attacks or cyber intrusions via virusr es, worms, break-ins,
malware, ransomware, phishing attacks, hacking, theft off f resources, denial-of-sff ervice attacks or other attacks and similar
disruptr ions from the unauthorized use of or access to computer systems (including from internal and external sources) that attack
our products or systems or those of our third party vendors, or attempt to fraff udulently induce our employees, consumers, third
party vendors or others to disclose passwords or other sensitive inforff mation or unwittingly provide access to our systems or data.
These types of incidents continue to be prevalent and pervasive across industries, including in our industry,rr and such attacks on
our systems have occurred in the past and are expected to occur in the future. In addition, we expect the amount and
sophistication of the perpetrators of these attacks to continue to expand, which could include nation-state actors. Any such
incident could lead to interruptu ions, delays or product outages, causing loss of critical data or the unauthorized disclosure or use
of personally identifiaff bla e or other confidff ential inforff mation. There are no assurances that our programs and actions taken to protect
against security breaches or to investigate and address problems related to cyber or other security problems will be sufficient to
prevent or limit the impact of any cyber intrusion or related attack.

Further, to the extent our employees are working remotely whether at home or elsewhere, additional risks may arise. The secure
processing, storage, maintenance and transmission of this critical information are vital to our operations and business strategy,
and we devote significant resources to protecting such inforff mation. Although we take reasonabla e measures to protect sensitive
data from unauthorized access, use or disclosure, no security measures can be perfect and our third-party vendors’ and
subcu ontractors’ information technology and infraff structurt e may be vulnerabla e to attacks by hackers or infectff ions by viruses or
other malware or breached due to erroneous actions or inactions by our employees or contractors, malfeaff sance or other malicious
or inadvertent disruptu ions. Any such breach or interruptu ion could compromise our systems and the inforff mation stored there could
be accessed by unauthorized parties, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, breach, or other loss of information could
result in legal claims or proceedings. Unauthorized access, loss or dissemination could also disruptu our operations, result in a
material disruptrr ion of our development programs and damage our reputation, any of which could adversely affect our business.
For example, the loss, corruptu ion, unavailabia lity of, off r damage to our computational models would interfere with and undermine
the insights we draw froff m our platform, which could result in the waste of resources on insights based on flawed premises. In
addition, the loss or corruptu ion of, or other damage to, clinical trial data froff m ongoing or future clinical trials could result in
delays in our effoff rts to obtain marketing authorizations and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data.

Additionally, although we maintain cybersecurity insurance coverage, we cannot be certain that such coverage will be adequate
for data security liabia lities actuat lly incurred, will cover any indemnificff ation claims against us relating to any incident, will
continue to be availabla e to us on economically reasonabla e terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any
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future claim. The successfulff assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed availabla e insurance coverage, or the
occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-
insurance requirements, could have a material adverse effeff ct on our reputation, business, prospects, results of operations and
financial condition.

We recently transitioii ned froff m a singii legg third party digii taii l pharmacyc for thett fulfillmeff nt of prff escriptions for EndE eadd vorRx tRR o att n
internallyll developell d in-ii house disdd tributiott n syss tem forff EndeavorRxrr . Txx hiTT s nii ew in-house distii ritt bution syss tem may increase the
riskii that we could hll ave a disruii ptu iott n in tii hett transitioii n, fulfillmeff nt and renewal of prff escriptions for Endeadd vorRx,RR which could
have a matertt ial and adverserr effeff ct on our reputattt iott n, busineii ss, results of operations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

We recently transitioned froff m a single third party digital pharmacy for the fulfillff ment of prescriptions for EndeavorRx and
currently rely on an internally developed in-house distribution system forff EndeavorRx. Prior to this transition, we had no
experience as a company in operating an in-house distribution system and may not be successfulff in doing so. Our lack of
experience with this new in-house distribution system may increase the risk that our system could have or develop technical
issues, bugs or other problems that we are unabla e to resolve in a timely manner or at all and could have a disruptu ion in the
fulfillmeff nt of prescriptions for EndeavorRx which could delay, prevent or impair the distribution and sale of EndeavorRx. In
addition, we may lose customers who access EndeavorRx through our legacy third party digital pharmacy and choose not to
transition, fulfill,ff or renew their prescriptions on our in-house distribution system.

Pharmacies and distributors of digital therapea utics are subju ect to state and federal laws and regulations, and we are now fully
responsible for compliance with federal and state law and regulations, to the extent they apply, and forff maintaining adequate
quality control, quality assurance and qualifieff d personnel. If our in-house distribution system faiff ls to maintain regulatoryrr
compliance or adequate quality control and quality assurance, we may need to find alternatives with the capability to dispense
prescriptions for prescription digital therapea utics (PDTs). As part of the transition to an in-house distribution system, there can be
no assurance that positions we have taken or may take in the futff urt e with respect to the potential appla icability or inapplicability of
certain laws and regulations will be viewed as adequate or sufficff ient now or in the futff urt e. If a regulatory arr uthority finds
deficiencies with or withdraws required licenses in the future, we may be subju ect to significant finff es or penalties, or potentially
other civil or even criminal penalties or disruptu ion in the supplu y of our products or other significant impacts on our business. In
addition, we may need to finff d alternatives with the capability to fulfillff prescriptions for PDTs, which could significantly impact
our abia lity to fulfill,ff distribute and sell EndeavorRx. There are a limited number of third parties that could do so, and we may be
unable to establa ish any agreements with other third party alternatives or to do so on acceptabla e terms.

Any performance failure on the part of our in-house distribution system or our employees could disruptu the distribution and sale
of EndeavorRx. If our in-house distribution cannot perforff m as anticipated, we may be required to replace such system. We may
incur added costs and delays in identifyiff ng and qualifyiff ng any such replacement, and there can be no assurance that an alternative
distributor would be available. The aforff ementioned risks with our in-house distribution system could have a material adverse
effeff ct on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Notwithstanding the transition to an in-house distribution system, we still rely on certain third parties, forff example, for database
and softwff are products and support of our system. Our current and anticipated future dependence uponu others for the fulfilff lment of
prescriptions for our product candidates or products may adversely affect our future profitff margins and our ability to distribute
any products that receive marketing authorization on a timely and competitive basis.

Our products ott r product candidatestt may ca ause undesdd irable sll ide edd ffee cts ott r have other propertiett s thatt t could limit theirii
commercial potentt tial.

If we or others identify undesirabla e side effects directly or indirectly caused by our products or product candidates, a number of
potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

• we may lose marketing authorization of such product;

• regulatory arr uthorities may require additional warnings on the product’s label;

• we may be required to issue safetff y communications to patients or healthcare providers that outline the risks of such
side effeff cts;

• we could be sued and held liabla e forff harm caused to users or patients; and

• our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product or product
candidate and, as a result of negative impacts to our reputation, our other products or product candidates and could have a
material adverse effectff on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.
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The misuse or off-lo abell l use of our products mtt ay harm our reputattt iott n in tii hett marketpltt acll e, result in injun ries that lead to product
liabilityii or othett r suitsii or result in costlytt investigtt atiott ns, fs inff es, os r sanctiott ns by regue latory bodies.

Although our products, if granted marketing authorization, are marketed forff the specific therapea utic uses for which the devices
were designed and our personnel will be trained to not promote our products for uses outside of the FDA-authorized indications
for use, known as “off-lff abel uses,” we cannot, however, prevent a physician froff m using our products in ways, when in the
physician’s independent profesff sional medical judgment, he or she deems it appra opriate. There may be increased risk of injun ry to
users or patients if primary care physicians attempt to use our products off-lff abel. Furthermore, the use of our products for off-ff
labea l uses may not effeff ctively treat such conditions, which could harm our reputation in the marketplt ace among primary care
physicians, patients and users.

If following authorization of any other products or product candidates we may commercialize, or with respect to EndeavorRx or
EndeavorOTC, the FDA or any forff eign regulatory brr ody determines that our promotional materials or training constitute
promotion of an off-label use, it could request that we modify our training or promotional materials or subju ect us to regulatory orr r
enforcement actions, including the issuance or imposition of an untitled letter or warning letter, injun nction, seizure, civil finff e or
criminal penalties. It is also possible that other federal, state or forff eign enforcement authorities might take action under other
regulatory arr uthority, such as falff se claims laws for any products for which we obtain government reimbursement, if they consider
our business activities to constitute promotion of an off-lff abel use, which could result in significant penalties, including, but not
limited to, criminal, civil and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion from participation in government
healthcare programs and the curtailment of our operations.

In addition, physicians may misuse our products with their patients if they are not adequately trained, potentially leading to injuryrr
and an increased risk of product liabia lity. If our products are misused, we may become subju ect to costly litigation by our patients
or their patients. As described below, product liabia lity claims could divert management’s attention froff m our core business, be
expensive to defenff d and result in sizeable damage awards against us that may not be covered by insurance.

Our products mtt ay be subject to product recalls. A recall of our products,tt eithii er voluntartt ily or at the dirdd ection of to hett FDA oDD r
anothett r governmental authott rityii , oyy r thett discii overy or f so erious safea ty issues withii our products,tt could hll ave a material adverserr
effeff ct on our business, prospes cts,tt results of operations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

The FDA and similar forff eign governmental authorities have the authority to require the recall of commercialized products, such
as in the event of material deficiencies or defects in their design or manufactff urt e or in the event that a product poses an
unacceptabla e risk to health.

The FDA’s authority to require a recall forff medical devices must be based on a finding that there is reasonabla e probabia lity that the
device would cause serious injun ry or death. We may also decide to voluntarily recall our products. A government-mandated or
voluntary rrr ecall could occur as a result of an unacceptabla e risk to health, component failures, malfunff ctions, manufactff urt ing errors,
design or labea ling defectff s or other deficiencies and issues. Recalls of any of our products would divert managerial and financial
resources and could materially and adversely affect our reputation and business, which could impair our ability to produce our
products in a cost-effeff ctive and timely manner in order to meet our customers’ demands. We may also be subju ect to liabia lity
claims, be required to bear other costs, or take other actions that could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects,
results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Companies are required to maintain certain records of recalls and corrections, even if they are not reportabla e to the FDA. We may
initiate voluntary rrr ecalls or corrections for our products in the futff urt e that we determine do not require notificff ation of the FDA. If
the FDA disagrees with our determinations, they could require us to report those actions as recalls and we may be subju ect to
enforcement action.

We face potentt tial product liabilityii expoxx sure, ae nd, idd f ci laims broughu t agaia nsii t us are successfulff , wll e could incur substantt tial
liabilitieii s.

Our business exposes us to potential product liabia lity claims that are inherent in the design, manufactff urt e, testing and sale of
medical devices. We could become the subject of product liabia lity lawsuits alleging that component failures, manufacturt ing flaff ws,
design defects or inadequate disclosure of product-related risks or product-related inforff mation resulted in an unsafe cff ondition,
injun ry or death to patients or users. In addition, the misuse of our products, or the failure of patients or users to adhere to operating
guidelines, could cause significant harm to patients or users which could result in product liabia lity claims. Product liabia lity
lawsuits and claims, safety alerts or product recalls, with or without merit, could cause us to incur substantial costs, and could
place a significant strain on our financial resources, divert the attention of management froff m our core business, harm our
reputation and materially and adversely affectff our ability to attract and retain patients or users, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Although we maintain third-party product liabia lity insurance coverage, it is possible that claims against us may exceed the
coverage limits of our insurance policies. Even if any product liabia lity loss is covered by an insurance policy, these policies
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typically have subsu tantial deducd tibles forff which we are responsible. Product liabia lity claims in excess of appla icable insurance
coverage could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition. In
addition, any product liabia lity claim brought against us, with or without merit, could result in an increase of our product liabia lity
insurance premiums. Insurance coverage varies in cost and can be difficult to obtain, and we cannot guarantee that we will be able
to obtain insurance coverage in the futff urt e on terms acceptabla e to us or at all.

Additionally, froff m time to time we may enter into agreements pursuant to which we indemnify tff hird parties forff certain claims
relating to our products. These indemnificff ation obligations may require us to pay significant sums of money forff claims that are
covered by these indemnificff ation obligations. We are not currently subju ect to any product liabia lity claims; however, any future
product liabia lity claims against us, regardless of their merit, may result in negative publicity about us that could ultimately harm
our reputation and could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

We are requireii d to rtt eport certain malfunff ctiott ns, ds eadd ths and serious injii uries associatedtt withii our products,tt which can result in
voluntartt y cr orrectivtt e actiott n or agea ncy ec nforff cement actiott n.

Under the FDA’s medical device reporting regulations, we are required to report to the FDA when inforff mation froff m any source
suggests that any of our products may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injun ry or that any of our products has
malfuncff tioned and, if the malfunction were to recur, would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injun ry. If we faiff l to report
these events to the FDA within the required timeframes, or at all, the FDA could take enforff cement action against us.

Any adverse event involving our products, whether in the U.S. or abra oad, could result in futff urt e voluntary crr orrective actions, such
as recalls, including corrections or customer notificff ations, or agency action, such as inspection or enforff cement actions. If
malfuncff tions do occur, we may be unabla e to correct the malfunctions adequately or prevent furff ther malfuncff tions, in which case
we may need to cease manufactff urt e and distribution of the affeff cted products, initiate voluntary rrr ecalls, and redesign the products.
Regulatory arr uthorities may also take actions against us, such as ordering recalls, imposing finff es, or seizing the affected producdd ts.
Any corrective action, whether voluntary orr r involuntary,rr will require the dedication of our time and capital, distract management
from operating our business, and may harm our reputation and financial results.

Risks Related to our Regulatory Compliance and Legal Matters

We operate in a highlgg y rll egulatll edtt industrytt and are subject to a wide rdd ange of feff deral, stattt e,tt and locll al laws, rs ulesll , as nd
regue lations, is ncii ludingii FDA rDD egulatll ortt y rr equireii ments att nd laws pertaitt niii ngii to fraud and abuse in healthll care, te hatt t affea ct nearly
all all spects ott f oo ur operations. FaiFF luii re to comply withii these lawll s, rules, and regulatll iott ns, os r to ott btaitt n aii nd maintain required
licenses, could sll ubjeb ct us to enfon rcement actiott ns, is ncii ludingii substantiatt l civil and criminii al penalties, and mightgg require us tott
recall or withii draw a product from the markerr t or cease operations. Any of the forff egoingii could hll ave a material adverserr effeff ct
on our business, prospes cts,tt results ott f oo peo rations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

We and our products are subject to extensive regulation in the U.S., including by the FDA. The regulations to which we are
subju ect are complex. The FDA regulates, among other things, with respect to medical devices: design, development and
manufactff urt ing; testing, labea ling, content and language of instructions for use; clinical trials; product safetff y; medical device
cybersecurity; premarket clearance, de novo classification, and appra oval; establa ishment registration and device listing; marketing,
sales and distribution; complaint handling; record keeping procedurd es; advertising and promotion; recalls and fieff ld safety
corrective actions; post-market surveillance, including reporting of deaths or serious injun ries and malfunctions that, if they were
to recur, could lead to death or serious injun ry; post-market studit es; and product import and export. The FDA monitors compliance
with these appla icable regulatory requirements through periodic unannounced inspections as well as various other channels, such
as reviewing post-market surveillance and recall reports, monitoring advertising and promotional practices on-line and at trade
shows, and reviewing trade complaints submitted by competitors or other third parties. We do not know whether we will pass any
future inspections for FDA compliance, or whether the FDA might identify cff ompliance concern(s) through other channels of
information. Failure to comply with applicable regulations could jeopardize our ability to sell our products and result in
enforcement-related actions such as: FDA Form 483s; untitled or warning letters; clinical holds on research; finff es; injunctions;
civil penalties; termination of distribution; recalls or seizures of products; delays in the introducd tion of products into the market;
total or partial suspension of production; refusal to grant future clearances, de novo classifications, or appra ovals; withdrawals of
current marketing authorizations, resulting in prohibitions on the sale and distribution of our products; and in the most serious
cases, criminal penalties. Any of these sanctions could result in higher than anticipated costs or lower than anticipated sales and
could have a material adverse effectff on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

The FDA and the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) also regulate the advertising and promotion of our products to ensure
that the claims we make are consistent with our regulatory arr uthorizations, that there is adequate and reasonabla e data to
subsu tantiate the claims and that our promotional labeling and advertising is neither false nor misleading. If the FDA or FTC
determines that any of our advertising or promotional claims are falff se, misleading, not subsu tantiated or not permissible, we mayaa
be subju ect to enforcement actions, including untitled or warning letters, and we may be required to revise our promotional claims
and make other corrections or restitutions. We also may be subju ect to fines, or other regulatory,rr civil, or criminal sanctions.
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We are subject to additional healthcare regulation and enforcement by the federal government and by authorities in the states and
foreign jurisdictions in which they conduct their business and may constrain the financial arrangements and relationships through
which we research, as well as, sell, market and distribute any products for which we obtain marketing authorization. Such laws
include, without limitation, federal and state anti-kickbak ck, fraff ud and abusa e, false claims, data privacy and security and physician
and other healthcare provider payment transparency laws and regulations. If their operations are foundff to be in violation of any of
such laws or any other governmental regulations that apply, they may be subject to significant penalties, including, without
limitation, administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, the curtailment or restructurt ing of
operations, integrity oversight and reporting obligations, exclusion from participation in fedff eral and state healthcare programs and
imprisonment.

Ensuring that our internal operations and futff urt e business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws
and regulations will involve subsu tantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business
practices, including our relationships with physicians and other healthcare providers, some of whom may be compensated in the
form of stock or stock options for services provided to us and may be in the position to influff ence the ordering of or use of our
products or product candidates, if approved, may not comply with current or futff urt e statutes, regulations, agency guidance or case
law involving applicable fraud and abusa e or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are foundff to be in violation of
any of the laws described abovea or any other governmental laws and regulations that may appla y to us, we may be subject to
significant penalties, including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion froff m government-funded
healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid or similar programs in other countries or jurisdictions, integrity oversight
and reporting obligations to resolve allegations of non-compliance, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, contractuat l damages,
reputational harm, diminished profits and the curtailment or restructurt ing of our operations. If any of the physicians or other
providers or entities with whom we expect to do business are found to not be in compliance with applicable laws, they may be
subju ect to significant criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare
programs and imprisonment, which could affecff t our ability to operate our business. Further, defending against any such actions
can be costly, time-consuming and may require significant personnel resources. Therefore, even if we are successfulff in defending
against any such actions that may be brought against us, our business may be impaired.

Our employees, consultants and commercial collabora ators may engage in misconducd t or other improper activities, including non-
compliance with such regulatory srr tandards and requirements.

Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of availabla e statutory and regulatory err xemptions, it is possible that some
of our activities could be subju ect to challenge under one or more of such laws. Any action brought against us forff violations of
these laws or regulations, even if successfulff ly defended, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our
management’s attention froff m the operation of our business. We may be subject to private “qui tam” actions brought by individual
whistleblowers on behalf of the federal or state governments, with potential liabia lity under the federal False Claims Act including
mandatory treble damages and significant per-claim penalties.

Although we have adopted policies and procedurd es designed to comply with these laws and regulations and conduct internal
reviews of our compliance with these laws, our compliance is also subject to governmental review. The growth of our business
and sales organization including future expansion outside of the U.S. may increase the potential of violating these laws or our
internal policies and procedurd es. The risk of our being foundff in violation of these or other laws and regulations is further
increased by the factff that many have not been fully interpreted by the regulatory arr uthorities or the courts, and their provisions are
open to a variety of interprr etations. Any action brought against us forff violation of these or other laws or regulations, even if we
successfulff ly defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention froff m thet
operation of our business. If our operations are foundff to be in violation of any of the fedff eral, state and forff eign laws described
above or any other current or future fraud and abusa e or other healthcare laws and regulations that apply to us, we may be subject
to penalties, including significant criminal, civil and administrative penalties, damages and fines, disgorgement, additional
reporting requirements and oversight if we become subju ect to a corporr ate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve
allegations of noncompliance with these laws, imprisonment forff individuals and exclusion from participation in government
programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, as well as contractuat l damages and reputational harm. We could also be required to
curtail or cease our operations. Any of the forff egoing consequences could have a material adverse effecff t on our business,
prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

The regulatll ortt y fr raff mework for digdd ital health products itt s cii onstantt tly evolving. Increasingii lygg stritt ngii ent regulatll ortt y rr equirei mentstt
could cll reate btt arriers trr o ott ur developmll ent and introductiott n of no ew products.tt Converserr ly, iyy n tii hett event regulatll ortt y rr equireii mentstt
are lowll ered, cdd ompem titors could pll otentt tially enter thett prescription digdd ital thett rapea utictt market and compem te againsii t us more
easilyii .yy

Our digital therapea utics are novel and represent a new category orr f therapea utics forff which the regulatory frr raff mework continues to
evolve. Our ability to develop and introducd e new products will depend, in part, on our ability to comply with these complex
requirements, which include regulations related to product design, development and manufactff urt ing; testing, labea ling, content and
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language of instructions for use; clinical trials; product safetff y; premarket clearance, de novo classification, and appra oval;
establa ishment registration and device listing; and marketing, sales and distribution. If, however, the regulatory frr raff mework for
digital health products simplifieff s and the requirements that we and others are required to comply with are lowered, it could result
in the increased competition and the introduction by competitors of products that are or claim to be supeu rior to our products. For
example, we have made our EndeavorOTC product availabla e under the FDA-issued COVID-19 Guidance which allows forff the
marketing of certain digital therapea utics without premarket clearance, de novo classification, or approval so long as certain
criteria are met forff the durd ation of the COVID-19 Guidance, which was expected to remain in effeff ct until November 7, 2023
consistent with the FDA-issued COVID-19 Transition Guidance. The COVID-19 Transition Guidance allows for the continued
distribution of devices falling under the COVID-19 Guidance without marketing authorization so long as the manufacturt er has
submu itted a marketing submission to FDA, the submission has been accepted by FDA prior to November 7, 2023 and FDA has
not taken a final action on the marketing submission. While EndeavorOTC has not been authorized by FDA forff any indications,
we submu itted a marketing submission to FDA forff EndeavorOTC on October 30, 2023, which is currently undergoing technical
review by FDA. Through communications with FDA regarding the COVID-19 Transition Guidance, it was clarified that
marketing submissions received by FDA on or before November 7, 2023, that pass their technical review afteff r the deadline
without being placed on submu ission hold will still be eligible for continued enforff cement discretion. Pursuant to FDA’s guidance
on this topic, we are continuing to commercialize, distribute, and market EndeavorOTC under the COVID-19 Guidance. There
can be no assurance that our submu ission will be accepted by FDA or that in the futff urt e we will obtain marketing authorizations
from FDA or other regulators to market and sell EndeavorOTC or any other futff urt e products in the U.S. or anywhere else in the
world. FDA has broad authority to change its enforcement discretion at any time. If our submu ission is not accepted or not
ultimately authorized, FDA may not continue to provide enforcement discretion.

In addition, we submu itted a filing to FDA seeking label expansion forff EndeavorRx to include adolescents ages 13-17 with
ADHD; this labea l expansion filinff g was accepted by FDA in May 2023 and was authorized by FDA in December 2023. However,
there can be no assurance that we will be successfulff in maintaining this marketing authorization or in obtaining authorization
from FDA to convert our EndeavorRx prescription product to over-the-counter labea ling forff any current or future indication.

Additionally, competitors using our products as predicates for 510(k)s may successfulff ly argue that they should be required to
submu it subsu tantially less data to supporu t clearance of their product than was required forff our products based on FDA’s growing
familiarity with the technology. As a result, we are subject to risks related to the developing regulatory lrr andscape appla icable to
our digital therapea utics that could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial
condition.

Material modifii cations to our devidd ces may ra equireii new 510(k)(( cleall rance, de novo clasll sifii cation, premarkerr t appra oval, oll r
supplu emll ent premarket approval, oll r may require us to ctt ease marketintt g or recall the modifii ed devices untiltt cleall rances,s
authorizatiott ns, os r appra ovals all re obtaitt neii d.

Material modifications to the intended use or technological characteristics of our devices may require new 510(k) clearance, de
novo classification, Premarket Approval (“PMA”), or PMA supplu ement appra oval, or may require us to cease marketing or recall
the modified devices until clearances, de novo classifications, or appra ovals are obtained. Any modification to a 510(k)-cleared
device that could significantly affeff ct its safety or effeff ctiveness, or that would constitute a major change in its intended use,
design, or manufactff urt e, requires a new 510(k) clearance or, possibly, a de novo or a PMA. The FDA requires every manufactff urt er
to make and document this determination in the first instance. A manufactff urt er may determine that a modification could not
significantly affeff ct safety or effeff ctiveness and does not represent a majoa r change in its intended use, so that no new 510(k)
clearance is necessary. The FDA may review any manufactff urt er’s decision and may not agree with our decisions regarding
whether new clearances, de novo classifications, or appra ovals are necessary. The FDA may also on its own initiative determine
that a marketing authorization is required.

Additionally, we may determine that our devices may be marketed without marketing authorization under an FDA enforcement
policy. If the FDA disagrees with (i) any determination we may make regarding whether a modification requires a new marketing
authorization and requires us to obtain marketing authorization forff a modified device for which we concluded that such
authorization is unnecessary or (ii) any determination we may make to market a device without marketing authorization under an
FDA enforff cement policy, we may be required to cease marketing or to recall the device until we obtain marketing authorization.
In these circumstances, we may also be subju ect to significant enforff cement actions, regulatory frr inff es or penalties, which could harm
our operating results.

Obtaining and maintaining markerr tingii authorizatiott n of oo ur products ott r product candiddd atdd estt in one jurisdictiott n doedd s not mean
that we willii be successfulff in obtaitt niii ngii marketintt g authott rizaii tion of oo ur products ott r product candiddd atdd estt in othett r jurisdictiott ns.

We may also submit marketing appa lications in other countries. Regulatory arr uthorities in jurisdictions outside of the U.S. have
requirements forff marketing authorization of products or product candidates with which we must comply prior to marketing in
those jurisdictions. Obtaining foreign marketing authorizations and compliance with foreign regulatory rrr equirements could result



67

in significant delays, difficulties and costs forff us and could delay or prevent the introduction of our products in certain countries.
If we fail to comply with the regulatory rrr equirements in international markets and/or receive applicable marketing authorizations,
our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our products or product candidates will be
harmed.

Obtaining and maintaining marketing authorization of our products or product candidates in one jurisdiction does not guarantee
that we will be able to obtain or maintain marketing authorization in any other jurisdiction, while a faiff lure or delay in obtaining
marketing authorization in one jurisdiction may have a negative effecff t on the marketing authorization process in others. For
example, even if the FDA grants marketing authorization of a product or product candidate, comparabla e regulatory arr uthorities in
foreign jurisdictions must also grant marketing authorization forff the manufactff urt ing, marketing and promotion of the product or
product candidate in those countries. Marketing authorization procedurd es vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements
and administrative review periods different froff m, and greater than, those in the U.S., including additional nonclinical studit es or
clinical trials as clinical trials conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory arr uthorities in other jurisdictions. In
short, the forff eign marketing authorization process involves all of the risks associated with FDA marketing authorization. In many
jurisdictions outside the U.S., a product or product candidate must be approved forff reimbursement before it can be approved forff
sale in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we may intend to charge for our products will also be subju ect to approval.

Our commercializatiott n effe orff ts to date htt ave focff used almoll st exclusively oll n thett U.S. Our abilityii to enter other foreign mgg arkerr ts
willii depeee nd, add mong othett r thitt ngii s,gg on our abilityii to navigati e vtt arious regue latory regie meii s with wtt hich we do not have expeee rience,
which could delay oa r prevent thett growth of our opeo rations outside odd f to hett U.S.

To date, our commercialization efforts have focff used almost exclusively on the U.S.. Expanding our business to attract customers
in countries other than the U.S. is an element of our long-term business strategy. Our abia lity to continue to expand our business
and to attract talented employees and customers in various international markets will require considerable management attention
and resources and is subject to the particular challenges of supporting a rapia dly growing business in an environment of multiple
languages, cultures, customs, legal systems, alternative dispute resolution systems, regulatory srr ystems and commercial
infrastructurt es. Entering new international markets will be expensive, our ability to successfulff ly gain market acceptance in any
particular market is uncertain and the distraction of our senior management team could harm our business, financial condition and
results of operation.

Sales of our products outside of the U.S. are subju ect to foreign regulatory rrr equirements that vary wrr idely froff m country to country.
In addition, the FDA regulates exports of medical devices from the U.S.. While the regulations of some countries may not impose
barriers to marketing and selling our producd ts or only require notificff ation, others require that we obtain the marketing
authorization of a specified regulatory body. Complying with foreign regulatory rrr equirements, including obtaining registrations or
marketing authorizations, can be expensive and time-consuming, and we may not receive marketing authorizations in each
country in which we may plan to market our products or we may be unabla e to do so on a timely basis. The time required to obtain
registrations or marketing authorizations, if required by other countries, may be longer than that required forff FDA clearance, de
novo classification, or approval, and requirements forff such registrations and marketing authorizations may significantly differ
from FDA requirements. If we modify our products, we may need to apply forff additional regulatory arr uthorizations before we are
permitted to sell the modified product. In addition, we may not continue to meet the quality and safetff y standards required to
maintain the authorizations that we have received. If we are unabla e to maintain our authorizations in a particular country, we will
no longer be abla e to sell the applicable product in that country. Marketing authorization by the FDA does not ensure registration
or marketing authorization by regulatory arr uthorities in other countries, and registration or marketing authorization by one or more
foreign regulatory arr uthorities does not ensure registration or marketing authorization by regulatory arr uthorities in other foreign
countries or by the FDA. A failure or delay in obtaining registration or marketing authorization in one country may have a
negative effect on the regulatory prr rocess in others.

Doing business internationally involves a number of additional risks, including:

• multiple, conflicff ting and changing laws and regulations such as tax laws, privacy and data protection laws and
regulations, export and import restrictions, employment laws, regulatory rrr equirements and other governmental
approvals, permits and licenses;

• requirements to maintain data and the processing of that data on servers located within the United States or in such
countries;

• protecting and enforcing our intellectuat l property rights;

• converting our products as well as the accompanying instructional and marketing materials to conforff m to the
language and customs of different countries;

• complexities associated with managing multiple payer reimbursement regimes, and government payers;
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• competition froff m companies with significant market share in our market and with a better understanding of user
preferff ences;

• financial risks, such as longer payment cycles, diffiff culty collecting accounts receivabla e, the effect of local and
regional finff ancial pressures on demand and payment forff our products and services and exposure to forff eign currency
exchange rate fluctuations;

• natural disasters, political and economic instability, including wars, terrorism, political unrest, outbrt eak of disease
(including the recent coronavirus outbrt eak), boycotts, curtailment of trade, and other market restrictions; and

• regulatory arr nd compliance risks that relate to maintaining accurate information and control over activities subject to
regulation under the U.S. Foreign Corruptu Practices Act (the “FCPA”), and comparable laws and regulations in other
countries.

These risks and uncertainties may impact the Company’s abia lity to enter forff eign markets, which could delay or prevent the
growth of the Company’s operations outside of the U.S., and have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects, results of
operations and finff ancial condition.

The insii urance coverage and reimbii urserr ment stattt us of prff oducts ttt hatt t recently obtaitt neii d markerr ting authott rizaii tion or may in the
future obtaitt n mii arkerr ting authott rizaii tion is uii ncertain. FaiFF luii re by us or our partners trr o ott btaitt n oii r maintii aitt n aii dequate ctt overage and
reimburserr ment for any of our products ott r product candiddd atdd estt , ps articularll ly outside odd f to hett U.S., if gi rantedtt marketintt g
authorizatiott n, could lll imitll our or our partnett rs’ abilityii to market those products att nd materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ct our abilitii ytt
to generate revenue.ee

In some foreign countries, the proposed pricing forff a prescription device must be appra oved beforff e it may be lawfulff ly marketed.
The requirements governing medical producd t pricing, coverage, and reimbursement vary widely from country to country. For
example, the European Union provides options for its member states to restrict the range of medicinal products for which their
national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. To
obtain reimbursement or pricing appa roval, some of these countries may require the completion of clinical trials that compare the
cost effeff ctiveness of a particular product candidate to currently availabla e therapia es. A member state may approve a specific price
for the medicinal products or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitabia lity of the company
placing the medicinal product on the market. There can be no assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement
limitations for pharmaceuticals or medical devices will allow favff orable reimbursement and pricing arrangements forff any of our
products. Historically, products launched in the European Union do not follow price structurt es of the U.S. and generally prices
tend to be significantly lower. We previously announced our transition froff m a prescription to a non-prescription business model
and while we are not currently marketing or selling our products in any country other than the U.S., including the European
Union or any of its member states, in the event that we or our partners choose to do so in the future, we and our partners will need
to comply with such requirements. For more inforff mation, see “Business - Government Regulation - Coverage and
Reimburserr ment” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We may ba e subjeb ct to governmental invii estigatiott n, litigatiott n, and other proceedindd gs, ws hich are costly to defee nd and could have
a matertt ial adverserr effeff ct on our business, prospes cts,tt results of operations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

We may be party to government investigations, lawsuits and legal proceedings in the normal course of business. These matters
are often expensive and disruptrr ive to normal business operations. We may face allegations, lawsuits and regulatory irr nquiries,
audits and investigations regarding data privacy, security, labora and employment, consumer protection and intellectuat l property
infringement, including claims related to privacy, patents, publicity, trademarks, copyrights and other rights. A portion of the
technologies we use incorporr ates open source software, and we may faceff claims claiming ownership of open source software or
patents related to that software, rights to our intellectuat l property or breach of open source license terms, including a demand to
release material portions of our source code or otherwise seeking to enforff ce the terms of the appla icable open source license. We
may also faceff allegations or litigation related to our acquisitions, securities issuances or business practices, including public
disclosures aboa ut our business. Litigation and regulatory prr roceedings, and particularly the patent infriff ngement and class action
matters we could facff e, may be protracted and expensive, and the results are diffiff cult to predict. Certain of these matters may
include speculative claims for substantial or indeterminate amounts of damages and include claims for injunctive relief.
Additionally, our litigation costs could be significant. Adverse outcomes with respect to litigation or any of these legal
proceedings may result in significant settlement costs or judgments, penalties and fines, or require us to modify our solution or
require us to stop offeff ring certain featurt es, all of which could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business, prospects, results of
operations and finff ancial condition. We may also become subject to periodic audits, which would likely increase our regulatoryrr
compliance costs and may require us to change our business practices, which could have a material adverse effecff t on our
business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition. Managing legal proceedings, litigation and audits, even if we
achieve favff orable outcomes, is time-consuming and diverts management’s attention froff m our business.
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The results of regulatory proceedings, litigation, claims, and audits cannot be predicted with certainty, and determining reserverr s
for pending litigation and other legal, regulatory arr nd audit matters requires significant judgment. There can be no assurance that t
our expectations will prove correct, and even if these matters are resolved in our favor or without significant cash settlements,
these matters, and the time and resources necessary to litigate or resolve them, could have a material adverse effecff t on our
business, prospects, results of operations, finff ancial condition and the market price of our common stock.

Laws and regulatll iott ns governirr ngii any in ntii ertt national opeo rations we may ha ave may preclude udd s froff m develdd opill ngii , mgg anufacff turingii
and sellinll g certain products ott utsitt de of the U.SUU . aSS nd require us to dtt eveldd opll and impii lement costlytt compliance progro ams.

We currently engage in certain activities supporting our product and platform development activities that occur outside the U.S.,
and forff these activities we must dedicate additional resources to comply with numerous laws and regulations in each such
jurisdiction. Additionally, the FCPA prohibits any U.S. individual or business froff m paying, offeff ring, authorizing payment or
offeff ring of anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate for the purposr e of
influencing any act or decision of the forff eign entity in order to assist the individual or business in obtaining or retaining business.
The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are listed in the U.S. to comply with certain accounting provisions requiring
the company to maintain books and records that accurately and faiff rly refleff ct all transactions of the corporr ation, including
international subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for international
operations.

Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and diffiff cult, particularly in countries in which corruptu ion is a recognized problem. In
addition, the FCPA presents particular challenges in the pharmaceutical industry,rr because, in many countries, hospitals are
operated by the government, and doctors and other hospital employees are considered foreign officials. Certain payments to
hospitals in connection with clinical trials and other work have been deemed to be improper payments to government offiff cials and
have led to FCPA enforff cement actions.

Various laws, regulations and executive orders also restrict the use and dissemination outside of the U.S., or the sharing with
certain non-U.S. nationals, of inforff mation classifieff d forff national security purposrr es, as well as certain products and technical data
relating to those products. If we expand our activities outside of the U.S., it will require us to dedicate additional resources to
comply with these laws, and these laws may preclude us from developing, manufactff urt ing, or selling certain products and product
candidates outside of the U.S., which could limit our growth potential and increase our development costs.

The faiff lure to comply with laws governing international business practices may result in substantial civil and criminal penalties
and suspension or debarment from government contracting. The SEC also may suspend or bar issuers from trading securities on
U.S. exchanges forff violations of the FCPA’s accounting provisions.

Healthll care refoe rm and other governmental and private ptt ayer initiatives may ha ave an adverserr effeff ct upon, and could pll revent,
our products’tt or product candiddd atdd estt ’ commercial success.

In the U.S. and in certain forff eign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory crr hanges to the healthcare
system that could impact our ability to sell our products profitaff bla y, such as the ACA. For more information, see “Business –
Government Regulation – HeaHH lthcare Refoe rm” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

There has been increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the U.S. with respect to prescription-pricing practices.
Specifically, there have been several recent U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed federal and state legislation designed to,
among other things, bring more transparency to drugrr pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, review the
relationship between pricing and manufacturt er patient programs, and reforff m government program reimbursement methodologies
for drugs. The HHS has already started the process of soliciting feedff bad ck on some of these measures and, at the same time, is
immediately implementing others under its existing authority. It is unclear what effeff ct such legislative and enforcement interest
may have on prescription devices.

We expect that these and other healthcare reforff m measures that may be adopted in the futff urt e, may result in more rigorous
coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for any cleared, de novo classified, or
approved device, which could have an adverse effectff on patients forff our products or product candidates. Any reducd tion in
reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reducd tion in payments froff m private payers.

The continuing effoff rts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and other payers of healthcare
services to contain or reducd e costs of healthcare may adversely affect:

• the demand forff any of our product candidates, if approved;

• the abia lity to set a price that we believe is fair for any of our product candidates, if approved;

• our ability to generate revenues and achieve or maintain profitaff bia lity;
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• the level of taxes that we are required to pay; and

• the availabia lity of capital.

There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory prr roposals at the foreign, federal and state levels in the
U.S. directed at broadening the availabia lity of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. The implementation of
cost containment measures or other healthcare reforff ms may prevent us from being abla e to generate revenue, attain profitabia lity or
commercialize our products. Such reforff ms could have an adverse effecff t on anticipated revenue from product candidates that we
may successfulff ly develop and for which we may obtain marketing authorization and that may affect our overall financial
condition and ability to develop product candidates. If we or any third parties we may engage are slow or unabla e to adapta to
changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we or such third parties are not able to
maintain regulatory crr ompliance, our current or any futff urt e product candidates we may develop may lose any marketing
authorization that may have been obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitabia lity.

If we fail to comply wll ith the FDAFF ’s Qualityll Systemtt Regue lation (“QSRQQ ”) or any an ppla icll able fll orff eigni equivalent, ott ur operations
could bll e intii ertt ruptu edtt , add nd our potentt tial product sales and operating resultsll could sll uffeff r.

We are required to comply with the FDA’s QSR, which delineates, among other things, the design controls, document controls,
purchasing controls, identificff ation and traceability, production and process controls, acceptance activities, nonconforff ming product
requirements, corrective and preventive action requirements, labea ling and packaging controls, handling, storage, distribution and
installation requirements, complaint handling, records requirements, servicing requirements, and statistical techniques potentially
applicable to the production of our medical devices. We are also subju ect to the regulations of foreign jurisdictions if we market
products overseas.

The FDA enforces the QSR through periodic and announced or unannounced inspections of manufactff urt ing faciff lities. If our
facilities or processes are found to be in non-compliance or faiff l to take satisfactory crr orrective action in response to adverse QSR
inspectional finff dings, the FDA could take legal or regulatory err nforff cement actions against us and/or our products, including but
not limited to the cessation of sales or the initiation of a recall of distributed products, which could impair our ability to produce
our products in a cost-effeff ctive and timely manner in order to meet our customers’ demands. We may also be required to bear
other costs or take other actions that may have a negative impact on our future sales and our ability to generate profitsff .

The FDA’s and other comparabla e non-U.S. regulatory agencies’ statutes, regulations, policies or interprr etations may change, and
additional government regulation or statutes may be enacted, which could increase regulatory rrr equirements, or delay, suspend,
prevent marketing of any cleared, de novo classifieff d, or approved products or necessitate the recall of distributed products. For
example, on Februarr ry 2, 2024, the FDA published a final rulr e to amend its Quality System Regulation (“QSR”) requirements to
align more closely with the international consensus standards forff medical devices by converging with quality management system
(“QMS”) requirements used by other regulatory authorities froff m other countries. Specifically, the final rulr e does so primarily by
incorporating by referff ence the 2016 edition of the International Organization of Standardization (“ISO”), ISO 13485 standard.
The amended regulation is referff red to as the Quality Management System Regulation (“QMSR”) and is effeff ctive February 2rr ,
2026. If we are slow or unabla e to adapta to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if
we are not able to maintain regulatory crr ompliance, we may lose any marketing authorization that we may have obtained, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations, finff ancial condition and our ability to
achieve or sustain profitabia lity. Further, we cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse governmental regulation that
might arise froff m futff urt e legislative or administrative action, either in the U.S. or abra oad.

The medical device industry hrr as been under heightened FDA scrutr iny as the subju ect of government investigations and
enforcement actions. If our operations and activities are found to be in violation of any FDA laws or any other governmental
regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines and other legal
and/or agency enforcement actions. Any penalties, damages, fines, or curtailment or restructurt ing of our operations or activities
could materially and adversely affeff ct our ability to operate our business and our financial results. The risk of us being foundff in
violation of FDA laws is increased by the facff t that many of these laws are broad and their provisions are open to a variety of
interpretations. Any action against us forff violation of these laws, even if we successfulff ly defend ourselves against that action and
its underlying allegations, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert management’s attention froff m the operation
of our business. Where there is a dispute with a fedff eral or state governmental agency that cannot be resolved to the mutuat l
satisfaction of all relevant parties, we may determine that the costs, both real and contingent, are not justifieff d by the commercial
returns to us froff m maintaining the dispute or the product.

Various claims, design feaff tures, or performance characteristics of our medical devices that we regarded as permitted by the FDA
without new marketing authorization may be challenged by the FDA or state or foreign regulators. The FDA or state or forff eign
regulatory arr uthorities may find that certain claims, design featff urt es, or performance characteristics, in order to be made or
included in the products, may have to be supporu ted by furff ther clinical studit es and authorizations, which could be lengthy, costly,
and possibly unobtainabla e.
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We are subjeb ct to data ptt rivacy and security laws and regulatll iott ns governingii our collell ctiott n, use, discii losure or stortt age of
personally idendd tifiaff ble ill nfii orff marr tion, includindd g protectedtt healthll infon rmatiott n and payment card data,tt which may impose
restritt ctiott ns on us and our operations. Any actual or perceived noncomplm iall nce with stt uch lawll s and regue lations may ra esult ill nii
penalties, regue latory action, loss of busineii ss or unfavff orable pll ublicity.yy

Numerous federal and state laws and regulations govern the collection, use, disclosure, storage and transmission of personally
identifiaff bla e inforff mation (“PII”) including protected health information (“PHI”) and inforff mation related to treatment for ADHD
and other diseases and disorders resulting in cognitive impairment. These laws and regulations, including their interprr etation by
governmental agencies, are subju ect to frequent change and could have a negative impact on our business. In addition, in the
future, industry rrr equirements or guidance, contractuat l obligations, and/or legislation at both the federal and the state level may
limit, forbid or regulate the use or transmission of health information outside of the U.S.

These varyirr ng interpretations can create complex compliance issues for us and our partners and potentially expose us to
additional expense, adverse publicity and liabia lity, any of which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects,
results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Federal and state consumer protection laws are increasingly being applied by the FTC and states’ attorneys general to regulate the
collection, use, storage and disclosure of PII, through websites or otherwise, and to regulate the presentation of website content.

The security measures that we and our third-party vendors and subcu ontractors have in place to ensure compliance with privacy
and data protection laws may not protect our facilities and systems froff m security breaches, acts of vandalism or theft, computer
viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming and human errors or other similar events. Even though we provide for protections
through our agreements with our third-party vendors, we still have limited control over their actions and practices. A breach of
privacy or security of PII or PHI may result in an enforff cement action, including criminal and civil liabia lity, against us. We are not
able to predict the extent of the impact such incidents may have on our business. Enforcement actions against us could be costly
and could interruptu regular operations, which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects, results of operations
and finff ancial condition. Even if it is determined that there was no violation of laws, enforcement actions against us could be
costly, generate negative publicity and could interruptu regular operations, which could have a material adverse effecff t on our
business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition. While we have not received any notices of violation of the
applicable privacy and data protection laws and believe we are in compliance with such laws, there can be no assurance that we
will not receive such notices in the futff urt e.

There is ongoing concern froff m privacy advocates, regulators and others regarding data privacy and security issues, and the
number of jurisdictions with data privacy and security laws has been increasing. Also, there are ongoing public policy discussions
regarding whether the standards for de-identificff ation, anonymization or pseudonymization of health information are sufficient,
and the risk of re-identificff ation suffiff ciently small, to adequately protect patient privacy. We expect there will continue to be new
proposed and amended laws, regulations and industry srr tandards concerning privacy, data protection and information security in
the U.S., such as the CCPA. In addition, New York’s Stop Hacks and Improve Electronic Data Security Act, the SHIELD Act,
requires any person or business owning or licensing computerized data that includes the private inforff mation of a resident of New
York to implement and maintain reasonabla e safegff uards to protect the security, confidff entiality and integrity of the private
information. Other U.S. states also are considering omnibus privacy legislation and industry orr rganizations regularly adopt and
advocate forff new standards in these areas. While the CCPA contains exceptions for certain activities involving PHI under the
Health Insurance Portabia lity Administration and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended (“HIPAA”), we cannot yet determine
the impact that existing comprehensive state privacy laws or other such futff urt e laws, regulations and standards may have on our
business.

A number of other states have proposed new privacy laws, some of which are similar to the above discussed recently passed laws.
Such proposed legislation, if enacted, may add additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal
risk, require additional investment of resources in compliance programs, impact strategies and the availabia lity of previously
usefulff data and could result in increased compliance costs and/or changes in business practices and policies. Furthermore, in
addition to comprehensive privacy laws, certain states have enacted laws to focus on particular more limited privacy laws. For
example, the state of Washington has passed a law to protect medical and health information not subju ect to HIPAA and a small
number of states have passed laws that regulate biometric information. The existence of comprehensive privacy laws in different
states in the country wrr ould make our compliance obligations more complex and costly and may increase the likelihood that we
may be subject to enforcement actions or otherwise incur liabia lity for noncompliance.

Future laws, regulations, standards, obligations, amendments, and changes in the interpretation of existing laws, regulations,
standards and obligations could impair our or our customers’ ability to collect, use or disclose information relating to users,
including information derived therefroff m, which could decrease demand forff our products, increase our costs and impair our abilitytt
to maintain and grow our customer base and increase our revenue. Accordingly, we may finff d it necessary or desirabla e to
fundamentally change our business activities and practices or to expend significant resources to modify our software or platform
and otherwise adapt to these changes.
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Further, our patients and users may expect us to comply with more stringent privacy and data security requirements than those
imposed by laws, regulations or self-reff gulatory rrr equirements, and we may be obligated contractuat lly to comply with additional or
different standards relating to our handling or protection of data. If we, or any third parties we or our partners use to process PII
on our behalf, aff re unabla e to properly protect the privacy and security of personal inforff mation, including protected health
information, we and they could be foundff to have breached our and their contracts with certain third parties.

Any faiff lure or perceived faiff lure by us to comply with federal or state laws or regulations, industry srr tandards or other legal
obligations, or any actuat l or suspected privacy or security incident, whether or not resulting in unauthorized access to, or
acquisition, release or transfer of PII or other data, may result in governmental enforcement actions and prosecutions, private
litigation, fines and penalties or adverse publicity and could cause our customers to lose trust in us, which could have a material
adverse effect on our reputation, business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition. We may be unabla e to make
such changes and modifications in a commercially reasonabla e manner or at all, and our ability to develop new products could be
limited. Any of these developments could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Privacy and data
security concerns, whether valid or not valid, may inhibit retention of our products by existing customers or adoption of our
products by new customers.

Around the world, ddd atdd a ctt ollell ctiott n and use are governed by lb awll s and regue lations governingii the use, pe rocessingii and cross-
borderdd transferff of peff rsonal infii orff marr tion.

In the event we decide to conduct clinical trials or engage in other human data collection, we may be subject to additional privacy
restrictions. Many forff eign jurisdictions, including, without limitation, member states of the European Union (the “EU”), and the
United Kingdom, Canada, Israel, Australia, New Zealand, Japaa n and many other countries have adopted legislation that increase
or change the requirements governing the collection, distribution, use, storage, disclosure, or other processing, and/or security of
personal inforff mation and other data in these jurisdictions. If our privacy or data security measures fail to comply with current or
future laws and regulations, we may be subju ect to litigation, regulatory irr nvestigations or other liabia lities, or our customers may
terminate their relationships with us.

Personal privacy and data security have become significant issues in the U.S., Europe, and in many other jurisdictions. The
regulatory frr raff mework for privacy and security issues worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for the
foreseeable future. Many fedff eral, state, and foreign government bodies and agencies have adopted, or are considering adopting,
laws and regulations regarding the collection, use, and disclosure of personal inforff mation, including protected health information.
These laws and regulations, including their interprr etation by governmental agencies, are subju ect to frequent change and could
have a negative impact on Akili’s business. In addition, in the futff urt e, industry rrr equirements or guidance, contractuat l obligations,
and/or legislation at both the federal and the state level may limit, forbid or regulate the use or transmission of health information
outside of the U.S..

These varyirr ng interpretations can create complex compliance issues for us and our partners and potentially expose us to
additional expense, adverse publicity and liabia lity, any of which could adversely affect our business.

Federal and state consumer protection laws are increasingly being applied by the FTC and states’ attorneys general to regulate the
collection, use, storage and disclosure of personal or personally identifiaff bla e inforff mation, through websites or otherwise, and to
regulate the presentation of website content.

The security measures that we and our third-party vendors and subcu ontractors have in place to ensure compliance with privacy
and data protection laws may not protect our facilities and systems froff m security breaches, acts of vandalism or theft, computer
viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming and human errors or other similar events. Even though we provide for appra opriate
protections through our agreements with our third-party vendors, we still have limited control over their actions and practices. A
breach of privacy or security of personally identifiaff bla e health information may result in an enforcement action, including criminal
and civil liability, against us. We are not able to predict the extent of the impact such incidents may have on our business.
Enforcement actions against us could be costly and could interruptu regular operations, which may adversely affect our business.
While we have not received any notices of violation of the applicable privacy and data protection laws and believe we are in
compliance with such laws, there can be no assurance that we will not receive such notices in the futff urt e.

Our international operations are subject to international laws and regulations, regulatory grr uidance, and industry srr tandards relating
to data protection, privacy, and information security. For EU and UK futff urt e operations, if any, this would include the GDPR and
the UK GDPR. The GDPR and the UK GDPR are currently still aligned but there may be further divergence in the future,
including with regard to administrative burdens. The UK has announced plans to reforff m the country’s data protection legal
framework in its Data Reform Bill, which will introduce changes to the UK GDPR. This may lead to additional compliance costs
and could increase our overall risk exposure as we may no longer be abla e to take a unified approach across the EU and the UK.

The GDPR and UK GDPR are wide-ranging in scope and impose numerous additional requirements on companies that process
personal data, including requirements relating to having a legal basis for processing personal data, stricter requirements relating to
the processing of sensitive data (such as health data), requiring that consent of individuals to whom the personal data relates is
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obtained in certain circumstances, requiring disclosures to individuals regarding data processing activities, requiring that
safeguards are implemented to protect the security and confidff entiality of personal data, creating mandatory data breach
notificff ation requirements in certain circumstances, requiring data protection impact assessments for high-risk processing and
requiring that certain measures (including contractuat l requirements) are put in place when engaging third-party processors. The
GDPR and the UK GDPR also provide individuals with various rights in respect of their personal data, including rights of access,
erasure, portabia lity, rectificff ation, restriction and objection. The GDPR and UK GDPR definff e personal data to include
pseudonymized or coded data and requires different informed consent practices and more detailed notices for clinical trial
participants and investigators than appla y to clinical trials conducted in the U.S. We are required to appla y GDPR and UK GDPR
standards to any clinical trials that our EU and UK established businesses carry out anywhere in the world.

The GDPR and UK GDPR impose strict rulr es on the transfer of personal data to countries outside the EU, including the U.S. The
UK and Switzerland have adopted similar restrictions. Although the UK is regarded as a third country under the GDPR, EC has
now issued a decision recognizing the UK as providing adequate protection under the GDPR and, thereforff e, transferff s of personal
data originating in the EU to the UK remain unrestricted. Like the GDPR, the UK GDPR restricts personal data transfers outside
the UK to countries not regarded by the UK as providing adequate protection. The UK government has confirff med that personal
data transferff s froff m the UK to the EU remain freff e floff wing.

To enable the transfer of personal data outside of the EU or the UK, adequate safeguards must be implemented in compliance
with European and UK data protection laws. On June 4, 2021, the EC issued new forms of standard contractuat l clauses for data
transferff s froff m controllers or processors in the EU (or otherwise subject to the GDPR) to controllers or processors establa ished
outside the EU (and not subju ect to the GDPR). The new standard contractuat l clauses require exporters to assess the risk of a data
transferff on a case-by-case basis, including an analysis of the laws in the destination country. The UK is not subju ect to the EC’s
new standard contractuat l clauses but has published a UK-specific transfer mechanism, which enabla es transferff s froff m the UK. The
UK-specific mechanism, the “International Data Transfer Agreement”, requires a similar risk assessment of the transferff as the
standard contractuat l clauses. Further, the EU and United States have adopted its adequacy decision for the EU-U.S. Data Privacy
Framework ("Framework"), which entered into forff ce on July 11, 2023. This Framework provides that the protection of personal
data transferff red between the EU and the U.S. is comparabla e to that offerff ed in the EU. This provides a further avenue to ensuring
transferff s to the United States are carried out in line with GDPR. There has been an extension to the Framework to cover UK
transferff s to the United States. The Framework could be challenged like its predecessor fraff meworks. We are required to
implement these new safeguards when conducting restricted data transfers under GDPR and UK GDPR and doing so requires
significant efforff t and cost.

The GDPR and UK GDPR may increase our responsibility and liabia lity in relation to personal data that we process where such
processing is subju ect to the GDPR and UK GDPR. Implementing legislation in appla icable EU member states and the UK,
including by seeking to establish appa ropriate lawfulff bases forff the various processing activities we carry out as a controller or joint
controller, reviewing security procedurd es and those of our vendors and collabora ators, and entering into data processing
agreements with relevant vendors and collabora ators, we cannot be certain that our effoff rts to achieve and remain in compliance
have been, and/or will continue to be, fulff ly successfulff . Given the breadth and depth of changes in data protection obligations,
preparing forff and complying with the GDPR and UK GDPR and similar laws’ requirements are rigorous and time intensive and
require significant resources and a review of our technologies, systems and practices, as well as those of any third-party
collabora ators, service providers, contractors or consultants that process or transfer personal data.

Other countries around the world in which we conduct trials or otherwise do business have also enacted strict privacy and data
protection laws. For example, the Act on the Protection of Personal Inforff mation (“APPI”) of Japaa n regulates privacy protection
issues in Japaa n. The APPI shares similarities with the GDPR, including extraterritorial application and obligations to provide
certain notices and rights to citizens of Japan. We may be required to modify our policies, procedurd es, and data processing
measures in order to address requirements under these or other privacy, data protection, or cyber security regimes, and may face
claims, litigation, investigations, or other proceedings regarding them and may incur related liabia lities, expenses, costs, and
operational losses.

In addition to general privacy and data protection requirements, many jurisdictions around the world have adopted legislation that t
regulates how businesses operate online and enforces information security, including measures relating to privacy, data security
and data breaches. Many of these laws require businesses to notify dff ata breaches to the regulators and/or to data subju ects. These
laws are not consistent, and compliance in the event of a widespread data breach is costly and burdensome.

In many jurisdictions, enforff cement actions and consequences for non-compliance with protection, privacy and inforff mation
security laws and regulations are rising. In the EU and the UK, data protection authorities may impose large penalties forff
violations of the data protection laws, including potential finff es of up to €20 million (£17.5 million in the UK) or 4% of annual
global revenue, whichever is greater. The authorities have shown a willingness to impose significant finff es and issue orders
preventing the processing of personal data on non-compliant businesses. Data subju ects also have a private right of action, as do
consumer associations, to lodge complaints with supeu rvisory arr uthorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain compensation forff
damages resulting froff m violations of applicable data protection laws. The APPI allows for finff es of up to ¥100 million forff
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violations of the law. In the U.S., possible consequences for non-compliance include enforcement actions in response to rulrr es and
regulations promulgated under the authority of federal agencies and state attorneys general and legislatures and consumer
protection agencies.

In addition, privacy advocates and industry grr roups have regularly proposed, and may propose in the future, self-regulatoryrr
standards that may legally or contractuat lly appa ly to us. If we faiff l to folff low these security standards, even if no customer
information is compromised, we may incur significant finff es or experience a significant increase in costs.

The risk of our being foundff in violation of these laws is increased by the factff that the interprrr etation and enforcement of such laws
is not entirely clear. Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare
laws and regulations will involve subsu tantial costs. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfulff ly
defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention froff m the operation of
our business. The shifting compliance environment and the need to build and maintain robust and expandabla e systems to comply
with multiple jurisdictions with different compliance and/or reporting requirements increases the possibility that a healthcare
company may run afoul of one or more of the requirements.

Compliance with data protection laws and regulations could require us to take on more onerous obligations in our contracts,
restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cases, impact our abia lity to operate in certain jurisdictions. It could
also require us to change our business practices and put in place additional compliance mechanisms, may interruptu or delay our
development, regulatory arr nd commercialization activities and increase our cost of doing business. Failure by us or our
collabora ators and third-party providers to comply with data protection laws and regulations could result in government
enforcement actions (which could include civil or criminal penalties and orders preventing us froff m processing personal data),
private litigation and result in significant finff es and penalties against us. Moreover, clinical trial participants abouta whom we or
our potential collabora ators obtain inforff mation, as well as the providers who share this information with us, may contractuat lly
limit our ability to use and disclose the inforff mation. Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy rights, failed to comply
with data protection laws or breached our contractuat l obligations, even if we are not found liabla e, could be expensive and time-
consuming to defenff d, could result in adverse publicity and could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

We provide pdd atiett nt and user services using textt t and voice callsll to communicate withii healthll care providerdd s,rr patiett nts,tt users arr nd
prospes ctivtt e patiett nts,tt and we are subject to various markerr ting and advertising lawll s incii ludingii the TelTT epll hone Consumer
Protecttt iott n Act (thett “TCPTT A”PP ).” If we fail to comply withii applicll able lll awll s, includindd g thett TCPACC , we may be subject to signi ificff ant
liabilitieii s.

Our patient service center uses short message service (“SMS”) text messages and telephone calls to communicate with healthcare
providers, patients and prospective patients. We also may use SMS, text messages and telephone calls for marketing purposrr es
with the recipient’s advance consent. The actuat l or perceived improper sending of text messages or the making of telephone calls
may subject us to potential risks, including liabia lities or claims relating to consumer protection laws. Numerous class-action suits
under fedff eral and state laws have been filed in recent years against companies who conduct SMS texting programs or make
unwanted telephone calls, with many resulting in multi-million-dollar settlements to the plaintiffsff . Any future such litigation
against us could be costly and time-consuming to defenff d. For example, the Telephone Consumer Protections Act of 1991, the
TCPA, is a federal statute that protects consumers from unwanted telephone calls, faxff es, and text messages, and restricts
telemarketing and the use of automated SMS text messages without proper consent. Additionally, state regulators may determine
that telephone calls to our patients or users are subject to state telemarketing regulations. Federal or state regulatory arr uthorities or
private litigants may claim that the notices and disclosures we provide, forff m of consents we obtain, or our SMS texting practices
are not adequate or violate appa licable law. This may in the future result in civil claims against us. The scope and interprr etation of
the laws that are or may be appla icable to the delivery orr f text messages are continuously evolving and developing. If we do not
comply with these laws or regulations or if we become liabla e under these laws or regulations, we could faceff direct liabia lity, could
be required to change some portions of our business model, could faceff negative publicity, and our business, prospects, results of
operations and finff ancial condition could be materially and adversely affected. Even an unsuccessfulff challenge of our SMS texting
or telephone calling practices by our customers, regulatory arr uthorities, or other third parties could result in negative publicity and
could require a costly response froff m and defense by us.

We are subjeb ct to certaitt n Uii .SUU . aSS nd foreign agg nti-tt corruptu iott n, anti-money le aull nderdd ing, exporxx t control, sll anctiott ns, as nd othett r tratt de
laws and regulatll iott ns. We cWW an face serious consequences for violations. Our relationshipsii withii customtt ers arr nd third-par- ty
payera s wrr ill be subject to applicll able all nti-tt kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthll care laws and regulatll iott ns, ws hich couldll
exposxx e us to ctt riminii al sanctions, civil pii enaltiell s, exclusion froff m government healthcare programs, contratt ctual damdd ages,
repuee tational harm arr nd diminii ished profio tsii and futff ure earningii s.gg

Among other matters, U.S. and foreign anti-corruptu ion, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions, and other trade laws and
regulations (which are collectively referff red to herein as “Trade Laws”), prohibit companies and their employees, agents, clinical
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research organizations, legal counsel, accountants, consultants, contractors, and other partners from authorizing, promising,
offeff ring, providing, soliciting, or receiving directly or indirectly, corruptu or improper payments or anything else of value to or
from recipients in the public or private sector. Violations of Trade Laws can result in subsu tantial criminal fines and civil penalties,
imprisonment, the loss of trade privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraff ud litigation, reputational
harm, and other consequences. We expect our non-U.S. activities may increase in time. If our non-U.S. activities were to increase
in the futff urt e, we plan to engage third parties forff clinical trials and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, patent registrations,
and other regulatory arr ppra ovals and we can be held liabla e forff the corruptu or other illegal activities of our personnel, agents, or
partners, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such activities. Any of these consequences could have
a material adverse effeff ct on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Our employeeso , is ndii epdd endent contratt ctortt s,rr consultall nts,tt commercial collall boratortt s,rr principalii investigatortt s,rr vendors arr nd othett r
agents mtt ay engage in misconduct or other impropeo r activtt ities, includindd g non-complm iall nce with regue latory stantt dards and
requirements.

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial collabora ators, principal
investigators, vendors and other agents may engage in fraudulent conduct or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties
could include intentional, reckless or negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to us that violates appla icable
regulations, including those laws requiring the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to regulatory arr gencies,
manufactff urt ing standards and U.S. federal and state healthcare laws and regulations. In particular, sales, marketing and business
arrangements in the healthcare industry arr re subju ect to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, kickbak cks, self-ff
dealing and other abusa ive practices. We could facff e liabia lity under the U.S. federal Anti-Kickbak ck Statutt e and similar U.S. state
laws. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales
commission, referff rals, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Misconduct by these parties could also
involve the improper use of individually identifiaff bla e inforff mation, including, without limitation, information obtained in the
course of clinical trials, which could result in significant regulatory srr anctions and serious harm to our reputation. Further, should
violations include promotion of unappra oved (off-lff abel) uses of one or more of our products, we could faceff significant regulatoryrr
sanctions for unlawful promotion, as well as subsu tantial penalties under appla icable federal or state laws. Similar concerns could
exist in jurisdictions outside of the U.S. as well. It is not always possible to identify aff nd deter misconduct by employees and other
third parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effeff ctive in controlling unknown or
unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us froff m governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming froff m a
failure to comply with these laws or regulations. For more information, see “Business – Government Regulation – HeaHH lth Care
Laws and Regue lations” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

It is possible that we may make grants to independent charitable foundations that help financially needy patients with their
premium, co-pay, and co-insurance obligations. If we choose to do so, and if we or our vendors or donation recipients are deemed
to fail to comply with relevant laws, regulations or evolving government guidance in the operation of these programs, we could
be subju ect to damages, fines, penalties, or other criminal, civil, or administrative sanctions or enforcement actions. We cannot
ensure that our compliance controls, policies, and procedurd es will be sufficff ient to protect against acts of our employees, business
partners, or vendors that may violate the laws or regulations of the jurisdictions in which we operate. Regardless of whether we
have complied with the law, a government investigation could impact our business practices, harm our reputation, divert the
attention of management, increase our expenses, and reduce the availabia lity of foundation support forff our patients who need
assistance.

The precautions we take to detect and prevent misconduct may not be effeff ctive in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or
losses or in protecting us froff m governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming froff m a failure to be in
compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successfulff in defending
ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil,
criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, imprisonment, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare,
Medicaid and other fedff eral healthcare programs, additional reporting requirements and oversight if we become subju ect to a
corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of noncompliance with these laws, contractuat l damages,
reputational harm, diminished profits and futff urt e earnings, and curtailment of our operations, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Federal, stattt e att nd local employmo ent-related lawll s aw nd regue lations could ill ncii rease our cost of doingii busineii ss and subjeb ct us to
fineii s and lawsuitsii .

Our operations are subject to a variety of federal, state and local employment-related laws and regulations, including, but not
limited to, the U.S. Fair Labor Standards Act, which governs such matters as minimum wages, the Family Medical Leave Act,
overtime pay, compensabla e time, recordkeeping and other working conditions, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act, the Americans with Disabia lities Act, the National Labor Relations Act, regulations of the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission, regulations of the Office of Civil Rights, regulations of the Department of Labora (DOL),
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regulations of state attorneys general, federal and state wage and hour laws, and a variety of similar laws enacted by the fedff eral
and state governments that govern these and other employment-related matters. As our employees are located in a number of
states, compliance with these evolving fedff eral, state and local laws and regulations could substantially increase our cost of doing
business while failure to do so could subjeb ct us to fines and lawsuits.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property and Technology

If we are unable tll o att dequateltt y pll rotect and enforff ce our intii eltt lell ctual propeo rty att nd proprietary technologyo , oyy btaitt n aii nd maintain
patentt t protectiott n forff our techtt nologyo and products wtt here appropriate or if the scopeo of the patentt t protectiott n obtaitt neii d is nii ot
suffiu ciently broad, or if we are unable tll o ptt rotect the confin dentiatt lity of our tratt de secrets att nd know-how, ow ur competitott rs couldll
developll and commercialize techtt nologyo and products stt imilar or identictt al to our products,tt and our abilityii to successfulff lyll
commercialize our technologyo and products mtt ay be impairei d.

Our commercial success will depend in part on our ability to obtain, maintain, protect and enforff ce our proprietary and intellectuat l
property rights in the U.S. and other countries forff our products and product candidates, and our core technologies, including
EndeavorRx, EndeavorOTC, preclinical and clinical assets, methods of use patents and related know-how. We seek to protect our
proprietary and intellectuat l property position by, among other methods, filinff g patent appla ications in the U.S. and abroad related to
our proprietary technology, inventions and improvements that are important to the development and implementation of our
business. However, the patent process is expensive, time consuming and complex, and we may not be able to apply forff patents on
certain aspects of our technology and products in a timely fashion, at a reasonabla e cost, in all jurisdictions or at all, and anya
potential patent coverage we obtain may not be sufficient to prevent subsu tantial competition. In some circumstances, we may not
have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent appla ications, or to maintain, enforce and defend the
patents, covering technology that we may exclusively license from third parties. Further, we can provide no assurance that any of
our current or future patent applications will result in issued patents or that any issued patents will provide us with any
competitive advantage. In addition, we also rely on trade secrets, know-how and continuing technological innovation to develop
and maintain our proprietary and intellectuat l property position that we seek to protect, in part, through confidff entiality agreements
with employees, consultants and others. We cannot assure you, however, that our proprietary information will not be shared or
accessed without authorization, that our confidff entiality agreements will not be breached, that we will have adequate remedies for
any breach, or that our trade secrets will not otherwise become known to or independently developed by competitors. Further, if
any collabora ation partner or licensor is unabla e to obtain or maintain patent or trade secret protection with respect to product
candidates that we or they currently are or may in the futff urt e develop, or if the scope of the protection secured is not sufficiently
broad, third parties could develop and commercialize products similar or identical to ours and our ability to commercialize any
product candidates we may develop may be adversely affected. Our inability to maintain and protect our proprietary information
and trade secrets could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial conditions.

We may ba ecome involved in litigatiott n to ptt rotect or enfon rce our patentt ts and other intellectual propeo rty rtt ightgg s,tt which could be
expexx nsive, time consuming and unsuccessfulff . Wll e mWW ay not be able tll o ett ffee ctivtt ely pll rosecute and enforff ce our intii eltt lell ctual propeo rtytt
righi ts throughogg ut the world. Fdd aiFF luii re to protecttt or enfon rce intii eltt lell ctual propeo rty rtt ightgg s ctt ould have a matertt ial adverserr effeff ct on
our business, prospes cts,tt results ott f oo peo rations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

Competitors and other third parties may infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate our patents and other intellectuat l property
rights. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to fileff infringement claims. A court may disagree with
our allegations, however, and may refusff e to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents
do not cover it. Further, such third parties could counterclaim that we infriff nge their intellectuat l property or that a patent we have
asserted against them is invalid or unenforff ceable. In patent litigation in the U.S., defenff dant counterclaims, post-grant review, and
inter partes reviews challenging the validity, enforff ceability or scope of asserted patents are commonplace. In addition, third
parties may initiate legal proceedings against us to assert such challenges to our intellectuat l property rights. The outcome of any
such proceeding is generally unpredictabla e. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged faiff lure to meet any of several
statutt ory rrr equirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness or non-enablement. Patents may be unenforff ceable if someone
connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information froff m the U.S. Patent and Trademark Offiff ce (the
“USPTO”) or made a misleading statement during prosecution. It is possible that prior art of which we and the patent examiner
were unaware during prosecution exists, which could render any patents that may issue invalid. Moreover, it is also possible that
prior art may exist that we are aware of but do not believe is relevant to our future patents, should they issue, but that could
nevertheless be determined to render our patents invalid.

An adverse result in any litigation proceeding could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted
narrowly. If a defenff dant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforff ceability of our patents covering one of our
products or product candidates, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection covering such product,
product candidate or technology. Competing products may also be sold in other countries in which our patent coverage might not
exist or be as strong. Any litigation or other proceedings to enforce our intellectuat l property rights may fail and, even if
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successfulff , may result in subsu tantial costs and distract our management and other personnel. Any of the foregoing could have a
material adverse effectff on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Accusations of infrn ingement of third-par- ty intellectll ual propeo rty rtt ightgg s ctt ould have a matertt ial adverserr effeff ct on our business,
prospes cts,tt results of operations and finff ancial conditiodd n.

There has been subsu tantial litigation in the healthcare industry rrr egarding intellectuat l property rights, and we may be sued for
infringement from time to time in the futff urt e. Also, in some instances, we have agreed to indemnify tff hird parties forff expenses and
liability resulting froff m claimed intellectuat l property infriff ngement. From time to time, we may receive requests forff
indemnificff ation in connection with allegations of intellectuat l property infriff ngement and we may choose, or be required, to assume
the defenff se and/or reimburse third parties forff their expenses, settlement and/or liability. We cannot assure you that we will be
able to settle any futff urt e claims or, if we are able to settle any such claims, that the settlement will be on terms favff orabla e to us. Our
broad range of technology may increase the likelihood that third parties will claim that we infriff nge their intellectuat l propertytt
rights.

We may in the future receive notices of allegations of infringement, misappropriation or misuse of other parties’ proprietary
rights. Furthermore, regardless of their merits, accusations and litigation of this naturt e may require significant time and expense
to defend, may negatively affectff customer relationships, may divert management’s attention away froff m other aspects of our
operations and, upon resolution, could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects, results of operations and
financial condition.

Certain technology necessary for us to provide our solutions may, in fact, be patented by other parties either now or in the futff urt e.
If such technology were validly patented by a third party, we may have to negotiate a license for the use of that technology. We
may not be able to negotiate such a license at a price that is acceptabla e to us or at all. The existence of such a patent, or our
inability to negotiate a license for any such technology on acceptabla e terms, could forff ce us to cease using the technology and
cease offering products incorporating the technology, which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects,
results of operations and finff ancial condition.

If we, or any of our products or product candidates, were found to be infringing on the intellectuat l property rights of any third
party, we could be subject to liabia lity for such infriff ngement, which could be material. We could also be prohibited froff m using or
selling certain products or product candidates, prohibited froff m using certain processes, or required to redesign certain products or
product candidates, each of which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects, results of operations and
financial condition.

These and other outcomes may result in the loss of a subsu tantial number of existing customers or prohibit the acquisition of new
customers; cause us to pay license fees for intellectuat l property we are deemed to have infringed; cause us to incur costs and
devote valuabla e technical resources to redesigning our products or product candidates; cause our cost of revenues to increase;
cause us to accelerate expenditures to preserve existing revenues; materially and adversely affect our brand in the marketplt ace
and cause a substantial loss of goodwill; cause us to change our business methods or products or product candidates; and require
us to cease certain business operations or offeff ring certain products or featurt es.

If we fail to comply wll ith obligll atiott ns in the agra eements underdd which we collall borate wtt ith or license intellectual propeo rty rtt ightgg stt
from third parties, or othett rwise expeee rience disruii ptu iott ns to our business relatll iott nshipsii withii collaboratortt s orr r licll ensors, we couldll
lose righi ts that are impii ortant to our business.

We license certain intellectuat l property that is important to our business, including from the University of Califorff nia San
Francisco, and in the future we may enter into additional agreements that provide us with licenses to valuabla e intellectuat l property
or technology. Some of our current license agreements impose various development, diligence, commercialization or
sublu icensing, and other obligations, including payments in connection with the achievement of specified milestones, on us in
order to maintain the licenses. In spite of our effoff rts, a current or future licensor might conclude that we have materially breached
our obligations under such license agreements and seek to terminate the license agreements, thereby removing or limiting our
ability to develop and commercialize products and technology covered by these license agreements. If these in-licenses are
terminated, or if the underlying patent rights licensed thereunder faiff l to provide the intended exclusivity, competitors or other
third parties would have the freedom to seek marketing authorization of, and to market, products identical to ours and we may be
required to cease our development and commercialization of certain of our product candidates. Any of the foregoing could have a
material adverse effectff on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Moreover, disputes may arise regarding intellectuat l property subject to a licensing agreement, including:

• the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interprr etation-related issues;

• the extent to which our technology and processing infringe on intellectuat l property of the licensor that is not subju ect
to the licensing agreement;
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• the sublicensing of patent and other rights under our collabora ative development relationships;

• our diligence obligations under the license agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations;

• the inventorship and ownership of inventions and know-how resulting froff m the joint creation or use of intellectuat l
property by our licensors and us and our partners; and

• the priority of invention of patented technology.

The agreements under which we may license intellectuat l property or technology from third parties may be complex, and certain
provisions in such agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation
disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectuat l property or
technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, either of which
could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition. Moreover, if
disputes over intellectuat l property that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our licensing arrangements on
commercially acceptable terms, we may be unabla e to successfulff ly develop and commercialize the affeff cted product candidates,
which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Confidff endd tiality and intii eltt lell ctual propeo rty att ssigni ment agreements that we have withii our employeeso and other parties may not
adequateltt y pll revent disdd closll ure of to ratt de secrets att nd othett r propro ietary infon rmatiott n.

We depend heavily upon confidff entiality agreements with our offiff cers, employees, consultants and subcu ontractors to maintain the
proprietary nature of our technology. These measures may not affoff rd us complete or even sufficff ient protection, and may not
affoff rd an adequate remedy in the event of an unauthorized disclosure of confidff ential inforff mation. If we fail to protect and/or
maintain our intellectuat l property, third parties may be able to compete more effecff tively against us, we may lose our
technological or competitive advantage, and/or we may incur subsu tantial litigation costs in our attempts to recover or restrict use
of our intellectuat l property. In addition, others may independently develop technology similar to ours, otherwise avoiding the
confidff entiality agreements, or produce patents that would materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations. A third party may also attempt to reverse engineer or otherwise obtain and use our proprietary
technology without our consent which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, prospects, results of operations and
financial condition.

Some of our solutiott ns utilize thitt rdi -pdd arty open-source data att nd softo watt re, ae nd any fn aiff luii re to comply withii the tertt msrr of one or
more of these opeo n-source softo watt re licenses could have a matertt ial adverserr effeff ct on our business, prospes cts,tt results ott fo
operations and finff ancial conditiodd n, subject us to litigii atiott n, or create potentt tial liall bilityii .yy

Our solutions include software and data licensed froff m third parties under any one or more open source licenses, and we expect to
continue to incorporate open source software in our solutions in the futff urt e. Moreover, we cannot ensure that we have effeff ctively
monitored our use of open source software, or validated the quality or source of such software, or that we are in compliance with
the terms of the appa licable open source licenses or our current policies and procedurd es. There have been claims against companies
that use open source software in their products and services asserting that the use of such open source software infringes the
claimants’ intellectuat l property rights. As a result, we could be subject to suits by third parties claiming that what we believe to be
licensed open source software infringes such third parties’ intellectuat l property rights. Additionally, if an author or other thit rd
party that distributes such open source software were to allege that we had not complied with the conditions of one or more of
these licenses, we could be required to incur significant legal expenses defending against such allegations and could be subject to
significant damages and required to comply with onerous conditions or restrictions on these solutions, which could disruptu the
distribution and sale of these solutions. Litigation could be costly for us to defenff d, have a material adverse effecff t on our business,
prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition, or require us to devote additional research and development resources to
change our solutions. Furthermore, these third-party open source providers could experience service outages, data loss, privacy
breaches, cyber-attacks, and other events relating to the applications and services they provide that could diminish the utility ott f
these services and which could harm our business as a result.

Use of open source software may entail greater risks than use of third-party commercial softwff are, as open source licensors
generally do not provide warranties or other contractuat l protections regarding infriff ngement claims or the quality of the code,
including with respect to security vulnerabia lities where open source software may be more susceptible. In addition, certain open
source licenses require that source code for softwff are programs that interact with such open source software be made availabla e to
the public at no cost and that any modifications or derivative works to such open source software continue to be licensed under
the same terms as the open source software license. The terms of various open source licenses to which we are subject have not
been interpreted by courts in the relevant jurisdictions, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construerr d in a manner that
imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market or provide our software and data. By the terms of certarr in
open source licenses, we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary srr oftwff are, and to make our proprietary
software availabla e under open source licenses, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain
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manner. In the event that portions of our proprietary software are determined to be subju ect to an open source license, we could be
required to publicly release the affeff cted portions of our source code, re-engineer all or a portion of our solutions, or otherwise be
limited in the licensing of our solutions, each of which could reducd e or eliminate the value of our solutions. Disclosing our
proprietary source code could allow our competitors to create similar products with lower development effort and time and
ultimately could result in a loss of sales. Furthermore, any such re-engineering or other remedial effoff rts could require significant
additional research and development resources, and we may not be able to successfulff ly complete any such re-engineering or other
remedial effoff rts. Any of these events could create liabia lity for us and damage our reputation, which could have a material adverse
effeff ct on our business, prospects, results of operations, finff ancial condition and the market price of our shares.

Changes to ttt hett patentt t lawll in the U.SUU . aSS nd othett r jurisdictiott ns could dll imindd ish thett value of po atentt ts in general and may ia mpii act
the validll itydd , syy copeo or enfon rceabilityii of our patentt t rightgg s,tt thereby ib mpii airiii ngii our abilityii to protecttt our products ott r product
candiddd atdd estt .

As is the case with other digital therapea utic companies, our success is dependent on intellectuat l property, particularly patents and
trade secrets. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the digital therapea utic industry irr nvolve both technological and legal complexity
and are thereforff e costly, time consuming, and inherently uncertain. Our patent rights, their associated costs, and the enforcement
or defense of such patent rights may be affeff cted by developments or uncertainty in the patent statute, patent case law or USPTO
rules and regulations. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws could increase the uncertainties and
costs surrounding the prosecution of patent appa lications and the enforcement or defenff se of our issued patents.

For example, in March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (the “America Invents Act”), the U.S. transitioned
from a “firff st to invent” to a “firff st-to-file” patent system. Under a “firff st-to-file” system, assuming that other requirements forff
patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent appla ication generally will be entitled to a patent on an invention regardless
of whether another inventor had made the invention earlier. A third party that fileff s a patent application in the USPTO after March
2013, but before us, could thereforff e be awarded a patent covering an invention of ours even if we had made the invention beforff e
it was made by such third party. This will require us to be cognizant going forward of the time from invention to filinff g of a patent
application. Since patent appla ications in the U.S. and most other countries are confidff ential forff a period of time afteff r filinff g or until
issuance, we cannot be certain that we or our licensors were the firff st to either file any patent appla ication related to our technology
or product candidates or invent any of the inventions claimed in our or our licensor’s patents or patent appla ications. The America
Invents Act also includes a number of other significant changes to U.S. patent law, including provisions that affeff ct the way patent
applications will be prosecuted, allowing third party submu ission of prior art and establishing a new post-grant review system
including post-grant review, inter partes review, and derivation proceedings. Because of a lower evidentiary standard in USPTO
proceedings compared to the evidentiary standard in U.S. federal courts necessary to invalidate a patent claim, a third party could
potentially provide evidence in a USPTO proceeding suffiff cient forff the USPTO to hold a claim invalid even though the same
evidence would be insuffiff cient to invalidate the claim if firff st presented in a district court action. Accordingly, a third party mtt ay
attempt to use the USPTO procedurd es to invalidate our patent claims that would not have been invalidated if first challenged by
the third party as a defendant in a district court action. The effects of these changes are currently unclear as the USPTO continues
to promulgate new regulations and procedurd es in connection with the America Invents Act and many of the subsu tantive changes
to patent law, including the “firff st-to-file” provisions, only became effecff tive in March 2013. In addition, the courts have yet to
address many of these provisions and the applicability of the act and new regulations on the specific patents discussed in this
filing have not been determined and would need to be reviewed. However, the America Invents Act and its implementation could
increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defenff se of our
issued patents.

The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection
availabla e in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. Additionally, there have been
recent proposals forff additional changes to the patent laws of the U.S. and other countries that, if adopted, could impact our ability
to obtain patent protection forff our proprietary technology or our ability to enforce rights in our proprietary technology. Depending
on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the U.S. courts, the USPTO and the relevant law-making bodies in other countries, the
laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictabla e ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents
or to enforce any patents that we may obtain in the futff urt e.

In addition, it is uncertain whether the World Trade Organization (the “WTO”) will waive certain intellectuat l property protections
now or in the future on certain technologies. It is unknown if such a waiver would be limited to patents, or would include other
forms of intellectuat l property including trade secrets and confidff ential know-how. We cannot be certain that any of our current or
future product candidates or technologies would not be subju ect to an intellectuat l property waiver by the WTO. We also cannot be
certain that any of our current or future intellectuat l property rights, whether patents, trade secrets, or confidff ential know-how
would be eliminated, narrowed, or weakened by such a waiver. Given the uncertain future actions by the WTO and other
countries and jurisdictions around the world, including the U.S., it is unpredictabla e how our current or futff urt e intellectuat l property
rights or how our current or future business would be impacted.
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If our tratt demarks akk nd trade names are not adequateltt y pll rotectedtt , tdd hett n we may not be able tll o btt uildii name recogno ition in oii ur
markets ott f io ntii ertt est and our business may be adverserr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared generic or
determined to be infringing on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which
we need to build name recognition among potential collabora ators or customers in our markets of interest. At times, competitors
may adopt trade names or trademarks similar to ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to
market confusff ion. In addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark infriff ngement claims brought by owners of other
trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names. Over the long
term, if we are unabla e to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to
compete effectively and our business may be adversely affected. We may license our trademarks and trade names to third parties,
such as distributors. Though these license agreements may provide guidelines for how our trademarks and trade names may be
used, a breach of these agreements or misuse of our trademarks and trade names by our licensees may jeopardize our rights in or
diminish the goodwill associated with our trademarks and trade names. Our efforts to enforff ce or protect our proprietary rights
related to trademarks, trade names, trade secrets, know-how, domain names, copyrights or other intellectuat l property may be
ineffeff ctive and could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effecff t on our
business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

We in-licll ense patentt ts and content from third parties to dtt eveldd opll our products att nd product candiddd atdd estt . If wII e faiff l tii o ott btaitt n oii r
maintain such licenses, or have a disdd pus te withii a thitt rdi -pdd arty licensor, it could mll atertt ially and adverserr ly affeff ct our abilityii to
commercialize thett product or product candiddd atdd estt affeff ctedtt by the disdd pus te.ee

Licensing intellectuat l property involves complex legal, business and scientificff issues. Disputes may arise between us and our
licensors regarding intellectuat l property subject to a license agreement, including:

• the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interprr etation-related issues;

• amount of royalty payments under the license agreement;

• whether and to what extent our technology and processes infriff nge on intellectuat l property of the licensor that is not
subju ect to the licensing agreement;

• our right to sublu icense patent and other rights to collabora ators and other third parties;

• our diligence obligations with respect to the use of the licensed technology in relation to our development and
commercialization of our products, and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations; and

• the ownership of inventions and know-how resulting froff m the joint creation or use of intellectuat l property by our
licensors and us and our collabora ators.

We use the patented or proprietary technology of third parties to commercialize our products. If we are not able to maintain such
licenses, or fail to obtain any future necessary licenses on commercially reasonabla e terms or with sufficff ient breadth to cover the
intended use of third-party intellectuat l property, our business could be materially harmed.

If disputes over licensed intellectuat l property prevent or impair our ability to maintain the licensing arrangements on acceptabla e
terms, we may be unabla e to successfulff ly develop and commercialize the affeff cted product, or the dispute may have an adverse
effeff ct on our results of operation.

Risks Related to our Financial Reporting and Position

We willii need substantiatt l additioii nal funff dingii , agg nd if we are unable tll o rtt aiseii capia taii l when neededdd or on terms favff orable tll o utt s, our
busineii ss, finaii ncial conditioii n and results ott f oo peo rations could bll e matertt ially and adverserr ly affeff ctedtt .dd

We have consumed subsu tantial amounts of capital to date, and we expect to incur net losses over the next several years as we
continue to develop our business, direct market our products and make investments in our human capital in order to scale up ou ur
business. While further development of Akili’s programs outside of the ADHD space will be contingent upon a number of
factors, including capital raising and supportive business development activities, we expect to continue to spend substantial
amounts to manage and execute on our strategic plan to transition froff m a prescription to a non-prescription model, including
obtaining regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing EndeavorOTC in adults with ADHD, pursuing regulatory arr uthorization
for over-the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products and continuing to supporu t the distribution and
fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition. This spending will also likely include subsu tantial amounts as we seek to achieve
and maintain market acceptance by customers, physicians, healthcare providers, and patients, expand our marketing channels and
operations, enhance our products, and make the necessary investments in human capital to scale our business. Other unanticipated
costs may arise in the course of these efforts. If we are abla e to gain marketing authorization forff EndeavorOTC or forff other
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products or product candidates, we will require significant additional amounts of fundiff ng in order to continue to commercialize
EndeavorOTC or any other such additional products or product candidates. We cannot reasonabla y estimate the actuat l amounts
necessary to successfully complete the development and commercialization of any product or product candidate we develop and
may need subsu tantial additional fundiff ng to complete the development and commercialization of our existing and any future
products or product candidates. Our futff urt e need for additional funff ding depends on many factors, including:

• the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing our current product candidates, as well as other
additional product candidates we may develop and pursue in the future;

• the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining marketing authorization forff EndeavorOTC, marketing
authorization forff labea l expansion and authorization of conversion of our EndeavorRx prescription product to over-
the-counter labea ling, and forff any other additional product candidates we may develop and pursue in the future;

• the number of futff urt e product candidates that we may pursue and their development requirements;

• the costs of commercialization activities forff EndeavorOTC and for our product candidates, including the costs and
timing of establishing product sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities;

• the costs of activities required as we continue to supporu t caregivers and patients interested in our EndeavorRx
pediatric ADHD product;

• revenue received froff m commercial sales of EndeavorOTC, EndeavorRx and, subju ect to receipt of authorization,
revenue, if any, received froff m commercial sales of our product candidates;

• the extent to which we in-license or acquire rights to other products, product candidates or technologies;

• our investment in our human capital required to grow the business and any associated costs we may incur if we
decide to expand our research and development or furff ther build out a commercial infraff structurt e;

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent appla ications, maintaining and protecting our intellectuat l property
rights, including enforcing and defending intellectuat l property-related claims; and

• the costs of operating a public company.

We cannot be certain that additional funff ding will be availabla e on acceptabla e terms, or at all. If we are unabla e to raise additional
capital in suffiff cient amounts or on terms acceptabla e to us, we may have to significantly delay, reduce or terminate our product
development programs or plans for commercialization. Further, if we raise additional capital in the form of capital stock (or
securities exchangeable thereforff e), such issuances could dilute the interests of our stockholders.

We do not currently have any commitments forff future funding. We believe that we will be able to fund our operating expenses
and capital expenditure requirements into the second half of 2025. Our estimates may prove to be wrong, and we could use our
availabla e capital resources sooner than expected. Further, changing circumstances, some of which are beyond our control, could
cause us to consume capital significantly faster than anticipated, and we may need to seek additional funff ds sooner than planned.
If adequate funds are not availabla e on acceptabla e terms, we may not be able to successfulff ly execute our business plan or continuen
our business.

The amount of our futff ure losll ses is uii ncertain and our quarterly all nd annual opeo rating resultsll may fa luff ctuate signi ificff antly or
fall below thett expexx ctattt iott ns of investortt s orr r securities analysts,tt each of which may cause our stoctt k price to fluctuate ott r decldd inll e.

Our quarterly and annual operating results may fluff ctuat te significantly in the futff urt e dued to a variety of factors, many of which are
outside of our control and may be diffiff cult to predict, including the folff lowing:

• the timing and success or faiff lure of clinical trials for our product candidates or competing product candidates, or any
other change in the competitive landscape of our industry,rr including consolidation among our competitors or
partners;

• our ability to successfulff ly recruir t and retain subju ects forff clinical trials, and any delays caused by diffiff culties in such
effoff rts;

• our ability to obtain and maintain marketing authorization forff our products, product candidates and the timing and
scope of any such marketing authorizations we may receive;

• the timing and cost of, aff nd level of investment in, research and development activities relating to our products or
product candidates, which may change from time to time;

• our ability to attract, hire and retain qualifieff d personnel;
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• expenditures that we will or may incur to develop additional product candidates;

• the level of demand for EndeavorRx and forff EndeavorOTC and our other product candidates should such products or
product candidates receive marketing authorizations, which may vary srr ignificantly;

• the risk/be/ nefit profile, cost and reimbursement policies with respect to EndeavorRx and our other products or
product candidates, if granted marketing authorization, and existing and potential futff urt e therapea utics that compete
with our products or product candidates;

• the changing and volatile U.S. and global economic environments including global inflationary pressures; and

• future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies.

The cumulative effects of these factors could result in large fluff ctuat tions and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual operating
results. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningfulff . This variabia lity and
unpredictabia lity could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of industry orr r finff ancial analysts or investors forff any
period. If our operating results or revenue falff l below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any forff ecasts we may
provide to the market, or if the forff ecasts we provide to the market are below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of
our common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur even when we have met any previously
publu icly stated guidance we may provide.

If we fail to regae in compliance with the continuii ed listing requirei ments ott n NasNN daq, our common stock could bll e deldd isll ted froff m
Nasdaq,dd which would adverserr ly affeff ct the liqll uidityii of our common stock and our abilityii to raise additioii nal capitaii l or entertt into
stratt tegie c tratt nsactions.

On October 24, 2023, we received a letter of notificff ation of noncompliance froff m the Listing Qualificff ations Staff off f Nasdaq (the
“Nasdaq Staff”) notifyiff ng us that they had determined that for the 30 consecutive business days froff m September 11, 2023,
through October 23, 2023, the bid price of our common stock had closed below $1.00 per share. Accordingly, the Nasdaq Staff
notifieff d us that we were no longer in compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements, specifically the minimum closing
bid price requirement of $1.00 per share for inclusion on Nasdaq (the “Minimum Bid Price RulRR e”).

We must regain compliance with and satisfy Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements, including, among other things, the
Minimum Bid Price RulRR e, or risk delisting, which would have a material adverse effecff t on our business. In accordance with
Nasdaq Listing RulRR es, we have an initial period of 180 calendar days (the “Initial Cure Period”) after receipt of such deficiency
letter to regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price RulRR e. If at any time before the end of the Initial Cure Period the bid price
for our common stock closes at $1.00 or more per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days, the Nasdaq Staff will
provide written notificff ation to us that we are in compliance with the Minimum Bid Price RulRR e, unless the staff eff xercises its
discretion to extend this 10-day period pursuant to the Nasdaq Listing RulRR es.

If we do not regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price RulRR e by the end of the Initial Cure Period, we may be eligible for an
additional 180 calendar day compliance period under certain conditions, but we can provide no assurance that we will receive an
additional 180 calendar day compliance period.

If we do not regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price RulRR e by the required date and we are not eligible for any additional
compliance period at that time, the Nasdaq Staff wff ill provide us written notificff ation that our common stock may be delisted.
Additionally, Nasdaq RulRR e 5810(c)(3)(A)(iii) provides that if durd ing any such 180 calendar day compliance period forff the
Minimum Bid Price RulRR e, the closing bid price of our common stock is $0.10 per share or less for 10 consecutive trading days,
the Nasdaq Staff shall issue a staff delisting determination. Following receipt of a delisting notificff ation, we may appa eal the
Nasdaq Staff’sff delisting determination to a Nasdaq Listing Qualificff ations Panel. We expect that our common stock would remain
listed pending the panel’s decision. However, there can be no assurance that, even if we appeal the staff’s delisting determination
to the Nasdaq Listing Qualificff ations Panel, such appeal would be successfulff .

We intend to monitor the closing bid price of our common stock and may, if appra opriate, consider availabla e options to regain
compliance with the Minimum Bid Price RulRR e, which could include seeking to effect a reverse stock split. However, there can be
no assurance that we will be able to regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price RulRR e.

There are many factors that may adversely affect our minimum bid price, including those described in the Risk Factors section of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Many of these factff ors are outside of our control. As a result, we may not be able to sustain
compliance with the Minimum Bid Price RulRR e in the long term.

In addition, on December 20, 2023, we received a letter froff m the Nasdaq Listing Qualificff ations Staff nff otifyiff ng us that with a
former director’s resignation froff m the Board and audit committee, effeff ctive as of December 19, 2023, our Board no longer had a
majoa rity of “independent directors” (as definff ed in Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”) RulRR e 5605(a)(2)) as required by Nasdaq RulRR e
5605(b)(1) and the audit committee no longer had three members as required by Nasdaq RulRR e 5605(c)(2). However, following the
appointment of John Spinale to the Board and audit committee, effeff ctive February 1rr 6, 2024, on Februar ry 20, 2024, we received a
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letter froff m the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Staff nff otifyiff ng us that the Company was now in compliance with Nasdaq Rule
5605(b)(1) and Nasdaq Rule 5605(c)(2).

The forff egoing has no immediate effect on our Nasdaq listing and our common stock will continue to be listed and traded on the
Nasdaq Capia tal Market under the symbol “AKLI” subju ect to the listing rulrr es. We are in the process of reviewing and evaluating
potential options to regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price RulRR e, and as part of these effoff rts, in Februar ry 2024 we
disclosed plans to seek stockholder appra oval of a proposal (among other agenda items) at our upcoming annual meeting of
stockholders that, if appa roved, would give our Board the discretionary authority to effeff ct a reverse stock split.

Any potential delisting of our common stock from Nasdaq would likely result in decreased liquidity and increased volatility for
our common stock and would adversely affeff ct our ability to raise additional capital or to enter into strategic transactions. Any
potential delisting of our common stock from Nasdaq would also make it more diffiff cult for our stockholders to sell our common
stock.

If we fail to maintain an effeff ctivtt e syss tem of io ntii ertt nal control over finaii ncial reporting, we may na ot be able tll o att ccurately reporee trr
our finff ancial results ott r prevent fraff ud. Add s a result, investors may la osll e confin dence in tii hett accuracy of our finff ancial reporee ts,s
which would harm our business and the tratt dingii price of oo ur common stock. Okk ur managea ment is required to evaluate ttt hett
effeff ctivtt eness of oo ur internal contrott l over finaii ncial reporting.

As a public reporting company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of
2002 (the “Sarbar nes-Oxley Act”), the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reforff m and Consumer Protection Act and the rules and
regulations establa ished by the SEC and Nasdaq. These rules and regulations require, among other things, that we establish and
periodically evaluate procedurd es with respect to our internal control over finff ancial reporting. Reporting obligations as a public
company are likely to place a considerabla e strain on our financial and management systems, processes and controls, as well as on
our personnel, including senior management. In addition, as a public company, we are required to document and test our internal
control over finff ancial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act so that our management can certify aff s to the
effeff ctiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting.

In supporu t of such certificff ations, we are required to document and make significant changes and enhancements, including
potentially hiring additional personnel, to our internal control over finff ancial reporting. Likewise, our independent registered
public accounting firff m will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting until our
first annual report is required to be fileff d with the SEC following the date we are no longer an emerging growth company.

To achieve compliance with Section 404 within the prescribed period, we need to continue to dedicate internal resources,
including hiring additional finff ancial and accounting personnel and potentially engaging outside consultants. During our
evaluation of our internal control, if we identify off ne or more material weaknesses in our internal control over finff ancial reportinrr g,
we will be unabla e to assert that our internal control over finff ancial reporting is effectff ive.

We rely on assumptions, es stimatt tes, internallyll developell d softwff are and data ftt roff m thitt rdi parties to dtt eldd ivll er timely and accurate
infon rmatiott n in oii rderdd to accurately repoee rt our finff ancial results in the timett fre ame and manner requireii d by lb awll .ww

Certain of our performance indicators and other business metrics are calculated using third-party appla ications or internal company
data that have not been independently verified. While these numbers are based on what we believe to be reasonabla e calculations
for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in measuring such inforff mation. In addition, our
measurement of certain metrics may differff from estimates published by third parties or froff m similarly-titled metrics of our
competitors due to differences in methodology and as a result our results may not be comparable to our competitors.

We could bll e subjeb ct to additioii nal taxtt liabilitieii s and our abilityii to use our net opeo rating losll s carryfoyy rwards and other taxaa
attrtt ibutestt may ba e limitell d.

We have incurred net operating losses (“NOLs”) since our inception and may never achieve or sustain profitabia lity. Generally, forff
U.S. federal income tax purposr es, NOLs incurred will carry forward. However, NOL carryforwards generated prior to January 1,
2018, are subject to expiration forff U.S. federal income tax purposr es. As of December 31, 2023, we had fedff eral NOL
carryforwards of approximately $275.5 million, of which $31.2 million will begin to expire in 2031. As of December 31, 2023,
we had state NOL carryforwards of approximately $163.0 million which will begin to expire in 2031. As of December 31, 2023,
we also had fedff eral research and development tax credits of $6.3 million, which may be availabla e to offseff t futff urt e income tax
liabia lities. The fedff eral research and development tax credit carryforwards would begin to expire in 2039. As of December 31,
2023, we also had state research and development tax credits of $2.9 million, which may be availabla e to offseff t futff uret income tax
liabilities.

In general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change,” generally defined as a
greater than 50% change by value in our equity ownership by certain stockholders over a three-year period, the corporation’s
ability to use its pre-ownership change NOLs, carryforwards and other pre-ownership change tax attributes, such as research tax
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credits, to offset its post-ownership change income or taxes may be limited. Similar provisions of state tax law may also apply to
limit the use of our state NOL carryforwards and other state tax attributes. We have not performed an analysis to determine
whether our past issuances of stock and other changes in our stock ownership may have resulted in one or more ownership
changes. In addition, future changes in our stock ownership, which may be outside of our control, may materially limit our ability
to utilize our NOL carryforwards and other tax attributes. As a result, even if we earn net taxabla e income in the future, we may be
unabla e to use a material portion of our NOL carryforwards and other tax attributes, which could materially and adversely affect
our future cash floff ws. There is also a risk that regulatory crr hanges, such as suspensions on the use of NOL or other unforff eseen
reasons, may result in our existing NOL carryforwards expiring or otherwise becoming unavailabla e to offset future taxabla e
income. For these reasons, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of our NOL carryforwards and other tax attributes,
even if we attain profitaff bia lity. A temporary srr uspension of the use of certain net operating losses and tax credits has been enacted
in Califorff nia, and other states may enact suspensions as well. If we are limited in our ability to use our NOLs in futff urt e years in
which we have taxabla e income, we will pay more taxes than if we were able to fully utilize our NOLs. This could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and finff ancial condition.

Risks Related to the Business Combination

As a forff merr r shell company,n we face certain disaii dvantagea s relatll ivtt e to ctt ompanm ies thatt t pursurr ed a tratt ditioii nal iniii tiaii l public
offeff ringii .gg

SCS was a special purposrr e acquisition company, a forff m of shell company under the rules of the SEC. Shell companies are more
highly regulated than non-shell operating companies and faceff significant additional restrictions on their activities under fedff eral
securities laws. As a result of the Business Combination, we ceased to be a shell company. However, companies that were
formerly shell companies continue to face disadvantages under SEC rules, including (a) the inabia lity to use Form S-3 until at least
one year afteff r the filing of inforff mation equivalent to that required by Form 10 after ceasing to be a shell company, (b) the
inability to qualify aff s a “well-known seasoned issuer” and file automatically effeff ctive registration statements forff three years after
ceasing to be a shell company, (c) the inability to “incorporr ate by referff ence” information in certain registration statements fileff d
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) for a period of three years after ceasing to be a shell
company, (d) the inability to use most freff e writing prospectust es until at least three years after a qualifyiff ng business combination,
(e) the inability to use Form S-8 to register shares issuable in connection with certain compensatory plans and arrangements until
60 days afteff r the filing of inforff mation equivalent to that required by Form 10, (f) the inabia lity of stockholders to rely on Rule 144
for resales of securities until at least one year after the filinff g of inforff mation equivalent to that required by Form 10 and the
provision of current public information, and (g) exclusion froff m certain safe harbors forff offeff ring-related communications under
the Securities Act for three years after ceasing to be a shell company, including for research reports and certain communications
in connection with business combinations. We expect that these disadvantages will make it more challenging and expensive, and
create greater risks and delays, forff both us and our stockholders to offeff r securities. These challenges may make our securities less
attractive than those of companies that are not former shell companies and may raise our relative cost of capital.

Certaitt n mii embers of our Board and their ai ffia liaii ted companm ies have been, and may fa roff m timett to time be, ae ssociatedtt withii
negate ivtt e mediadd coverage or publicll actions or become involved in legale proceedindd gs or governmrr ental invii estigatiott ns unrelatll edtt
to our business.

Current and forff mer members of our Board have been involved in a wide variety of businesses. Such involvement has, and may
lead to, media coverage and public awareness. As a result of such involvement, certain current or forff mer members of our Board
and their affiff liated companies have also been, and may froff m time to time be, involved in legal proceedings or governmental
investigations unrelated to our business, and may be exposed to reputational risks resulting froff m other events such as allegations
of misconduct or other negative publicity or press speculation. For example, in February 2rr 021, Clover Health, which merged with
Social Capia tal Hedosophia Holdings Corp. III, IPOC, received a letter froff m the SEC indicating that it is conducting an
investigation and requesting document and data preservation froff m January 1, 2020 relating to certain matters that were referenced
in an article by Hindenburg Research, and certain shareholders of Clover Health have also brought civil suits against Mr.
Palihapitiya (a forff mer member and chair of our Board) in his capacity as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of IPOC for
alleged breaches of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, corporate waste and violations of federal securities laws, in connection
with IPOC’s business combination with Clover Health. Any such media coverage, public action, legal proceedings or
investigations may be detrimental to our reputation, and may have an adverse effecff t on the price of our securities or on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Changes in lii awll s or regulatll iott ns or how such lawll s or regulatll iott ns are intii ertt prrr etedtt or appliell d, or a faiff luii re to comply withii anyn
laws or regue lations, ms ay adverserr ly affeff ct our business and results of operations.

We are subject to laws and regulations enacted by national, regional and local governments. In particular, we are required to
comply with certain SEC and other legal requirements. We may be subject to additional laws and regulations. Compliance with,
and monitoring of, aff ppla icable laws and regulations may be diffiff cult, time consuming and costly. A failure to comply with
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applicable laws or regulations, as interprrr eted and appla ied, could have a material adverse effecff t on our business and results of
operations. In addition, those laws and regulations and their interpretation and application may change from time to time,
including as a result of changes in economic, political, social and government policies, and those changes could have a material
adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Delaware law contain certain provisions, is ncii ludingii anti-takeover provisions that limit the abilityii of stoctt kholdell rs to take
certain actions and could delay oa r disdd courage takeover attett mpts that stoctt kholdell rs may ca onsider favff orable.ll

The Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) contain provisions that could have the effeff ct of rendering more difficult,
delaying, or preventing an acquisition that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders
might otherwise receive a premium forff their shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to
pay in the future for shares of our common stock, and thereforff e depress the trading price of our common stock. These provisions
could also make it diffiff cult for stockholders to take certain actions, including electing directors who are not nominated by the
current members of our Board or taking other corporate actions, including effeff cting changes in our management. These
provisions could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our Board or management.

The provisiii ons of to hett Bylaws requiring excee lusive forum in tii hett Court of Co haCC ncery or f to hett Stattt e ott f Do elawll are and the fedff erdd al
distii ritt ct courts of the U.SUU . fSS orff certaitt n tii yptt es of lawsuitsii may ha ave thett effeff ct of discii ouragia ngii lawsuitsii againsii t our direi ctortt s arr nd
offiff cers.rr

The Bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forff umr , the Court of Chancery orr f the State
of Delaware (or, in the event that such court does not have, or declines to accept, jurisdiction, another state court located within
the State of Delaware) will be the sole and exclusive forff umrr for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, (ii)
any action asserting a claim forff or based on a breach of a fidff ucd iary duty owed by any current or forff mer director, officer or othet r
employee of us to us or our stockholders including a claim alleging the aiding and abetting of such a breach of fiduciary duty, (iii)
any action asserting a claim against us or any current or former director, officff er or other employee of us arising pursuant to any
provision of the DGCL or our certificff ate of incorporrr ation or bylaws (as may be amended froff m time to time) (including the
interpretation, validity or enforceability thereof), (iv) any action asserting a claim related to or involving us that is governed by
the internal affairs doctrine, or (v) any action asserting an “internal corporate claim” as that term is definff ed in Section 115 of the
DGCL (the “Delaware Forum Provision”). The Delaware Forumrr Provision, however, does not apply to any causes of actions
arising under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or to any claim forff which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. The
Bylaws also provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternate forff umrr , the sole and exclusive forum forff the
resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, and the rulr es and regulations promulgated
thereunder, will be the fedff eral district courts of the U.S. (the “Federal Forum Provision”). Section 22 of the Securities Act creates
concurrent jurisdiction for fedff eral and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liabia lity created by the Securities
Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive fedff eral jurisdiction over all suits
brought to enforce any duty or liabia lity created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. The Delaware Forumrr
Provision and the Federal Forumrr Provision will not relieve our duties to comply with the fedff eral securities laws and the rulr es and
regulations thereunder, and our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with these laws, rules and
regulations.

These provisions may have the effeff ct of discouraging lawsuits against the directors and offiff cers of us. The enforff ceability of
similar choice of forumr provisions in other companies’ certificff ates of incorporation or bylaws has been challenged in legal
proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with any applicable action brought against us, a court could finff d the choice of
forum provisions contained in the Bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforff ceable in such action.

Risks Related to our Common Stock

The markerr t price of our common stock could bll e volatll ilett , ae nd you could lose all oll r part of yo our invii estment.tt

The price of our common stock may fluff ctuat te due to a variety of factors, including, without limitation:

• risks associated with the potential delisting of our common stock on Nasdaq should we not be able to maintain or
regain compliance with the continued listing rulrr es of Nasdaq;

• changes in the industries in which we and our customers operate;

• developments involving our competitors;

• developments involving our collabora ators or other third parties with which we do business;

• changes in laws and regulations affeff cting our business;

• changes in our business strategy;
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• variations in our operating performance and the performance of our competitors in general;

• actuat l or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;

• publication of research reports by securities analysts abouta our or our competitors or our industry;rr

• the public’s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC;

• actions by stockholders, including the sale of shares of our common stock by the third-party investors (“PIPE
Investors”) that purchased our shares of common stock pursuant to subscription agreements entered into on January
26, 2022;

• additions and departures of key personnel;

• commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving us;

• changes in our capital strucr ture, such as futff urt e issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt;

• the volume of shares of our common stock availabla e forff public sale; and

• general economic and political conditions, such as the effeff cts of the COVID-19 pandemic, a potential government
shutdown, recessions, interest rates, local and national elections, fueff l prices, international currency fluff ctuat tions,
corruptu ion, political instability and acts of war, including the ongoing war in Ukraine and war between Israel and
Hamas, or terrorism.

These market and industry frr acff tors may materially reducd e the market price of our common stock regardless of our operating
performance and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Low tratt dingii volume of our common stock on the NasNN daq Capia taii l MarMM kerr t may increase price volatll ilitytt .yy

Our common stock may be subject to price volatility, low trading volume and large spreads in bid and ask prices quoted by
market makers. Due to the low volume of shares traded on any trading day, persons buying or selling in relatively small quantities
may easily influence prices of our common stock. This low trading volume could also cause the price of our stock to fluff ctuat te
greatly, with large percentage changes in price occurring in any trading day session. Holders of our common stock may also not
be able to readily liquidate their investment or may be forff ced to sell at depressed prices due to low trading volume. If large
spreads between the bid and ask prices of our common stock exist at the time of a purchase, the stock would have to appra eciate
subsu tantially on a relative percentage basis forff an investor to recoup their investment. No assurance can be given that a higher
volume active market in our common stock will develop or be sustained. If a higher volume active market does not develop,
holders of our common stock may be unable to readily sell the shares they hold or may not be able to sell their shares at all.

We do not intii entt d to ptt ay dividends odd n our common stock.kk

We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the further development and expansion of our business and do
not intend to pay cash dividends in the forff eseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of
our Board and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions contained in futff urt e
agreements and finff ancing instruments, business prospects and such other facff tors as our Board deems relevant.

If securitieii s or indii ustry ar nalysts dtt o ndd ot publisll h research or publish inaii ccurate or unfavff orable rll esearch about our busineii ss,
our stock price and tradingii volume could dll ecldd inll e.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that analysts publish abouta our business.
We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or
publu ish inaccurate or unfavff orable research abouta our business, the price of our common stock would likely decline. If few
analysts cover us, demand for our common stock could decrease and our common stock price and trading volume may decline.
Similar results may occur if one or more of these analysts stop covering us in the futff urt e or faiff l to publish reports on us regularly.
For example, we are aware of at least one analyst that recently discontinued its coverage of our business.

In recent months, there has been signi ificff ant volatll ilitytt in the markerr t values of go rowth-tt orientedtt companies. Accordindd gly,ll
securitieii s of go rowth ctt ompanm ies such as us may be more volatile than othett r securitieii s and may ia nvii olvell special riskii s.kk

In recent months, there has been significant volatility in the market values of growth-oriented companies like us, likely dued to,
among other factff ors, inflationary pressures, increases in interest rates and other adverse economic and market events. As a result,
shares of our common stock are subject to potential downward pressures.
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Adverdd serr developmll ents affeff ctintt g thett finaii ncial services industrytt , syy uch as thett failure of banks and finff ancial institutt tions, cs ould
have an adverserr effeff ct on our current and projeo ctedtt busineii ss operations and our finaii ncial conditioii n and results of operations.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defauff lts, non-performance or other adverse developments that affeff ct financial
institutions, transactional counterpar rties or other companies in the financial services industry orr r the financial services industry
generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the futff urt e lead
to market-wide liquidity problems. For example, on March 10 and March 12, 2023, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporrr ation
took control and was appoia nted receiver of SVB, Signature Bank, and Silvergate Capia tal Corp.r (“Silvergate Capia tal”),
respectively, afteff r each bank was unabla e to continue their operations. Since then, additional finff ancial institutions have
experienced similar faiff lures and have been placed into receivership. It is possible that other banks will face similar diffiff culty in
the futff urt e. These events exposed vulnerabia lities in the banking sector, including legal uncertainties, significant volatility and
contagion risk, and caused market volatility.

As of the date of this Annual Report, we have not been materially affeff cted by the closing of SVB, Signature Bank, Silvergate
Capia tal, or any other bank in financial diffiff culty, as the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement has been assumed
by First Citizens BancShares, Inc. However, we are unabla e to predict the extent or naturt e of the impacts of any future instability
in the banking sector at this time. If, for example, other banks and finff ancial institutions enter receivership or become insolvent in
the futff urt e in response to finff ancial conditions affeff cting the banking system and finff ancial markets, our ability to access our existing
cash, cash equivalents and investments may be threatened. While it is not possible at this time to predict the extent of the impact
that high market volatility and instabia lity of the banking sector could have on economic activity and our business in particular, the
failure of other banks and finff ancial institutt ions and the measures taken by governments, businesses and other organizations in
response to these events could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

Riskii Managea ment and StrSS ategtt ygg

We have implemented and maintain various information security processes designed to identify,ff assess, and manage material
risks froff m cybersecurity threats to our critical computer networks, third party hosted services, communications systems, hardware
and softwff are, and our critical data, including intellectuat l property, confidff ential inforff mation and data that is proprietary, strategic
or competitive in naturt e (together, “Information Systems and Data”).

Our inforff mation security team (with oversight from our Chief Inforff mation Security Offiff cer (“CISO”) and support froff m our head
of information technology) helps to identify,ff assess, and manage the Company’s cybersecurity threats and risks. Our inforff mation
security team works to identify aff nd assess risks froff m cybersecurity threats by monitoring and evaluating the Company’s threat
environment and risk profileff using various methods including, for example, vulnerabia lity scanning and monitoring and periodic
testing and audits.

Depending on the environment, we have implemented various technical, physical, and organizational measures, processes,
standards, and policies designed to manage and mitigate material risks from cybersecurity threats to our Information Systems and
Data, including, from time to time, vulnerabia lity management, inforff mation classification and data protection, asset management,
software patching processes and procedurd es, access control, encryptrr ion, back-up pu rocedurd es, disaster recovery plans, training,
executive oversight, event logging, endpoint detection, multi-factor authentication, continuous monitoring, audits and engagement
of third parties to conduct analysis of our Information Systems and Data.

Our assessment and management of material risks from cybersecurity threats are integrated into our overall risk management
processes. For example, cybersecurity risk is addressed as a component of the Company’s enterprr ise risk assessment and our
information security team works with management to prioritize our risk management processes and mitigate cybersecurity threats
that we believe are more likely to lead to a material impact to our business. In addition, our senior management evaluates material
risks to the Company, including material risks froff m cybersecurity threats against the Company’s overall business objectives and
reports to the audit committee of our Board, which evaluates our overall enterprise risk and related management of such risk.

In addition, we use third party service providers to perform a variety of functions throughout our business. As a result of such use
of third party service providers, we faceff additional cybersecurity-related risks. We have a vendor management program designed
to help us manage cybersecurity risks associated with our use of third party service providers. We maintain a risk-based approach
to evaluating and overseeing cybersecurity risks presented by our third party service providers. Third party service providers that
meet certain criteria, such as owning and operating any information technology networks and systems on which the Company
relies or where the Company’s anticipated use of such third party service providers may result, for example, in the provider’s
access or processing of certain Company inforff mation or data, are evaluated to assess their performance across several domains,
including data security, operations management, and privacy. We seek to maintain effective communication with our third party
service providers to facilitate timely notificff ation of cybersecurity incidents that might impact the Company.

We do not believe that any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have
materially affeff cted our overall business strategy, results of operations, or finff ancial condition. While we have mitigating and
compensating controls in place to protect against what we believe are some of the most significant types of cybersecurity threats
that our business facff es, such as ransomware attacks, denial of service attacks, theft off f resources and unauthorized use or
disclosure of customer data or confidff ential information, if such an event were significant and successfulff , it would be reasonabla y
likely to materially affeff ct our business strategy, results of operations, or finff ancial condition by, for example, causing subsu tantial
disruptr ions to our product offering, services or supporu t or incurring significant costs to mitigate and remediate the damage causa ed
by such an attack. For information regarding cybersecurity risks that may materially affeff ct our Company, see Part I, Item 1A.
“Risk Factors” of this Annual Report forff more information regarding cybersecurity and other risks we face.ff

Governance

Our Board has overall responsibility for risk oversight and has delegated to the audit committee primary enterprise risk oversight
responsibility for overseeing the Company’s risk assessment and risk management related to cybersecurity. The audit committee
of our Board receives periodic updau tes froff m our Security and Privacy Council and/or Information Security team concerning the
Company’s significant cybersecurity threats and risks and the processes the Company has implemented to address them.

We have establa ished a Security and Privacy Council (the “Council”), which as of the date of this Annual Report includes our
CISO, Chief Legal Officer and other employees from our legal, engineering, information security, and information technology
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departments, which meets at least quarterly to review and evaluate inforff mation security and privacy risks and mitigations,
information security resources and budget, audits, and monitoring programs. The Council includes certain members who have
extensive experience assessing and managing risks from cybersecurity threats, including multiple decades of combined
experience across inforff mation technology and information security positions; serving in leadership positions at other public
companies; and having other significant experience in the areas of risk management, engineering, information technology, and
information security.

Our management team is responsible for hiring appra opriate personnel, helping to integrate cybersecurity risk considerations into
our business processes and our overall risk management strategy, and communicating key priorities to relevant personnel. Our
management team is also responsible for appa roving budgets, helping prepare forff cybersecurity incidents, approving cybersecurity
processes, and reviewing security assessments and other security-related reports.

Our cybersecurity incident response policy and procedurd es are designed to escalate certain cybersecurity incidents to members of
management depending on the circumstances. Members of management and other technical experts will work with the
Company’s incident response team to help the Company mitigate and remediate cybersecurity incidents of which they are
notifieff d.

Item 2. Properties.

We lease appra oximately 43,600 square feetff of offiff ce space in Larkspur, Califorff nia pursuant to a lease that expires in November
2026. In May 2023, the Company entered into a sublu ease agreement, pursuant to which we agreed to sublu ease appra oximately
5,716 rentable square feet of the Larkspur, California offiff ce space to a third party forff a term commencing on June 1, 2023 and
ending coterminous with the Larkspur, Califorff nia lease in November 2026. Our lease in Boston, Massachusetts expired in
December 2023. In November 2023, we entered into a membership agreement which provides access to office space in Boston,
Massachusetts, with such access commencing on January 1, 2024 and expiring on December 31, 2024. We use these facilities forff
finance, legal, human resources, inforff mation technology, engineering, product, sales and marketing, and other administrative
functions. The Company believes its existing facff ilities are adequate for its current requirements.

See Note 7 in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report forff additional
information regarding our specific leaseholds.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may be involved in various legal proceedings and subject to claims that arise in the ordinary course of
business. As of December 31, 2023, we do not believe that the results of any such claims or litigation, individually or in the
aggregate, will have a material adverse effeff ct on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash floff ws.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not appla icable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

Our common stock trades on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol AKLI (formerly DNAA).

Holders

As of Februarr ry 21, 2024, there were appa roximately 38 stockholders of record of our common stock.

The number of record holders is based uponu the actuat l number of holders registered on our books at such date and does not
include holders of shares in street name or persons, partnerships, associations, corporr ations, or other entities identifieff d in security
position listings maintained by depository trusr t companies.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The equity compensation plan inforff mation required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K will be set forff th in the definff itive Proxy
Statement forff the Company's annual meeting of stockholders, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of
our 2023 fiscal year, and is incorporated by referff ence in this Annual Report. Additionally, referff to Note 12 to the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional inforff mation on our equity compensation plans.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities and Affiliated Purchases

None.

Item 6. [Reserved]

Not appla icable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The folff lowing discii ussion and analysll is of the finff ancial condition and results of operations of Akili, Inc. and its consolidatdd ed
subsidiaries should be read together with Akili’s consolidatdd ed financial statements ftt orff the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022, together with the related notes thereto, included elsewhere in this Annual Repore t. This discii ussion contains forward-looking
statements and involves numerous riskii s akk nd uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those desdd cribed under the heading “Risk
Factors”rr and “CautCC ionary Sr taS tement Regare ding Forward-Looking StaS tements”tt included elsewhere in this Annual Repore t. All
refee rences to years, unless otherwiseii noted, rdd eferff to our fiscal years, which end on December 31. Akili Interactive Labs, IncII .,
became a wholly owned subsidiary of Akili, Inc. on August 19, 2022. For purposrr es of this section, all referff ences to “we,” “us,”
“our,”r “Akili” or the “Company” referff to Akili, Inc. and its consolidatdd ed subsidiaries following the Business ComCC bination (as((
define ed below).

Overview

Akili is a leading digital medicine company, pioneering the development of cognitive treatments through game-changing
technologies. Our approach of developing and commercializing technologies designed to directly target the physiology of the
brain has establa ished a new category orr f medicine—medicine that is validated through clinical trials like a drug or medical device,
but experienced like entertainment. In June 2020, EndeavorRx, the first product built on our platform, was granted marketing
authorization and classified as a Class II medical device by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) through FDA’s de
novo process. EndeavorRx is indicated for use to improve attention funcff tion forff children ages 8-17 with primarily inattentive or
combined-type ADHD, who have a demonstrated attention issue. The indication was expanded froff m children ages 8-12 to include
older children ages 13-17 following our receipt of FDA authorization in December 2023 for the expanded EndeavorRx labea l. In
June 2023, we released EndeavorOTC, which is built on the same platforff m as EndeavorRx, nationwide without a prescription to
improve attention funcff tion, ADHD symptoms and quality of life iff n adults 18 years of age and older with primarily inattentive or
combined-type ADHD, under the FDA guidance entitled “Enfon rcement Policy fc orff Digii tal HeaHH lth Devices for TreTT ating
Psychs iatric Disoii rderdd s Drr uring the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Public Health Emerger ncyc ” (the “COVID-19 Guidance”). The
COVID-19 Guidance allows for the marketing of certain digital therapea utics without premarket clearance, de novo classification,
or approval so long as certain criteria are met forff the durd ation of the COVID-19 Guidance, which was expected to remain in effeff ct
until November 7, 2023 consistent with FDA guidance entitled “Transition Plan forff Medical Devices That Fall Within
Enfon rcement Policies IssuII ed During the CorCC onavirus Diseii ase 2019 (COVIDVV -19) Public Health Emerger ncyc ” (the “COVID-19
Transition Guidance”). The COVID-19 Transition Guidance allows for the continued distribution of devices falling under the
COVID-19 Guidance without marketing authorization so long as the manufactff urt er has submitted a marketing submission to FDA,
the submission has been accepted by FDA prior to November 7, 2023 and FDA has not taken a final action on the marketing
submu ission. While EndeavorOTC has not been authorized by FDA forff any indications, we submitted a marketing submission to
FDA forff EndeavorOTC on October 30, 2023. Through guidance froff m FDA regarding the COVID-19 Transition Guidance, it was
clarifieff d that marketing submissions received by FDA on or beforff e November 7, 2023, that pass their technical review afteff r the
deadline without being placed on submu ission hold are eligible for continued enforff cement discretion. Pursuant to FDA’s guidance
on this topic, and given that we have since passed FDA’s technical review and have not been placed on submu ission hold, we are
continuing to commercialize, distribute, and market EndeavorOTC under the COVID-19 Guidance.

Our efforts are primarily focused on managing and executing on our strategic plan to transition froff m a prescription to a non-
prescription model, including obtaining regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing EndeavorOTC in adults with ADHD,
pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products and
continuing to supporu t the distribution and fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition. Further development of our pipeline
outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including capital raising and supportive business development
activities. We are headquartered in Boston, Massachusetts.

Recent Developments

Following the June 2023 release of EndeavorOTC, in September 2023 we announced a new strategic plan to transition our
business froff m a prescription to a non-prescription model. As we continue to commercialize EndeavorOTC in the aduld t ADHD
market under the COVID-19 Guidance, we submu itted a marketing submission to FDA forff EndeavorOTC on October 30, 2023
and are pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorOTC and EndeavorRx products. We
will continue to work interactively with FDA on our EndeavorOTC submission and expect to provide information regarding the
statust of the appla ication by the end of the second quarter of 2024.

In December 2023, we received authorization froff m FDA to expand the label for EndeavorRx from children ages 8-12 with
primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD who have a demonstrated attention issue to include children ages 13-17.

In Februar ry 2024, our Japaa nese partner Shionogi announced its submu ission of a marketing appra oval appla ication forff SDT-001 to
Japaa n’s Ministry orr f Health, Labour, and Welfare, forff commercialization and sale in Japaa n. The submission for marketing
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approval in Japan is based on the results of the Phase 3 clinical trial of SDT-001 conducted by Shionogi in Japaa n in pediatric
ADHD patients.

Potentiatt l Revenue Opporpp tunityii

In connection with our recently announced change in business strategy and related ongoing testing of pricing, marketing and
distribution strategies, we are unabla e to confirff m our prior potential revenue estimates of the opportunity across ADHD as the
assumptions underlying these estimates have changed.

Key Ce omCC mercial MetMM ritt cs for EndE eadd vorOTC

For EndeavorOTC, our non-prescription product forff aduld ts with ADHD, we monitor two key commercial metrics on a quarterly
basis to evaluate our performance, identify tff rends, forff mulate financial projeo ctions, and make strategic decisions, and define the
growth of our non-prescription business model: active subscribers and average revenue per paying user. Accordingly, we believe
that these metrics provide usefulff information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our results of operations.
These metrics are presented for supplemental inforff mation purposrr es only, should not be considered a substitute for finff ancial
information presented in accordance with GAAP, and may be diffeff rent from similarly-titled metrics or measures presented by
other companies.

• Active Subscribers. We define “active subscribers” as the total number of users with a paid subscription forff
EndeavorOTC in a given period. We review active subscribers as an indication of the demand for EndeavorOTC.

• ARPU.We define “average revenue per paying user,” or “ARPU,” as EndeavorOTC revenues divided by Active
Subsu cribers within the period. We believe that ARPU provides helpfulff information regarding the economic
contribution of each EndeavorOTC subscriber in the period.

ENDEAVOROTC METRIC Q4 '23 Q3 '23 Q4 '23 vs. Q3 '23
Active Subscribers 11,571 7,535 54%
ARPU $88 $93 -5%

In addition, there were 139,499 first-time appa downloads of EndeavorOTC in the fourth quarter of 2023 compared to 176,559
first-time app downloads of EndeavorOTC in the third quarter of 2023.

Non-GAAP Finaii ncial MeaMM sures

In addition to finff ancial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, the key commercial metrics for
EndeavorOTC in this Annual Report include the folff lowing non-GAAP financial measure: billings on a historical basis. Billings is
defined as EndeavorOTC GAAP revenues plus the change in EndeavorOTC deferff red revenue in that period. Billings is used by
management to manage the business, make planning decisions, and evaluate the company’s performance. Akili’s management
believes that this non-GAAP financial measure is usefulff to investors to provide usefulff supplu emental inforff mation to help investors
better understand underlying trends in our business. Management does not intend the presentation of this non-GAAP financial
measure to be considered in isolation or as a subsu titute for results prepared in accordance with GAAP, but as a complement to
provide greater transparency. In addition, this non-GAAP financial measure may differ froff m similarly-named measures used by
other companies. A reconciliation of the historical non-GAAP financial measure to the most comparable GAAP financial measure
is included below.

Three Months Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

Three Months
Ended

September 30,

Q4' 23 vs.
Q3 '23

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023

EndeavorOTC GAAP Revenues $ 596 $ - $ 1,155 $ - $ 553 8%
Deferred revenue, end of
period - - - - - -
Deferred revenue, beginning
of period - - - - (20) *
EndeavorOTC Billings $ 596 $ - $ 1,155 $ - $ 533 12%

Reductiott n in Wii orWW kfrr orff ce

On January 12, 2023, we announced a restrucr turing of our operations and a reduction in workforff ce due to the macroeconomic
environment. As a result of the restructurt ing, we incurred a restructurt ing charge of $2.3 million associated primarily with
severance and other termination-related benefitsff related to 48 employees, representing appra oximately 31% of the employee base
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at the time of the restrucrr turing. The costs associated with the restrucr turing were recorded in the quarter ended March 31, 2023.
The restrucr turing reduced costs related to certain of our pipeline programs in order to prioritize certain of our commercial efforff ts
and our ADHD labea l expansion programs.

On September 13, 2023, we announced a furff ther restructurt ing of our operations and a reduction in our workforce. As a result of
the restrucr turing, we incurred a restructurt ing charge of $2.4 million associated primarily with severance and other termination-
related benefitsff related to 47 fulff l-time employees, representing appra oximately 40% of our employee base at the time of the
restructurt ing. All costs associated with the restrucrr turing were recorded within operating expenses in the same funcff tional categoryrr
as the employees' operating expenses in the quarter ended September 30, 2023. The restrucr turing reduced costs primarily related
to our field sales force and market access teams in order to implement our announced plan to transition froff m a prescription to a
non-prescription business model.

Leadership Updatett

Effeff ctive October 5, 2023, Edward Martuct ci II, Ph.D. resigned froff m his role as Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
transitioned into a new role as Chair of the Board following the October 4, 2023 resignation of Chamath Palihapitiya froff m the
Board and from his role as Chair of the Board and Dr. Martucci further agreed to assist the Company in an advisory capacity. In
addition, also effeff ctive October 5, 2023, Matthew Franklin, our President and Chief Operating Officer, was appointed to the role
of President and Chief Executive Officer and as a member of our Board.

Effeff ctive January 12, 2024, Santosh Shanbhag resigned froff m his role as Chief Financial Offiff cer of the Company. Matthew
Franklin, our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer assumed the duties of principal financial officer and
principal accounting officer.

Effeff ctive February 1rr 6, 2024, John Spinale was appointed to the Board and to the audit committee of the Board.

Developmll ent PipPP elinll e and Commercial UpdatUU ett

Our development and commercialization efforts are primarily focused on ADHD. Within ADHD, on the commercial side, in June
2023 we released EndeavorOTC in the Apple App Store in the United States and in September 2023 we released EndeavorOTC
on Android devices in Google Play, in each case under the FDA’s COVID-19 Guidance.

With respect to our ongoing partnership with Shionogi, in February 2rr 024, Shionogi announced its submu ission of a marketing
approval appa lication forff SDT-001 to Japaa n’s Ministry orr f Health, Labour, and Welfare, forff commercialization and sale in Japaa n.
The submission for marketing approval in Japan is based on the results of the Phase 3 clinical trial conducted by Shionogi in
Japaa n in pediatric ADHD patients.

Also, on October 16, 2023, we mutually agreed with TALi Digital Limited to terminate the License, Development and
Commercialization Agreement dated as of August 16, 2021, with such termination effective as of October 16, 2023. As a result,
we do not have plans at present to pursue additional clinical or regulatory err fforts in children under 8 years old with ADHD.

Our current pipeline of clinical development programs includes previously launched investigator-initiated studies.

Our efforts are primarily focused on managing and executing on our strategic plan announced in September 2023 to transition
from a prescription to a non-prescription model, including obtaining regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing EndeavorOTC
in aduld ts with ADHD, pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC
products and continuing to supporu t the distribution and fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition. Further development of
our pipeline outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including capital raising and supportive business
development activities.

Business Combination

Closll ing of Bo usiness ComCC binaii tion

On January 26, 2022, Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with
Social Capia tal Suvretta Holdings Corp. I (“SCS”) and Karibu Merger Sub,u Inc. (“Merger Sub”u ). Pursuant to completion of the
Merger (the “Closing”) on August 19, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), Merger Sub merged with and into Akili Interactive Labs, Inc.,
with Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsu idiary of SCS (the “Merger”). In connection with
the Merger, SCS was renamed Akili, Inc. and listed on Nasdaq under the symbol “AKLI”. Each share of Akili Interactive Labs,
Inc. common stock that was issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Closing Date, after giving effeff ct to the conversion of
all issued and outstanding shares of Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. preferff red stock to Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. common stock, was
canceled and converted into the right to receive a number of shares of Akili common stock equal to the Conversion Ratio
multiplied by the number of shares of Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. common stock. As a condition to the consummation of the
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Merger, SCS deregistered as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands and domesticated as a corpor ration incorporrr ated under
the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Domestication” and, together with the Merger, the “Business Combination”).

Accountintt g ImpII act of to hett Busineii ss Combinaii tion

The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization, whereby forff accounting and financial reporting
purposr es, Akili was the acquirer. A reverse recapitalization does not result in a new basis of accounting, and the financial
statements of the combined entity represent the continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Akili in many respects.
The SCS Class A ordinary shares (“Publu ic Shares”) and private placement shares held by the sponsor and its affiff liates remaining
afteff r redemptions and the unrestricted net cash and cash equivalents on the date the Business Combination was consummated
were accounted for as a capital infusff ion to Akili.

Cash proceeds of the Business Combination were fundeff d through a combination of $2.3 million in cash held in trust by SCS
(following satisfaction of redemptions by public stockholders), and $162.0 million in aggregate gross proceeds froff m the PIPE
Investors in exchange forff 16,200,000 shares of Akili, Inc. common stock that closed subsu tantially contemporaneously with the
Closing.

Factors Affecting Our Perforff mance and Results of Operations

We believe that our performance and futff urt e success depend on many factff ors that present significant opportunities forff us, but also
pose risks and challenges, including those discussed below and in the “Riskii Factorsrr ” section of this Annual Report.

Product Revenue

To date, we have not generated significant product revenue from the sale of EndeavorRx prescriptions and EndeavorOTC
subsu criptions. Revenue from sales of our products is difficult to predict and is not expected to subsu tantially reduce Akili’s
continued operating losses resulting froff m our commercial efforff ts and research and development activities forff the forff eseeable
future.

Product revenue from our existing products, as well as potential futff urt e product candidates, is and will be impacted by many
factors, including the folff lowing three variabla es: product adoption and pricing.

Product Adoption

To continue to grow our business, we will need to execute on our recently announced strategic plan to transition froff m a
prescription to a non-prescription model. We believe this new consumer-led subsu cription model will remove barriers to adoption,
such as reliance on payers or the need for a prescription, and enabla e us to meet customer needs directly to grow the business. This
will be driven by increased investment in direct-to-consumer acquisition and retention activities. If we are not successfulff in
demonstrating the benefits of our products or do not achieve the support of customers, our sales may decline, or we may faiff l to
increase our revenue.

Pricing

In the futff urt e, we aim to continue to expand the pricing options availabla e with offeff rs spanning multiple tiers as well as various
patient populations. In the future, our products may be subject to competition which may impact our pricing and in addition, our
prescription products may be subject to legislative prescription-pricing practices.

As a result of our ongoing transition to a new non-prescription model, we have limited conversations with commercial insurers
and government payers regarding reimbursement coverage for our treatments. However, we continue to supporu t caregivers and
patients interested in our EndeavorRx pediatric ADHD product. Patients may not be able to adopt or may choose not to adopt our
prescription digital therapea utic if they are unabla e to obtain adequate third-party coverage or reimbursement.

Currently, EndeavorOTC is availabla e only through direct purchase or via the Apple App Store or Google Play.

Collaboratiott n Revenue

We currently have a collabora ation and licensing agreement (the “Collabora ation Agreement”) with Shionogi & Co., Ltd
(“Shionogi”) and we are eligible to receive development and commercial milestones as well as royalties on the sales of licensed
products. If our development efforts forff additional programs are successfulff and result in regulatory mrr arketing authorization or
collabora ation or license agreements with third parties, we may generate revenue in the futff urt e froff m collabora ation or license
agreements that we may enter into with third parties. We cannot predict if, when or to what extent we may enter into future
licensing or collabora ation agreements. Further, we may never succeed in obtaining regulatory arr uthorization forff EndeavorOTC or
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additional indications for EndeavorRx or any of our product candidates that are currently under development or forff any other
future products.

Cost of Product Revenue

Cost of product revenue consists primarily of costs that are closely correlated or directly related to the delivery orr f our
EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products, including personnel and related costs, third party contractor expenses, customer support
costs, royalties, amortization of capitalized software related to our commercialized products and softwff are subscriptions related to
our products and hosting feesff . Sales of EndeavorRx incurred pharmacy dispense fees and sales of EndeavorOTC incur Apple
App Store and Google Play feesff , which are also included in cost of product revenue. With the termination of our digital pharmacy
agreement, effeff ctive in late October 2023, pharmacy dispense fees for EndeavorRx have ended as we have transitioned to an in-
house direct distribution system forff the processing and fulff fillment of EndeavorRx. Fees charged by the app stores are between
15% and 30% of the sales price and are dependent on certain revenue thresholds. Accordingly, we expect the overall cost of
product revenue to increase as we furff ther commercialize our EndeavorOTC product and increase the volume of EndeavorOTC
sales.

Research and Developmll ent ExpeEE nses

Following the May 2023 announcement of topline results of the STARS-ADHD-Aduld t clinical trial, in June 2023 we released
EndeavorOTC, which is built on the same SSME technology platform as our EndeavorRx product, nationwide without a
prescription to improve attention funcff tion, ADHD symptoms and quality of life iff n adults 18 years of age and older with primarily
inattentive or combined-type ADHD under the FDA’s COVID-19 Guidance. We submu itted a marketing submission to FDA forff
EndeavorOTC on October 30, 2023.

Following the June 2023 release of EndeavorOTC, in September 2023 we announced a new strategic plan to transition our
business froff m a prescription to a non-prescription model. We are continuing to supporu t existing customers using our one FDA-
authorized product, EndeavorRx, which is indicated for use to improve attention funcff tion forff children ages 8-17 with primarily
inattentive or combined-type ADHD who have a demonstrated attention issue, following our receipt of FDA authorization in
December 2023 for the expanded EndeavorRx labea l to include older children ages 13-17.

Developing products requires a significant investment of resources over a prolonged period of time, and a core part of our
strategy is to continue making sustained investments in this area. We have chosen to leverage our SSME technology, which is the
therapeutic engine that targets and activates systems in the brain that play a key role in attention funcff tion, to focus on advancing
our R&D activities on expanded patient populations within ADHD.

Our efforff ts are primarily focused on managing and executing on our strategic plan announced in September 2023 to transition
from a prescription to a non-prescription model, including obtaining regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing EndeavorOTC
in aduld ts with ADHD, pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC
products and continuing to supporu t the distribution and fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition. Further development of
our pipeline outside of the ADHD space will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including capital raising and supportive
business development activities. As a result, our R&D expenses decreased in the three months ended December 31, 2023, and we
expect R&D expenses to remain consistent during 2024.

R&D expenses consist of costs incurred in performing R&D activities, which include:

• personnel-related expenses, including salaries, bonuses, benefitff s and stock-based compensation forff employees engaged in
R&D funcff tions;

• expenses incurred in connection with the development of our developmental and clinical pipeline;

• cost of clinical trials;

• cost of regulatory srr ubmissions, reviews, and associated external consultants;

• expenses incurred in connection with the discovery and development of our producd ts, including under agreements with
third parties, such as consultants;

• expenses incurred under agreements with consultants who supplu ement our internal capabilities, including software
development; and

• facilities, depreciation and other expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses, such as rent and maintenance of
facilities and other operating costs.
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In addition to our ADHD programs, our R&D activities include previously-launched investigator-initiated studies. Further
development of our pipeline outside of ADHD will be contingent upon a number of factff ors, including capital raising and
supporu tive business development activities.

Development activities forff our product candidates have a number of risks and uncertainties. All therapea utic development
activities have risks and probabia lities of success that can vary by disease indication. Each of our product candidates have
technical, clinical, regulatory arr nd commercial risk. See the section entitled “Ri“ skii Factors—Rrr isks Relating to our Products and
Product CandiCC dates.”

We expense R&D costs as incurred and do not track the costs at a projeo ct level. Advance payments that we make forff goods or
services to be received in the future for use in R&D activities are recorded as prepaid expenses. The prepaid amounts are
expensed as the benefitsff are consumed. In the early phases of development, our R&D costs are often devoted to product platforff m
and proof-off f-concept studies that are not necessarily allocable to a specific product.

Selling, General and Admindd istrativtt e ExpeEE nses

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses consist primarily of compensation forff personnel, including stock-based
compensation, related to commercial, marketing, executive, finance and accounting, legal, information technology, corporate and
business development, human resource functions and impairments of right-of-use assets. Other SG&A expenses include
marketing-related expenses (including advertising, marketing partners and materials, market research and analysis), softwff are
expenses, travel expenses, profesff sional services fees (including legal, patent, accounting, audit, tax and consulting feesff ),
insurance costs, amortization of issuance costs on undrawn debt, general corporr ate expenses and allocated certain payroll and
facilities-related expenses, including payroll taxes, benefitsff , rent and facility maintenance.

We expect our commercialization-related expenses to decrease in 2024 primarily due to the elimination of the Company’s fieff ld
sales forff ce and market access teams. As we pursue a regulatory arr nd commercial strategy forff our EndeavorOTC product, we
intend to focus on improving unit economics as we scale back traditional advertising and focus on lower cost direct-to-consumer
marketing.

Othett r incii ome (ex(( pexx nse)

Other income consists of interest earned on cash balances held in interest-bearing accounts and interest earned and accretion on
short-term investments. We expect that our other income will fluctuate in futff urt e periods based on the timing and ability to raise
additional fundsff as well as the amount of expenditures on our commercial products, R&D and ongoing business operations.

Interest expense includes interest dued on the note payable, accretion of the corporate bond discount and note payable debt
issuance costs.

Change in fair value of earn-out liabia lities includes the change in fair value of the earn-out liabia lities related to Earn-Out
Shareholders from its initial recognition on August 19, 2022, the Closing Date, through December 31, 2022 and forff the year
ended December 31, 2023.

Income taxeaa s

Our income tax provision consists of an estimate for U.S. fedff eral and state income taxes based on enacted rates, as adjud sted for
allowabla e credits, deducd tions, uncertain tax positions, changes in deferff red tax assets and liabia lities and changes in tax law. The
provision for income taxes for 2023 and 2022 is immaterial because Akili has historically incurred net operating losses and
maintains a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets.
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Results of Operations

Years Err ndE eddd December 31, 2023 and 2022

The table and discussion below present the results for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022
$

Change
%

Change
Revenues $ 1,678 $ 323 $ 1,355 420%
Cost of revenues 819 441 378 86%
Gross profit (loss) 859 (118) 977 *
Operating expenses:
Research and development 19,925 28,858 (8,933) -31%
Selling, general and administrative 45,419 61,701 (16,282) -26%
Total operating expenses 65,344 90,559 (25,215) -28%

Operating loss (64,485) (90,677) 26,192 -29%
Other income (expense):
Other income 4,040 1,482 2,558 173%
Interest expense (2,358) (1,484) (874) 59%
Change in estimated faiff r value of earn-out liabia lities 3,363 82,734 (79,371) -96%
Total other income 5,045 82,732 (77,687) -94%

Loss before income taxes (59,440) (7,945) (51,495) 648%
Income tax expense (53) (19) (34) 179%
Net loss $ (59,493) $ (7,964) $ (51,529) 647%
Unrealized gain (loss) on short-term investments $ 21 $ (21) $ 42 -200%
Comprehensive loss $ (59,472) $ (7,985) $ (51,487) 645%

* Percentage change not meaningfulff

Revenue—Revenue was $1.7 million and $0.3 million forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. There was
an increase in revenue from the same period in the prior year primarily due to an increase in product revenue from sales of
EndeavorOTC, which was released in June 2023 on the Apple App Store and in September 2023 on Google Play.

Cost of revenue—Cost of revenue was $0.8 million and $0.4 million forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The increase of $0.4 million in product-related costs of revenue in the year ended December 31, 2023 was dued to the
increased sales volume.

Research and development—Rtt &D expenses were $19.9 million and $28.9 million forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively. Most expenses in the current period were related to the development of and updates to the EndeavorOTC
product and most expenses in the prior period were related to the development of our SSME platforff m, which was the therapea utic
engine that targets and activates systems in the brain that play a key role in attention funcff tion and is the underlying technology
used in both our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products. The decrease of $9.0 million was primarily due to the folff lowing:

• a decrease of $3.8 million of clinical studit es and expenses due to the timing of our clinical trials, the restructurit ng of our
business to preserve capital and focus primarily on commercializing EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC in ADHD and
seeking a labea l expansion for EndeavorRx in adolescent ADHD patients, which resulted in the reprioritization of our
pipeline of preclinical and clinical development programs. As a result, clinical studit es and expenses decreased from $5.2
million in the year ended December 31, 2022 to $1.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2023;

• a decrease of $3.7 million of personnel-related expenses primarily due to the lower headcount from the restructurt ings,
partially offsff et by severance payments, which decreased the expense froff m $19.7 million in the year ended December 31,
2022 to $16.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2023. The estimated faiff r value of earn-out liabia lities related to
Earn-Out Service Providers accounted for $(0.2) million of the expense in the year ended December 31, 2023;

• a decrease of $1.1 million related to various other expenses such as a decrease in external consulting feesff , rent and travel,
which decreased the expense from $2.7 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022 to $1.6 million forff the year ended
December 31, 2023; and
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• a decrease of $0.4 million of computer equipment and software expenses due to a decrease in softwff are subscriptions,
which decreased the expense froff m $1.3 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022 to $0.9 million forff the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Selling, general and administrative—SG&A expenses were $45.4 million and $61.7 million forff the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively. The decrease of $16.3 million was primarily due to the folff lowing:

• a decrease of $8.3 million in consulting, legal, accounting and other professional services costs;

• a decrease of $5.9 million in marketing and advertising costs;

• a decrease of $1.4 million related to various other expenses. As part of the Business Combination in 2022, there was a
one-time allocation of transaction costs to Earn-out Shares of $3.0 million based on the relative faiff r value of these
instruments as compared to the other newly issued instruments. This was the primary cause of the decrease as there was
no related expense in 2023. This was partially offsff et by increased business insurance costs dued to being a public company
for the full year in 2023; and

• a decrease of $0.7 million in personnel-related costs, primarily due to a lower headcount and stock compensation, partially
offsff et by severance pay. The change in estimated faiff r value of earn-out liabia lities related to Earn-Out Service Providers
accounted for $(0.3) million of the expense in the year ended December 31, 2023.

Other income—Other income was $4.0 million and $1.5 million in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
The increase was due to an increase in short-term investments held on average throughout 2023 and higher interest rates.

Interest expense—Interest expense was $2.4 million and $1.5 million in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The $0.9 million increase was primarily related to an increase in the average outstanding principal of the note
payabla e durd ing 2023 and rising variabla e interest rates during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Change in estimated fair value of eo arn-out liabilities—The Company accounts forff the potential issuance of the Earn-Out Shares
to Earn-Out Shareholders as a contingent consideration arrangement. The Company estimated the fair value at inception and
revalued the earn-out liabia lities as of each quarter end. The change in the faiff r value of the earn-out liabia lities related to Earn-Out
Shareholders is recorded in other income (expense) on the statement of operations each quarter.

Income taxeaa s—We did not incur material income tax expenses for the years ended December 31, 2023 or 2022. Given our lack of
prior earnings history,rr we have a fulff l valuation allowance primarily related to our net operating losses and R&D credit
carryforwards that we do not consider more likely than not to be realized.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, our primary sources of capital have been proceeds froff m sales of convertible preferff red stock, payments
received in connection with the Collabora ation Agreement, proceeds froff m borrowings under various credit facilities and proceeds
from the Business Combination.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we incurred net operating losses of $64.5 million and $90.7 million,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $299.8 million. As of December 31, 2023, we had outstanding debt
of $13.0 million, net of debt issuance costs and debt discount. As of December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of
$75.2 million.

Our cash floff ws may fluff ctuat te and are difficff ult to forff ecast and will depend on many factors. The revenue from the sale of our
EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products at the present time is not sufficff ient to cover operating costs incurred. Our abia lity to
achieve sufficient revenue to cover our costs is highly dependent on achieving and maintaining broad market acceptance by
customers of our non-prescription model. We expect to continue to generate operating losses and negative operating cash floff ws
for the foreseeable future.

In May 2021, we entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with SVB and SVB Innovation Credit
Fund VIII, L.P., (such agreement, the “SVB Term Loan”). On March 10, 2023, SVB was closed by the Califorff nia Department of
Financial Protection and Innovation, and the FDIC was appoia nted as receiver. On March 13, 2023, pursuant to a joint statement
released by the U.S. Department of Treasury,rr the U.S. Federal Reserve, and the FDIC, the U.S. government provided assurance
that all depositors would be fulff ly protected. Thereafteff r, the FDIC transferred all deposits of SVB to a newly created bridge bank,
SVBB, which announced that it would fulff ly honor existing credit facff ilities. On March 27, 2023, First Citizens BancShares, Inc.
entered into an agreement with the FDIC to purchase all assets and liabia lities of SVB and confirff med it would fulff ly honor existing
credit facilities. As of December 31, 2023, there was $10.6 million outstanding under the SVB Term Loan faciff lity and there is no
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remaining availabla e undrawn debt. Additionally, the corporate bond issued with Shionogi in March 2019 continues to have $5.0
million outstanding as of December 31, 2023.

Our primary uses of capital are, and we expect will continue to be for the near future, personnel costs, costs of product
development, costs related to commercialization of our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products, legal, patent and other
regulatory err xpenses and general overhead costs. We may also pursue acquisitions, investments, joint ventures and other strategic
transactions.

We will need subsu tantial additional fundff ing to pursue our business strategy and to supporu t continuing operations. Until such time
as we can generate significant revenue to fund operations, we expect to use proceeds froff m the Business Combination and
issuance of equity, debt finff ancings or other capital transactions. We may be unabla e to increase our revenue, raise additional fundsff
or enter into such other agreements or arrangements when needed on favorable terms, or at all. If we fail to raise capital or enter
into such agreements as and when needed, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development and
commercialization of one or more of our products, product candidates and other strategic initiatives. See - “Funding
Requirements”.

Cash and cash equivalenll ts

Our cash and cash equivalents balance as of December 31, 2023 was $75.2 million. Our futff urt e capital requirements may vary
from those currently planned and will depend on various factors, including the timing and extent of R&D spending,
commercialization of EndeavorOTC products, and spending on other strategic business initiatives.

Short-ttt ertt m irr nvii estmentstt

We held short-term investments durd ing 2023 which consisted of United States Treasuries with original maturity dates of more
than three months but less than one year. We did not hold any short-term investments as of December 31, 2023.

Liqui iditydd Riskii skk

We expect to incur substantial additional expenditures in the near term to supporu t our ongoing activities, including obtaining
regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing EndeavorOTC in adults with ADHD, pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-
the-counter labea ling of both our EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products, continuing to supporu t the distribution and fulfilff lment of
EndeavorRx and continuing to operate as a public company. We expect to continue to incur net losses forff the forff eseeable future.
Our abia lity to fund our product development and clinical operations as well as commercialization of EndeavorOTC will depend
on the amount and timing of cash available to fund operations. Our future liquidity and capital fundiff ng requirements will depend
on numerous factors, including:

• our revenue growth;

• our ability to successfulff ly manage and execute on our strategy to advance EndeavorOTC forff aduld ts;

• our ability to obtain and maintain user adoption and retention of our products;

• the amount and timing of sales and other revenues froff m our products and any other futff urt e product candidates, if approved,
including the sales price;

• the effectiveness of our marketing efforts;

• our R&D efforff ts;

• the emergence and effectff of competing or complementary products;

• the outcome, timing and cost of obtaining and maintaining regulatory arr uthorizations for any of our products or product
candidates and of meeting regulatory rrr equirements established by the FDA, or comparable foreign regulatory arr uthorities;

• the progress, timing, scope and costs of our preclinical studit es, clinical trials, potential futff urt e clinical trials and other
related activities;

• the costs of commercialization activities forff any of our products or product candidates that receive marketing
authorization, including the costs and timing of establishing product sales, marketing and hosting capabilities, or entering
into strategic collabora ations with third parties to leverage or access these capabilities;

• the cash requirements of any future discovery orr f product candidates;
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• our ability to retain our current employees and any future need to hire additional management and marketing, technical
and medical personnel; and

• the extent to which we acquire or invest in business, products or technology.

A change in the outcome of any of these or other variabla es with respect to the development of any of our products or any other
future product candidates could significantly change the costs and timing associated with the sale of our products or the
development of any other futff urt e product candidates. Further, our operating plans may change in the futff urt e, and we may need
additional fundsff to meet operational needs and capital requirements associated with such operating plans. See “Risk FacFF tors—
Riskii s Rkk elated to our Financial Reporting and Position.”

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development and commercialization of our products or any
other futff urt e product candidates, we are unabla e to estimate the amounts of increased capital outlays and operating expenditures
associated with our current and anticipated product development and commercialization programs.

Cash Flows

The folff lowing tabla e provides a summary of cash floff w data forff each applicable period:

Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022
(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities $ (57,867) $ (83,521)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 83,413 (81,216)
Net cash provided by (used in) finff ancing activities (4,493) 141,935
Net increase (decrease) in cash $ 21,053 $ (22,802)

Net CasCC h UseUU d in Oii peOO rating Activtt ities

Years Err ndeEE d December 31, 2023 and 2022

Net cash used in operating activities was $57.9 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023. Net cash used in operating
activities consists of net loss of $59.5 million, adjud sted for non-cash items and the effeff ct of changes in working capital. Non-cash
adjud stments primarily include decreases related to amortization of premium on short-term investments of $1.5 million and the
change in estimated faiff r value of earn-out liabia lities of $3.4 million, offsff et by increases related to stock-based compensation
expense of $6.8 million, non-cash interest expense of $0.7 million, and impairment loss on sublease of $0.4 million. There was an
additional decrease to net loss of $2.4 million related to the change in operating assets and liabia lities primarily due to a reducd ed
bonus and commission accruar l related to the reducd tions in workforce and decrease in accounts payable due to lower external
spend, partially offsff et by a decrease in prepaid insurance and clinical trials.

Net cash used in operating activities was $83.5 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022. Net cash used in operating
activities consists of net loss of $8.0 million, adjud sted for non-cash items and the effeff ct of changes in working capital. Non-cash
adjud stments primarily include depreciation expense of $0.3 million, stock-based compensation expense of $9.3 million, change in
estimated faiff r value of earn-out liabia lities of $82.7 million, and amortization of premium on short-term investments of $0.9
million. There was an additional $2.6 million change in operating assets and liabia lities primarily due to an increased prepaid
insurance amount in the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net CasCC h ProPP vided by (b Us(( ed in) In nvII esting Activtt itiett s

Years Err ndeEE d December 31, 2023 and 2022

Net cash provided by investing activities was $83.4 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023. The cash was related to
$140.0 million of proceeds froff m maturt ities of short-term investments, partially offsff et by $56.4 million of cash used to purchase
short-term investments.

Net cash used in investing activities was $81.2 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022. The cash was primarily used to
purchase short-term investments, partially offset by the proceeds froff m maturt ities of short-term investments.
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Net CasCC h ProPP vided by (b Us(( ed in) Fn inFF ancingii Activities

Years Err ndeEE d December 31, 2023 and 2022

Net cash used in finff ancing activities was $4.5 million forff the year ended December 31, 2023 and consisted of $4.4 million of
repayment of principal on the note payable and $0.1 million of taxes paid related to net share settlements of share-based awards.

Net cash provided by finff ancing activities was $141.9 million forff the year ended December 31, 2022 and consisted primarily of
$131.8 million of proceeds froff m the Business Combination, net of transaction costs and $10.0 million of proceeds froff m the
issuance of a note payable.

Fundindd g Requireii mentstt

Based on our current operating plan, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficff ient to fund our
operations and capital expenses into the second half of 2025. However, we have based this estimate on assumptions that may
prove to be wrong, and we could exhaust our capital resources sooner than we expect.

Please see the section in this Annual Report, titled “Riskii Factors—rr Ri— skii s Rkk elated to our Financial Reporting and Position—We
will need substantial additional funding, and if we are unable to raiseii capia tal when neededdd or on terms favff orable to us, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adverserr ly affeff cted” fdd orff additional risks associated
with our subsu tantial capital requirements.

Corporate Bond

In March 2019, in connection with Shionogi exercising its option to enter into the Collabora ation Agreement, the Company issued
a $5.0 million corporate bond to Shionogi for cash. The corporr ate bond is unsecured and is suboru dinated to the obligations of the
Company under indebtedness for borrowed money owed by the Company to any bank or other finff ancial institution. The maturt ity
date of the corpor rate bond is November 10, 2031 and does not bear interest during its term. The corporate bond is prepayable by
the Company at any time without penalty. The repayment of the corporate bond can be accelerated upon the termination of the
Collabora ation Agreement or uponu the occurrence of certain events of default (as set forff th in the corporr ate bond), in both cases
without penalty.

Debt Financing and Covenants

At December 31, 2023, the Company had outstanding principal of $10.6 million under the SVB Term Loan faciff lity and there was
no remaining availabla e undrawn debt. The SVB Term Loan bears interest through maturity at a per annum rate of the greater of
(a) the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate plus 3.75% and (b) 7.0%. As of December 31, 2023, the interest rate was 12.3%. We were
required to make interest-only payments through May 2023, and starting in June 2023 we began to repay the outstanding
principal in 24 equal monthly payments.

The SVB Term Loan is secured by substantially all of our personal property assets, including accounts receivabla e, equipment,
license agreement, general intangibles, inventory arr nd investment property, and all of the proceeds and products of the forff egoing.
The Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with SVB required an exclusive relationship forff our operating cash
account, however in light of the events and statust of SVB, in April 2023 we entered into a Letter Agreement to amend the
Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with SVB (now a division of First-Citizens Bank & Trusrr t Company) to
allow the Company to establish accounts and move a portion of our cash resources to other finff ancial institutions. The SVB Term
Loan contains various affiff rmative and negative covenants that limit our ability to engage in specified types of transactions. We
were in compliance with the covenants under the SVB Term Loan as of December 31, 2023.

See Note 10, Note Payaa ble, of the notes to Akili’s consolidated financial statements forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022, included elsewhere in this Annual Report, for furff ther information. In the futff urt e, we may seek to obtain other additional
sources of financing, including incurring term debt or issuing equity or issuing debt securities.

Contractual Obligations

Akili entered into a membership agreement which provides access to office space in Boston, Massachusetts, which will expire in
December 2024. Akili also leases offiff ce space in Larkspur, Califorff nia, under a non-cancelable operating lease that expires in
November 2026. We enter into agreements in the normal course of business with various vendors, which are generally cancelable
upon notice. Payments due upon cancellation consist only of payments forff services provided or expenses incurred, including non-
cancellabla e obligations of service providers, up tu o the date of cancellation.
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See Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, of the notes to Akili’s consolidated financial statements forff the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, included elsewhere in this Annual Report, for furff ther information.

During the periods presented, Akili did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships,
such as structurt ed finance or special purposr e entities, establa ished forff the purposr e of faciff litating off-bff alance sheet arrangements.

Emerging Growth Company Status (JOBS Act)

We are an “emerging growth company,” or EGC as definff ed in the Jumpstart Our Business Startupst (“JOBS”) Act. Pursuant to the
JOBS Act, an EGC is provided the option to adopt new or revised accounting standards that may be issued by Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) or the SEC either (i) within the same periods as those otherwise applicable to non-
emerging growth companies or (ii) within the same time periods as private companies. Akili has elected to take advantage of the
exemption forff complying with new or revised accounting standards within the same time periods as private companies.
Accordingly, the inforff mation contained in our SEC filinff gs may be diffeff rent than the inforff mation you receive from other public
companies.

Akili also has elected to take advantage of some of the reduced regulatory arr nd reporting requirements appla icable to EGCs
pursuant to the JOBS Act so long as it qualifieff s as an EGC, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the
auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act, reducd ed disclosure obligations regarding executive
compensation and exemptions from the requirements of holding non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation and
golden parachute payments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2, Summary of Signii fici ant Accounting Policies, of the notes to Akili’s consolidated financial statements forff the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 included elsewhere in this Annual Report, for more inforff mation abouta recent accounting
pronouncements, the timing of their adoption, and our assessment, to the extent we have made one, of the potential impact on our
financial condition and results of operations.

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies and Significff ant Judgements and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conforff mity with United States generally accepted accounting
principles (“U.S. GAAP”) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the reported amounts of assets and liabia lities
in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base these estimates on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that we believe are reasonabla e under the circumstances, the results of which forff m the basis forff making
judgments about the carrying amounts of assets and liabia lities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actuat l results may
differ materially from these estimates. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates
and judgments that affeff ct the reported amounts of assets, liabia lities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabia lities. We monitor our estimates on an ongoing basis forff changes in factff s and circumstances, and
material changes in these estimates could occur in the future. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which they
become known. We base our estimates on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe to be reasonabla e under the
circumstances. Actuat l results may diffeff r froff m our estimates if past experience or other assumptions do not turn out to be
subsu tantially accurate.

We have identifieff d the policies below as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results of operations. The
impact and any associated risks related to these policies on our business operations are discussed throughout this section
capta ioned “Ak“ ili’s M’ anageMM ment’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial CondiCC tion and Results of Operations” where such policies
affeff ct our reported and expected financial results. For a detailed discussion on the appla ication of these and other accounting
policies, see Note 2 to Akili’s consolidated financial statements forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, included
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Earn-Out Liabilities

We concluded that the issuance of Rights to Earn-Out Shareholders constitutes a deemed dividend and evaluated the Rights forff
classification under guidance appa licable to financial instrumrr ents. In assessing classification, we considered ASC Subtopic 815-40
“Contracts itt n EntEE ity’s Own Equity” and determined the Rights contain settlement provisions that preclude them from being
indexed to our stock and accordingly liabia lity classification is required. We concluded issuance of the Rights to Earn-Out Service
Providers represents compensation in scope of ASC Topic 718, “Compensation - Stock ComCC pem nsation.” In considering relevant
classification guidance, we determined the Rights issued to Earn-Out Service Providers are liabia lities because they are indexed to
whether such Earn-Out Service Providers hold qualifyiff ng equity instruments when the earn-out targets are achieved. The faiff r
value of the contingent earn-out consideration is estimated as of the acquisition date at the present value of the expected
contingent payments using a Monte Carlo Simulation Method (“MCSM”), which uses the folff lowing assumptions: price targets,
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current stock price, risk-free interest rate, expected term, expected volatility, and expected dividend yield. The faiff r value
estimates use unobservabla e inputs that refleff ct our own assumptions as to our ability to meet the earn-out targets and discount rates
used in the calculations. The unobservabla e inputs are defined in ASC Topic 820, “Fa“ ir Value MeaMM surements att nd Discii losures,” as
Level 3 inputs. We review the probabia lities of achievement of the earn-out targets to determine the impact on the faiff r value of the
earn-out consideration on a quarterly basis over the earn-out period. Changes in the estimated faiff r value of the contingent earn-
out consideration related to Earn-Out Shareholders are recorded in other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Loss and are refleff cted in the period in which they are identifieff d. Changes in the estimated faiff r
value of contingent earn-out consideration related to Earn-Out Service Providers is recorded as stock compensation forff the period.
Changes in the estimated faiff r value of the contingent earn-out consideration may materially impact or cause volatility in our
operating results.

Revenue Recogno ition

We account for revenue recognition in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue froff m Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”).
Under ASC 606, an entity recognizes revenue when its customer obtains control of promised goods or services in an amount that
reflects the consideration which the entity expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue
recognition forff arrangements that an entity determines are within the scope of ASC 606, the entity performs the following five
steps: (i) identify tff he contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify tff he performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the
transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue
when (or as) the entity satisfieff s a performance obligation.

We only appla y the five-step analysis to contracts when it is probabla e that we will collect the consideration to which we are
entitled in exchange for the goods or services we transferff to the customer. At contract inception, once the contract is determined
to be within the scope of ASC 606, we assess the goods or services promised within each contract, determine those that are
performance obligations, and assess whether each promised good or service is distinct. We then recognize as revenue the amount
of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is
satisfied.

We generate EndeavorRx product revenue from contracts with caregivers and patients who purchase subscriptions to access our
FDA-authorized, prescription-only video game-based digital therapea utic (“Clients”). Clients are billed in advance forff the entire
subsu cription term. Along with the subscription to the video game-based treatment, the Clients also receive reporting metrics and
technical supporu t services. The reporting metrics rely on gameplay data being sent back from EndeavorRx, which we analyze in
order to provide information on daily efforts and level completion to our Clients throughout the subscription term via the
EndeavorRx Insight app. The subscription to the video game-based treatment, reporting metrics and technical supporu t services are
combined as a single stand-ready performance obligation because while the components are separate performance obligations,
they have the same method and pattern of recognition. Accordingly, the consideration is recognized ratabla y on an over time basis
over the subsu cription period which begins once the access code is inputted into the game by the Client and game play has started.

We generate EndeavorOTC product revenue from contracts with customers who purchase subscriptions to access our over-the-
counter video game-based digital therapea utic. Customers are billed in advance forff the entire subscription term. Along with the
subsu cription to the video game-based treatment, the customers also receive technical supporu t services and access to softwff are
updates. The technical supporu t services and access to softwff are updau tes were determined to be immaterial in the context of the
contract primarily due to the factff that the underlying SSME technology is not being updau ted throughout the subscription term, and
thereforff e the primary functionality of the product is not changed durd ing the term of the arrangement. As EndeavorOTC has
significant stand-alone functionality that can be used immediately uponu delivery,rr the performance obligation is considered
complete upon delivery arr nd all of the consideration is recognized at that point in time.

Under the Collabora ation Agreement, we historically recognized revenue over time on an inputs-based method that uses a cost to
cost measure of progress. There was no revenue recognized under the Collabora ation Agreement forff the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022.

Stoctt k-Ba- sed ComCC pem nsatiott n

We have offeff red stock options, RSUs and PSUs to employees and non-employees. We measure and recognize compensation
expense forff all share-based awards based on estimated faiff r values on the date of grant. The compensation expense is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period forff time-based awards with only service conditions. Share-based awards
with performance conditions are expensed under the accelerated attribution method based on each vesting tranche. We recognize
forfeitures as incurred and, therefore, reverse previously recognized share-based compensation expense at the time of forfeiture.
We use the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model (the “Black-Scholes Model”) to estimate the faiff r value of stock options. RSUs
are measured based on the fair values of our underlying common stock on the dates of grant. We estimate the grant-date faiff r
values of PSUs utilizing a MCSM.
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We classify stock-based compensation expense in our consolidated statement of operations in the same manner in which the
award recipient’s payroll costs are classified or in which the award recipients’ service payments are classified.

Legace y Ac kiliii Common StoSS ck Valuatiott ns

The faiff r value of Legacy Akili’s common stock underlying stock awards was determined by the board of directors (the “Board”).
Given the absence of a public trading market, the Board considered numerous objective and subju ective factff ors to determine the
fair value of Legacy Akili’s common stock at each board of directors meeting in which stock awards were appra oved. These
factors included, but were not limited to:

• the prices at which we sold our preferff red stock to outside investors in arm’s-length transactions;

• our results of operations, finff ancial position, and capital resources;

• contemporaneous third-party valuations common stock;

• rights, preferff ences, and privileges of convertible preferff red stock relative to common stock;

• the lack of marketability of common stock;

• stage and development of Legacy Akili’s business;

• the history and naturt e of our business, industry trr rends and competitive environment;

• general economic conditions; and

• the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offeff ring or sale of Legacy Akili, given prevailing
market conditions.

We determined the faiff r value per share of the underlying Legacy Akili common stock by taking into consideration results
obtained froff m third-party valuations and additional factff ors that were deemed relevant. These third-party valuations were
performed in accordance with the guidance outlined in the American Institute of Certifieff d Public Accountants’ Accounting and
Valuation Guide, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation (“Practice Aid”). The Practice
Aid identifieff s various availabla e methods for allocating the enterprise value across classes of capital stock in determining the fair
value of Legacy Akili common stock at each valuation date. Based on our stage of development and other relevant factff ors,
historically, we have considered both the Probabia lity Weighted Expected Return Method (“PWERM”) and the option pricing
method (“OPM”) as appra opriate methods for estimating our enterprise value to determine the fair value of Legacy Akili common
stock. The PWERM is a scenario-based methodology that estimates the fair value of common stock based uponu an analysis of
future values for the company, assuming various outcomes. The common stock value is based on the probabia lity-weighted present
value of expected future investment returns considering each of the possible outcomes availabla e as well as the rights of each class
of stock. The futff urt e value of the common stock under each outcome is discounted back to the valuation date at an appa ropriate
risk-adjusted discount rate and probabia lity weighted to arrive at an indication of value for the common stock. The OPM treats thet
share classes of an enterprr ise as a series of call options with a claim on the equity value of the company. Exercise prices are
determined based on the equity value breakpoik nts in which the various share classes either receive a liquidation preference or
convert, in the case of preferred stock, or exercise, in the case of options and warrants. An option pricing model, such as the
Black-Scholes Model, is then utilized to value the call options for the purposrr e of allocating value to the various share classes of
an enterprise. The OPM is a forward-looking analysis in that it considers the liquidation rights and preferff ences of the share
classes as of a future liquidity date.

The assumptions underlying these valuations represented management’s best estimates, which involved inherent uncertainties and
the appla ication of management’s judgment. As a result, if we had used significantly different assumptions or estimates, the faiff r
value of our preferff red and common stock and our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different. The fair value
of the underlying common stock was determined by the Board until the Company became listed on an established stock
exchange.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by RulRR e 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the
information required under this item.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Our consolidated financial statements, together with the reports of our independent registered public accounting firff ms, appea ar
beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report forff the year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Discii losure Contrott ls and ProPP cedures

Disclosure controls and procedurd es are controls and other procedurd es that are designed to ensure that inforff mation required to be
disclosed in our reports fileff d or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specifieff d in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rulrr es and forff ms. Disclosure controls and procedurd es include,
without limitation, controls and procedurd es designed to ensure that inforff mation required to be disclosed in our reports fileff d or
submu itted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officff er,
who is our principal executive officer, principal financial officff er and principal accounting officer, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Evaluation of Do isclosll ure ConCC trols all nd Procedures

As required by RulRR es 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, our Chief Executive Officer who is our principal executive
offiff cer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officff er, carried out an evaluation of the effeff ctiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedurd es as of December 31, 2023. Based uponu his evaluation, our Chief Executive
Offiff cer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedurd es (as definff ed in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange
Act) were effeff ctive at the reasonabla e assurance level.

Managea ment’s Repoee rt on Internal Contrott l Over Finaii ncial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting, as such
term is defined in RulRR e 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effeff ctiveness to futff urt e periods are
subju ect to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies and procedurd es included in such controls may deteriorate. Our management conducted an assessment of the
effeff ctiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting based on the criteria set forth in “Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this
assessment, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our internal control over finff ancial reporting was effeff ctive.

Attett stattt iott n Report of to hett Regie stii ertt ed Publicll Accountintt g FirFF mrr

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firff m dued to an exemption provided
by the JOBS Act for “emerging growth companies.”

Changes in Iii ntII ertt nal ConCC trol over Finaii ncial Reporting

There were no changes to our internal control over finff ancial reporting (as such term is defined in RulRR es 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of
the Exchange Act) that occurred durd ing the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that has materially affeff cted, or is reasonabla y likely
to materially affeff ct, our internal control over finff ancial reporting.

Inherent Limitaii tions on Effeff ctivtt eness of Co onCC trolsll

Our management, including our principal executive officff er and principal financial officff er, do not expect that our disclosure
controls or our internal control over finff ancial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonabla e, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of a control system must refleff ct the factff that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be
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considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake.
Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by
management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part uponu certain assumptions about
the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential futff urt e conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with policies or procedurd es may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effeff ctive control system,
misstatements due to error or fraff ud may occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not appla icable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Offiff cers and Corporate Governance.

The inforff mation required under this item is incorporr ated herein by reference to the Company’s definff itive proxy statement
pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not
later than 120 days afteff r the close of the Company’s fisff cal year ended December 31, 2023.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to all offiff cers, directors and employees in connection with their work forff us. The
full text of our Code of Ethics is posted on the investor relations page of our website at
https://investors.akiliinteractive.com/governance/governance-documents/defauff lt.aspx.

We intend to satisfy any disclosure requirements under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a
provision of this Code of Ethics by posting such inforff mation on our website, at the Internet address and location specified above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The inforff mation required under this item is incorporr ated herein by reference to the Company’s definff itive proxy statement
pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not
later than 120 days afteff r the close of the Company’s fisff cal year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficff ial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The inforff mation required under this item is incorporr ated herein by reference to the Company’s definff itive proxy statement
pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not
later than 120 days afteff r the close of the Company’s fisff cal year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The inforff mation required under this item is incorporr ated herein by reference to the Company’s definff itive proxy statement
pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not
later than 120 days afteff r the close of the Company’s fisff cal year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The inforff mation required under this item is incorporr ated herein by reference to the Company’s definff itive proxy statement
pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not
later than 120 days afteff r the close of the Company’s fisff cal year ended December 31, 2023.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules.

(1) For a list of the financial statements included herein, see Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1
of this Annual Report, incorporated into this Item by reference.

(2) Financial statement scheduld es have been omitted because they are either not required or not applicable or the
information is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits:

Exhibit
Number Description

2.1+ Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of January 26, 2022, by and among the Registrant, Karibu Merger Sub,u
Inc., and Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-4 fileff d on February 1rr 4, 2022).

3.1 Certificff ate of Incorporrr ation of Akili, Inc. (incorporr ated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on August 23, 2022).

3.2 By-Laws of Akili, Inc. (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on August 23, 2022).

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificff ate of Akili, Inc. (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Akili, Inc.’s
Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 fileff d on June 10, 2022).

4.2 Description of Registrant’s Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Akili, Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K fileff d on March 9, 2023).

10.1 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2022, by and among Akili, Inc.,
SCS Sponsor I LLC, certain stockholders of Akili Interactive Labs, Inc., as set forth on Scheduld e 1 thereto and the
other parties thereto (incorporr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on August 23, 2022).

10.2 Form of Indemnificff ation Agreement forff Executive Officer (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 23, 2022).

10.3 Form of Indemnificff ation Agreement forff Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 23, 2022).

10.4† Option and Collabora ation Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2018, by and between Shionogi & Co., Ltd. and
Akili Interactive Labs, Inc., as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of January 1, 2020, Amendment No. 2
dated as of May 1, 2020 and Amendment No. 3 dated as of November 15, 2021 (incorporrr ated by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 fileff d on April 4, 2022).

10.5† Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2021, by and among Silicon Valley
Bank, SVB Innovation Credit Fund VIII, L.P. and Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. (incorporr ated by reference to Exhibit
10.17 to Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 fileff d on May 12, 2022).

10.6 Akili, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 23, 2022).

10.7 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Akili, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
(incorporr ated by referff ence to Exhibits 99.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 fileff d on
October 27, 2022).

10.8 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Akili, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
(incorporr ated by referff ence to Exhibits 99.5 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 fileff d on
October 27, 2022).

10.9 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement forff Company Employees under the Akili, Inc. 2022 Stock Option
and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibits 99.6 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form
S-8 fileff d on October 27, 2022).

10.10 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement forff Non-Employee Directors under the Akili, Inc. 2022 Stock
Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibits 99.7 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 fileff d on October 27, 2022).

10.11 Form of Non-Qualifieff d Stock Option Agreement forff Company Employees under the Akili, Inc. 2022 Stock Option
and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibits 99.8 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form
S-8 fileff d on October 27, 2022).

10.12 Form of Non-Qualifieff d Stock Option Agreement forff Non-Employee Directors under the Akili, Inc. 2022 Stock
Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibits 99.9 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 fileff d on October 27, 2022).
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10.13 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement forff Company Employees under the Akili, Inc. 2022 Stock Option
and Incentive Plan (Earnout RSUs) (incorporated by reference to Exhibits 99.10 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 filed on October 27, 2022).

10.14 Akili, Inc. 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 23, 2022).

10.15 Akili, Inc. Amended and Restated Executive Severance Plan (incorporr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 27, 2022).

10.16 Akili, Inc. Senior Executive Cash Incentive Bonus Plan (incorporr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fileff d on November 14, 2022).

10.17 Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy of the Company, as amended on August 2, 2023 (incorporr ated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fileff d on November 9, 2023).

10.18* Commercial Sublease, dated as of May 15, 2023, by and between Phoenix American Incorporated and Akili
Interactive Labs, Inc.

10.19† License, Development and Commercialization Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2021, by and between Akili
Interactive Labs, Inc. and TALi Digital Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Amendment No. 1
to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 fileff d on April 4, 2022).

10.20 Joinder and First Loan Modification Agreement, dated December 23, 2022, by and among Silicon Valley Bank, in
its capacity as administrative agent and collateral agent, Silicon Valley Bank and SVB Innovation Credit Fund
VIII, L.P., as lenders, and Akili, Inc. and Akili Interactive Labs, Inc., as borrowers (incorporr ated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K/AKK filed on December 27, 2022).

10.21 Letter Agreement, dated as of April 14, 2023, by and among First-Citizens Bank & Trusr t Company, SVB
Innovation Credit Fund VIII, L.P., Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. and Akili, Inc. (incorporr ated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to Akili, Inc.’s Form 10-Q fileff d on May 12, 2023)

10.22† Advisor Agreement, dated as of October 5, 2023, by and between Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. and Dr. W. Edward
Martuct ci II, Ph.D. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Akili, Inc. Form 10-Q fileff d on November 9, 2023).

10.23 Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2013, by and between Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. and The
Regents of the University of Califorff nia, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of May 17, 2018 and
Amendment No. 2 dated as of Februarr ry 25, 2019 (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No. 1
to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 fileff d on April 4, 2022).

21.1* Subsu idiaries of the Registrant.
23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firff m.
24.1* Power of Attorney (included on signature page to this annual report).
31.1* Certificff ation of Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer Pursuant

to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1** Certificff ation of Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer Pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act of 2002.

97* Akili, Inc. Compensation Recovery Policy
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because

XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labea l Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith.

** The certificff ation furff nished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto is deemed to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K and will not be
deemed “fileff d” for purposrr es of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such certificff ation will not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

+ Scheduld es and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant agrees to furnish
supplu ementally a copy of any omitted scheduld e or exhibit to the SEC uponu request.

† Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K. The
Registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted scheduld e or exhibit to the SEC uponu request.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not appla icable.



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duld y authorized.

Akili, Inc.

Date: February 2rr 9, 2024 By: /s/ Matthew Franklin
Name: Matthew Franklin

Title:

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial
Offiff cer and Principal Accounting Officer)



POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Matthew Franklin, as his or her true and lawfulff attorney-in-
fact and agent, with full power of subsu titutt ion and resubsu titution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and
all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to fileff the same, with all exhibits thereto,
and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact
and agent, fulff l power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in
connection therewith, as fulff ly to all intents and purposr es as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifyiff ng and confirff ming
all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute(s), may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtuet thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ Matthew Franklin President, Chief Executive Officer and Director Februarr ry 29, 2024
Matthew Franklin (Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial

Offiff cer, and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ W. Edward Martucci II, Ph.D. Chairman and Director Februar ry 29, 2024
W. Edward Martuct ci II, Ph.D.

/s/ Adam Gazzaley, M.D., Ph.D. Director Februarr ry 29, 2024
Adam Gazzaley, M.D., Ph.D.

/s/ Mary Hrr entges Director Februarr ry 29, 2024
Mary Hentges

/s/ William “BJ” Jones, Jr. Director Februarr ry 29, 2024
William “BJ” Jones, Jr.

/s/ Christine Lemke Director Februarr ry 29, 2024
Christine Lemke

/s/ John Spinale Director February 2rr 9, 2024
John Spinale
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Akili, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidatdd ed Financial StaSS tementstt

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Akili, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, redeemable convertible preferff red stock
and stockholders’ equity (deficff it), and cash flows forff the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated
financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the finff ancial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash floff ws for the years then
ended, in conforff mity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis fii orff Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. fedff eral securities laws and the appla icable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance aboa ut whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether dued to error or fraff ud. Our audits included performing procedurd es to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether dued to error or fraff ud, and performing procedurd es that respond to those risks. Such
procedurd es included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonabla e basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.

Boston, Massachusetts
Februarr ry 29, 2024
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AKILI, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,
2023 2022

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 75,150 $ 54,097
Restricted cash 305 305
Short-term investments - 82,034
Accounts receivabla e 300 41
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,275 4,565
Total current assets 78,030 141,042

Property and equipment, net 680 919
Operating lease right-of-use asset 1,577 2,596
Prepaid expenses and other long-term assets 96 —
Total assets $ 80,383 $ 144,557
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabia lities:
Accounts payable 1,285 2,681
Accruerr d expenses and other current liabia lities 3,326 5,616
Deferred revenue 100 106
Operating lease liabia lity 756 826
Note payabla e, short term 7,500 4,375
Total current liabilities 12,967 13,604

Note payable, long term 3,445 10,442
Operating lease liabia lity, net of current portion 1,730 2,485
Corporate bond, net of bond discount 2,054 1,834
Earn-out liabia lities 1,632 5,513
Other long-term liabia lities 23 —

Total liabilities 21,851 33,878
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, $0.0001 par value: 1,000,000,000 shares authorized; 78,356,527
and 78,022,924 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively 8 8
Additional paid-in capital 358,305 350,980
Accumulated deficff it (299,781) (240,288)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss — (21)
Total stockholders' equity 58,532 110,679

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 80,383 $ 144,557

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AKILI, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022
Revenues $ 1,678 $ 323
Cost of revenues 819 441

Gross profit (loss) 859 (118)
Operating expenses:
Research and development 19,925 28,858
Selling, general and administrative 45,419 61,701
Total operating expenses 65,344 90,559

Operating loss (64,485) (90,677)
Other income (expense):
Other income 4,040 1,482
Interest expense (2,358) (1,484)
Change in estimated faiff r value of earn-out liabia lities 3,363 82,734
Total other income 5,045 82,732

Loss before income taxes (59,440) (7,945)
Income tax expense (53) (19)
Net loss $ (59,493) $ (7,964)
Unrealized gain (loss) on short-term investments $ 21 $ (21)
Comprehensive loss $ (59,472) $ (7,985)
Net loss $ (59,493) $ (7,964)
Dividends on Series D convertible preferff red stock - (7,383)
Redemption value of Series D convertible preferff red stock - (3,692)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (59,493) $ (19,039)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders - basic and diluted $ (0.76) $ (0.64)
Weighted average common stock outstanding - basic and diluted 78,197,107 29,878,041

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AKILI, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Cash flows froff m operating activities:
Net loss $ (59,493) $ (7,964)
Adjud stments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 302 308
Reduction in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets 692 489
Impairment loss on sublu ease 385 -
Stock-based compensation expense 6,807 9,309
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 22 -
Amortization of premium on short-term investments (1,501) (881)
Non cash interest expense 723 512
Change in fair value of earn-out liabia lities (3,363) (82,734)
Changes in operating assets and liabia lities:
Accounts receivabla e (259) (12)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,408 (2,037)
Prepaid expenses and other long-term assets (96) 11
Accounts payable (1,396) 387
Accruerr d expenses and other current liabia lities (2,290) (310)
Other long-term liabia lities 23 (24)
Operating lease liabia lities (825) (585)
Deferred revenue (6) 10
Net cash used in operating activities (57,867) (83,521)

Cash flows froff m investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment (19) (42)
Capia talized software development costs (124) -
Purchases of short-term investments (56,444) (111,174)
Proceeds froff m maturt ities of short-term investments 140,000 30,000

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 83,413 (81,216)
Cash flows froff m finff ancing activities:
Proceeds froff m exercise of stock options - 149
Proceeds froff m note payable - 10,000
Proceeds froff m Business Combination, net of transaction costs paid - 131,814
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of share-based awards (118) (28)
Repayment of principal on note payable (4,375) -

Net cash provided by (used in) finff ancing activities (4,493) 141,935
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 21,053 (22,802)

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 54,402 77,204
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 75,455 $ 54,402
Supplementary Information:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 16 $ -
Cash paid for interest 1,665 834

Noncash investing and finff ancing activities:
Deferred asset forff fees related to undrawn debt included in accruerr d expenses - 51
Common stock warrants issued related to note payable - 282
Redemption value of Series D preferred stock - 3,692
Dividends accruerr d forff Series D preferred stock - 7,383
Recognition of liabia lities forff Earn-Out Shareholders - 87,512
Net liabia lities assumed in the Business Combination - 500

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

F-7

1. Nature of the Business and Basis of Presentation

Organization

Akili, Inc. (collectively referff red to with its wholly-owned, controlled subsidiaries, as “Akili” or the “Company”) operates as one
business segment and is a leading digital medicine company, pioneering the development of cognitive treatments through game-
changing technologies. Akili’s appa roach of developing and commercializing technologies designed to directly target the physiology of
the brain has established a new category orr f medicine—medicine that is validated through clinical trials like a drug or medical device,
but experienced like entertainment. In June 2020, EndeavorRx, the first product built on Akili’s platforff m, was granted marketing
authorization and classified as a Class II medical device by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) through FDA’s de novo
process. EndeavorRx is indicated for use to improve attention funcff tion forff children ages 8-17 with primarily inattentive or combim ned-
type ADHD, who have a demonstrated attention issue, following the Company’s receipt of FDA authorization in December 2023 for
the expanded EndeavorRx labea l to include older children ages 13-17. In June 2023, the Company released EndeavorOTC, which is
built on the same platforff m as EndeavorRx, nationwide without a prescription to improve attention funcff tion, ADHD symptoms and
quality of life iff n adults 18 years of age and older with primarily inattentive or combined-type ADHD, under the FDA guidance entitled
“Enfon rcement Policy fc orff Digii tal HeaHH lth Devices for TreTT ating PsyPP chiatric Disoii rderdd s Drr uring the Coronavirus Diseii ase 2019 Public
Health Emerger ncyc ” (the “COVID-19 Guidance”). The COVID-19 Guidance allows for the marketing of certain digital therapea utics
without premarket clearance, de novo classification, or approval so long as certain criteria are met for the duration of the COVID-19
Guidance, which was expected to remain in effeff ct until November 7, 2023 consistent with FDA guidance entitled “Transition Plan forff
Medical Devices That Fall Within Enfon rcement Policies IssII ued During the Coronavirus Diseii ase 2019 (COVIDVV -19) Public Health
Emerger ncyc ” (the “COVID-19 Transition Guidance”). The COVID-19 Transition Guidance allows for the continued distribution of
devices falling under the COVID-19 Guidance without marketing authorization so long as the manufactff urt er has submitted a marketing
submu ission to FDA, the submission has been accepted by FDA prior to November 7, 2023 and FDA has not taken a final action on the
marketing submission. While EndeavorOTC has not been authorized by FDA forff any indications, the Company submitted a marketing
submu ission to FDA forff EndeavorOTC on October 30, 2023. Through guidance froff m FDA regarding the COVID-19 Transition
Guidance, it was clarified that marketing submissions received by FDA on or before November 7, 2023, that pass their technical
review afteff r the deadline without being placed on submu ission hold will still be eligible for continued enforff cement discretion. Pursuant
to FDA’s guidance on this topic, and given that the Company has since passed FDA’s technical review and has not been placed on
submu ission hold, the Company is continuing to commercialize, distribute, and market EndeavorOTC under the COVID-19 Guidance.
The Company’s efforff ts are primarily focused on managing and executing its strategic plan to transition froff m a prescription to a non-
prescription model, including obtaining regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing EndeavorOTC in adults with ADHD, pursuing
regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both its EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC products and continuing to supporu trr
the distribution and fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition. Further development of Akili’s programs outside of ADHD will
be contingent upon a number of facff tors, including capital raising and supportive business development activities. The Company is
headquartered in Boston, Massachusetts.

On August 19, 2022, (the “Closing Date”), Social Capital Suvretta Holdings Corp. I (“SCS”) consummated the previously announced
merger pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), dated January 26, 2022, by and among SCS, Akili
Interactive Labs, Inc. and Karibu Merger Sub, Inc., pursuant to which Karibu Merger Sub,u Inc. merged with and into Akili Interactive
Labsa , Inc., with Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of SCS (the “Business Combination”). Upon the
closing of the Business Combination (the “Closing”), SCS changed its name to Akili, Inc.

In connection with the Business Combination, SCS completed the sale and issuance of 16,200,000 shares of Akili, Inc. common stock,
$0.0001 par value per share (the “Common Stock”) in a private placement transaction forff a purchase price of $10.00 per share for
$162,000 in the aggregate (the “PIPE Investment”). Gross proceeds froff m the Merger totaled appra oximately $164,283 which included
funds held in SCS’s trust account (after giving effeff ct to redemptions). In connection with the Business Combination, approximately
$31,438 of transaction costs and other fees were incurred. References to SCS referff to the Company prior to the consummation of the
Business Combination and referff ences to “Legacy Akili” refer to Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. (now a wholly-owned subsu idiary of Akili,
Inc.) prior to the consummation of the Business Combination. Legacy Akili was deemed the accounting acquirer in the Business
Combination. This determination was primarily based on Legacy Akili’s stockholders prior to the Business Combination having a
majoa rity of the voting power in the combined company, Legacy Akili having the abia lity to appoint a majority of the board of directors
of the combined company (the “Board”), Legacy Akili’s existing management comprising the senior management of the combined
company, Legacy Akili comprising the ongoing operations of the combined company, Legacy Akili being the larger entity based on
historical revenues and business operations, and the combined company assuming Legacy Akili’s name. Accordingly, for accounting
purposrr es, the Business Combination was treated as the equivalent of Legacy Akili issuing stock for the net assets of SCS,
accompanied by a recapitalization. Under this method of accounting, SCS who was the legal acquirer, is treated as the “acquired”
company forff financial reporting purposr es. The net assets of SCS are stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible
assets recorded. The equity structurt e has been restated in all comparative periods up to the Closing Date to reflect the number of
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shares of the Company’s Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per share, issued to Legacy Akili stockholders in connection with the
Business Combination. As such, the shares and corresponding capital amounts and earnings per share related to Legacy Akili’s
convertible preferff red stock (“Legacy Convertible Preferff red Stock”) and Legacy Akili common stock prior to the Business
Combination have been retroactively restated as shares refleff cting the exchange ratio of approximately 1.15 pursuant to the terms of the
Business Combination. Legacy Convertible Preferff red Stock previously classified as mezzanine was retroactively adjusted, converted
into Common Stock, and reclassified to permanent as a result of the reverse recapitalization. Akili, Inc. (forff merly SCS) is a Delaware
corporation incorporr ated on December 1, 2020. Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. is a Delaware corporr ation incorporr ated on December 1,
2011.

Going Concern

The Company is subju ect to risks common to companies in the biotechnology industry irr ncluding, but not limited to, new technological
innovations, protection of proprietary technology, dependence on key personnel, compliance with government regulations and the
need to obtain additional finff ancing. The Company requires a significant amount of capital to fundff its current operating requirements as
it pursues its strategic goals. The Company’s efforff ts are primarily focused on managing and executing its strategic plan to transition
from a prescription to a non-prescription model, including obtaining regulatory arr uthorization and commercializing EndeavorOTC forff
the adult ADHD market, pursuing regulatory arr uthorization forff over-the-counter labea ling of both its EndeavorRx and EndeavorOTC
products and continuing to supporu t the distribution and fulfillmeff nt of EndeavorRx during the transition.

There can be no assurance that the Company’s product development and commercialization efforts will be successfulff ; that adequate
protection forff the Company’s intellectuat l property will be obtained; that any products developed will obtain necessary government
regulatory arr uthorization; or that any products will be commercially viable. Even if the Company’s product development and
commercialization efforts are successfulff , it is uncertain when, if ever, the Company will generate significant revenue from product
sales. The Company operates in an environment of rapid change in technology and substantial competition froff m pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies. In addition, the Company is dependent upon the services of its employees and consultants.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of continuity of operations, realization of assets and
the satisfaction of liabia lities in the ordinary course of business. The Company has experienced negative operating cash floff ws for the
year ended December 31, 2023 and had an accumulated deficff it of $299,781 at December 31, 2023. The Company believes that its
cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2023 of $75,150 will be sufficff ient to fund the Company’s planned operations and existing
obligations for at least one year afteff r the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.

The futff urt e viabia lity of the Company is dependent on its ability to generate cash froff m operating activities, manage liquidity by
maintaining reducd ed operating expenses or to raise additional capital to finff ance its operations. The Company’s faiff lure to generate cash
from operating activities or to raise capital when needed, or on terms favorable to the Company, could have a negative impact on its
financial condition and ability to pursue its business strategies.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conforff mity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company, afteff r elimination of all intercompany accounts
and transactions.

2. Summary of Significff ant Accounting Policies

Use of estimates: The preparation of finff ancial statements in conforff mity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affeff ct the reported amounts of assets and liabia lities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabia lities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting periods. Estimates and assumptions
reflected in these consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the valuation of the earn-out liabia lity and the
valuation of stock-based awards. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates, including those related to accruerr d
liabia lities and stock-based compensation expense. Actuat l results could diffeff r froff m the Company’s estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents: The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or
less at acquisition date to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents, which consist of money market accounts, are stated at faiff r value.

Restricted cash: Restricted cash consists of two savings accounts. One is required as collateral forff the business credit cards which
remains restricted until the contract is terminated and the obligation is paid in fulff l. The second is a security deposit for an office lease
in Larkspur, Califorff nia and remains in place until the lease ends in 2026.
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Investments: The Company considers all investments with original maturities of more than three months but less than one year to be
short-term investments. All investments in marketabla e securities are classified as availabla e forff sale. Availabla e-for-sale securities are
reported at faiff r value, with temporary urr nrealized gains and losses excluded froff m earnings and reported as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity, while other-than-temporary grr ains or losses are included in earnings. The cost of securities sold is determinr ed on
a specific identificff ation basis, and realized gains and losses are included in other income (expense) within the consolidated statements
of operations and comprehensive loss.

Concentration of credit risk and significant customers: Cash, cash equivalents and investments are the primary exposure forff the
Company to concentrations of credit risk. The Company maintains deposits in government insured finff ancial institutions in excess of
government insured limits. The Company deposits its cash in finff ancial institutions that it believes are financially sound and have not
experienced any losses on such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on cash. Further, management
believes that the financial institutions that hold the Company’s investments are financially sound and, accordingly, are subject to
minimal credit risk. The Company does not believe that it is subju ect to unusual credit risk beyond the normal credit risk associated
with commercial banking relationships.

On March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) was closed by the Califorff nia Department of Financial Protection and Innovation,
and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporr ation (“FDIC”) was appointed as receiver. On March 13, 2023, pursuant to a joint statement
released by the U.S. Department of Treasury,rr the U.S. Federal Reserve, and the FDIC, the U.S. government provided assurance that
all depositors would be fulff ly protected. Thereafteff r, the FDIC transferred all deposits of SVB to a newly created bridge bank, named
Silicon Valley Bridge Bank, N.A. (“SVBB”), which announced that it would fulff ly honor existing credit facilities. On March 27, 2023,
First Citizens BancShares, Inc. entered into an agreement with the FDIC to purchase all assets and liabia lities of SVBB and confirff med
it would honor existing credit faciff lities. The Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with SVB required an exclusive
relationship forff our operating cash account, however in light of the events and statust of SVB, we entered into an agreement in April
2023 which allows the Company to establa ish operating accounts and move an additional portion of our cash resources to another
financial institution.

There was no significant concentration in any single customer forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Fair value of financial instruments: The Company’s financial instrumrr ents consist of cash equivalents, short-term investments,
accounts payable, accrued expenses, a corporate bond and note payable. The carrying amount of accounts payable and accruer d
expenses are considered a reasonabla e estimate of their faiff r value, dued to the short-term maturity of these instrumr ents. The Company’s
cash equivalents and short-term investments are carried at fair value, determined according to the fair value hierarchy described below
(see Note 13).

The Company follows the guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codificff ation (ASC) 820,
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, or ASC 820, which definff es fair value and establa ishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabia lities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservabla e inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of the faiff r value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1: Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabia lities that the reporting entity has the
ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2: Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or forff which all significant inputs are observabla e, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservabla e.

To the extent that valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observabla e or unobservabla e in the market, the determination of
fair value requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the Company in determining faiff r value is
greatest forff instruments categorized in Level 3. A financial instrumrr ent’s level within the faiff r value hierarchy is based on the lowest
level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Fair value is a market-based measure considered from the perspective of a market participant rather than an entity-specific measure.
Thereforff e, even when market assumptions are not readily availabla e, the Company’s own assumptions are set to reflect those that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liabia lity at the measurement date. The Company uses prices and inputs that are
current as of the measurement date, including durd ing periods of market dislocation. In periods of market dislocation, the observarr bia lity
of prices and inputs may be reduced for many instrumr ents. This condition could cause an instrument to be reclassified from Level I to
Level 2 or Level 2 to Level 3.
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Property and equipment: Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When parts of an item of property and
equipment have diffeff rent usefulff lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets:

Furniture and fixff tures..................................................... 5-7 years
Computer equipment and software ................................ 3 years
Offiff ce equipment ........................................................... 3 years
Leasehold improvements ............................................... 3-7 years (Or remaining term of the lease, if shorter)
Internal-use softwff are...................................................... 2-5 years

Depreciation methods, usefulff lives and residual values are reviewed at least annually and adjusted, if appropriate.

Impairment of long-lived assets: The Company periodically reviews the carrying amount of long-lived assets which consist of
property and equipment, to determine whether current events or circumstances indicate that such carrying amounts may not be
recoverabla e. Recoverabia lity of assets held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an asset or an asset group to
estimated undiscounted future net cash floff ws expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. If the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds these estimated futff urt e cash floff ws, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds the fair value of the asset or asset group, based on discounted cash floff ws. Management judgment is necessary to
estimate the faiff r value of asset groups. Accordingly, actuat l results could vary srr ignificantly from such estimates.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $384 related to the sublu ease of a portion of
its offiff ce space in Larkspur, Califorff nia (see Note 7). The faiff r value measurement of futff urt e cash floff ws from the sublease agreement
were estimated using an income approach to determine the present value. Leasehold improvements related to the subleased area are
included in the impairment as the Company no longer receives economic benefits afteff r it discontinues use of the space. The
impairment loss was comprised of a write-down of $325 for the right-of-use asset and $59 for the leasehold improvements. The
impairment loss is included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss.

The Company did not identify aff ny circumstances that would warrant an impairment charge forff any long-lived assets on the
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2023.

Internal-use software development costs:With respect to the Company’s softwff are products sold under subscription arrangements
with customers, costs incurred in the preliminary drr esign and development stages of a project are expensed as incurred in accordance
with FASB ASC 350-40, Internal-Use Software. Once a projeo ct has reached the appla ication development stage and it is probabla e that
the softwff are will be completed forff its intended funcff tion, certain internal, external, direct and indirect costs may be subju ect to
capitalization. Generally, costs are capitalized until the technology is availabla e forff its intended use. Subsequent costs incurrerr d forff the
development of futff urt e upgru ades and enhancements, which are expected to result in additional funcff tionality, folff low the same protocol
for capitalization. Capia talized software development costs are recorded in property and equipment on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets.

Leases: The Company determines whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception. The Company classifies each of its leases as
operating or finff ancing considering factff ors such as the length of the lease term, the present value of the lease payments, the naturt e of
the asset being leased, and the potential forff ownership of the asset to transfer durd ing the lease term. Leases with terms greater than
one-year are recognized on the consolidated balance sheets as right-of-use assets and lease liabia lities and are measured at the present
value of the fixed payments dued over the expected lease term less the present value of any incentives, rebates or abatements we expect
to receive from the lessor. Options to extend a lease are included in the expected lease term if exercise of the option is deemed
reasonabla y certain. Costs determined to be variable and not based on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease
liabia lity and are expensed as incurred. The interest rate implicit in lease contracts is typically not readily determinable. As such, the
Company utilized the appra opriate incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate incurred to borrow on a collateralized basis an amount
equal to the lease payments over a similar term and in a similar economic environment. To estimate our incremental borrowing rate, a
credit rating appla icable to the Company is estimated using a synthetic credit rating analysis since it does not currently have a rating
agency-based credit rating. The Company records expense to recognize fixed lease payments on a straight-line basis over the expected
lease term. The Company has elected the practical expedient not to separate lease and non-lease components forff real estate leases.

Sublease: The Company recognizes sublu ease income on a straight-line basis over the sublu ease period. The Company recognizes
sublu ease income as an offset to rent expense within operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss as subleasing is not a primary business activity of the Company and is meant to offset occupau ncy costs.
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Deferred revenue: Deferred revenue represents payment received in advance of revenue being earned and is comprised of feesff
received in advance of the delivery orr r completion of the services and amounts received in instances when revenue recognition criteria
have not been met. Deferred revenue associated with upfroff nt payments for a subsu cription to the Company’s FDA-authorized video
game product is amortized ratabla y over the subsu cription period.

Earn-Out Liabilities: In connection with the Business Combination, holders of Legacy Akili common stock, Legacy Convertible
Preferff red Stock and warrants to purchase shares of Legacy Akili common stock (“Earn-Out Shareholders”) and employees or
individual service providers holding options to purchase shares of Legacy Akili common stock, in each case as designated by the
Board of Akili as an earn-out service provider prior to the Closing Date (“Earn-Out Service Providers”) received the contingent right
to receive additional Common Stock upon the achievement of certain earn-out targets (the “Rights”). The Company concluded the
issuance of Rights to Earn-Out Shareholders constitutes a deemed dividend and evaluated the Rights forff classification under guidance
applicable to financial instrumrr ents. In assessing classification, the Company considered ASC Subtopic 815-40 “Contracts in Entity’s
Own Equity” and determined the Rights contain settlement provisions that preclude them from being indexed to the Company’s stock
and accordingly liabia lity classification is required. The Company concluded issuance of the Rights to Earn-Out Service Providers
represents compensation in scope of ASC Topic 718, “Compensation - Stock Compensation.” In considering relevant classification
guidance, the Company determined the Rights issued to Earn-Out Service Providers are liabia lities because they are indexed to whether
such Earn-Out Service Providers hold qualifying equity instruments when the earn-out targets are achieved. The faiff r value of the
contingent earn-out consideration is estimated as of the Closing Date at the present value of the expected contingent earn-out
consideration using a Monte Carlo Simulation Method (“MCSM”). The Company reviews the probabia lity of achievement of the earn-
out targets to determine the impact on the faiff r value of the earn-out consideration on a quarterly basis over the earn-out period. For
Earn-Out Shareholders, the corresponding fair value was initially recorded against additional paid-in capital. Changes in the estimated
fair value of the contingent earn-out consideration related to Earn-Out Shareholders are recorded in other income (expense) in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss and are reflected in the period in which they are identifieff d. For Earn-r
Out Service Providers, the corresponding fair value was initially recorded within operating expenses in the same funcff tional categoryrr
as the grantees' operating expenses. Changes in the estimated faiff r value of contingent earn-out consideration related to Earn-Out
Service Providers is recorded as stock compensation forff the period. Changes in the estimated faiff r value of the contingent earn-out
consideration may materially impact or cause volatility in the Company's operating results.

Transaction Costs: As part of the Business Combination, the Company allocated certain transaction costs to the Earn-out Shares
based on the relative faiff r value of these instrumr ents as compared to the other newly issued instruments. The portion of transaction
costs allocated to these instrumrr ents was refleff cted as a reducd tion to cash and an increase in selling, general and administrative expense.
The costs were determined to relate to future share issuances and not to the initial recapitalization and thereforff e they were expensed on
the Closing Date. All costs allocated to the other newly issued instruments, which consisted of Common Stock, were recorded in total
permanent equity as a reducd tion of additional paid-in capital.

Revenue: The Company accounts forff revenue recognition in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“ASC 606”). Under ASC 606, an entity recognizes revenue when its customer obtains control of promised goods or
services in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. To
determine revenue recognition forff arrangements that an entity determines are within the scope of ASC 606, the entity performs thet
following five steps: (i) identify tff he contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify tff he performance obligations in the contract; (iii)
determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize
revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company only appa lies the five-step analysis to contracts when it is probabla e that the entity will collect the consideration to which
it is entitled in exchange for the goods or services it transferff s to the customer. At contract inception, once the contract is determined to
be within the scope of ASC 606, the Company assesses the goods or services promised within each contract, determines those that are
performance obligations, and assesses whether each promised good or service is distinct. The Company then recognizes as revenue the
amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is
satisfied.

The Company generates revenue from contracts with caregivers and patients who purchase subscriptions to access EndeavorRx
(“Clients”), the Company’s FDA-authorized video game treatment. Clients are billed in advance forff the entire subscription term (new
subsu criptions are currently for 30 days). Along with the subscription to the video game product, Clients also receive reporting metrics
and technical supporu t services. The reporting metrics rely on gameplay data being sent back from EndeavorRx, which the Company
analyzes in order to provide information on daily effoff rts and level completion to Clients throughout the subscription term via the
EndeavorRx Insight app. The subscription to the video game product, reporting metrics and technical supporu t services are combined
as a single stand-ready performance obligation because while the components are separate performance obligations, they have the
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same method and pattern of recognition. Accordingly, the consideration is recognized ratabla y on an over time basis over the
subsu cription period which begins once the access code is inputted into the game by the Client and game play has started.

In June 2023, the Company released its EndeavorOTC over-the-counter product under the FDA’s COVID-19 Guidance. The
Company generates revenue from customers who purchase subscriptions of variable term lengths (currently availabla e as either one
month or one year) to access the video game treatment. Customers are billed in advance forff the entire appla icable subsu cription term.
Along with the subscription to the video game treatment, the customers also receive technical supporu t services and access to softwff are
updates. The technical supporu t services and access to softwff are updau tes were determined to be immaterial in the context of the contract
primarily due to the factff that the underlying selective stimulus management engine (“SSME”) technology is not being updau ted
throughout the subscription term, and therefore the primary functionality of the product is not changed durd ing the term of the
arrangement. As EndeavorOTC has significff ant stand-alone functionality that can be used immediately uponu delivery,rr the performance
obligation is considered complete uponu delivery arr nd all of the consideration is recognized at that point in time.

The Company has generated revenue froff m a collabora ation agreement with Shionogi. The consideration allocated to each performance
obligation is recognized as revenue when control is transferred forff the related goods or services. For performance obligations that
consist of licenses and other promises, the Company appla ies judgment to assess the naturt e of the combined performance obligation to
determine whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate
method of measuring progress. The Company evaluates the measure of progress each reporting period and, if necessary, adjusts the
measure of performance and related revenue recognition. The Company has determined that the licenses and other promises under thet
Collabora ation Agreement are a single combined performance obligation satisfied over time. The Company must select a single
measure of progress that best depicts the Company’s measurement of progress. ASC 606-10-26-33 states that appropriate methods of
measuring progress include outputt methods and input methods and notes that an entity should consider the naturt e of the good or
service that the entity promised to transferff to the customer in determining the appa ropriate method for measuring progress. Since
activities performed to research and validate one phase may be useful in researching and validating subsequent phases, the Company
believes that an input method, which tracks the Company’s efforff ts required to perform the contracted activities durd ing the contrat ct
term, is more representationally faithful than an outputt method, which might track the agreed upon deliverables that are not similar to
one another.

If an arrangement includes development and regulatory milestone payments or royalties, the Company evaluates whether the
milestones or royalties are considered probabla e of being reached and estimates the amount to be included in the transaction price using
the most likely amount method. If it is probabla e that a significant revenue reversal would not occur, the associated milestone or royalty
value is included in the transaction price. Payments that are not within the Company’s control or the licensee’s control, such as
regulatory arr ppra ovals, are generally not considered probabla e of being achieved until those appra ovals are received.

The folff lowing tabla e presents the Company’s revenue by product type:

Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022
EndeavorOTC revenue $ 1,155 $ —
EndeavorRx revenue 523 323
Total $ 1,678 $ 323

There was no collabora ation revenue in either period.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has a contract liabia lity related to EndeavorRx product revenue, which consists of amounts
that have been paid but have not been recognized as revenue. All amounts are expected to be recognized as revenue within 12 months
of the balance sheet date and are classified as current deferred revenue. The Company recognized $106 of product revenue in the year
ended December 31, 2023 that was previously included in the December 31, 2022 deferred revenue balance.

Contract Liabilities Product
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 106
Revenue recognized 523
Revenue deferred (529)

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 100
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Cost of revenue: Cost of revenue includes personnel and related costs, third party contractor expenses, customer support costs,
royalties, amortization of capitalized software related to our two commercialized products and softwff are subscriptions related to our
products and hosting feeff s. Sales of EndeavorRx incurred third-party pharmacy dispense fees and sales of EndeavorOTC incur Apple
App Store and Google Play feesff , both of which are included in cost of revenue. As the Company controls the product until it is
transferff red to the customer, it is considered the principal in the arrangement and all revenue and cost of revenue is shown gross in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.

Research and development costs: Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs
include personnel and related costs, consulting costs, external contract research and development expenses, as well as depreciation and
utilities. The Company has several agreements with non-related entities to conduct research on behalf of the Company. The expenses
incurred associated with these agreements are expensed as incurred within research and development costs.

Advertising: The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expenses were $6,580 and $7,861 during the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Accounting forff stock-based compensation: Stock-based compensation made to employees and non-employees, including stock
options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and performance stock units with market conditions (“PSUs”), is measured based on the grant
date fair value of the awards and is recognized as compensation expense typically on a straight-line basis over the period during which
the share-based award holder is required to perform services in exchange for the award (the vesting period) for stock options and
RSUs and on an accelerated attribution basis for each vesting tranche over the respective derived service period forff PSUs.

The Company classifies stock-based compensation expense in its consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss in the
same manner in which the award recipient’s payroll costs are classified or in which the award recipients’ service payments are
classified.

The Company recognizes adjustments to stock compensation expense forff forfeitures as they occur. The faiff r value of each stock option
grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black- Scholes option-pricing model. RSUs are measured based on the fair values of
the underlying stock on the date of grant. We use the MCSM to estimate the faiff r value of PSUs. See Note 12 forff further discussion of
stock-based compensation.

Income taxes: Deferred tax assets and liabia lities are recognized based on temporary drr iffeff rences between the finff ancial reporting and
income tax basis of assets and liabia lities using rates anticipated to be in effeff ct when such temporary drr iffeff rences reverse. A change in
tax rates is recognized in income in the period of the enactment date. A valuation allowance against net deferff red tax assets is required
if, bff ased upon the availabla e evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

The Company also assesses the probabia lity that the positions taken or expected to be taken in its income tax returt ns will be sustained
by taxing authorities. A “more likely than not” (more than 50%) recognition threshold must be met before a tax benefit can be
recognized. Tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical
merits of the position, are refleff cted in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Tax positions are measured as the largest
amount of tax benefitff that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement with a taxing authority that has fulff l knowkk ledge
of all relevant inforff mation. The diffeff rence between the benefitff recognized for a position and the tax benefit claimed on a tax returt n is
referred to as an unrecognized tax benefit.ff Potential interest and penalties associated with such uncertain tax positions are recorded as
a component of income tax expense.

Comprehensive Loss: Comprehensive loss includes net loss as well as other changes in stockholders’ equity that result from
transactions and economic events other than those with stockholders.

Net Loss Per Share: The Company follows the two-class method when computing net loss per share, or EPS, as the Company has
issued shares that meet the definff ition of participating securities. The two-class method determines net loss per share forff each class of
common and participating securities according to dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings.
The two-class method requires income availabla e to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common and
participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income forff the period had been distributed.

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net loss attributable to common stockholders is
computed by adjud sting net loss attributable to common stockholders to reallocate undistributed earnings based on the potential impact
of dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the diluted net loss
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period, including
potential dilutive common shares assuming the dilutive effecff t of common stock equivalents.
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Segment and Geographic Inforff mation: Operating segments are components of an enterprrr ise abouta which separate finff ancial
information is availabla e that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision-maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how
to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company’s chief operating decision maker is its Chief Executive Officff er, or
CEO. The Company views its operations as and manages its business in one operating segment operating exclusively in the United
States.

Emerging Growth Company Status: The Jumpstart Our Business Startupst Act of 2012 permits an emerging growth company, or
EGC, such as Akili to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with the new or revised accounting standards
applicable to public companies until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. The Company has elected to use this
extended transition period under the JOBS Act until such time the Company is no longer considered to be an EGC, which means that
when a standard is issued or revised, it has diffeff rent applications for public or private companies, the Company will adopt the new or
revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard and will do so until such time that the Company
either (i) irrevocably elect to “opt-out” of such extended transition period or (ii) no longer qualify aff s an EGC.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements: In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Measurement of Co reCC dit Losses
on Financial InsII truments (“ASU 2016-13”), as amended by ASU 2019-10. ASU 2016-13 will change how companies account for
credit losses forff most financial assets and certain other instrumrr ents. For trade receivabla es, loans and held-to-maturt ity debt securities,
companies will be required to recognize an allowance forff credit losses rather than reducd ing the carrying value of the asset. ASU 2016-
13 is effeff ctive forff the Company for the annual reporting period beginning January 1, 2023. The Company adopted this guidance forff
the year ended December 31, 2023, however there was no impact to the finff ancial statements.

3. Business Combination

As discussed in Note 1, on August 19, 2022, the Company consummated the Business Combination pursuant to the Merger
Agreement. The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with GAAP. Under this method
of accounting, SCS, who was the legal acquirer, was treated as the “acquired” company forff financial reporting purposr es. Accordingly,
the Business Combination was treated as the equivalent of Akili issuing stock for the net assets of SCS, accompanied by a
recapitalization.

Upon the Closing, holders of Legacy Akili common stock received shares of Common Stock in an amount determined by application
of the exchange ratio of approximately 1.15 (the “Exchange Ratio”), which was based on Legacy Akili’s implied price per share prior
to the Business Combination. For periods prior to the Business Combination, the reported share and per share amounts have been
retroactively converted by appa lying the Exchange Ratio. The consolidated assets, liabia lities and results of operations prior to the
Business Combination are those of Legacy Akili.

In connection with the Business Combination, approximately $31,438 of transaction related expenses and other costs were incurred.

The folff lowing tabla e reconciles the elements of the Business Combination to the consolidated statement of cash floff ws and the
consolidated statement of changes in equity:

Year ended December
31, 2022

Cash - SCS trusrr t and cash (net of redemptions) $ 2,283
Cash - PIPE investors 162,000
Gross proceeds 164,283
Transaction related expenses and other costs paid at Closing (of which $8,850 represent the
Company's transaction costs) (30,989)
Transaction related expenses and other costs paid after Closing (449)
Net proceeds froff m the Business Combination 132,845

In addition to the $8,850 paid at Closing noted in the table above, the Company incurred $4,077 in additional transaction costs related
to certain legal, accounting, consulting and other third-party fees incurred. These transaction costs were incurred and paid during the
year ended December 31, 2022. Of the Company's total transaction costs of $12,927, $3,046 was allocated to the Earn-Out Shares and
expensed upon the Closing, based on the relative faiff r value of the Earn-Out Shares as compared to the other newly issued instruments
as part of the Business Combination. The remaining Company transaction costs were recorded in additional paid-in capital.

The number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately folff lowing the Closing was as folff lows:
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Common Stock
SCS public stockholders 227,522
SCS sponsor and independent director 6,890,000
Legacy Akili stockholders (1) 54,541,224
PIPE investors 16,200,000
Total shares of Common Stock immediately after Closing 77,858,746

(1) The number of Legacy Akili shares was determined froff m the shares of Legacy Akili shares outstanding immediately prior
to the Closing converted at the Exchange Ratio of approximately 1.15. The amount includes the cashless exercise of
certain outstanding Akili Interactive Labs, Inc. warrants, which resulted in the issuance of 8,834 shares of Common Stock.
All fraff ctional shares were rounded down. Amount excludes the issuance of 7,536,461 Earn-Out Shares (as definff ed
below), as the performance conditions have not yet been satisfied.

Earn-Out Shares:

Earn-Out Shareholders and Earn-Out Service Providers received the contingent right to receive additional shares of Common Stock
upon the achievement of certain earn-out targets. Earn-Out Shareholders and Earn-Out Service Providers are eligible to receive up to
7,536,461 shares in the aggregate (the "Earn-Out Shares”) of additional Common Stock in three equal tranches uponu the Company
achieving $15.00, $20.00, or $30.00, respectively, as its volume-weighted average price per share of Common Stock for any 20
trading days within a 30 consecutive trading day period (as adjud sted for share splits, reverse share splits, share dividends,
reorganizations, recapia talizations, reclassifications, combination, exchange of shares, or the like).

As the Earn-Out Shares to Earn-Out Shareholders contain a settlement provision that precludes them froff m being indexed to the
Company’s stock under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, they are classified as liabia lities. The Company accounts forff the potential
issuance of the Earn-Out Shares to Earn-Out Shareholders as a contingent consideration arrangement, a liabia lity for which was
initially valued and recorded using a MCSM forff each earn-out period. Key inputs and assumptions were the Company’s stock price,
expected term, volatility, the risk-free rate, and dividend yield. Some of these inputs are Level 3 assumptions that are updau ted each
reporting period as the earn-out liabia lities are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company revalued the earn-out liabia lities
as of December 31, 2023 and the change in the faiff r value of the earn-out liabia lities was recorded in other income (expense) on the
statement of operations.

As the Earn-Out Shares to Earn-Out Service Providers are indexed to whether such Earn-Out Service Providers hold qualifyiff ng equity
instruments when the earn-out targets are achieved, they are classified as a liabia lity under ASC 718, "Compensation-Stock
Compensation". The Company accounts forff the potential issuance of the Earn-Out Shares to Earn-Out Service Providers as the grant
of a compensatory arr ward under ASC 718. As there are no continuing service obligations, the awards were expensed on the date of the
Business Combination and the faiff r value is updated each reporting period. The change in fair value is recorded as stock compensation
for the period in the same funcff tional category arr s the grantees' operating expenses.

Earn-Out
Shareholders

Earn-Out Service
Providers Total

Fair value as of December 31, 2022 $ 4,778 $ 735 $ 5,513
Change in fair value (3,363) (518) (3,881)
Fair value as of December 31, 2023 $ 1,415 $ 217 $ 1,632
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4. Option and Collaboration Agreements

Shionogi & Co.,CC Ltd.

On December 19, 2018, the Company entered into an Option and Collabora ation Agreement (the “Collabora ation Agreement”) with
Shionogi & Co., Ltd (“Shionogi”), whereby the Company granted an option to Shionogi to develop and commercialize licensed digital
therapeutic software products in specified territories.

As part of the agreement, Shionogi made an upfroff nt payment to the Company of $10,000 at the date of execution that provided
Shionogi up to April 15, 2019 to continue to evaluate the technology. In March 2019, Shionogi exercised its option to license the
technology in exchange for another $10,000 cash payment. In connection with Shionogi exercising its option to enter into the
Collabora ation Agreement, the Company issued a $5,000 corporate bond to Shionogi for cash, with an initial discount estimated to be
$3,805 (see Note 9). With the execution of the option, the Company is eligible to receive development and commercial milestones of
up to $105,000. In addition, the Company will receive royalties on sales of the licensed products in Japaa n and Taiwan. In October
2019, the Company and Shionogi entered into a modification scope of work agreement. Shionogi paid the Company an additional feeff
of $387 as a result of the modification. As all obligations under the Collabora ation Agreement were fulff filled, revenue of $24,192 was
recognized by the end of 2021. The Company did not recognize any milestones or royalties durd ing the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022.

TALi Digii tal Limited

On October 16, 2023, Akili Interactive Labs, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and TALi Digital Limited mutuat lly
agreed to terminate the License, Development and Commercialization Agreement dated as of August 16, 2021 between such parties,
effeff ctive as of October 16, 2023. As a result of the termination, no additional payments are due to TALi. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Company did not make any payments forff out of pocket costs related to this agreement. As of the termination
date, the Company has not made any payments forff milestones or royalties related to this agreement.
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5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:

December 31,
2023 2022

Prepaid insurance $ 1,008 $ 1,892
Prepaid clinical trials - 697
Other current assets 1,267 1,976
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 2,275 $ 4,565

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

December 31,
2023 2022

Furniture and fixff tures $ 116 $ 184
Computer equipment and software 269 477
Offiff ce equipment 44 60
Leasehold improvements 885 975
Capia talized internal-use software costs 551 427
Total property and equipment 1,865 2,123
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,185) (1,204)
Property and equipment, net $ 680 $ 919

Depreciation and amortization expense was $302 and $308 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation: From time to time, the Company is a party to or can be threatened with litigation in the ordinary course of business. The
Company regularly analyzes current information, including, as applicable, the Company`s defenff ses and insurance coverage, and, as
necessary, provides accruar ls for probabla e and estimabla e liabia lities forff the eventuat l disposition of any matters. The Company was not a
party to any material legal proceedings as of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Offiff ce Space: As of December 31, 2023, the Company leases offiff ce space under a non-cancelable operating lease in Larkspur,
Califorff nia, which consists of appra oximately 43,600 square feet pursuant to a lease that will expire in November 2026, in exchange for
approximately $74 per month, subju ect to an annual 4% increase each May. The Company provided a customary lrr etter of credit in the
amount of $250 as a security deposit, which is included in restricted cash within the consolidated balance sheets.

In May 2023, the Company entered into a sublu ease agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to sublu ease appra oximately
5,716 rentable square feet of the Larkspur, Califorff nia officff e space to a third party forff a term commencing on June 1, 2023 and ending
coterminous with the Larkspur, Califorff nia lease in November 2026, in exchange for the sum of appra oximately $23 per month, subju ect
to an annual 4.0% increase.

The lease forff offiff ce space in Boston, Massachusetts consisting of appra oximately 4,000 square feet expired in December 2023.

In November 2023, the Company entered into a membership agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to pay a monthly
membership fee forff the sum of approximately $9 per month forff access to office space in Boston, Massachusetts, with such access
commencing on January 1, 2024. The agreement is forff a one-year term and will automatically renew forff successive one-year terms,
subju ect to the Company’s right to terminate the agreement uponu prior written notice and pursuant to the terms of the membership
agreement and is classified as a short-term lease.

These leases do not include any restrictions or covenants that had to be accounted for under the new lease guidance.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $757 of rent expense, net of sublease payments
received and $1,026 of rent expense, respectively.
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Net cash paid forff the amounts included in the measurement of the operating lease liabia lity on the consolidated balance sheet and
operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash floff w was $1,042 for the year ended December 31, 2023. The weighted
average remaining lease term and incremental borrowing rate as of December 31, 2023 was 2.9 years and 7.6%, respectively.

Future lease payments forff our noncancelable operating leases (excluding short-term leases) as of December 31, 2023 and a
reconciliation to the carrying amount of the operating lease liabia lity presented in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,
2023 is as follows:

Years Ending December 31, Amounts
2024 $ 914
2025 950
2026 904
Total undiscounted payments due under operating leases 2,768
Less imputed interest (282)
Total $ 2,486
Current operating lease liabia lity $ 756
Non-current operating lease liabia lity 1,730
Total $ 2,486

8. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accruer d expenses and other current liabia lities consisted of the folff lowing:

December 31,
2023 2022

Accruer d bonus $ 2,355 $ 2,819
Accruer d royalties 150 110
Accruer d wages and benefitsff 200 1,281
Accruer d clinical studyt expenses 12 292
Accruer d consulting service expenses 129 401
Other accruerr d expenses 480 713
Total $ 3,326 $ 5,616

9. Corporate Bond

In March 2019, in connection with Shionogi exercising its option to enter into the Collabora ation Agreement, the Company issued a
$5,000 corporate bond to Shionogi for cash. The corporrr ate bond is unsecured and is suboru dinated to the obligations of the Company
under indebtedness for borrowed money owed by the Company to any bank or other finff ancial institution. The maturt ity date of the
corporate bond is November 10, 2031 and does not bear interest during its term (fixed interest rate of 0.0%). The corporr ate bond is
prepayable by the Company at any time without penalty. The repayment of the corporate bond can be accelerated upon the termination
of the Collabora ation Agreement or upon the occurrence of an event of default (as defined), in both cases without penalty.

The Company determined that the interest rate on the corporate bond did not reflect a market interest rate that the Company would
expect to incur on a similar instrumrr ent issued apaa rt from the Collabora ation Agreement. As such, the Company estimated the market
rate of interest for a similar instrumrr ent (as 12.0%) and recorded a discount on the corpor rate bond at issuance in order to impute
interest at this rate over the term of the instrumr ent. The initial discount on the corporr ate bond was estimated to be $3,805. As the
corporate bond was issued in connection with the Collabora ation Agreement, the Company also added the estimated initial discount as
a component of the transaction price (and an adjustment to revenue recognized) related to the Collabora ation Agreement. The Company
amortizes the initial discount to interest expense using the effective interest method over the term of the corporrr ate bond.

The Company recognized amortization expense of $220 and $196 related to the discount on the Corporr ate Bond as a component of
interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively.
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The carrying amount of the corporrr ate bond is as folff lows:

2023 2022
Corporate Bond $ 5,000 $ 5,000
Unamortized discount on Corporate Bond (2,946) (3,166)
Corporate Bond, net of discount $ 2,054 $ 1,834

10. Note Payable

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement

On May 25, 2021, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank
(“SVB”) and SVB Innovation Credit Fund VIII, L.P. (“SVB Innovation Fund”) (collectively, the “Lenders”). In December 2022, we
entered into a Joinder and First Loan Modificff ation Agreement with SVB (the "Amended SVB Term Loan"). As described in Note 2,
First Citizens BancShares, Inc. entered into an agreement to purchase all assets and liabia lities of SVBB and will fully honor the
existing Amended SVB Term Loan.

The Company borrowed $5,000 in May 2021 and $10,000 in June 2022 and made interest-only payments through May 2023 before
beginning to repay the outstanding principal in 24 equal monthly payments on the first day of each month beginning June 1, 2023,
plus interest. The maturity date of the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement is May 1, 2025.

The Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement accruer s interest on each advance at a per annum rate of the greater of (a)
the Wall Street Journal prime rate plus 3.75% or (b) 7.0%. The Company can elect to prepay all, but not less than all, of the advances
drawn prior to the maturt ity date. The Company will be required to pay a prepayment fee,ff calculated by multiplying the outstanding
principal balance outstanding immediately prior to such prepayment by 1.0%. The Company will be required to make a finff al payment
equal to 5.0% of the total amounts drawn from each tranche (the “Final Payment”), dued upon the earliest of maturity, prepayment or
termination of the amounts drawn under the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement.

The Loan and Security Agreement is secured by subsu tantially all of the Company’s personal property assets, including accounts
receivabla e, equipment, license agreements, general intangibles, inventory arr nd investment property, and all of the proceeds and
products of the forff egoing. The Company is also subju ect to certain financial and non-financial covenants in the Loan and Security
Agreement, including requirements to maintain operating and deposit accounts with the lender and restrictions on certain corporate
actions.

Upon closing of the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, the Company entered into warrant agreements with the
Lenders (“Warrant Agreements”). As part of the Warrant Agreements, the Company issued fully-vested warrants to purchase 84,350
shares of common stock to the Lenders with an exercise price of $3.82 per share with a faiff r value of $268 on the date of issuance (see
Note 11 for details). As a result of the $10,000 draw in June 2022, warrants to purchase 31,242 shares became availabla e with a fair
value of $282.

In relation to the entering into the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, the Company incurred a total of $559 of debt
issuance costs (including the faiff r value of the warrants granted to the Lenders, plus the $250 Final Payment). The Company incurred
an additional $782 of debt issuance costs related to the $10,000 draw in June 2022 (including the faiff r value of the warrants granted to
the Lenders, plus the $500 Final Payment). The Company is amortizing the deferred issuance costs to interest expense on the
effeff ctive interest method through the maturt ity date of the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement.

At December 31, 2023, the Company had outstanding principal of $10,625 and there is no remaining availabla e undrawn debt. The
Company recognized non-cash interest expense related to debt issuance costs of $503 and $341 for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company recognized selling, general and administrative expense related to loan commitment fees
of $42 and $211 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 respectively. The interest rate in effect was 12.3% and 11.3% as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The weighted average interest rate was 11.9% and 9.2% for the years ended December 31,
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2023 and 2022, respectively. At December 31, 2023, the carrying amount of the note payable (excluding the current portion of $7,500)
is as follows:

Outstanding principal $ 10,625
Note payable, short term (7,500)
Final payment 750
Unamortized debt issuance costs (430)
Note payable, long term (net of debt issuance costs) $ 3,445

Future minimum principal payments due under the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, excluding the Final
Payment, are as folff lows:

Years Ending December 31,
2024 $ 7,500
2025 3,125
Total $ 10,625

11. Capital Stock

The Company's authorized capital stock consists of 1,000,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share and
100,000,000 shares of preferff red stock, par value $0.0001 per share. As of December 31, 2023, there were 78,356,527 shares of
Common Stock issued and outstanding and 133,578 warrants outstanding to purchase Common Stock. There were no shares of
preferff red stock issued and outstanding.

The holders of the Common Stock are entitled to one vote forff each share of Common Stock. The holders of Common Stock shall be
entitled to receive dividends out of funds legally availabla e. In the event of any voluntary orr r involuntary lrr iquidation, dissolution or
winding up of the Company, the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to share ratabla y in the remaining assets of the Company
availabla e forff distribution. The Board or any authorized committee thereof is authorized to issue shares of preferred stock and to fix the
designations, powers, including voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, preferff ences and the relative, participating,
optional or other special rights of the shares of each series and any qualificff ations, limitations and restrictions thereof.

Legacy Convertible Preferredff Stock:

Prior to the Business Combination, Legacy Akili had issued Series A-1 convertible preferff red stock, Series A-2 convertible preferff red
stock, Series B convertible preferff red stock, Series C convertible preferff red stock and Series D convertible preferff red stock, collectively
referred to as the “Legacy Convertible Preferff red Stock.” In connection with the Business Combination, the Legacy Convertible
Preferff red Stock was retroactively adjusted, converted into Common Stock at an exchange ratio of approximately 1.15, and reclassified
to permanent equity as a result of the reverse recapitalization. As of December 31, 2023, there is no Legacy Convertible Preferff rerr d
Stock authorized, issued or outstanding.

Common Stock Warrants: In May 2021, the Company entered into the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (see
note 10). In conjunction with this modification, the Company issued warrants to the Lenders to purchase a total of 224,938 shares of
common stock with an exercise price of $3.82 per share, of which, 84,350 were fully vested and immediately exercisable. These
warrants were determined to be a separate freff estanding instrument from the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement.
The Company also concluded that the remaining warrants that could vest in futff urt e periods in connection with additional loan advances
will be treated as separate issuances if and when they are issued. In connection with the June 2022 draw, warrants to purchase an
additional 31,242 shares of common stock became vested. The Company considered the accounting forff the warrants and concluded
that they met the requirements forff equity classification under ASC 815-40. Upon initial issuance, the vested warrants to purchase the
Company’s common stock were recorded at faiff r value. The Company utilized the Black- Scholes option valuation appra oach to value
the common warrants that were issued, resulting in an estimated faiff r value of $268 in May 2021 and $282 in June 2022. The Company
recorded this amount as an increase to additional paid-in capital and an increase to debt issuance costs (see Note 10).

The Company determined the faiff r value of the warrants using the Black-Scholes option model with the folff lowing assumptions:
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Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement Warrants May 2021 June 2022
Fair value of common stock $3.82 $10.06
Expected volatility 95.00% 96.56%
Expected term (in years) 10.00 8.91
Risk-free interest rate 1.56% 3.23%
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%

In August 2020, the Company entered into the First Loan Modification Agreement with SVB. In conjunction with this modification,
the Company issued warrants to the lender, of which, 17,986 are fulff ly vested and outstanding as of December 31, 2023. The warrants
have an exercise price of $5.95 per share.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In connection with the Closing, the Company adopted the 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2022 ESPP”). The 2022 ESPP is
a shareholder-appra oved plan under which subsu tantially all employees may voluntarily enroll to purchase the Company’s Common
Stock through payroll deducd tions at a price equal to 85% of the lower of the faiff r market values of the stock as of the offerff ing date or
the exercise date, provided that no offering shall exceed 27 months. An employee’s payroll deductions under the 2022 ESPP are
limited to 15% of the employee’s compensation and employees may not purchase more than $25,000 of stock durd ing any calendar
year.

A total of 1,167,881 shares of our Common Stock are reserved and authorized for issuance under the 2022 ESPP. In addition, the
number of shares of Common Stock availabla e forff issuance under the 2022 ESPP is automatically increased each January 1 of each
calendar year beginning on January 1, 2023, and ending in 2031, by the least of (i) the excess (if any) of (A) 1% of the outstanding
shares issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31st (excluding any shares reserved forff issuance under equity-
based plans of Akili, Inc. including the 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and the 2022 ESPP) over (B) the number of shares of
stock then reserved forff issuance under the 2022 ESPP as of such date, (ii) 1,167,881 or (iii) such number of shares determined by the
administrator. Through December 31, 2023, no shares have been issued under the 2022 ESPP.

12. Stock-Based Compensation

2011 Stock Incentive Plan: Prior to the Business Combination, the Company’s 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”) allowed
the Company to grant incentive stock options, nonqualifieff d stock options, and restricted stock to employees, directors, and
nonemployees of the Company. Upon the Closing, the remaining unallocated share reserve under the 2011 Plan was cancelled and no
new awards will be granted under such plan. Awards outstanding under the 2011 Plan were assumed by Akili, Inc. upon the Closing
and continue to be governed by the terms of the 2011 Plan.

2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan: In 2022, the Board approved the 2022 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, (the “2022 Plan”),
which provides forff the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualifieff d stock options, and restricted stock to employees, directors, and
nonemployees of the Company up to an aggregate of 12,813,781 shares of the Company’s Common Stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company incurred cash outflows of $118 related to the payment of withholding taxes
for vested RSUs. These cash outflows are presented within net cash provided by finff ancing activities in the consolidated statements of
cash floff ws.

Share-based compensation expense related to stock options, RSUs, PSUs, and the expense related to Earn-Out Service Providers, is
classified in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022
Research and development $ 2,526 $ 3,493
Selling, general and administrative 4,281 5,816
Total $ 6,807 $ 9,309
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Included in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 balances in the table above is $(518) and $735, respectively, of stock-based
compensation related to the potential issuance of the Earn-Out Shares to Earn-Out Service Providers, as described in Note 3.

Stock Options: The terms of the stock option grants, including the exercise price per share and vesting periods, are determined by the
Board or by the compensation committee of the Board, as applicable.

Stock options are typically granted at exercise prices equal to the fair value of our common stock at the date of grant. Our stock
options typically vest at a rate of 25% afteff r one year from the vesting commencement date and then every srr ix months over an
additional three-year period. While the vesting scheduld e noted is typical, stock options have been issued under other vesting scheduld es.
These alternative scheduld es include, but are not limited to (i) vesting at a rate of 25% every srr ix months for two years, (ii) vesting at a
rate of 16.67% every srr ix months for three years, and (iii) vesting at a rate of 12.5% every six months for fourff years. The stock options
expire ten years froff m the grant date or within 90 days of employee termination.

The folff lowing is a summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of
Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Per Share

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Balance at December 31, 2022 12,190,970 $ 3.98 7.36
Granted 5,199,280 $ 0.86
Cancelled (2,769,719) $ 3.58
Exercised (28,778) $ 0.03
Balance at December 31, 2023 14,591,753 $ 2.94 7.31 $ 285
Exercisabla e December 31, 2023 7,593,913 $ 3.71 5.53 $ 99
Options vested and expected to vest, December 31, 2023 14,591,753 $ 2.94 7.31 $ 285

During the year ended December 31, 2023 the Company extended the exercise period for vested options from three months to two
years forff 69 terminated employees. Incremental compensation expenses related to this modification recorded during the year ended
December 31, 2023 was $208.

The faiff r value of all option activity was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes model with the folff lowing weighted-
average assumptions for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022
Fair value of Common Stock $ 0.86 $ 5.03
Expected volatility 104.32% 99.19%
Expected term (in years) 5.92 5.93
Risk-free interest rate 4.10% 3.34%
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%

Fair value of Co omCC mon StoSS ck: The faiff r value of the underlying common stock was determined by the Board until the Company
became listed on an established stock exchange. The fair value was based uponu a variety of factors, including the results obtained froff m
independent third-party valuations, the Company’s finff ancial position and historical financial performance, the status of technological
developments within the Company’s products, the composition and ability of the current clinical and management team, an evaluation
or benchmark of the Company’s competition, the current business climate in the marketplace, the illiquid naturt e of the common stock,
arm’s length sales of the Company’s capital stock (including preferff red stock), the effect of the rights and preferff ences of the preferred
stockholders, and the prospects of a liquidity event, among others.

Expexx ctedtt volatility: As there is not sufficient historical volatility for the expected term of the options, the Company used an average
historical share price volatility based on an analysis of reported data forff a peer group of comparable companies, which were selected
based uponu industry srr imilarities.

Expexx ctedtt term (in yii ears): Expected term represents the period that the Company’s share option grants are expected to be outstanding.
There is not sufficient historical share exercise data to calculate the expected term of the options. Therefore, the Company utilizes the
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“simplifieff d” method for all options granted to value share option grants. Under this appra oach, the weighted-average expected life is
presumed to be the average of the vesting term and the contractuat l term of the option.

Riskii -frkk ee interest rate: The Company determined the risk-free interest rate by using a weighted-average equivalent to the expected
term based on the U.S. Treasury yrr ield curve in effect as of the date of grant.

Expexx ctedtt dividend yield:ll The Company does not anticipate paying any dividends in the forff eseeable future.

The weighted average grant-date faiff r value of stock options granted to employees during the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022 was $0.70 and $3.94 per share, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the aggregate intrinsic value of stock option awards exercised was $40 and
$504, respectively. Aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the exercise price and the fair value of the underlying
Common Stock on the date of exercise.

As of December 31, 2023 there was $10,219 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock option grants to employees,
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.

Restricted Stock Units: The Company began issuing RSUs to its employees in 2022. RSUs are equity awards granted to employees
that entitle the holder to shares of the Company’s common stock when the awards vest. RSUs granted to newly hired employees
typically vest 25% on the firff st vesting date, which occurs approximately one year afteff r the date of grant, and ratably each six months
of the ensuing three year period. RSUs have been issued under other vesting scheduld es. These alternative scheduld es include, but are
not limited to, (i) vesting at a rate of 16.67% every srr ix months over three years, (ii) vesting at a rate of 12.5% every srr ix months over
four years, and (iii) vesting at a rate of 25% every six months over two years. RSUs are measured based on the fair value of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of
RSUs

Weighted-
Average
Grant
Date

Fair Value
Balance at December 31, 2022 801,401 $2.30
Granted 3,121,125 $0.82
Vested (321,739) $2.08
Forfeited (601,950) $1.74
Balance at December 31, 2023 2,998,837 $0.89

As of December 31, 2023 there was $2,435 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSUs under the 2022 Plan, which
is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.5 years.

Perforff mance Stock Units:

PSUs are equity awards granted to employees that, uponu vesting, entitle the holder to shares of the Company’s common stock. Under
the 2022 Plan, the Company granted PSUs that will vest, if at all, on a graded basis during the five-year period commencing on
November 2, 2022, subju ect to the achievement of specified performance goals related to the volume-weighted average closing price of
the Company’s common stock over a 30-trading day period. As such, these awards are considered to contain a market condition. All
PSUs are subject to continued employment on the date of vesting.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes PSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of
PSUs

Weighted-
Average
Grant
Date

Fair Value
Balance at December 31, 2022 4,554,408 $1.50
Granted — n/a
Vested — n/a
Forfeited (2,526,274) $1.50
Balance at December 31, 2023 2,028,134 $1.50
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Compensation cost associated with PSUs is recognized on a straight-line basis over the derived service period of each of the three
vesting tranches, which vest uponu the achievement of three diffeff rent volume-weighted average closing prices of the Company’s
common stock. The Company determines the grant-date faiff r values of PSUs utilizing a MCSM. The Company’s use of a MCSM
requires the use of the following inputs:

Current stock price: the closing stock price as quoted on Nasdaq as of November 2, 2022 was $2.30.

Riskii -fkk reff e interest rate: the risk-free interest rate of 4.3% was based on the U.S. Treasury rrr ate at the time of grant commensurate with
the remaining term of the PSUs.

Expex cted term: the expected term is the fivff e-year term of the PSUs.

Expex cted volatility: the volatility rate as of November 2, 2022 was 95.0%. The volatility rate was determined using an average of
historical volatilities over the expected term of selected industry prr eers deemed comparable to the Company.

Expex cted dividend yield: the expected dividend yield is zero as it is not expected that the Company will declare dividends on Common
Stock durd ing the expected term.

As of December 31, 2023, there was $1,737 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested PSUs, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 1.6 years.

13. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The folff lowing tabla e presents inforff mation aboa ut the Company’s assets and liabia lities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
and indicates the level of the faiff r value hierarchy utilized to determine such faiff r values:

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2023
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Cash equivalents:
Money market fundsff $ 61,539 $ - $ - $ 61,539

Liabilities
Long-term liabia lities:
Earn-out liabia lities $ - $ - $ 1,632 $ 1,632

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2022
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Cash equivalents:
Money market fundsff $ 32,829 $ - $ - $ 32,829

Short-term investments:
United States treasuries 82,034 - - 82,034

Total assets $ 114,863 $ - $ - $ 114,863
Liabilities
Long-term liabia lities:
Earn-out liabia lities - - 5,513 5,513

Total liabia lities $ - $ - $ 5,513 $ 5,513

The Company evaluates transfers between levels at the end of each reporting period. There were no transfers of financial instrumr ents
between levels during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s cash equivalents consisted of money market fundsff with original maturities of less
than 90 days from the date of purchase. As of December 31, 2023, the Company did not hold short-term investments. As of
December 31, 2022, the Company’s short-term investments consisted of United States treasuries with original maturities of more than
three months but less than one year.

Earn-out liabilities—Upon the Closing, the Earn-Out Shares were accounted for as a liabia lity because the triggering events that
determine the number of shares to be earned (the “Triggering Events”) included events that were indexed to the Common Stock of the
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Company, with the change in fair value recognized in “Change in estimated faiff r value of earn-out liabia lities” in the consolidated
statement of operations.

The estimated faiff r value of the Earn-out Shares was determined using a MCSM using the following assumptions at December 31,
2023:

Price targer t: price target as defined in the Merger Agreement forff each Triggering Event:

• Triggering Event I is $15.00 per share

• Triggering Event II is $20.00 per share

• Triggering Event III is $30.00 per share

Current stock price: the closing stock price as quoted on Nasdaq as of December 31, 2023 was $0.49.

Expex cted term: the expected term is 3.6 years as of December 31, 2023, which is the remaining term of the earn-out period.

Expex cted volatility: the volatility rate as of December 31, 2023 was 119.5%. The volatility rate was determined using an average of
historical volatilities over the expected term of selected industry prr eers deemed comparable to the Company.

Expex cted dividend yield: the expected dividend yield is zero as it is not expected that the Company will declare dividends on Common
Stock durd ing the expected term.

See Note 3 for a tabla e that reconciles the change in fair value of the earn-out liabia lities valued using Level 3 inputs.

14. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the folff lowing components:
Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Current
Federal $ — $ —
State 53 19
Total current expense (benefit) 53 19
Deferred
Federal - -
State - -
Total deferff red expense (benefit) $ — $ —
Total tax recognized $ 53 $ 19

A reconciliation setting forth the differences between effeff ctive tax rate of the Company as well as the U.S. fedff eral statutt ory trr ax rate is
as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Benefit at fedff eral statutt ory rrr ate 21.00% 21.00%
State taxes 4.73% 54.48%
Credits 1.38% 13.63%
Transaction costs 0.00% (6.22%)
Gain on earn-out shares 1.19% 218.69%
Share-based payment measurement (0.78%) (10.45%)
Other (0.10%) 2.56%
Change in valuation allowance (27.51%) (293.93%)
Effeff ctive tax rate (0.09%) (0.24%)

Significant components of the Company’s deferff red tax assets and liabia lities are as follows:
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Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Deferred tax assets:
Operating tax losses $ 67,464 $ 55,350
Research credits 8,586 7,416
Temporary drr iffeff rences 1,240 1,337
Research and development costs 6,799 4,823
Start-up costs 2,075 2,197
Lease liabia lity 617 847
Share based payments 4,484 3,298
Gross deferff red tax assets 91,265 75,268
Valuation Allowance (90,364) (74,010)
Deferred tax assets, Less: valuation allowance 901 1,258
Deferred tax liabia lities:
Right-of-use asset (391) (664)
Other temporary drr iffeff rences (510) (594)
Deferred tax liabia lities (901) (1,258)
Total $ — $ —

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effectff of temporary drr iffeff rences between the carrying amount of assets and liabia lities forff
financial reporting purposrr es and the amount used for income tax purposr es. At December 31, 2023, the Company has fedff eral net
operating loss carryforwards totaling $275,482 of which $31,208 begin to expire in 2031 and $244,274 can be carried forward
indefinitely. At December 31, 2023, the Company had state net operating loss carryforwards totaling $162,969, which begin to expire
in 2031, as well as other temporary drr iffeff rences that will be availabla e to offset regular taxabla e income durd ing the carryforward period.

Additionally, at December 31, 2023, the Company has fedff eral R&D credit carryforwards totaling $6,330 which begin to expire in
2039, state R&D credit carryforwards totaling $2,856 which begin to expire in 2033.

The net change in the valuation allowance forff deferred tax assets was an increase of $16,354 and $27,723 for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. This increase forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was primarily due to the
generation of net operating loss carryforwards, capia talized R&D expenditures as required by changes to the tax laws froff m the TCJA as
described below, and capitalized start-up costs.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”) was signed into law. Under the TCJA provisions, effective with tax
years beginning on or afteff r January 1, 2022, taxpayers can no longer immediately expense qualifieff d research and development
(“R&D”) expenditures and are required to capitalize and amortize the costs under section 174. Accordingly, the Company capitalized
$13,906 and $20,859 of R&D expenses as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. These costs will be amortized for tax
purposrr es over 5 years forff R&D performed in the U.S. and over 15 years forff R&D performed outside the U.S.

Management of the Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing uponu the realizability of its deferred tax assets,
which are comprised principally of net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credits. Under the applicable
accounting standards, management has considered the Company’s history of losses and concluded that it is more likely than not that
the Company will not recognize the benefitsff of domestic deferred tax assets. Accordingly, a fulff l valuation allowance has been
establa ished at December 31, 2023 as the Company is in development stage and does not have assurance of futff urt e income as the
Company expects to generate continued losses while in development.

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards are subject to review and
possible adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service and state tax authorities. Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may
become subju ect to an annual limitation in the event of certain cumulative changes in the ownership interest of significant shareholders
over a three-year period in excess of 50%, as definff ed under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, respectively, as well
as similar state provisions. This could limit the amount of tax attributes that can be utilized annually to offsff et future taxabla e income or
tax liabia lities. The amount of the annual limitation is determined based on the value of the Company immediately prior to the
ownership change. Subsequent ownership changes may further affect the limitation in futff urt e years. The Company has completed
financings since its inception which may have resulted in a change in control as definff ed by Section 382 and 383 of the Internal
Revenue Code, and it may complete futff urt e finff ancings that could result in a change in control in the future. The Company has not, as
yet, conducted a studyt to determine if any such changes have occurred that could limit its ability to use the net operating loss and tax
credit carryforward. Also, the Company has undertaken only a preliminary arr nalysis of its research and experimentation credits. In
order to substantiate fully such credits it intends to complete a fulff l credit study before such credits are utilized on its tax returt n.r
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The Company accounts forff uncertain tax positions pursuant to ASC 740 which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement
process forff financial statement recognition of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax returt n. If the tax position
meets this threshold, the benefitff to be recognized is measured as the largest amount of tax benefitff that is greater than 50% likely of
being realized upon settlement with a taxing authority that has fulff l knowledge of all relevant inforff mation. As of December 31, 2023
and 2022, the Company has not recorded any unrecognized tax benefitff s. The Company has not, as yet, conducted a studt y of research
and development tax credit carryforwards. This study may result in an adjustment to the Company’s research and development credit
carryforwards; however, until a study is completed, and any adjud stment is known, no amounts are being presented as an uncertain tax
position. A fulff l valuation allowance has been provided against the Company’s research and development tax credits and, if an
adjud stment is required, this adjud stment would be offset by an adjud stment to the valuation allowance. Thus, there would be no impact to
the consolidated balance sheets or consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss if an adjud stment was required. The
Company does not expect any material changes in the unrecognized tax benefitff s within the next twelve months.

15. Net Loss Per Share

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders of the
Company:

Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022
Numerator:
Net loss $ (59,493) $ (7,964)
Dividends on Series D convertible preferff red stock - (7,383)
Redemption value of Series D convertible preferff red stock - (3,692)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders - basic and diluted $ (59,493) $ (19,039)

Denominator:
Weighted average common stock outstanding 78,197,107 29,878,041

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders - basic and diluted $ (0.76) $ (0.64)

For periods in which the Company reports a net loss attributable to common stockholders, potentially dilutive securities have been
excluded froff m the computation of diluted net loss per share as their effects would be anti-dilutive. Thereforff e, the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
is the same. The Company excluded the following potential common shares, presented based on amounts outstanding at period end,
from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders because including them would have had an
anti-dilutive effectff :

Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022
Warrants to purchase Common Stock 133,578 242,924
Stock options to purchase Common Stock 14,591,753 12,190,970
Earn-out shares 7,536,461 7,536,461
Unvested RSUs 2,998,837 801,401
Unvested PSUs 2,028,134 4,554,408
Total 27,288,763 25,326,164

16. Employee Benefitff Plan

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan in which subsu tantially all U.S. employees are eligible to participate. Eligible employees
may elect to contribute up tu o the maximum limits, as set by the Internal Revenue Service, of their eligible compensation. The total
contribution matching expense forff the Company was $689 and $784 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

17. Restructuring Charges

On January 12, 2023, the Company announced a restrucrr turing of its operations and a reduction in workforff ce. As a result of the
restructurt ing, the Company incurred a restructurt ing charge of $2,329 associated primarily with severance and other termination-
related benefitsff related to 48 fulff l-time employees, representing appra oximately 31% of the employee base at the time of the
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restructurt ing. All costs associated with the restrucr turing were recorded within operating expenses in the same funcff tional category arr s
the employees' operating expenses in the quarter ended March 31, 2023. The restrucrr turing reduced costs related to certain of the
Company’s pipeline programs in order to prioritize certain of its commercial efforff ts and its ADHD labea l expansion programs.

On September 13, 2023, the Company announced a furff ther restructurt ing of its operations and a reduction in workforff ce. As a result of
the restrucr turing, the Company incurred a restructurt ing charge of $2,401 associated primarily with severance and other termination-
related benefitsff related to 47 fulff l-time employees, representing appra oximately 40% of the employee base at the time of the
restructurt ing. All costs associated with the restrucr turing were recorded within operating expenses in the same funcff tional category arr s
the employees' operating expenses in the quarter ended September 30, 2023. The restrucr turing reduced costs related primarily to the
Company’s fieff ld sales forff ce and market access teams in order to implement its announced plan to transition froff m a prescription to a
non-prescription business model.

As of December 31, 2023, there are unpaid restrucr turing expenses of $94 in accruer d expenses and other current liabia lities.
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